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EXPLANATORY NOTE

Restatement of Previously Issued Financial Statements

As part of the Company’s financial statement close process and preparation of its Annual Report on Form 10-K (the “2022 Form 10-K”), the Company
identified errors in its historical interim unaudited consolidated financial statements.  The misstatements relate solely to incorrectly calculating the impact
of noncash activity on purchase and deposits on plant and equipment, resulting in an understatement of net cash used in investing activities and a
corresponding overstatement of net cash used in operating activities as originally included in the respective interim unaudited consolidated statements of
cash flows. The Company determined that its interim unaudited consolidated financial statements for the quarterly periods ended March 31, 2022, June 30,
2022 and September 30, 2022 (the “Relevant Periods”) were materially misstated and needed to be restated. The restatements are set forth in detail in Note
18 to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

Internal Control & Disclosure Control Considerations

Management assessed the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting and identified a material weakness, resulting in the conclusion by
our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer that our internal control over financial reporting and our disclosure controls and procedures were
not effective as of December 31, 2022. The material weakness solely relates to the inadequate design and operation of management’s review controls over
calculating the impact of noncash activity on purchase and deposits on plant and equipment in the consolidated statement of cash flows. Management is
taking steps to remediate the material weakness in our internal control over financial reporting, as described in Part II, Item 9A, “Controls and Procedures.”

Non-Reliance on Previously Filed Reports

TeraWulf believes that presenting all of this information regarding the Relevant Periods in this 2022 Form 10-K allows investors to review all 
pertinent data in a single presentation. Therefore, we do not plan to amend our previously filed Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q for the Relevant Periods. 
Accordingly, investors should no longer rely upon the Company’s previously released financial statements for the Relevant Periods and any earnings 
releases or other communications relating to these Relevant Periods. The financial information that has been previously filed or otherwise reported for the 
Relevant Periods is superseded by the information in this 2022 Form 10-K.  TeraWulf will also correct previously reported financial information for this 
error in its future filings, as applicable.

For discussions of the restatement adjustments, see Item 1A, “Risk Factors” and Item 8, “Financial Statements,” including Notes 2 and 18 of the Notes to
the Consolidated Financial Statements.
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PART I

ITEM 1. Business

Overview

TeraWulf, Inc. (“TeraWulf”, the “Company”, “our” or “we”) is a digital asset technology company with a core business of digital infrastructure 
and energy development to enable sustainable bitcoin mining. TeraWulf develops, owns and operates its bitcoin mining facility sites in the United States 
using nuclear, hydro and solar energy sources, currently consuming over 91% zero-carbon energy, with a target of 100% zero-carbon energy by 2028.  
TeraWulf began trading on Nasdaq under the symbol “WULF” on December 14, 2021, following its successful strategic business combination with RM 
101 Inc. (formerly known as IKONICS Corporation).  

TeraWulf commenced industrial scale bitcoin mining in March 2022 and is currently operating two near zero-carbon data centers in New York and 
Pennsylvania, the Lake Mariner Facility and the Nautilus Cryptomine Facility, respectively.  TeraWulf began mining bitcoin at the Lake Mariner Facility in
March 2022 and at the Nautilus Cryptomine Facility in February 2023. As of March 30, 2023, these two industrial-scale projects had a self-mining hash
rate of 2.8 exahash per second (“EH/s”) with approximately 28,000 miners currently deployed, comprised of 18,000 operational miners at the Lake Mariner
Facility (13,000 self-miners and 5,000 hosted miners) and 10,000 self-miners at the Nautilus Cryptomine Facility. TeraWulf’s facilities are expected to
reach an aggregate 160 MW of net bitcoin mining capacity with a capacity to support 50,000 miners and over 5.5 EH/s of computational power in the
second quarter of 2023.

Our primary source of revenue is from sustainably mining bitcoin at our bitcoin mining facility sites. We also earn revenue from miner hosting
services to third parties. We do not hold, sell or transact in bitcoin or any other digital assets for anyone other than ourselves. We do not hedge our bitcoin.

Our industrial scale bitcoin mining operations focus on maximizing our ability to successfully mine bitcoin by growing our hash rate (the amount
of computer power we devote to supporting the bitcoin blockchain) to increase our chances of successfully finding cryptographic hashes that create new
blocks on the bitcoin blockchain (a process known as “solving a block”). Generally, the greater share of the bitcoin blockchain’s total network hash rate (the
aggregate hash rate deployed to solving a block on the bitcoin blockchain) represented by a miner’s hash rate, the greater the miner’s chances of solving a
block and therefore earning the block reward, which is currently 6.25 bitcoin plus transaction fees per block. As additional miner operators enter the market
in response to increased demand for bitcoin, the bitcoin blockchain’s network hash rate grows.

The majority of our revenue comes from our self-mined bitcoin, which we store and safeguard in a cold storage wallet held by our custodian,
NYDIG Trust Company LLC (“NYDIG”), a duly chartered New York limited liability trust company. We participate in a mining pool operated by Foundry
Digital LLC (“Foundry”), and at the end of each day, our earned bitcoin is sent by Foundry to our wallet address custodied with NYDIG. Any bitcoin
mined by third-party miners hosted at our Lake Mariner Data LLC (“Lake Mariner”) facility site is either (1) delivered directly into the third-party miners’
wallets, which we have neither access to nor oversight over, or (2) delivered into our wallet held by NYDIG, pursuant to the mined bitcoin sharing
arrangements agreed to in our respective miner hosting agreements. To the extent we sell any of our mined bitcoin, we do so using NYDIG Execution LLC
(“NYDIG Execution”), a Delaware LLC registered as a Money Services Business with the Financial Crimes Enforcement Network and licensed with a
BitLicense by the New York State Department of Financial Services. Funds from the sale of our bitcoin by NYDIG Execution are deposited by NYDIG
Execution directly into the Company’s bank account at a U.S. depository institution. We do not currently sell or intend to sell our bitcoin on any exchange.
Instead, we rely on NYDIG Execution to sell any of our mined bitcoin, pursuant to our execution agreement with NYDIG which is described further in the
section titled “Risk Factors” herein. We sell bitcoin on a daily, weekly and monthly basis to pay for all operating expenses of the Company.

As described further in the section titled “Risk Factors” herein, even though we do not hold any cryptocurrency on others’ behalf and do not
currently sell or intend to sell our cryptocurrency on exchanges, our business, financial condition and results of operations may still be adversely affected
by recent industry-wide developments beyond our control, including the continued industry-wide fallout from (i) the recent ceasing of operations by Silicon
Valley Bank, Signature Bank (“SBNY”) and Silvergate Bank and (ii) the recent Chapter 11 bankruptcy filings of cryptocurrency exchange FTX Trading
Ltd., et al. (“FTX”) (including its affiliated hedge fund Alameda Research LLC), crypto hedge fund Three Arrows Capital (“Three Arrows”) and crypto
lenders Celsius Network LLC, et al. (“Celsius”), Voyager Digital Ltd., et al. (“Voyager”), BlockFi Inc., et al. (“BlockFi”) and Genesis Global Holdco,
LLC, et al. (“Genesis”). While we have no exposure to FTX, Three Arrows, Celsius, Voyager or BlockFi, Genesis is owned by Digital Currency
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Group Inc. (“DCG”), who also owns Foundry, our mining pool provider. At this time, there are no material risks to our business arising from our indirect
exposure to Genesis. Most recently, in March 2023, SVB Financial, the parent of Silicon Valley Bank, filed for Chapter 11 bankruptcy.

We have no material direct exposure to SVB Financial, Silicon Valley Bank or Silvergate Bank. Although (i) our cryptocurrency mining business
has (x) no direct exposure to any of the cryptocurrency market participants that recently filed for Chapter 11 bankruptcy and (y) no material direct exposure
to SVB Financial, Silicon Valley Bank or Silvergate Bank; (ii) we have no assets, material or otherwise, that may not be recovered due to the foregoing
bankruptcies or bank shutdowns; (iii) we have no direct exposure to any other counterparties, customers, custodians or other financial institutions or crypto
asset market participants known to have (x) experienced excessive redemptions or suspended redemptions or withdrawal of crypto assets, (y) the crypto
assets of their customers unaccounted for, or (z) experienced material corporate compliance failures; and (iv) our activities in the commercial optimization
of the power supply are unaffected by the recent crypto market and banking industry events; our business, financial condition and results of operations may
not be immune to unfavorable investor sentiment resulting from these recent developments in the broader cryptocurrency and banking industries.

On March 12, 2023, Signature Bank (“SBNY”) was closed by its state chartering authority, the New York State Department of Financial Services.
On the same date the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation (“FDIC”) was appointed as receiver and transferred all customer deposits and substantially all
of the assets of SBNY to Signature Bridge Bank, N.A., a full-service bank that is being operated by the FDIC. The FDIC, the U.S. Treasury, and the
Federal Reserve jointly announced that all depositors of SBNY would be made whole, regardless of deposit insurance limits.  The Company automatically
became a customer of Signature Bridge Bank, N.A. as part of this action. Normal banking activities resumed on Monday, March 13, 2023.  On March 29,
2023, the Company was advised by the FDIC that the Company’s bank accounts would be closed on April 5, 2023 and any remaining funds as of that date
would be distributed to the Company by check.  As of March 30, 2023, the Company held approximately $0.9 million in the former SBNY accounts and
intends to transfer all then remaining funds out of Signature Bridge Bank, N.A. by April 5, 2023.

Corporate History and Structure

Paul Prager, Chief Executive Officer (“CEO”) and chairman of the board of directors of TeraWulf, co-founded TeraWulf with Nazar Khan, Chief
Operating Officer and Chief Technology Officer, in 2021. Together with Kerri Langlais, Chief Strategy Officer, the TeraWulf management team has
worked together for over 15 years.

TeraWulf’s business operations are conducted through several operating subsidiaries with its core operational and business activities directed
through TeraWulf. The chart below sets forth TeraWulf’s corporate structure as of the date of this Annual Report. All entities on the chart have been
incorporated in the State of Delaware or Minnesota as either corporations or limited liability companies, as the case may be, as indicated on the chart:
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RM 101 Inc. (formerly known as IKONICS Corporation)

TeraWulf completed its business combination with RM 101 Inc. (formerly known as IKONICS Corporation) on December 13, 2021 (the “Closing
Date”) pursuant to the agreement and plan of merger, dated as of June 24, 2021 (as amended, the “Merger Agreement”). Under the terms of the Merger
Agreement, each share of RM 101 Inc. (formerly known as IKONICS Corporation) common stock issued and outstanding immediately prior to the Closing
Date was automatically converted into and exchanged for (i) one validly issued, fully paid and nonassessable share of common stock of TeraWulf, (ii) one
contractual contingent value right (each, a “CVR”) pursuant to the Contingent Value Rights Agreement between TeraWulf and RM 101 Inc. (formerly
known as IKONICS Corporation) (the “CVR Agreement”) and (iii) the right to receive $5.00 in cash, without interest.

The TeraWulf Advantage: Vertically integrated, Zero-Carbon Bitcoin Miner

Vertical Integration. TeraWulf owns 100% of the Lake Mariner Facility and 25% of the Nautilus Cryptomine Facility. TeraWulf believes its
ownership of its bitcoin mining facility sites is vital to its success, as it maximizes efficiency and reduces production cost. Energy infrastructure assets are
complex and require specialized equipment, numerous commercial relationships, and diverse stakeholder groups. Ownership of its mining sites allows
TeraWulf to take a wholistic approach to ensure projects are completed safely, timely, and reliably. In addition, vertical integration allows TeraWulf to be
good stewards of the environment and the communities in which it operates. Furthermore, ownership enhances the ability to actively manage site
development, the project supply chain, and commercial arrangements. Most importantly, it provides employees, investors, and communities accountability
and transparency.

Environmentally Clean. TeraWulf’s strategy is to be the market leader for sustainable bitcoin mining. TeraWulf’s two bitcoin mining facilities are
currently powered by more than 91% zero-carbon energy with a goal of utilizing 100% zero-carbon energy.
The Nautilus Cryptomine Facility is powered by 100% zero-carbon nuclear energy and the Lake Mariner Facility in New York sources power in Western 
New York where over 91% of market energy comes from zero-carbon resources, primarily hydro and nuclear. Given the power-intensive nature of bitcoin 
mining and the implications for the environment, TeraWulf believes that its access to inexpensive, zero-carbon power represents a meaningful and durable 
competitive advantage for the Company relative to its publicly traded bitcoin mining peers.  

Low Cost Energy Supply. TeraWulf expects to have one of the lowest electricity costs among its publicly traded bitcoin mining peers at
approximately $0.035 per kilowatt-hour, augmenting TeraWulf’s competitive position in varying bitcoin price environments. The Nautilus Cryptomine
Facility benefits from a contracted, fixed price of power of $0.02 per kilowatt-hour for a term of five years. TeraWulf anticipates the market cost of power
at the Lake Mariner Facility will average approximately $0.045 per kilowatt-hour. TeraWulf’s Lake Mariner Facility and the Nautilus Cryptomine Facility
are located at structurally congested points in their respective markets and may increase power optimization opportunities and the ability to provide
ancillary services to the electrical distribution grid.

Scale Rapidly with Proprietary Expansion Pipeline. TeraWulf’s ability to achieve scale in its mining operations is driven by its access to state-of-
the-art miners, ability to structure competitive power supply arrangements, and deep energy infrastructure and operational expertise. TeraWulf has the 
ability to significantly expand mining operations at its existing site.  The Lake Mariner Facility has the ability to expand another 80 MW in the near term, 
and up to 500 MW in total.  TeraWulf also retains the option to expand its mining capacity at the Nautilus Cryptomine Facility by 50 MW.  In addition to 
its proprietary expansion capacity, TeraWulf has developed a strong, collaborative relationship with the leading mining equipment manufacturer, Bitmain. 
This strategic relationship supports preferred access and advantaged cost structures for Bitmain’s ASIC miners. 

Experienced Team. TeraWulf is supported by Beowulf Electricity & Data Inc. (“Beowulf E&D”), a company controlled by TeraWulf’s CEO, to
ensure an efficient buildout of its bitcoin mining facility sites. In addition, members of the Beowulf E&D team have over thirty years of experience
overseeing the buildout and operation of large-scale energy facilities, which experience lends itself to the buildout of TeraWulf’s new bitcoin mining
facilities. The Lake Mariner Facility is designed as replicable, reliable and cost-effective data centers for housing ASICs, but also designed with modular
functionality to allow installation of a portion of ASICs prior to the completion of the facility.

Human Capital Management

As of March 30, 2023, TeraWulf had eight full-time employees. TeraWulf’s human capital resource objectives include identifying, recruiting,
retaining, incentivizing and integrating TeraWulf’s employees, advisors and consultants. TeraWulf provides
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employees the opportunity to advance professionally and to be rewarded commensurate with results. As TeraWulf is a small team of only eight employees,
TeraWulf also uses its affiliate Beowulf E&D’s human capital resources for support pursuant to the administrative and infrastructure services agreement.
Beowulf E&D, along with TeraWulf, is focused on ESG and diversity initiatives, and both companies share similar goals, corporate standards and
governance practices as a result of their affiliated relationship. The principal purpose of TeraWulf’s 2021 Omnibus Incentive Plan is to attract, retain and
motivate employees, executive officers and directors through the granting of stock-based compensation awards.

Planned Mining Operations

TeraWulf commenced industrial scale bitcoin mining in March 2022 and is currently operating two near zero-carbon data centers in New York and 
Pennsylvania.  TeraWulf began mining bitcoin at the Lake Mariner Facility in March 2022 and at the Nautilus Cryptomine Facility in February 2023. As of
March 30, 2023, these two industrial-scale projects had a self-mining hash rate of 2.8 EH/s with approximately 28,000 miners currently deployed,
comprised of 18,000 operational miners at the Lake Mariner Facility (13,000 self-miners and 5,000 hosted miners) and 10,000 self-miners at the Nautilus
Cryptomine Facility. TeraWulf’s facilities are expected to reach an aggregate 160 MW of net bitcoin mining capacity with a capacity to support 50,000
miners and over 5.5 EH/s of computational power in the second quarter of 2023.

Lake Mariner Facility — Located at a site adjacent to the decommissioned coal-fired Somerset Generating Station in Barker, New York, the Lake 
Mariner Facility has secured an initial 90 MW of energy to support its bitcoin mining capacity through an agreement with the New York Power Authority 
(“NYPA”) with the potential to expand into an additional 410 MW of energy supply. The Lake Mariner Facility began mining operations in March 2022 
and as of March 30, 2023, has approximately 60 MW of operational mining capacity, representing approximately 18,000 miners. TeraWulf expects to reach 
110 MW of mining capacity at the facility, representing approximately 34,000 miners, in the second quarter of 2023 pending the completion of construction 
of Building 2, which will add another 50 MW of mining capacity.  The Lake Mariner Facility has the ability to expand another 80 MW in the near term, and 
up to 500 MW in total.  

Nautilus Cryptomine Facility — Co-located with the 2.5 GW nuclear-powered Susquehanna Steam Electric Station in Berwick, Pennsylvania
(the “Susquehanna Station”), 2.3 GW of which are owned and operated by Talen Energy Corporation (“Talen”), the Nautilus Cryptomine Facility nuclear-
powered bitcoin mining facility with a current capacity of 200 MW. The Nautilus Cryptomine is a joint venture between TeraWulf and Cumulus Coin,
LLC, a subsidiary of Talen. TeraWulf owns a 25% equity interest in the facility, which represents 50 MW of mining capacity. The Nautilus Cryptomine
Facility is not connected to the electrical distribution grid, but is rather “behind-the-meter”, thereby avoiding transmission and distribution charges typically
paid by other large power consumers. The Nautilus Cryptomine Facility receives nuclear power directly from a substation connected to the Susquehanna
Station’s electrical generators, which is contractually priced at a fixed cost of $0.02 per kilowatt-hour over a five-year term with two successive three-year
renewal options. The Nautilus Cryptomine Facility commenced mining in February 2023 and as of March 30, 2023, TeraWulf has approximately 10,000
miners energized, representing approximately 1.0 EH/S of self-mining capacity. TeraWulf expects to reach its full 50 MW capacity at the facility,
representing approximately 16,000 miners, in the second quarter of 2023. TeraWulf has the option to add an additional 50 MW of bitcoin mining capacity,
for a total of 100 MW, at the Nautilus Cryptomine Facility.

Subject to strategic development plans and the prevailing market prices and mining economics of bitcoin, TeraWulf’s management and board of
directors may decide to exchange bitcoin for fiat currency through over-the-counter providers or exchanges to fund operations and future growth. While
TeraWulf has relationships with over-the-counter providers and digital asset exchanges, TeraWulf does not have a contractual obligation as of the date of
this Annual Report to convert bitcoin into fiat currency using any one provider and/or exchange. Currency exchange fees vary by provider and amount of
digital asset being converted. TeraWulf anticipates conversion fees to the third-party providers to be in the range of approximately 0% to 0.25%. As of the
date of this Annual Report, TeraWulf does not plan to convert bitcoin into other digital assets.

Agreements Relating to TeraWulf’s Business and Operations

Equipment Supply Agreements

Bitmain Agreements

On June 15, 2021, Nautilus executed (i) the non-fixed price sales and purchase agreement (the “First Quarter 2022 Bitmain Agreement”) with
Bitmain to purchase 15,000 S19j Pro miners , with originally scheduled monthly deliveries of 5,000 miners each
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between January 2022 and March 2022 and (ii) the non-fixed price sales and purchase agreement (the “Second Quarter 2022 Bitmain Agreement” and, 
together with the First Quarter 2022 Bitmain Agreement, the “2022 Bitmain Agreements”) with Bitmain to purchase 15,000 S19j Pro miners, with 
originally scheduled monthly deliveries of 5,000 miners each between April 2022 and June 2022. In 2022, the Company paid Bitmain $22.8 million and 
was reimbursed by Talen for 50% of that amount.  In 2021, the Company paid Bitmain approximately $124.6 million under the 2022 Bitmain Agreements. 
On a net basis, the Company funded approximately $76.9 million as Talen reimbursed the Company in 2021 approximately $47.7 million in accordance 
with the Nautilus Cryptomine Joint Venture Agreement. As of December 31, 2022, the First Quarter 2022 Bitmain Agreement had concluded with all 
parties performing thereunder.  In September 2022, the Second Quarter 2022 Bitmain Agreement was cancelled whereby each Nautilus member received a 
$31.2 million credit with Bitmain to use at the respective Nautilus member’s discretion (the “Bitmain Credit”).  Additionally, approximately 5,000 of the 
miners ordered under the First Quarter 2022 Bitmain Agreement were delivered to the Lake Mariner Facility to be deployed there, pursuant to that certain 
exchange agreement by and between TeraWulf (Thales) LLC (“TeraWulf (Thales)”), Cumulus Coin LLC (“Cumulus Coin”) and Nautilus, entered into on 
March 14, 2022 and the August 27, 2022 amended and restated Talen Joint Venture Agreement. See “—Talen Joint Venture—Talen Joint Venture 
Agreement.”  

On December 7, 2021, the Company entered into a Non-fixed Price Sales and Purchase Agreement with Bitmain for the purchase of 3,000 S19XP 
miners, with originally scheduled monthly deliveries of 500 miners each between July 2022 and December 2022 (the “Second Bitmain Purchase 
Agreement”) for a total purchase price of $32.6 million.  For a batch of miners comprising a monthly shipment, if timely payments were made on 
installments then due, the Company holds an option to partially or wholly cancel such batch of miners and the remaining balance on such batch shall be 
refunded no later than two years after the cancellation. The Company is responsible for all transportation-related logistics costs for the delivery of miners. 
Pursuant to the Second Bitmain Purchase Agreement, the Company paid $2.0 million during the nine months ended September 30, 2022 and paid an initial 
deposit of approximately $11.4 in 2021. In September 2022, the Company cancelled the September and October 2022 batches, and the payments previously 
made for these monthly batches were applied to other payment obligations under the contract.  Additionally, certain amounts from the Bitmain Credit were 
applied to the Second Bitmain Purchase Agreement. Subsequently, the Company cancelled the November and December 2022 batches and payments 
previously made and credits previously applied to this agreement became available as account credits for use in new purchasing arrangements with Bitmain.  
The Company considers the Second Bitmain Purchase Agreement to be concluded.

On December 15, 2021, the Company entered into a Non-fixed Price Sales and Purchase Agreement with Bitmain for the purchase of 15,000 
S19XP miners, with originally scheduled monthly deliveries of 2,500 miners each between July 2022 and December 2022 (the “Third Bitmain Purchase 
Agreement”) for a total purchase price of $169.1 million. For a batch of miners comprising a monthly shipment, if timely payments were made on 
installments then due, the Company holds an option to partially or wholly cancel such batch of miners, and the remaining balance on such batch shall be 
refunded no later than two years after the cancellation.  The Company is responsible for all transportation-related logistics costs for the delivery of miners. 
Pursuant to the Third Bitmain Purchase Agreement, the Company paid $10.2 million during the nine months ended September 30, 2022 and paid an initial 
deposit of approximately $59.2 million in 2021. In September 2022, the Company cancelled the September and October 2022 batches and payments 
previously made for these monthly batches were applied to other payment obligations under the contract.  Additionally, certain amounts from the Bitmain 
Credit have been applied to the Third Bitmain Purchase Agreement.  Subsequently, the Company cancelled the November and December 2022 batches and 
payments previously made and credits previously applied to this agreement became available as account credits for use in new purchasing arrangements 
with Bitmain. The Company considers the Third Bitmain Purchase Agreement to be concluded.   

On September 28, 2022, the Company entered into two Future Sales and Purchase Agreements with Bitmain for the aggregate purchase of 3,400 
S19XP miners and 2,700 S19 Pro miners, with originally scheduled monthly deliveries between October 2022 and January 2023 (the “September 2022 
Bitmain Purchase Agreements”) for a total purchase price of $23.7 million.  The purchase price will be satisfied through application of the balance of the 
Bitmain Credit.

On November 4, 2022, the Company entered into two Future Sales and Purchase Agreements with Bitmain for the aggregate purchase of 3,600 
S19XP miners and 2,750 S19 Pro miners, with originally scheduled monthly deliveries between November 2022 and February 2023 (the “November 2022 
Bitmain Purchase Agreements”) for a total purchase price of $24.9 million.  The purchase price will be satisfied through application of the available account 
credits.

On December 5, 2022, the Company entered into a Future Sales and Purchase Agreement with Bitmain for the aggregate purchase of 14,000 S19 
Pro miners, with originally scheduled monthly deliveries commencing December 2022 (the “December 2022 Bitmain Purchase Agreement”) for a total 
purchase price of $22.4 million.  The purchase price will be satisfied through application of the available account credits.
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Minerva Agreement

On March 19, 2021, TeraWulf executed an agreement for the purchase of bitcoin miners from Minerva Semiconductor Corp. (“Minerva”) for a 
total of 30,000 MV7 miners, with originally scheduled monthly deliveries of miners each between November 2021 and January 2022, for an aggregate 
price of $118.5 million (the “Minerva Purchase Agreement”). Pursuant to the Minerva Purchase Agreement, the Company paid an initial deposit of $23.7 
million.  Concurrently with the execution of the Nautilus Cryptomine Joint Venture agreement, TeraWulf assigned the Minerva Purchase Agreement to 
Nautilus During the period February 8, 2021 (date of inception) to December 31, 2021, the Company paid Minerva $16.8 million and was reimbursed by 
Talen for 50% of that amount and also reimbursed by Talen an additional amount of $11.9 million related to 50% of the initial deposit paid. The balance of 
payments under the Minerva Purchase Agreement were originally scheduled to be paid as follows:  (i) 30% of the total price six months before the shipping 
date of each batch of bitcoin miners; (ii) 30% of the total price three months before the shipping date of each batch of bitcoin miners; and (iii) the remaining 
20% of the total price one month before the shipping date of each batch of bitcoin miners. Production delays at Minerva’s factory have impacted the initial 
pricing and delivery schedule. Accordingly, Nautilus and Minerva have deemed all payments made to date to apply to the initial 9,000 miners to be 
shipped. As of March 30, 2023, Nautilus had not amended the Minerva Purchase Agreement.  

Administrative and Infrastructure Services Agreement

On April 27, 2021, Beowulf E&D, a company owned and controlled by TeraWulf’s CEO, and TeraWulf entered into the administrative and
infrastructure services agreement, pursuant to which Beowulf E&D agreed to provide, or to cause its affiliates to provide, to TeraWulf certain services
necessary to buildout and operate certain bitcoin mining facilities anticipated to be developed by TeraWulf (the “Facilities”) and support TeraWulf’s
ongoing business, including, among others, services related to construction, technical and engineering, operations and maintenance, procurement,
information technology, regulatory, health and safety, treasury, finance and accounting, human resources, legal, corporate compliance, risk management,
ESG, tax compliance, external affairs, corporate communications, public affairs and corporate planning and development. In addition, the administrative
and infrastructure services agreement allows for Beowulf E&D to take actions in the name of TeraWulf, subject to certain limitations as set forth in the
agreement. The administrative and infrastructure services agreement has an initial term of five years and automatically renews for successive three-year
terms, unless earlier terminated.

Pursuant to the administrative and infrastructure services agreement, TeraWulf is required to (i) make available its professional, supervisory and
managerial personnel employed by TeraWulf or its affiliates to coordinate with Beowulf E&D as reasonably required and (ii) provide Beowulf E&D access
to the Facilities and any appurtenances thereto, together with the necessary rights of ingress and egress thereto. In addition, pursuant to the administrative
and infrastructure services agreement, TeraWulf is responsible for obtaining, maintaining and renewing all permits necessary for TeraWulf to do business in
the jurisdictions in which the Facilities are located and to own, operate and maintain the Facilities.

Pursuant to the administrative and infrastructure services agreement, Beowulf E&D may not provide infrastructure, construction, operations and
maintenance or administrative services to any other persons in the bitcoin mining industry during the initial five-year term, other than those services
provided by Beowulf E&D at the time of the execution of the administrative and infrastructure services agreement.

Pursuant to the administrative and infrastructure services agreement, TeraWulf appointed Beowulf E&D as agent with such authority as may be
necessary for Beowulf E&D to perform the services pursuant to the administrative and infrastructure services agreement, including, among others, the
authority to take actions and execute documents in the name, and as agent on behalf, of TeraWulf, subject, in all instances, to the limitations on Beowulf
E&D’s authority set forth in the administrative and infrastructure services agreement and the specific written instructions of TeraWulf from time to time.

TeraWulf agreed to pay Beowulf E&D an annual fee for the first year in the amount of $7.0 million payable in monthly installments, and an
annual fee equal to the greater of $10.0 million or $0.0037 per kilowatt-hour of electric load utilized by the Facilities thereafter. TeraWulf will also provide
Beowulf E&D reimbursement for certain reasonable and documented equipment, infrastructure and operating expenses incurred in the performance of
Beowulf E&D’s obligations under the administrative and infrastructure services agreement, which reimbursement will be prepaid monthly by TeraWulf
and reconciled monthly. Beowulf E&D may also request advances for emergencies as well as equipment, infrastructure and operating expenses that require
expedited payment terms.
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In addition, in connection with the listing of its common stock, TeraWulf agreed to issue awards with respect to shares of its common stock to
certain designated employees of Beowulf E&D in accordance with TeraWulf’s then effective omnibus incentive plan. Once the Facilities have utilized
100MW of cryptocurrency mining load in the aggregate, and for every incremental 100 MW of cryptocurrency mining load deployed by the Facilities in the
aggregate thereafter, TeraWulf agreed to issue additional awards of shares of TeraWulf common stock to certain designated employees of Beowulf E&D in
accordance with TeraWulf’s then effective omnibus incentive plan.

On March 29, 2023, TeraWulf and Beowulf E&D entered into Amendment No. 1 to the administrative and infrastructure services agreement,
pursuant to which TeraWulf agreed to pay Beowulf E&D, effective as of January 1, 2023, a reduced annual base fee equal to $8.46 million payable in
monthly installments, until all obligations under the Company’s Loan, Guaranty and Security Agreement dated as of December 1, 2021, as amended and
restated from time to time, are either indefeasibly repaid in full or refinanced.

Lake Mariner Facility Lease

On June 1, 2021, Lake Mariner entered into the lease agreement (the “Lake Mariner Facility Lease”) with Somerset Operating Company, LLC
(“Somerset”), a company 99.9%-owned and controlled by TeraWulf’s CEO, pursuant to which Lake Mariner agreed to lease from Somerset approximately
79 acres in the Town of Somerset, Niagara County, New York for an initial term of five years with an option to extend the term for additional five years on
the same terms as the initial term with at least six months prior written notice from Lake Mariner to Somerset.  On July 1, 2022, the Lake Mariner Facility 
Lease was amended (the “Lake Mariner Facility Lease Amendment”) to increase the initial term to eight years and to amend certain other non-financial 
sections to adjust environmental obligations, events of default and indemnification, site access rights and leasehold mortgage rights.  Pursuant to the Lake 
Mariner Facility Lease Amendment, Lake Mariner, as tenant, irrevocably granted to the agent on behalf of the Company’s lenders under its Loan, Guaranty 
and Security Agreement, in its capacity as a leasehold mortgagee, a right of first refusal with respect to any assignment by Lake Mariner of the Lake 
Mariner Facility Lease.  

The Lake Mariner Facility Lease contemplates that Lake Mariner will construct, or cause to be constructed, one or more buildings and/or ancillary
structures (collectively, the “Building”) to be used as a cryptocurrency mining facility with ancillary services reasonably related thereto. Upon expiration of
the Lake Mariner Facility Lease, the Building, together with all other buildings and improvements located thereon, will revert to Somerset. Lake Mariner
has the right, at its own cost and expense, to erect and install on the premises additional buildings, driveways, improvements, signs and personal property or
to make alterations to or replace existing buildings or improvements thereto as it deems necessary. Lake Mariner is required, at its sole cost and expense, to
obtain all permits and approvals necessary to construct and operate a cryptocurrency mining facility.

Lake Mariner agreed to pay rent to Somerset in the annual amount of $150,000, payable in advance in equal monthly installments commencing on
the first day of the calendar month immediately following the earlier to occur of (i) commencement of the initial construction of the Building or any
ancillary structures to be used as a cryptocurrency mining facility with ancillary services reasonably related thereto or (ii) the 180th day after date of 
execution of the Lake Mariner Facility Lease. Lake Mariner is also responsible for paying any and all costs and expenses related to the premises and the 
leasehold estate, including, among others, real estate taxes, insurance, maintenance, repair, utilities and all other obligations whether similar or dissimilar to 
the foregoing.  

Award for the Sale of High-Load Factor Power

On March 31, 2020, NYPA awarded TeraWulf a 90 MW allocation of high-load factor power for the Lake Mariner Facility for the sale of high-
load factor power and NYPA’s Service Tariff No. HLF-1 (the “PPA”). On February 14, 2022, the Company executed the PPA with a term of ten years
from the date of commencement of NYPA’s power delivery. Under the PPA, Lake Mariner is responsible for paying NYPA for unforced capacity, any fees
associated with transmission and delivery of power and energy and a monthly clean energy implementation charge.

Wendel Agreement

On September 17, 2021, Wendel Construction, Inc., as subcontractor, Beowulf E&D, as contractor and TeraWulf, as owner, entered into the
Project Build Subcontract Agreement to substantially build the Lake Mariner Facility (as amended by that certain 2nd Amendment to Project Build
Subcontract Agreement, the “Wendel Agreement”). The Wendel Agreement provided that TeraWulf pay Wendel for their performance of the work, with a
Control Estimate (as defined therein) of approximately $47.1 million. Pursuant to the terms of the Wendel Agreement, TeraWulf was responsible for
maintaining an escrow account balance that, when added to the
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unexpended Advance Payment (as defined therein), was equal to $3.0 million or 100% of the remaining project costs, whichever was less, by the 15th day 
of each month until the earlier of (i) the date on which the project is completed and (ii) the date on which the agreement terminates. Progress payments on 
the Wendel Agreement are made monthly through the escrow account.  

On March 9, 2022, the Wendel Agreement was amended to expand the scope of work to include the design and construction of an additional
building, building #3, to house approximately 15,000 additional miners with an electrical capacity of approximately 50 megawatts. Wendel retained five
sub-subcontractors to perform various work under the Wendel Agreement.

On March 6, 2023, TeraWulf, Beowulf E&D and Wendel entered into a mutual termination agreement pursuant to which the Wendel Agreement 
was terminated in all respects, effective as of December 13, 2022.  Under the terms of the mutual termination agreement, Wendel agreed to pay approx. 
$1.86 million to its sub- subcontractors, assigned five sub-subcontracts to Beowulf E&D and Beowulf assumed the remaining financial obligations 
thereunder in an amount of approx. $435,000. As of March 6, 2023, construction of building #1 of the Lake Mariner Facility was complete, construction of 
building #2 was partially complete and the design of building #3 was complete.

Custody and Sales of Bitcoin

NYDIG Custodial Agreement

On March 10, 2022, we entered into a Digital Asset Custodial Agreement with NYDIG (the “NYDIG Custodial Agreement") pursuant to which
NYDIG holds our bitcoin in cold storage as custodian in a digital asset account in the Company’s name (the “Digital Asset Account”), In exchange for its
custodial services, NYDIG charges an annual fee equal to a percentage of our custodied bitcoin, based on its daily average value in U.S. Dollars. Our
bitcoin in the Digital Asset Account does not constitute “deposits” within the meaning of U.S. federal or state banking law. Balances of digital assets in the
Company’s Digital Asset Account are not subject to Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation (“FDIC”) or Securities Investor Protection Corporation
(“SIPC”) protections.

NYDIG holds the Company’s bitcoin in trust for our benefit, and NYDIG has no right, interest or title in our custodied bitcoin. Beneficial and
legal ownership of all our bitcoin remains freely transferable without the payment of money or value and NYDIG has no ownership in the Company’s
custodied bitcoin. The Company’s bitcoin does not constitute an asset on NYDIG’s balance sheet and will at all times be identifiable in NYDIG’s database
as being stored in the Company’s Digital Asset Account for our benefit. The Company’s bitcoin is held in the Digital Asset Account at all times and is not
commingled with other digital assets held by NYDIG, whether for its own account or the account of others, except temporarily (typically for no longer than
12 hours, but in no case longer than 72 hours) as an operational matter, if required, to effect a transfer into our out of our Digital Asset Account.

NYDIG is not permitted to transfer any of our custodied bitcoin except as expressly directed by the Company pursuant to a designated security
procedure. NYDIG maintains policies, procedures and practices reasonably designed to comply with the New York Department of Financial Services’
Cybersecurity Regulation (23 NYCRR 500). Transfers of the Company’s bitcoin requires private keys stored on one or more servers, hard drives, or other
media physically present at a location in the United States. No physical, operational and cryptographic system for the secure storage of private keys is
perfectly secure, and loss or theft due to operational or other failure is always possible. NYDIG does not guarantee the value of the Company’s bitcoin.
NYDIG does not control any decentralized peer-to-peer network used to transfer bitcoin (“Digital Asset Network”) and is not responsible for the services
provided by those Digital Asset Networks. The software and cryptography that governs the protocols of Digital Asset Networks have short histories and
could at any time be found ineffective or faulty, which could result in the complete loss of value or theft of our custodied bitcoin. NYDIG has established a
business continuity plan that will support its ability to conduct business in the event of a significant business disruption, which is reviewed and updated
annually.

To the extent NYDIG does not cause or contribute to a loss the Company suffers in connection with any bitcoin transaction initiated, NYDIG has
no liability for that loss. In the event NYDIG fails to (1) execute a properly executable instruction of the Company and (2) give the Company notice of such
failure, NYDIG will only be liable for our actual damages. In no event will either be liable for any indirect, incidental, special or consequential losses.
Either party’s total aggregate liability arising out of or relating to the NYDIG Custodial Agreement is limited to the greater of (1) the fair market value of
the amount of the Company’s custodied bitcoin at the time in which the events giving rise to the liability occurred and (2) the fair market value of the
amount of our custodied bitcoin at the time that NYDIG notifies us in writing or we otherwise have actual knowledge of the events giving rise to the
liability. The fair market value of each digital asset will be determined by NYDIG according to its valuation policy, which may differ from the way the
Company values its digital asset holdings The NYDIG Custodial Agreement has a term of one ear and renews automatically for successive one-year
periods, unless terminated by either party upon 30 days prior written notice.
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NYDIG Execution Agreement

On September 16, 2022, we entered into a Digital Asset Execution Agreement (the “Execution Agreement”) with NYDIG Execution pursuant to
which NYDIG Execution executes or arranges our bitcoin sales orders (“Orders”) as our agent. NYDIG Execution may execute the Company’s Orders
against one of its customers or counterparties, on a digital asset exchange, or against NYDIG Execution or other NYDIG affiliate. We deliver our Orders to
NYDIG Execution via a designated security procedure, and each Order is affirmatively accepted by NYDIG Execution. While the Company’s bitcoin may
temporarily be processed through a NYDIG Execution customer account, our bitcoin is not commingled with the assets of NYDIG Execution. NYDIG
Execution deposits any cash from the sale of the Company’s bitcoin directly into the Company’s bank account at a U.S. depositary institution, less any
applicable commissions, fees or costs. NYDIG Execution does not guarantee the value of our bitcoin, does not control any Digital Asset Network and is not
responsible for any delay or failure to complete any Order caused by a Digital Asset Network. If NYDIG Execution fails to (1) execute a properly
executable Order and (2) give the Company notice of such failure, NYDIG Execution will only be liable for our actual damages. In no event will NYDIG
Execution be liable for any consequential, indirect, special or punitive damages. NYDIG Execution or the Company can terminate the Execution
Agreement upon thirty days prior written notice.

Mining Pool Services

Foundry Digital Services Agreement

We entered into a Service Agreement (“Service Agreement”) with Foundry Digital LLC (“Foundry”) by accessing and using the Pool (defined
below) pursuant to which Foundry provides us with a digital currency mining pool (“Pool”) and other services/products that may be added based on the
Pool site (“Service”). The Pool and Service provided by Foundry does not include wallet or custodial services. We have authorized Foundry to be fully
responsible for the disposal and distribution of the profits from the Service. Foundry may modify or interrupt the Service at any time without informing us
and without liability to us or any third party not directly related. Foundry has the right to modify the Service Agreement at any time. If we do not agree to
the Service Agreement or any of its modifications, then we must cease to use the Pool and will not be allowed further access to the Pool and Service. We
are using the Pool and Service at our own risk. In the event that our access and/or rights to the Pool and Service are discontinued, we are solely responsible
for settling the remaining balances left in our account. Foundry must use commercially reasonable efforts to assist us with settling any remaining balances
in our account. Foundry is not responsible or liable to us for any balances remaining in our account three months after our access and/or rights to the Pool
and Service have been discontinued (regardless of whether the balances were left in our account intentionally). The Service Agreement remains in effect
until our access and usage rights to the Pool and Service are terminated by either us or Foundry. We may terminate the Service Agreement at any time upon
settlement of any pending transactions. Foundry may, at its sole discretion, limit, suspend or terminate our access to the Pool and Service if: (i) we become
subject to bankruptcy/insolvency proceedings, (ii) we liquidate, dissolve, terminate or suspend our business, (iii) we breach the Service Agreement or
(iv) we perform any act or omission that materially impacts our ability to adhere to the Service Agreement.

As described further in the section titled “Risk Factors” herein, even though we do not hold any cryptocurrency on others’ behalf and do not
currently sell or intend to sell our cryptocurrency on exchanges, our business, financial condition and results of operations may still be adversely affected
by recent industry-wide developments beyond our control, including the continued industry-wide fallout from the recent Chapter 11 bankruptcy filings of
cryptocurrency exchange FTX Trading Ltd., et al. (“FTX”) (including its affiliated hedge fund Alameda Research LLC), crypto hedge fund Three Arrows
Capital (“Three Arrows”) and crypto lenders Celsius Network LLC, et al. (“Celsius”), Voyager Digital Ltd., et al. (“Voyager”), BlockFi Inc., et al.
(“BlockFi”) and Genesis Global Holdco, LLC, et al. (“Genesis”). Most recently, in January 2023, Genesis filed for Chapter 11 bankruptcy. Genesis is
owned by Digital Currency Group Inc. (“DCG”), who also owns Foundry, our mining pool provider. At this time, there are no material risks to our
business arising from our indirect exposure to Genesis. Although (i) our cryptocurrency mining business has no direct exposure to any of the
cryptocurrency market participants that recently filed for Chapter 11 bankruptcy; (ii) we have no assets, material or otherwise, that may not be recovered
due to these bankruptcies; (iii) we have no direct exposure to any other counterparties, customers, custodians or other crypto asset market participants
known to have (x) experienced excessive redemptions or suspended redemptions or withdrawal of crypto assets, (y) the crypto assets of their customers
unaccounted for, or (z) experienced material corporate compliance failures; and (iv) our activities in the commercial optimization of the power supply are
unaffected by the recent crypto market events; our business, financial condition and results of operations may not be immune to unfavorable investor
sentiment resulting from these recent developments in the broader cryptocurrency industry.
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Talen Joint Venture

Talen Joint Venture Agreement

On May 13, 2021, TeraWulf (Thales) entered into a limited liability company agreement (the “Talen Joint Venture Agreement”) with Cumulus
Coin, an affiliate of Talen, to develop, construct and operate up to 300 MW of zero-carbon bitcoin mining in Pennsylvania (the “Nautilus Cryptomine
Facility”). Each member originally held a 50% interest in Nautilus. Pursuant to the terms of the Talen Joint Venture Agreement, TeraWulf would contribute
$156.0 million both in cash and in-kind and Talen would contribute $156.0 million both in cash and in-kind to Nautilus by March 2022, unless otherwise
determined in accordance with the Talen Joint Venture Agreement.

On August 27, 2022, the members entered into an amended and restated Joint Venture agreement (the “A&R Talen Joint Venture Agreement”) 
whereby, among other changes, the unit ownership will be determined by infrastructure contributions while distributions of mined bitcoin will be 
determined by each member’s respective hashrate contributions.  Members are allowed to make contributions of miners up to the effective electrical 
capacity of their owned infrastructure percentage.  Each member retains access to 50% of the electricity supply outlined in the Nautilus Cryptomine Facility 
Ground Lease.  Additionally, the Company’s scheduled capital contributions were amended such that the Company would retain a 33% ownership interest 
in the Joint Venture if such capital contributions were funded.  With the change in ownership percentage, governance rights were amended to provide for 
greater Talen board participation, among other changes.  Subsequent to September 30, 2022, the Company targeted a 25% ownership interest in Nautilus 
and therefore made $7.3 million of the scheduled $17.1 million capital contributions.  The Company is not obligated to fund the balance of the $17.1 
million scheduled infrastructure-related capital contributions.  Accordingly, the Company’s ownership interest in Nautilus as of March 30, 2023 is 25%.  
Further, Nautilus is governed by a board of managers comprised of one manager appointed by TeraWulf and four managers appointed by Talen. 

Pursuant to the terms of the Talen Joint Venture Agreement, the Nautilus Cryptomine Facility will initially require 100 MW of electric capacity,
and Nautilus may elect to expand the energy requirement to up to 300 MW prior to May 13, 2024. Upon such election, Nautilus will call additional capital
for expansion and enter into an additional energy supply agreement with Talen for the additional capacity, subject to any regulatory approvals and third-
party consents. Unless terminated earlier in accordance with the terms of the Talen Joint Venture Agreement, until May 13, 2023, Talen will not provide
any electrical capacity at the site of the Nautilus Cryptomine Facility to any third party that is principally engaged in, or that has publicly disclosed its
intention to become engaged in, or otherwise intends to use, electrical capacity for bitcoin mining or bitcoin transaction verification at the site.

Nautilus and TeraWulf (Thales) entered into an exchange agreement on March 14, 2022, pursuant to which Nautilus sold to TeraWulf (Thales)
2,500 Bitmain S19j Pro bitcoin mining machines (the “Nautilus Miners”) in exchange for an equivalent number of BTC mining machines which are new
and either identical to or which, in the reasonable good faith opinion of Cumulus Coin, in the aggregate, function and perform in a manner no less effective
in respect of mining BTC than the Nautilus Miners (the “Exchange Miners”). The A&R Talen Joint Venture Agreement removed the Company’s obligation 
to deliver the Exchange Miners to Nautilus.  

In accordance with the terms and provisions of the Talen Joint Venture Agreement, TeraWulf and Talen entered into (i) the Nautilus Cryptomine
Facility Ground Lease, (ii) the Beowulf E&D Facility Operations Agreement relating to the operation of the Nautilus Cryptomine Facility and (iii) the
Talen Corporate Services Agreement relating to the provision of corporate and administrative services to Nautilus. In addition, in accordance with the terms
and provisions of the Talen Joint Venture Agreement, the Minerva Agreement was assigned from TeraWulf to Nautilus.

On March 23, 2023, TeraWulf (Thales) entered into a second amended and restated limited liability company agreement (the “Second A&R Talen
Joint Venture Agreement”) with Cumulus Coin. Under the Second A&R Talen Joint Venture Agreement, TeraWulf (Thales) will hold a 25% equity interest
in Nautilus and Cumulus Coin will hold a 75% equity interest in Nautilus, each subject to adjustment based on relative capital contributions. Bitcoin
distributions will be made every two weeks in accordance with each Member’s respective hash rate contributions after deducting each Member’s share of
power and operational costs and cash reserves, as established by the board of managers, to fund, among other things, one month of estimated power costs
and two months of budgeted expenditures.

Under the Second A&R Talen Joint Venture Agreement, each member will be entitled to make contributions to Nautilus of certain miners up to a 
maximum determined in accordance with each member’s ownership percentage, by delivering or causing to be delivered and installed or deemed installed 
on behalf of Nautilus at the Nautilus Cryptomine facility or at Nautilus’ storage facility, such miners.  Pursuant to the Second A&R Talen Joint Venture 
Agreement, certain MinerVa miners that TeraWulf (Thales) 
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contributed to Nautilus will be removed and provided to TeraWulf (Thales), which TeraWulf (Thales) has the right to replace in its discretion.  Likewise, 
Cumulus Coin may elect to remove certain MinerVa miners that Cumulus Coin contributed to Nautilus, which Cumulus Coin has the right to replace in its 
discretion.

Nautilus will be governed by a board of managers comprised of one manager appointed by TeraWulf (Thales) and four managers appointed by
Cumulus Coin. Under the Second A&R Talen Joint Venture Agreement, the board of managers generally acts upon a majority vote at a duly called meeting
at which the manager appointed by TeraWulf (Thales) is present, except that, for certain specified matters (“Special Consent Matters”), the board of
managers acts upon a unanimous vote, subject to deadlock procedures. Any Member owning less than 20% of Nautilus has no right to vote on Special
Consent Matters. Generally, neither TeraWulf (Thales) nor Cumulus Coin may directly transfer any of its interests in Nautilus to any third parties without
the majority consent of the board of managers, except that TeraWulf (Thales) is entitled to transfer its interests in Nautilus if certain conditions are met.

Pursuant to the terms of the Second A&R Talen Joint Venture Agreement, the Nautilus Cryptomine facility will initially require 200 MW of 
electric capacity, and the Cumulus Coin may elect to expand the energy requirement by up to 100 MW, funded solely by the Cumulus Coin, prior to May 
13, 2024, for a total capacity of 300 MW.  Upon such election, Nautilus will call additional capital for expansion and enter into an additional energy supply 
agreement with Cumulus Coin or its affiliate for the additional capacity, subject to any regulatory approvals and third-party consents.

On August 26, 2022, Nautilus and Beowulf E&D entered into an amended and restated facility operations agreement with an early termination 
right for Nautilus, pursuant to which Beowulf E&D provides, or arranges for the provision to Nautilus of, certain infrastructure, construction, operations and 
maintenance and administrative services necessary to build out and operate the Nautilus Cryptomine facility and support Nautilus’s ongoing business at the 
Nautilus Cryptomine facility.  Nautilus terminated the amended and restated facility operations agreement effective December 26, 2022.  On December 26, 
2022, Nautilus and Talen Energy Supply LLC entered into a replacement facility operations agreement pursuant to which Talen Energy Supply LLC 
provides, or arranges for the provision to Nautilus of, certain infrastructure, construction, operations and maintenance and administrative services necessary 
to build out and operate the Nautilus Cryptomine facility and support Nautilus’s ongoing business at the Nautilus Cryptomine facility.  Also on December 
26, 2022, Beowulf E&D and Nautilus entered into a transition services agreement to facilitate the prompt transition of the services provided by Beowulf 
E&D to Nautilus under the amended and restated facility operations agreement to Talen Energy Supply LLC.  Pursuant to the transition services agreement, 
Beowulf E&D shall provide such transition services to Nautilus until June 30, 2023 in exchange for payment by Nautilus of $339,200 and reimbursement of 
out of pocket expenses.

Nautilus Cryptomine Facility Ground Lease

Susquehanna Data LLC, a Delaware limited liability company, as assigned by Talen Nuclear Development LLC, a Delaware limited liability
company, as lessor (in such capacity, the “Lessor”), and Nautilus, as lessee (in such capacity, the “Lessee”), entered into the ground lease, dated as of
May 13, 2021 (the “Nautilus Cryptomine Facility Ground Lease”), for certain premises located on the campus of the Susquehanna Station.  The purpose of 
the Nautilus Cryptomine Facility Ground Lease is to provide the Lessee with an interest in the land for the design, construction and operation of a bitcoin 
mining facility site, consisting of one or more buildings and related facilities necessary for its operation.

The term of the Nautilus Cryptomine Facility Ground Lease runs for a period of five years, beginning on the date that the Lessee begins mining
operations, but no later than June 15, 2022 (the “Commencement Date”). At the end of the initial term, the Lessee will have two options to renew the
Nautilus Cryptomine Facility Ground Lease for three years each, and, pursuant to an amendment dated December 28, 2022 to the Nautilus Cryptomine 
Facility Ground Lease (the “Nautilus Cryptomine Facility Ground Lease Amendment”), an option to extend the term by an interim period of up to six and 
one half months after the first three year renewal term. Prior to the Commencement Date, the Lessee’s initial base rent is $22,012 per month, which begins 
on the first day of the first calendar month following the date on which electric power is first made available to the premises sufficient to satisfy the Lessee’s 
initial energy requirement (“COD”).  After the Commencement Date, base rent increases to $131,906 per month for the duration of the term of the Nautilus 
Cryptomine Facility Ground Lease. In the Nautilus Cryptomine Facility Ground Lease Amendment, the parties confirmed June 15, 2022 as the 
Commencement Date and July 1, 2022 as the date on which the base rent will increase. The Lessee notified the Lessor that COD occurred on February 14, 
2023.  The Lessee is responsible for paying additional rent for property taxes, as well as the Lessee’s proportionate share of the Lessor’s operating expenses 
incurred in the ownership, operation and maintenance of any shared facilities and common areas on the campus. The Lessee is responsible for reimbursing 
the Lessor for all costs to construct a dedicated substation serving the Nautilus Cryptomine Facility, as such costs are amortized with an interest of 8% per 
annum over 11 years. The Lessee is also responsible for all costs for the repair and maintenance of the substation.
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Another component of compensation under the Nautilus Cryptomine Facility Ground Lease is a provision of power by the Lessor to the Lessee
(the “Nautilus Cryptomine Facility Power Purchase Agreement”). Pursuant to the terms of the Nautilus Cryptomine Facility Power Purchase Agreement,
electricity will be furnished by the Lessor to the Lessee on a “sub-metering” basis. So long as electric current is supplied by sub-metering, the Lessee will
pay to the Lessor a delivered energy charge each month of the term of the Nautilus Cryptomine Facility Power Purchase Agreement. If the Lessee’s
capacity factor is below 95% during any such month beginning March 1, 2023, the Lessee is required to pay an additional capacity charge to the Lessor of
$4.82 per MW-hour of any capacity shortage.

Beowulf E&D Facility Operations Agreement

On May 13, 2021, Nautilus and Beowulf E&D entered into the facility operations agreement (the “Beowulf E&D Facility Operations 
Agreement”), pursuant to which Beowulf E&D agreed to provide, or arrange for the provision to Nautilus of, certain infrastructure, construction, operations 
and maintenance and administrative services necessary to build out and operate the Nautilus Cryptomine Facility and support Nautilus’s ongoing business 
at the Nautilus Cryptomine Facility. Nautilus agreed to pay Beowulf E&D an annual fee in the amount of $750,000 payable annually in advance and 
reimburse Beowulf E&D for all out-of-pocket fees, expenses and capital costs paid by Beowulf E&D or its affiliates.  

On August 27, 2022, the Nautilus and Beowulf E&D entered into an amended and restated Beowulf E&D Facility Operations Agreement (the
“A&R Beowulf E&D Facility Operations Agreement”) in connection with the A&R Talen Joint Venture Agreement to provide that the term of the A&R
Beowulf E&D Facility Operations Agreement remain in effect until the earliest of (i) August 27, 2025, (ii) its termination by mutual consent of Nautilus
and Beowulf E&D, (iii) the sale by TeraWulf and its affiliates of their interests in Nautilus, (iv) the consummation of an initial public offering of Nautilus,
(v) termination by either party in the event of a default by the other party or (vi) termination by Nautilus for convenience upon at least ninety days prior 
written notice. Pursuant to the terms of the A&R Beowulf E&D Facility Operations Agreement, if Nautilus terminates the agreement for convenience 
between July 1, 2022 and June 30, 2023, Nautilus shall pay Beowulf E&D a termination fee in the amount of $1,750,000, or after June 30, 2023, Nautilus 
shall pay Beowulf E&D a termination fee in the amount of in the amount of $750,000.  Nautilus terminated the A&R Beowulf E&D Facility Operations 
Agreement for convenience effective December 26, 2022.  

On December 26, 2022, Beowulf E&D and Nautilus entered into a Transition Services Agreement (the “Transition Services Agreement”) to 
facilitate the prompt transition of the services provided by Beowulf E&D to Nautilus under the A&R Beowulf E&D Facility Operations Agreement to Talen 
Energy Supply LLC, the successor provider of infrastructure, construction, operations and maintenance and administrative services to Nautilus.  The 
Transition Services Agreement provides for Beowulf E&D to provide such transition services to Nautilus until June 30, 2023 in exchange for payment by 
Nautilus of $339,200 payable monthly in advance commencing on January 1, 2023 and reimbursement of out of pocket expenses.

Talen Corporate Services Agreement

 On August 27, 2022 and effective as of May 13, 2021, Nautilus and Cumulus Digital, LLC (“Cumulus Digital”) entered into an amended and 
restated corporate services agreement (the “A&R Talen Corporate Services Agreement”), pursuant to which Cumulus Digital will provide certain corporate 
and administrative services to Nautilus, including all day-today corporate-level management and support services such as accounting and financial 
reporting, development planning, real estate, information technology, financial planning and analysis, banking, treasury, regulatory, legal, supply chain and 
secretarial and administrative functions.  Nautilus agreed to pay Cumulus Digital an annual fee in the amount of $750,000 payable annually in advance and 
reimburse Cumulus Digital for all out-of-pocket fees, expenses and capital costs paid by Cumulus Digital or its affiliates.

The term of the A&R Talen Corporate Services Agreement will continue until the earliest of (i) August 27, 2025, (ii) its termination by mutual
consent of Nautilus and Talen Energy Supply, (iii) the sale by Cumulus Coin and its affiliates of their interests in Nautilus, (iv) the consummation of an
initial public offering of Nautilus, (v) the termination of the Talen Corporate Services Agreement by either party in the event of a default by the other party
or (vi) termination by Nautilus for convenience upon at least ninety days prior written notice. Pursuant to the terms of the A&R Talen Corporate Services
Agreement, if Nautilus terminates the agreement for convenience between July 1, 2022 and June 30, 2023, Nautilus shall pay Cumulus Digital a termination
fee in the amount of $1,750,000, or after June 30, 2023, Nautilus shall pay Cumulus Digital a termination fee in the amount of in the amount of $750,000.
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Loan, Guaranty and Security Agreement

On December 1, 2021, TeraCub entered into a Loan, Guaranty and Security Agreement with Wilmington Trust, National Association as 
administrative agent (the “LGSA”). The LGSA consists of a $123.5 million term loan facility (the “Term Loan”). On December 14, 2021, TeraWulf 
executed a joinder agreement whereby it effectively became the successor borrower to TeraCub and assumed all obligations under the LGSA. The 
Company is required to pay the outstanding principal balance of the Term Loan in quarterly installments, commencing in April 2023, equal to 12.5% of the 
original principal amount of the Term Loan. The maturity date of the Term Loan is December 1, 2024. The Term Loan bears an interest rate of 11.5% and 
an upfront fee of 1%, an amount of approximately $1.2 million. Upon the occurrence and during the continuance of an event of default, as defined, the 
applicable interest rate will be 13.5%. Interest payments are due quarterly in arrears. The Company has the option to prepay all or any portion of the Term 
Loan in increments of at least $5.0 million subject to certain prepayment fees, including:  (1) if paid prior to the first anniversary of the LGSA, a make 
whole amount based on the present value of the unpaid interest that would have been paid on the prepaid principal amount over the first year of the Term 
Loan, (2) if paid subsequent to the first anniversary of the LGSA but prior to the second anniversary of the LGSA, an amount of 3% of the prepaid principal 
and (3) if paid subsequent to the second anniversary of the LGSA but prior to the maturity date of the LGSA, an amount of 2% of the prepaid principal. 
Certain events, as described in the LGSA, require mandatory prepayment. The Term Loan is guaranteed by TeraWulf Inc. and TeraCub and its subsidiaries, 
as defined, and is collateralized by substantially all of the properties, rights and assets of TeraWulf Inc. and TeraCub and its subsidiaries (except 
IKONICS), as defined. One Term Loan investor, NovaWulf Digital Master Fund, L.P., with a principal balance of $15.0 million, is a related party due to 
cumulative voting control by members of Company management and a member of the Company’s board of directors.  In July 2022, NovaWulf Digital 
Master Fund, L.P. transferred a principal balance of $13.0 million of the Term Loan to NovaWulf Digital Private Fund LLC. In connection with the LGSA, 
the Company issued to the holders of the Term Loans 839,398 shares of Common Stock (the “Term Loan Equity”).

On July 1, 2022, the Company entered into an amendment to the LGSA.  This amendment provides for an additional $50.0 million term loan 
facility (the “New Term Facility”). The New Term Facility has a maturity date of December 1, 2024, consistent with the existing term loans under the 
LGSA. The interest rate with respect to the New Term Facility is consistent with the existing term loans under the LGSA, but the interest rate under the 
amended LGSA may be increased, if applicable, to the cash interest rate on any junior capital raised plus 8.5%, if higher.  No interest rate adjustment has 
been made under this provision.  Pursuant to the New Term Facility, funds can be drawn in three tranches. The $15.0 million first tranche (the "First 
Amendment Term Loan") was drawn at closing in July 2022, and the subsequent tranches of up to $35 million (the “Delayed Draw Term Loan 
Commitment”) may be drawn at Company’s option prior to December 31, 2022, subject to certain conditions, including the raising of matching junior 
capital, as defined. The amortization with respect to the first tranche of the New Term Facility is consistent with existing term loans under the LGSA. The 
loans under the subsequent tranches of the New Term Facility are repayable in quarterly installments on (i) April 5, 2024 and July 8, 2024, equal to 12.50% 
of the original principal amount advanced under such tranches under the LGSA and (ii) October 7, 2024, equal to 37.5% of the original principal amount 
advanced under such tranches of the LGSA.  The New Term Facility required the Company to extend the initial term of the Ground Lease from five years 
to eight years.  The prepayment provisions remain unchanged for the Term Loan.  If the New Term Facility is repaid within 121 days of July 1, 2022, then a 
3% prepayment penalty is due.  A prepayment thereafter results in no prepayment penalty.  

In connection with the New Term Facility, the Company paid an upfront fee of $125,000 and issued warrants to the lenders under the New Term 
Facility to purchase 5,787,732 shares of Common Stock at $0.01 per share, an aggregate number of shares of the Company’s Common Stock equal to 5.0% 
(comprised of 2% related to the Delayed Draw Term Loan Commitment and 3% related to the First Amendment Term Loan) of the then fully diluted equity 
of the Company (the “Lender Warrants”).  If the Company draws subsequent tranches, it is required to issue warrants to the lenders to purchase  shares of 
the Company’s Common Stock equal to dilution of 3.75% upon the issuance of a second tranche in the amount of $15.0 million and 4.25% upon issuance of 
a third tranche in the amount of $20.0 million, in each case as a percentage of the then fully diluted equity of the Company, respectively. A certain portion 
of the Lender Warrants were subject to cancellation, upon the occurrence of certain conditions, but based on the passage of time no cancellation provisions 
remain effective.  The Lender Warrants were subject to certain vesting restrictions, which expired on September 30, 2022 or October 30, 2022.

On August 26, 2022, TeraWulf Inc. (the “Company”) entered into a second amendment (the “Second Amendment”) to the LGSA. The LGSA, as
amended, required the Company to maintain or meet certain affirmative, negative, financial and reporting covenants. The affirmative covenants include,
among other things, a requirement for the Company to maintain insurance coverage, maintain mining equipment and comply in all material respects with
the Company’s Nautilus joint venture agreement. The negative covenants restrict or limit the Company’s ability to, among other things, incur debt, create
liens, divest or acquire assets, make restricted payments and permit the Company’s interest in the Nautilus joint venture to be reduced below 25%.
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On October 7, 2022, the Company entered into a third amendment (the “Third Amendment”) to the LGSA, which divided the initial funding of up 
to $15,000,000 of the Delayed Draw Term Loan Commitment into two tranches of up to $7,500,000 each. The first tranche of $7,500,000 was borrowed 
upon the effectiveness of the Third Amendment on October 7, 2022.  On the same date, the Company also entered into an amendment and restatement of
that certain warrant agreement with respect to the Lender Warrants, which provided for their immediate exercisability.

On January 27, 2023, the Company entered into a binding term sheet with its lenders (the “Term Sheet”) pursuant to which the parties agreed to 
make certain amendments to the LGSA via a fifth amendment (the “Fifth Amendment”).  The Term Sheet provided for the elimination of mandatory 
amortization of the term loan through April 8, 2024, subject to certain conditions, including the completion of one or more equity capital raises with 
aggregate net proceeds of at least $33.5 million by March 15, 2023 (such aggregate capital raise, the “Qualified Equity Capital Raise”). The Company 
satisfied the Qualified Equity Capital Raise condition on March 9, 2023. The Term Sheet also provided for an excess cash flow sweep in place of scheduled 
principal payments, which will automatically extend to the maturity of the term loan on December 1, 2024 in the event the Company repays at least $40 
million of the term loan by April 1, 2024. The modifications to the term loan’s amortization schedule are also contingent on the Company complying with 
certain corporate governance provisions, and that no default or event of default has occurred or is occurring under the term loan.

On March 1, 2023 (the “Fifth Amendment Effective Date”), the conditions precedent to the effectiveness of the Fifth Amendment were satisfied
and the Company entered into the Fifth Amendment. Also, on March 1, 2023, in connection with the execution of the Fifth Amendment, the Company
entered into a Warrant Agreement (the “ Fifth Amendment Warrant Agreement”) to issue the following warrants to the lenders: (i) 26,666,669 warrants to
purchase an aggregate number of shares of the Company’s common stock equal to 10.0% of the fully diluted equity of the Company as of the Fifth
Amendment Effective Date with an exercise price of $0.01 per share of the Company’s common stock (the “Lender Penny Warrants”) and (ii) 13,333,333
warrants to purchase an aggregate number of shares of the Company’s common stock equal to 5.0% of the fully diluted equity of the Company as of the
Fifth Amendment Effective Date with an exercise price of $1.00 per share of the Company’s common stock (the “Lender Dollar Warrants”). Both the
Lender Penny Warrants and the Lender Dollar Warrants are subject to anti-dilution protection for any additional capital raising transaction by the Company
of up to $5.0 million following the completion of the Qualified Equity Capital Raise. The Lender Penny Warrants are exercisable during the period
beginning on April 1, 2024 and ending at 5:00 p.m., New York City time, on December 31, 2025, and the Lender Dollar Warrants are exercisable during
the period beginning on April 1, 2024 and ending at 5:00 p.m., New York City time, on December 31, 2026. Also, on March 1, 2023, the Company entered
into a registration rights agreement in respect of the Lender Penny Warrants and the Lender Dollar Warrants which provides the lenders with customary
shelf and piggyback registration rights. The Lender Penny Warrants and the Lender Dollar Warrants were issued in a private placement transaction exempt
from registration under Section 4(a)(2) and/or Regulation D under the Securities Act.

Intellectual Property

TeraWulf actively uses specific hardware and software for its bitcoin mining operations. In certain cases, source code and other software assets
may be subject to an open-source license due to the fact that the majority of the technology in the blockchain and cryptocurrency sectors is open source For
these works, we adhere to the terms of any license agreements that may be in place. TeraWulf does not currently own, and does not have any current plans
to seek, any patents in connection with its existing and planned blockchain and cryptocurrency related operations. TeraWulf relies upon trade secrets,
trademarks, service marks, trade names, copyrights and other intellectual property rights and expects to license the use of intellectual property rights owned
and controlled by others. In the future, TeraWulf may develop certain proprietary software applications for purposes of its blockchain and cryptocurrency
related operations.

TeraWulf owns the internet domain name www.terawulf.com. Information on, or accessible through, TeraWulf’s website, or any other website
accessible through TeraWulf’s website, is not incorporated by reference into, and does not form a part of, this Annual Report and is intended to be inactive
textual reference only.

Competition

Bitcoin mining is an increasingly competitive industry comprised of companies and organizations of varying scale and sophistication. There has
been a significant increase in the number of commercial bitcoin miners attempting to expand and scale their mining operations, which in turn has
contributed to increasing the global network’s total hash power. As more hashing capability is added to the bitcoin network, the revenue generating
potential of TeraWulf’s miners could be negatively affected. Additionally, as more bitcoin miners enter the industry, TeraWulf may experience additional
pressure on profitability and ability to scale operations, due to greater competition for access to miners, mining locations, and infrastructure components.



Table of Contents

15

TeraWulf believes that it addresses many of these risks with its infrastructure-first and vertically integrated strategy, which leverages several key
components. The Company has secured several long-term, low-cost energy supply contracts at the sites which it controls directly or through joint venture
agreements. Terawulf also receives its miners from different suppliers where its multi-sourcing strategy provides greater alternatives than many peers for
supply of this critical component to the mining industry. TeraWulf management’s decades of experience in designing, developing and operating energy
infrastructure also enables the Company and its affiliate Beowulf E&D to construct world-class mining facilities that can host miners on a compressed
timeline while minimizing construction and operating expenses.

Government Regulation

Government regulation of blockchain and cryptocurrency mining industries is being actively considered by the United States federal government
via several agencies and regulatory bodies as well as similar entities in other countries. State government regulations also may apply to TeraWulf’s
activities and other activities in which TeraWulf participates or may participate in the future. Other regulatory bodies are governmental or semi-
governmental and have shown an interest in regulating or investigating companies engaged in the blockchain or cryptocurrency mining business.

Businesses that are engaged in the transmission and custody of bitcoin and other digital assets, including brokers and custodians, can be subject to
the regulations of the U.S. Department of the Treasury (the “Treasury”) as money services businesses as well as state money transmitter licensing
requirements. Bitcoin and other digital assets are subject to anti-fraud regulations under federal and state commodity laws, and digital asset derivative
instruments are substantively regulated by the Commodity Futures Trading Commission. Certain jurisdictions, including, among others, the State of New
York and a number of countries outside the United States, have developed regulatory requirements specifically for digital assets and companies that
transact in them.

Regulations may change substantially in the future, and it is presently not possible to know how regulations will apply to TeraWulf’s business or
when they will become effective. As the regulatory and legal environments evolve, TeraWulf may become subject to new laws and further regulation by
the SEC and other agencies, which may affect its mining and other activities. For instance, various bills have been proposed in the U.S. Congress related to
TeraWulf’s business, which may be adopted and have an impact on TeraWulf. See “Risk Factors” for additional discussion regarding TeraWulf’s belief
about the potential risks that existing and future regulations pose to its business.

On March 2, 2022, the United States announced plans to establish a unified federal regulatory regime for cryptocurrency, and a group of United
States Senators sent a letter to the United States Treasury Department asking Treasury Secretary Yellen to investigate Treasury’s ability to monitor and
restrict the use of cryptocurrencies to evade sanctions imposed by the United States.

In September 2022, the White House issued a report regarding the Climate and Energy Implications of Crypto-Assets in the United States. The
report states that the Department of Energy and Environmental Protection Agency should initiate a process to solicit data and develop environmental
performance and energy conservation standards for crypto-asset technologies, including mining equipment. Should such measures prove ineffective at
achieving the Administration’s environmental goals, the report calls for the Administration to explore executive actions and legislation to limit or eliminate
the use of high energy intensity consensus mechanisms for crypto-asset mining.

We are unable to predict the impact that any new standards, legislation, or regulations may have on our business at the time of filing this Annual
Report. We continue to monitor and proactively engage in dialogue on regulatory and legislative matters related to our industry.

Further, in December 2022 the SEC’s Division of Corporation Finance issued guidance advising companies to disclose exposure and risk to the
cryptocurrency market. While the focus is on digital asset managers and exchanges, and not bitcoin miners, the failure of such large asset managers and
exchanges may create increased price volatility of bitcoin. TeraWulf does not store our bitcoin on such exchanges; however, we may be impacted by such
failures.

In January 2023, the Federal Reserve, Office of the Comptroller of the Currency, and Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation issued a joint
statement discouraging banks from doing business with clients in crypto-asset industries. In January 2023, the Federal Reserve also issued a policy
statement broadening its authority to cover state-chartered banks.
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Also in January 2023, the House of Representatives announced its first ever Financial Services Subcommittee on Digital Assets and the intention
to develop a regulatory framework for the digital asset industry. The bipartisan leadership of the Senate Banking Committee announced that goal as well.

As the regulatory and legal environment evolves, we may become subject to new laws, such as further regulation by the SEC and other agencies,
which may affect our mining and other activities. For additional discussion regarding our belief about the potential risks existing and future regulation pose
to our business, see Part I, Item 1A. “Risk Factors” of this Annual Report.

Additionally, we are subject to numerous federal, state and local environmental laws and regulations. Numerous governmental agencies, such as
the U.S. Environmental Protection Agency and analogous state and provincial agencies issue regulations to implement and enforce these laws, which often
require stringent and costly compliance measures. These laws and regulations may, among other things, require the acquisition of permits; govern the
amounts and types of substances that may be released into the environment in connection with our operations; restrict the way we handle or dispose of our
materials and wastes; or require investigatory and remedial actions. Failure to comply with these laws and regulations may result in the assessment of
substantial administrative, civil and criminal penalties, the imposition of investigatory, remedial or corrective action obligations, or the possible issuance of
injunctions limiting or prohibiting our activities. In addition, some laws and regulations relating to the protection of the environment may, in certain
circumstances, impose liability for environmental damages and cleanup costs without regard to negligence or fault. Complying with these regulatory
requirements may increase our cost of doing business and consequently affect our profitability. Moreover, environmental laws and regulations have been
subject to frequent changes over the years, and the imposition of more stringent requirements could have a material adverse effect upon our capital
expenditures, earnings or our competitive position. We believe that our existing environmental control procedures are adequate and we have no current
plans for substantial capital expenditures in this area that would materially and adversely affect our business, financial condition or results of operations.

Available Information

We maintain a link to investor relations information on our website, www.terawulf.com, where we make available, free of charge, our SEC filings,
including our Annual Reports on Form 10-K, Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q, Current Reports on Form 8-K, and all amendments to those reports filed or
furnished pursuant to Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”), as soon as reasonably practicable
after we electronically file such material with, or furnish it to, the SEC. All SEC filings are also available at the SEC’s website at www.sec.gov. Our website
and the information contained on or connected to our website are not incorporated by reference herein, and our web address is included as an inactive
textual reference only.

Forward-Looking Statements

This Annual Report contains “forward-looking statements” within the meaning of the U.S. Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995,
which involve risks and uncertainties. All statements other than statements of historical facts contained in this Annual Report, including statements
regarding our strategy, future operations, future financial position, future revenue, projected costs, prospects, plans, objectives of management, and
expected market growth are forward-looking statements. These forward- looking statements are contained principally in the sections entitled “Risk Factors”
and “Use of Proceeds.” Without limiting the generality of the preceding sentence, any time we use the words “expects,” intends,” “will,” “anticipates,”
“believes,” “confident,” “continue,” “propose,” “seeks,” “could,” “may,” “should,” “estimates,” “forecasts,” “might,” “goals,” “objectives,” “targets,”
“planned,” “projects,” and, in each case, their negative or other various or comparable terminology and similar expressions, we intend to clearly express
that the information deals with possible future events and is forward-looking in nature. However, the absence of these words or similar expressions does not
mean that a statement is not forward-looking. For TeraWulf, particular uncertainties that could cause our actual results to be materially different than those
expressed in our forward-looking statements include, without limitation:

● conditions in the cryptocurrency mining industry, including any prolonged substantial reduction in cryptocurrency prices, and specifically, the
value of bitcoin, which could cause a decline in the demand for TeraWulf’s services;

● competition among the various providers of data mining services;
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● the need to raise additional capital to meet our business requirements in the future, which may be costly or difficult to obtain or may not be
obtained (in whole or in part) and, if obtained, could significantly dilute the ownership interests of TeraWulf’s shareholders;

● the ability to implement certain business objectives and the ability to timely and cost-effectively execute integrated projects;

● adverse geopolitical or economic conditions, including a high inflationary environment;

● security threats or unauthorized or impermissible access to our datacenters, our operations or our digital wallet;

● counterparty risk with respect to our digital asset custodian and our mining pool provider;

● employment workforce factors, including the loss of key employees;

● changes in governmental safety, health, environmental and other regulations, which could require significant expenditures;

● liability related to the use of TeraWulf’s services;

● currency exchange rate fluctuations; and

● other risks, uncertainties and factors included or incorporated by reference in this Annual Report, including those set forth under “Risk
Factors” and those included under the heading “Risk Factors” in our registration statement on Form S-4, which is incorporated by reference into
this Annual Report.

These forward-looking statements reflect our views with respect to future events as of the date of this Annual Report and are based on assumptions
and subject to risks and uncertainties. Given these uncertainties, you should not place undue reliance on these forward-looking statements. These forward-
looking statements represent our estimates and assumptions only as of the date of this Annual Report and, except as required by law, we undertake no
obligation to update or review publicly any forward-looking statements, whether as a result of new information, future events or otherwise after the date of
this Annual Report. We anticipate that subsequent events and developments will cause our views to change. You should read this Annual Report
completely and with the understanding that our actual future results may be materially different from what we expect. Our forward-looking statements do
not reflect the potential impact of any future acquisitions, merger, dispositions, joint ventures or investments we may undertake. We qualify all of our
forward-looking statements by these cautionary statements.

Risk Factor Summary

An investment in shares of our common stock involves substantial risks and uncertainties that may materially adversely affect our business,
financial condition and results of operations and cash flows. Some of the more significant challenges and risks relating to an investment in our Company are
summarized below. The following is only a summary of the principal risks that may materially adversely affect our business, financial condition, results of
operations and cash flows. The following should be read in conjunction with the more complete discussion of the risk factors we face, which are set forth
below. See “Item 1A— Risk Factors.”

● If TeraWulf is unable to successfully maintain its Equipment Supply Agreements on acceptable terms or at all, TeraWulf ’s business,
financial condition and results of operations may suffer.

● Since the development, construction and operation of the Nautilus Cryptomine Facility is subject to the terms of a joint venture agreement,
TeraWulf may have less control over strategic decisions.

● The digital asset exchanges on which cryptocurrencies, including bitcoin, trade are relatively new and largely unregulated, and thus may be
exposed to fraud and failure. Such failures may result in a reduction in the price of bitcoin, or even cause the market for bitcoin to disappear
entirely, which would adversely affect an investment in us.

● TeraWulf may need to raise additional capital to meet its business requirements in the future, which capital raising may be costly or
difficult to obtain or may not be obtained (in whole or in part) and, if obtained, could significantly dilute the ownership interests of
TeraWulf’s shareholders.
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● Our liquidity has been substantially dependent on our financing efforts and our business could be materially adversely affected by limited
liquidity in the future.

● We have identified a material weakness in our internal control over financial reporting which may, if not effectively remediated, result in
additional material misstatements in our financial statements.

● Although our digital assets are only stored using cold storage, we are subject to counterparty risk with respect to our digital asset custodian,
NYDIG Trust Company LLC.

● We are subject to counterparty risk with respect to our mining pool operator, Foundry Digital LLC.

● If the value of bitcoin declines precipitously, the value of our collateral under our Loan, Guaranty and Security Agreement with
Wilmington Trust, National Association as administrative agent may also decline, and we would face increased losses or impairments in
our investments and other assets.

● Security threats or unauthorized or impermissible access to our datacenters, our operations or our digital wallet from U.S. or non-U.S.
actors could result in a loss of our bitcoin and assets or cause damage to our reputation, each of which could adversely affect our business,
financial condition and results of operations.

● Digital assets, such as bitcoin, may become regulated as securities or investment securities.

● The further development and acceptance of digital asset networks and other digital assets, which represent a new and rapidly changing
industry, are subject to a variety of factors that are difficult to evaluate, and the slowing or stopping of the development or acceptance of
digital asset systems may adversely affect the Company’s business, financial condition and results of operations.

● If demand for transactions in bitcoin declines and is replaced by new demand for other cryptocurrencies, the Company’s business, financial
condition and results of operations could be adversely affected.

● Significant contributors to all or any digital asset network could propose amendments to the respective network’s protocols and software
that, if accepted and authorized by such network, could adversely affect the Company’s business, financial condition and results of
operations.

● The open-source structure of the bitcoin network protocol means that the contributors to the protocol are generally not directly
compensated for their contributions in maintaining and developing the bitcoin network protocol, and a failure to properly monitor and
upgrade the protocol could damage the bitcoin network and adversely affect the Company’s business, financial condition and results of
operations

● If a malicious actor or botnet obtains control in excess of 50% of the processing power active on any digital asset network, including the
bitcoin network, it is possible that such actor or botnet could manipulate the blockchain in a manner that may adversely affect the
Company’s business, financial condition and results of operations.

● If the award of digital assets for solving blocks and transaction fees for recording transactions are not sufficiently high to cover expenses
related to running data center operations, it may adversely affect the Company’s business, financial condition and results of operations.

● To the extent that the profit margins of digital asset mining operations are not high, operators of digital asset mining operations are more
likely to immediately sell their digital assets earned by mining in the digital asset exchange market, resulting in a reduction in the price of
digital assets that may adversely affect the Company’s business, financial condition and results of operations.

● To the extent that any miners cease to record transactions in solved blocks, transactions that do not include the payment of a transaction fee
will not be recorded on the blockchain until a block is solved by a miner who does not require the payment of transaction fees, and any
widespread delays in the recording of transactions could result in a loss of confidence in that digital asset network, which may adversely
affect the Company’s business, financial condition and results of operations.

● Intellectual property rights claims may adversely affect the operation of some or all digital asset networks.

● To the extent that the digital asset exchanges representing a substantial portion of the volume in digital asset trading are involved in fraud or
experience security failures or other operational issues, such digital asset exchanges’ failures may result in a reduction in the price of some
or all digital assets and may adversely affect the Company’s business, financial condition and results of operations.
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● Political or economic crises may motivate large-scale sales of digital assets, which could result in a reduction in some or all digital assets’
values and adversely affect the Company’s business, financial condition and results of operations.

● The Company’s ability to adopt technology in response to changing security needs or trends poses a challenge to the safekeeping of the
Company’s digital assets.

● Digital asset transactions are irrevocable, and stolen or incorrectly transferred digital assets may be irretrievable and, as a result, any
incorrectly executed digital asset transactions may adversely affect the Company’s business, financial condition and results of operations.

● The limited rights of legal recourse against the Company, and the Company’s lack of insurance protection, exposes the Company and its
stockholders to the risk of loss of its digital assets for which no person is liable.

● The Company may not have adequate sources of recovery if its digital assets are lost, stolen or destroyed.

● Digital assets held by the Company are not subject to FDIC or SIPC protections.

● The loss or destruction of a private key required to access a digital asset may be irreversible and, as a result, the Company’s loss of access
to its private keys or its experience of a data loss relating to its digital assets may adversely affect the Company’s business, financial
condition and results of operations.

● Because many of the Company’s digital assets are held by digital asset exchanges, it faces heightened risks from cybersecurity attacks and
financial stability of digital asset exchanges.

● As the number of digital assets awarded for solving a block in the blockchain decreases, the incentive for miners to continue to contribute
processing power to the respective digital asset network will transition from a set reward to transaction fees.

● The price of bitcoin may be influenced by regulatory, commercial and technical factors that are highly uncertain resulting in the price of
bitcoin being extremely volatile, which may significantly influence the market price of the Company’s common stock.

● The sale of the Company’s digital assets to pay expenses at a time of low digital asset prices may adversely affect the Company’s business,
financial condition and results of operations.

● The development and acceptance of competing blockchain platforms or technologies may cause consumers to use alternative distributed
ledgers or other alternatives.

● The decentralized nature of cryptocurrency systems may lead to slow or inadequate responses to crises, which may negatively affect our
business.

● We are subject to a highly-evolving regulatory landscape and any adverse changes to, or our failure to comply with, any laws and
regulations could adversely affect our business, reputation, prospects or operations.

● TeraWulf may be at a higher risk of litigation and other legal proceedings due to heightened regulatory scrutiny of the cryptocurrency
industry, which could ultimately be resolved against TeraWulf, requiring material future cash payments or charges, which could impair
TeraWulf’s financial condition and results of operations.

● The Company may be classified as an inadvertent investment company.

● It may be illegal now, or in the future, to acquire, own, hold, sell or use digital assets in one or more countries, and ownership of, holding
or trading in the Company’s securities may also be considered illegal and subject to sanction.

● If regulatory changes or interpretations of the Company’s activities require its registration as a money services business under the
regulations promulgated by FinCEN under the authority of the U.S. Bank Secrecy Act of 1970, as amended, the Company may be required
to register and comply with such regulations.

● Blockchain technology may expose the Company to specially designated nationals or blocked persons or cause it to violate provisions of
law.

● The Company may be required to register and comply with bitcoin regulations and, to the extent that the Company decides to continue
operations, the required registrations and regulatory compliance steps may result in extraordinary expenses to the Company.
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● If federal or state legislatures or agencies initiate or release tax determinations that change the classification of bitcoins as property for tax
purposes (in the context of when such bitcoins are held as an investment), such determination could have a negative tax consequence on
the Company or its shareholders.

● Under certain recently proposed legislation, substantial tax compliance burdens may be imposed on the Company relating to the tax
reporting of bitcoin and bitcoin-related transactions.

● The Company’s bitcoin holdings could subject it to regulatory scrutiny.

● Due to the unregulated nature and lack of transparency surrounding the operations of many bitcoin trading venues, they may experience
fraud, security failures or operational problems, which may adversely affect the value of the Company’s bitcoin holdings.

● If we fail to regain compliance with the continued listing requirements of Nasdaq, our common stock may be delisted and the price of our
common stock and our ability to access the capital markets could be negatively impacted.

● We do not expect to pay any dividends in the foreseeable future.

● The market price of our Common Stock may be volatile as a result of recent geopolitical, economic or industry-wide developments, which
could subject us to securities class action litigation and result in substantial losses for our stockholders.

ITEM 1A. Risk
Factors

Our business faces many risks. Before deciding whether to invest in our common stock, you should carefully consider the risk factors discussed in
this Annual Report. If any of the risks or uncertainties described herein actually occurs, our business, financial condition, results of operations or cash flow
could be materially and adversely affected. This could cause the trading price of our common stock to decline, resulting in a loss of all or part of your
investment. The risks and uncertainties we have described are not the only ones facing our company. Additional risks and uncertainties not presently
known to us or that we currently deem immaterial may also affect our business operations.

Risks Related to Our Business

If TeraWulf is unable to successfully maintain its Equipment Supply Agreements on acceptable terms or at all, TeraWulf’s business, financial
condition and results of operations may suffer.

Mining bitcoin requires access to massive amounts of electrical power and relationships with leading mining equipment manufacturers.
Furthermore, consistent with TeraWulf’s carbon mandate, TeraWulf’s activities must be supported by sustainable energy sources. A limited number of
suppliers produce mining equipment to power sustainable industrial-scale mining. Any shortage of mining equipment may negatively impact the viability
and expected economic return for TeraWulf’s bitcoin mining activities.

TeraWulf has structured and secured competitive equipment supply agreements to purchase state-of-the-art mining equipment from Bitmain and
MinerVA. Since its inception, TeraWulf has executed an equipment purchase agreement with MinerVA, four non-fixed price sales and purchase
agreements with Bitmain and five future sales and purchase agreements with Bitmain. TeraWulf will be highly dependent on the MinerVA agreement and
the Bitmain agreements (collectively, the “Equipment Supply Agreements”) for the development of its business models.

TeraWulf cannot guarantee that it will ultimately be able to successfully consummate the transactions contemplated by the Equipment Supply
Agreements on terms acceptable to both TeraWulf’s management team and Bitmain or MinerVA, as applicable. Despite securing Equipment Supply
Agreements that provide for delivery of an aggregate total of 44,450 miners between January 2022 and March 2023, such Equipment Supply Agreements
are subject to uncertain contractual provisions that could, under certain conditions, leave TeraWulf without adequate or sufficient equipment for its mining
operations. Under the Equipment Supply Agreements, the total purchase price is an estimated price, with the actual price to be determined at a specified
timeframe before shipment of the respective batch of miners. In addition, each batch of miners constitutes independent legal obligations, and TeraWulf will
have limited legal recourse in the event of delays to the delivery date.

Furthermore, the Bitmain agreements are solely governed by and construed in accordance with the laws of Hong Kong. In the event that
geopolitical turmoil, political instability, civil disturbances and restrictive government actions cause changes to the laws of
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Hong Kong, TeraWulf could face difficulties enforcing rights and obligations between the parties in the Bitmain agreements. The MinerVA agreement is
governed by the laws of the Province of Alberta, Canada without regard to any conflict of law provisions that might otherwise apply. Such contractual
provisions leave TeraWulf with limited avenues for legal recourse in the event of disputes between the parties.

If TeraWulf is unable to successfully maintain such agreements or TeraWulf’s counterparties fail to perform their obligations under the final
agreements, TeraWulf may be forced to look for alternative power providers. There is no assurance that TeraWulf will be able to find alternative suppliers
on acceptable terms in a timely manner, or at all. Any significant nonperformance by suppliers could have a material adverse effect on TeraWulf’s business
prospects, financial condition and operating results.

Since the development, construction and operation of the Nautilus Cryptomine Facility is subject to the terms of a joint venture agreement, TeraWulf
may have less control over strategic decisions.

On August 27, 2022, TeraWulf entered into an amended and restated joint venture agreement with an affiliate of Talen, as amended. The joint
venture agreement provides that, except for certain specified matters, decisions are to be made by a majority vote of the board of managers. The board of
managers is comprised of one manager appointed by TeraWulf and four managers appointed by Talen. Any significant disagreements between joint
venture partners on strategic decisions or the inability of the Talen affiliate to meet obligations to the joint venture or third parties may impede TeraWulf’s
ability to control aspects of the development, construction, and operation of the Nautilus Cryptomine Facility.

The digital asset exchanges on which cryptocurrencies, including bitcoin, trade are relatively new and largely unregulated, and thus may be exposed to
fraud and failure. Such failures may result in a reduction in the price of bitcoin, or even cause the market for bitcoin to disappear entirely, which
would adversely affect an investment in us.

Digital asset exchanges on which cryptocurrencies trade are relatively new and, in most cases, largely unregulated although regulatory scrutiny of
digital asset exchanges is increasing. Many digital exchanges currently do not provide the public with significant information regarding their ownership
structure, management teams, corporate practices or regulatory compliance. As a result, the marketplace may lose confidence in, or may experience
problems relating to, cryptocurrency exchanges, which may cause the price of bitcoin to decline. For example, in the first half of 2022, each of Celsius,
Voyager and Three Arrows declared bankruptcy, resulting in a loss of confidence in participants of the digital asset ecosystem and negative publicity
surrounding digital assets more broadly. In November 2022, FTX, the third largest digital asset exchange by volume at the time, halted customer
withdrawals and shortly thereafter, FTX and its subsidiaries filed for bankruptcy. Most recently, in January 2023, Genesis filed for bankruptcy. Genesis is
owned by Digital Currency Group Inc. (“DCG”), who also owns Foundry, our mining pool provider; however, at this time, the Company is not subject to
any material risks arising from its indirect exposure to Genesis. Additionally, in March 2023, Silicon Valley Bank, SBNY and Silvergate Bank, which all
counted crypto market participants among their clientele, ceased operations in March 2023.

In response to these events, the digital asset markets, including the market for bitcoin specifically, have experienced extreme price volatility and
several other entities in the digital asset industry have been, and may continue to be, negatively affected, further undermining confidence in the digital
assets markets and in bitcoin. These events have also negatively impacted the liquidity of the digital assets markets as certain entities affiliated with FTX
engaged in significant trading activity. If the liquidity of the digital assets markets continues to be negatively impacted by these events, digital asset prices,
including the price of bitcoin, may continue to experience significant volatility and confidence in the digital asset markets may be further undermined. A
perceived lack of stability in the digital asset exchange market and the closure or temporary shutdown of digital asset exchanges or banks catering to crypto
market participants due to business failure, hackers or malware, government-mandated regulation, or fraud, may reduce confidence in digital asset networks
and result in greater volatility in bitcoin’s value. Because the value of bitcoin is derived from the continued willingness of market participants to exchange
government-issued currency that is designated as legal tender in its country of issuance through government decree, regulation, or law (“fiat” currency) for
bitcoin, permanent and total loss of the value of bitcoin may result should the marketplace for bitcoin be jeopardized or disappear entirely.

We are continuing to monitor and evaluate our risk management procedures, but we believe our current risk management procedures are
reasonably designed and effective. We do not participate in any digital asset exchanges; we do not hold, sell or redeem any cryptocurrency on anyone else’s
behalf; we hold our proprietary bitcoin, and any bitcoin earned from hosting arrangements, in a cold storage wallet with our digital asset custodian, NYDIG,
a duly chartered New York limited liability trust company, to act as a custodian for our mined bitcoin; we do not hedge our bitcoin; and we sell our bitcoin
using NYDIG Execution, a Delaware LLC registered as a Money Services Business with the Financial Crimes Enforcement Network and licensed with a
BitLicense by the New York State Department of Financial Services. We do not sell or intend to sell our own bitcoin using any type of exchange, but rather
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rely on NYDIG Execution to sell our mined bitcoin on our behalf. Even still, the perceived lack of stability in digital asset exchanges and potential decline
in the value of bitcoin could adversely affect an investment in us. Furthermore, any permanent, non-temporary decrease in the price of bitcoin would cause a
risk of increased losses or impairments in our investments or other assets.

TeraWulf may need to raise additional capital to meet its business requirements in the future, which capital raising may be costly or difficult to obtain
or may not be obtained (in whole or in part) and, if obtained, could significantly dilute the ownership interests of TeraWulf’s shareholders.

TeraWulf had a working capital deficiency of $111.9 million as of December 31, 2022. TeraWulf will require additional capital in the future to
support its operations and may seek to raise additional financing in the future. TeraWulf may not be able to borrow or raise additional capital to meet its
current liquidity needs or to otherwise provide the capital necessary to expand its operations and business, whether due to negative investor sentiment from
the recent closures of Silicon Valley Bank, SBNY and Silvergate Bank and/or Chapter 11 bankruptcy filings of various cryptocurrency market participants,
including Genesis, FTX, BlockFi, Celsius, Voyager and Three Arrows, or adverse geopolitical or economic conditions, which might result in the value of
our Common Stock decreasing or becoming worthless. If TeraWulf is unable to raise sufficient financing to meet its liquidity needs, then we may not be
able to continue our current operations.

TeraWulf does not rely on third-party exchanges; mines only bitcoin (and no other cryptocurrency) solely for its own account (without customers
or counterparties); hosts certain third parties miners at its Lake Mariner datacenter, but does not have any access to or control over third parties’ mined
revenue; and, significantly, does not hold crypto assets on behalf of third parties or any customers and has no direct exposure (whether through deposits or
otherwise) to any cryptocurrency market participants that recently filed for Chapter 11 bankruptcy or are known to have experienced excessive
redemptions, suspended redemptions or have crypto assets of their customers unaccounted for. Additionally, our business in the commercial optimization of
power is unaffected by the recent crypto industry market events. However, negative investor sentiment regarding the cryptocurrency industry at large may
make it difficult for TeraWulf to obtain additional financing on terms that are acceptable, which could affect TeraWulf’s liquidity. Obtaining additional
financing involves risks, including, among others:

● additional equity or debt financing may not be available to TeraWulf on satisfactory terms and any equity TeraWulf is able to issue will lead to
dilution of the ownership interests of TeraWulf’s shareholders;

● loans or other debt instruments may have terms and/or conditions, such as restrictive covenants, which may limit TeraWulf’s future financing
activities; and

● heightened scrutiny of companies involved with cryptocurrencies in the current regulatory environment, especially as a result of the recent
closures of Silicon Valley Bank, SBNY and Silvergate Bank and/or Chapter 11 bankruptcy filings of Genesis, FTX, BlockFi, Celsius, Voyager
and Three Arrows, combined with TeraWulf’s capital constraints, may prevent TeraWulf from being able to obtain adequate financing.

Our liquidity has been substantially dependent on our financing efforts and our business could be materially adversely affected by limited liquidity in
the future.

We began bitcoin mining in March 2022 and to date, we have not achieved positive net earnings. We have primarily relied upon draws under our
Loan, Guaranty and Security Agreement dated as of December 1, 2021, among Wilmington Trust, National Association, a national banking association, in
its capacity as administrative agent and collateral agent, the lenders party thereto, the guarantors party thereto and the Company (as amended from time to
time, the “LGSA”), as well as additional equity and debt financings, in addition to operating cash flow, to fund our operations. Our bitcoin mining business
is in its early stages, and bitcoin and energy pricing and bitcoin mining economics are volatile and subject to uncertainty. Our business is subject to the
numerous risks and volatility associated with the cryptocurrency industry, including the fallout from the Chapter 11 bankruptcies of Genesis, FTX,
Voyager, Celsius and BlockFi, declines in the value of or fluctuating bitcoin to U.S. Dollar prices, the costs of bitcoin miners, supply chain constraints and
other factors that cause delays in miner deliveries, the number of market participants mining bitcoin, interruptions in our power supply, and regulatory
changes.

As disclosed elsewhere in this Form 10-K, the Company entered into the Fifth Amendment pursuant to which it achieved amortization relief for its
term loans until at least April 2024 with the possibility of extending amortization relief until the maturity date of the term loans. If the Company is unable
to successfully extend amortization relief through the maturity date, its liquidity may be materially adversely affected.
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Although the Company has taken actions, such as the Equity Offering and the various other transactions disclosed herein, to increase its liquidity,
the issues described above and other developments that may negatively affect the Company’s liquidity, such as high inflation and a potential recession, may
continue or recur in the future. Actions previously taken by the Company to address these issues, such as cost cutting, may have a negative effect on the
future business and results of operations of the Company. There can be no assurance that these developments will not impair the Company’s liquidity in the
future. If the Company is unable to finance its business on either a short-term or long-term basis due to a decrease in borrowing capacity under the LGSA,
an inability to satisfy the terms of the LGSA or a lack of liquidity (whether as a result of an inability to draw under the LGSA or otherwise), it could result
in a material adverse effect on the Company’s business, prospects, results of operations, financial condition and/or cash flows.

We have identified a material weakness in our internal control over financial reporting which may, if not effectively remediated, result in additional
material misstatements in our financial statements.

TeraWulf’s management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over our financial reporting, as defined in Rule 13a-
15(f) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934. As disclosed in Item 9A, “Controls and Procedures,” management identified a material weakness in our
internal control over financial reporting. The related control deficiencies resulted in material misstatements in our previously issued interim financial
statements for interim periods within the fiscal year ending December 31, 2022. The misstatements relate solely to incorrectly calculating the impact of
noncash activity on purchase and deposits on plant and equipment, resulting in an understatement of net cash used in investing activities and a
corresponding overstatement of net cash used in operating activities as originally included in the respective unaudited consolidated statements of cash flows.

A material weakness is defined as a deficiency, or combination of deficiencies, in internal control over financial reporting, such that there is a
reasonable possibility that a material misstatement of our annual or interim financial statements will not be prevented or detected on a timely basis. As a
result of the material weakness, TeraWulf’s management concluded that its internal control over financial reporting and related disclosure controls and
procedures were not effective based on criteria set forth by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission.

TeraWulf’s management is actively engaged in developing a remediation plan designed to address this material weakness. If TeraWulf’s remedial
measures are insufficient to address the material weakness, or if additional material weaknesses or significant deficiencies in its internal control are
discovered or occur in the future, its financial statements may contain material misstatements and TeraWulf could be required to restate its financial results.

Although our digital assets are only stored using cold storage, we are subject to counterparty risk with respect to our digital asset custodian, NYDIG
Trust Company LLC.

We use NYDIG Trust Company, LLC (“NYDIG”), a duly chartered New York limited liability trust company, to act as a custodian for our mined
bitcoin. NYDIG receives and holds our custodied assets, which includes both our digital assets and any cash we may choose to custody with NYDIG.

Our digital assets custodied with NYDIG are not “deposits” within the meaning of U.S. federal or state banking law, and thus balances of digital
assets held in our custodian account are not subject to Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation (“FDIC”) or Securities Investor Protection Corporation
(“SIPC”) protections. Additionally, instructions to NYDIG to withdraw our digital assets are sent, and digital assets are received by us from NYDIG, using
digital asset networks, and the software and cryptography that governs the protocols of digital asset networks have short histories and could at any time be
found ineffective or faulty, which could result in the complete loss of value or theft of our digital assets custodied with NYDIG. Additionally, the nature of
digital assets means that any technological difficulties experienced by NYDIG may prevent us from accessing or using our bitcoin custodied with NYDIG.
Only NYDIG holds the private keys to our wallet, and no one at the Company has access to our wallet’s private keys; any loss of our private keys relating
to, or hack or other compromise of, our digital wallet would adversely affect our ability to access or sell our bitcoin. No physical, operational and
cryptographic system for the secure storage of private keys is perfectly secure, and loss or theft due to operational or other failure of NYDIG’s operations is
always possible.

However, pursuant to our Digital Asset Custodial Agreement, dated as of March 10, 2022, between us and NYDIG (as may be amended, modified
or supplemented from time to time, the “Custody Agreement”), NYDIG has covenanted that it holds our digital assets in a segregated account that will at all
times be identifiable in NYDIG’s database as being stored for our benefit; that NYDIG has no right, interest or title in our digital assets; and that our digital
assets do not constitute an asset on the balance sheet of NYDIG. To the extent NYDIG holds any cash on our behalf, NYDIG may hold our cash in one or
more omnibus “for benefit of customers” accounts at one or more U.S. insured depository institutions; however, at this time, the Company has no cash
custodied, and has no immediate or
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future plans to custody, any cash with NYDIG. Furthermore, NYDIG has covenanted that our digital assets will not be commingled with other digital assets
held by NYDIG, except temporarily (typically for no longer than 12 hours, but in no case longer than 72 hours) as an operational matter, if required, to
effect a transfer into or out of our digital asset account. Significantly, NYDIG represents and warrants that beneficial and legal ownership of all our digital
assets is, and will remain, freely transferable without the payment of money or value and that NYDIG has no ownership interest in our account.

While we believe that the Custody Agreement provides our business with reasonable protections for our business’s operations and the safe storage
of our digital assets, we make no assurances that storing our digital assets with NYDIG is free from risk, given the various risks enumerated above. To the
best of our knowledge, NYDIG safely stores our digital assets in segregated accounts as represented in the Custody Agreement, however, if NYDIG were
to be in breach of the Custody Agreement, our digital assets could be compromised. Additionally, if NYDIG were to cease operations, declare insolvency
or file for bankruptcy, there is a reasonable risk that recovery of our assets, though kept in segregated accounts, would be delayed or unrecoverable.
Additionally, if NYDIG were to cease operations, declare insolvency or file for bankruptcy, we do not have a readily available backup custodian at this
time, and so we would need to self-custody our digital assets using cold storage until we could contract with another adequate custodian for the safe storage
of our assets which may have a disruptive effect on our business. In the meantime, our mined bitcoin would continue to aggregate in our proprietary wallet
until we found a suitable cold storage custodian.

We are subject to counterparty risk with respect to our mining pool operator, Foundry Digital LLC.

We participate in a mining pool operated by Foundry, a limited liability company organized under the laws of the State of Delaware. As a mining
pool participant, we rely on Foundry’s open access mining pool to receive our daily mining rewards and fees from the bitcoin network; our miners “point”
or send their hashpower continually throughout the day to Foundry’s pool’s address, which acts as a blockchain miner node on the bitcoin network. At the
end of each day, our share of the bitcoin earned by each of our miners is collectively sent from Foundry to our wallet address custodied with NYDIG.
Mining pools like Foundry’s allow miners like ours to combine their computing and processing power, increasing our chances of solving a block and
getting rewarded by the bitcoin network. Foundry uses the Full Pay Per Share payout model, which means that in exchange for providing computing power
to the pool, TeraWulf is entitled to compensation, calculated on a daily basis, at an amount that approximates the total bitcoin that could have been mined
using TeraWulf’s computer power, based upon the then-current blockchain difficulty. Under this model, we are entitled to compensation regardless of
whether Foundry successfully records a block to the bitcoin blockchain. Should Foundry’s operator systems suffer downtime due to a cyber-attack, software
malfunction or other similar issues, it will negatively impact our ability to mine and receive revenue. We own all of our miners and accompanying electrical
infrastructure, and the only connection between our assets and Foundry is that our miners’ hashpower is currently pointed to send all of their hash to
Foundry’s address. However, if Foundry were to suffer downtime or cease to exist altogether, the immediate impact to us would be that we would not have
a mining pool for our miners to send their daily hashpower to, so the miners would not be able to earn any revenue until we pointed our miners to a new
pool provider or became a miner node (as Foundry is) on the bitcoin network. We currently do not have a back-up pool provider, so were Foundry to cease
operations, there would be some delay and consequently lost revenue until we retained a new pool provider and pointed our miners at the new pool
provider, which we would do by using a mass command issued by our management software. Furthermore, while we receive daily reports from Foundry
detailing the total processing power provided to its mining pool and our proportion of that total processing power to determine the distribution of rewards to
us, we are dependent on the accuracy of Foundry’s record keeping. We have little means of recourse against Foundry if we determine the proportion of the
reward paid out to us by Foundry is incorrect, other than leaving Foundry’s pool altogether. If we are unable to consistently obtain accurate proportionate
rewards from our pools, we may experience reduced rewards for our efforts, which would have an adverse effect on our business and operations.
Additionally, were Foundry to cease operations, declare insolvency or file for bankruptcy, there is a reasonable risk that recovery of any mining rewards or
fees for any given day that had not yet been delivered into our wallet held at NYDIG would be delayed or unrecoverable.

If the value of bitcoin declines precipitously, the value of our collateral under our Loan, Guaranty and Security Agreement with Wilmington Trust,
National Association as administrative agent may also decline, and we would face increased losses or impairments in our investments and other assets.

Our mined bitcoin, together with all of our Company’s other assets, serves as collateral for our lenders under our LGSA. If the price of bitcoin
were to decline precipitously, the value of our collateral package under the LGSA will also decline. While we are still able to draw on our LGSA even if the
value of the collateral declines, our ability to raise more financing from our existing lenders or new lenders may be impaired by the current crypto asset
market disruption. We would also face a risk of increased losses or impairments in our investments and other assets if the price of bitcoin were to
permanently decline.
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To protect our bitcoin that is part of our collateral under our loan, we have entered into a Deposit Account Control Agreement, dated as of
March 11, 2022, by and among the Company, NYDIG and Wilmington Trust, National Association (on behalf of the lenders under the LGSA) (the
“DACA”). Pursuant to the DACA, we deposit our bitcoin with NYDIG in a segregated account, subject to the security interest of Wilmington Trust,
National Association, as a secured party. We have also entered into a Digital Asset Execution Agreement between us and NYDIG Execution, a Delaware
LLC registered as a Money Services Business with the Financial Crimes Enforcement Network and licensed with a BitLicense by the New York State
Department of Financial Services, dated as of September 16, 2022 (as amended, modified or supplemented from time to time, the “Execution Agreement”).
Pursuant to the Execution Agreement, so long as the DACA is in effect, we are the lawful owner of all digital assets we send to NYDIG Execution in
connection with a transaction (including through transfers from NYDIG and/or NYDIG Execution under the DACA). The Execution Agreement further
provides that title and ownership to any such digital assets passes to the purchaser of such digital assets free and clear of liens, claims, charges,
encumbrances and transfer restrictions, assuming that cash owing to us from any such transaction is settled directly into a deposit account in our name at a
third-party U.S. depository institution. All funds from the sale of bitcoin by NYDIG Execution are currently deposited by NYDIG Execution directly in a
third-party U.S. depository institution. Despite these assurances in the Execution Agreement, if NYDIG were to be in breach of the Execution Agreement,
our bitcoin and collateral package under our loan with our lenders would be at risk. See also “— Although our digital assets are only stored using cold
storage, we are subject to counterparty risk with respect to our digital asset custodian, NYDIG Trust Company LLC.”

Security threats or unauthorized or impermissible access to our datacenters, our operations or our digital wallet from U.S. or non-U.S. actors could
result in a loss of our bitcoin and assets or cause damage to our reputation, each of which could adversely affect our business, financial condition and
results of operations.

Security breaches, computer malware, software supply chain attacks and computer hacking attacks have been a prevalent concern in the digital
asset exchange markets. Any security breach caused by hacking, which could be by U.S. or non-U.S. actors, and involves efforts to gain unauthorized
access to information or systems, cause intentional malfunctions or loss, encryption or corruption of data, software, hardware or other computer equipment,
and transmit computer viruses or ransomware could harm our business operations or result in the loss of our digital assets. Furthermore, we believe that, as
our business grows, we could become a more appealing target for cybersecurity threats.

As discussed elsewhere herein, we rely on cold storage custody solutions from NYDIG to safeguard our bitcoin from theft, loss, destruction or
other issues relating to hackers and technological attack. Nevertheless, cold storage security systems may not be impenetrable and may not be free from
defect or immune to acts of God, and any loss due to a security breach, software defect or act of God will be borne by TeraWulf. Additionally, our security
systems, physical datacenters and operational infrastructure could be breached by outside parties, software defects, action of an employee of TeraWulf, or
otherwise and, as a result, an unauthorized party may obtain access to TeraWulf’s private keys, sensitive data control, operation of miners and our bitcoin.
In addition, outside parties may attempt to fraudulently induce employees of TeraWulf to disclose sensitive information in order to gain access to our
infrastructure. As the techniques used to obtain unauthorized access, disable or degrade service or sabotage systems change frequently, or may be designed
to remain dormant until a predetermined event and often are not recognized until launched against a target, TeraWulf may be unable to anticipate these
techniques or implement adequate preventative measures. If an actual or perceived breach of our security system occurs, the market perception of the
effectiveness of TeraWulf’s security system could be harmed, which could adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations.
Furthermore, in the event of a security breach, TeraWulf may be forced to cease operations or suffer a reduction in digital assets, which could adversely
affect TeraWulf’s business, financial condition and results of operations.

Risks Relating to Digital Asset Networks and Digital Assets

Digital assets, such as bitcoin, may become regulated as securities or investment securities.

Bitcoin is the oldest and most well-known form of digital asset. Bitcoin and other forms of digital assets / cryptocurrencies have been the source
of much regulatory scrutiny, which has resulted in differing definitional outcomes without a single unifying statement. In the context of the offer and sale of
the Initial Coin Offering (“ICO”) tokens, the SEC has determined certain digital tokens are securities under the Howey test as stated by the U.S. Supreme
Court. ICO offerings of securities would require registration under the Securities Act or an available exemption therefrom for offers or sales in the United
States to be lawful. Section 5(a) of the Securities Act provides that, unless a registration statement is in effect as to a security, it is unlawful for any person,
directly or indirectly, to engage in the offer or sale of securities in interstate commerce. Furthermore, Section 5(c) of the Securities Act provides a similar
prohibition against offers to sell, or offers to buy, unless a registration statement has been filed. Although the Company does not believe its mining
activities require registration for it to conduct such activities and accumulate digital assets, the SEC, the Commodity Futures Trading Commission (the
“CFTC”), Nasdaq or other governmental or quasi- governmental agency or



Table of Contents

26

organization may conclude that the Company’s activities involve the offer or sale of “securities,” or ownership of “investment securities,” and the Company
may face regulation under the Securities Act or the Investment Company Act of 1940, as amended (the “Investment Company Act”). Such regulation or the
inability to meet the requirements to continue operations would have a material adverse effect on the Company’s business, financial condition and results of
operations.

The further development and acceptance of digital asset networks and other digital assets, which represent a new and rapidly changing industry, are
subject to a variety of factors that are difficult to evaluate, and the slowing or stopping of the development or acceptance of digital asset systems may
adversely affect the Company’s business, financial condition and results of operations.

Digital assets such as bitcoins, which may be used, among other things, to buy and sell goods and services are a new and rapidly evolving industry
of which the digital asset networks are prominent, but not unique, parts. The growth of the digital asset industry in general, and the digital asset networks of
bitcoin in particular, are subject to a high degree of uncertainty. The factors affecting the further development of the digital asset industry, as well as the
digital asset networks, include, among others:

● continued worldwide growth in the adoption and use of bitcoins and other digital assets;

● government and quasi-government regulation of bitcoins and other digital assets and their use, or restrictions on or regulation of access to and
operation of the digital asset network or similar digital assets systems;

● the maintenance and development of the open-source software protocol of the bitcoin network;

● changes in consumer demographics and public tastes and preferences;

● the availability and popularity of other forms or methods of buying and selling goods and services, including new means of using fiat
currencies;

● general economic conditions and the regulatory environment relating to digital assets; and

● the impact of regulators focusing on digital assets and digital securities and the costs associated with such regulatory oversight.

A decline in the popularity or acceptance of the digital asset networks of bitcoin, or similar digital asset systems, could adversely affect the
Company’s business, financial condition and results of operations.

If demand for transactions in bitcoin declines and is replaced by new demand for other cryptocurrencies, the Company’s business, financial condition
and results of operations could be adversely affected.

TeraWulf’s business is highly dependent on strong bitcoin demand relative to other cryptocurrencies in the market. As such, in addition to the
factors impacting the broader crypto economy described elsewhere in this section, the Company’s business may be adversely affected, and growth in
TeraWulf’s, and therefore the Company’s, revenues may slow or decline, if market demand for bitcoin deteriorates and is supplanted by other
cryptocurrencies such as ethereum and dogecoin. In addition, negative perceptions surrounding bitcoin relative to other cryptocurrencies may cause bitcoin
to fall out of favor. If other cryptocurrencies, such as ethereum and dogecoin, surpass bitcoin in market demand over a sustained period of time, such a trend
could harm the Company’s business. Competition from public and central bank backed digital currencies could undercut the need for other
cryptocurrencies such as bitcoin. Competition from stablecoins (commodity-backed or fiat-backed) could undercut demand for other cryptocurrencies such
as bitcoin.

Significant contributors to all or any digital asset network could propose amendments to the respective network’s protocols and software that, if
accepted and authorized by such network, could adversely affect the Company’s business, financial condition and results of operations.

Digital asset networks are open-source projects and, although there is an influential group of leaders in, for example, the bitcoin network
community known as the “Core Developers,” there is no official developer or group of developers that formally controls the bitcoin network. Any
individual can download the bitcoin network software and make any desired modifications, which are proposed to users and miners on the bitcoin network
through software downloads and upgrades, typically posted to the bitcoin development forum on GitHub.com. Proposals for upgrades and discussions
relating thereto take place on online forums. For example,
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there is an ongoing debate regarding altering the blockchain by increasing the size of blocks to accommodate a larger volume of transactions. Although
some proponents support an increase, other market participants oppose an increase to the block size as it may deter miners from confirming transactions and
concentrate power into a smaller group of miners. To the extent that a significant majority of the users and miners on the bitcoin network install such
software upgrade, the bitcoin network would be subject to new protocols and software that may adversely affect the Company’s business, financial
condition and results of operations.

In the event a developer or group of developers proposes a modification to the bitcoin network that is not accepted by a majority of miners and
users, but that is nonetheless accepted by a substantial plurality of miners and users, two or more competing and incompatible blockchain implementations
could result. This is known as a “hard fork.” We may not be able to realize the economic benefit of such a “hard fork”, either immediately or ever, which
could adversely affect an investment in our securities. If we hold a cryptocurrency at the time of a hard fork, industry standards would dictate that we would
be expected to hold an equivalent amount of the old and new assets following the fork. However, we may not be able, or it may not be practical, to secure or
realize the economic benefit of the new asset for various reasons. For instance, we may determine that there is no safe or practical way to custody the new
asset, that trying to do so may pose an unacceptable risk to our holdings in the old asset, or that the costs of taking possession and/or maintaining ownership
of the new cryptocurrency exceed the benefits of owning the new cryptocurrency. Additionally, laws, regulation or other factors may prevent us from
benefitting from the new asset even if there is a safe and practical way to custody and secure the new asset. In such case, the “hard fork” in the blockchain
could materially and adversely affect the perceived value of digital assets as reflected on one or both incompatible blockchains, which may adversely affect
the Company’s business, financial condition and results of operations and, in the worst-case scenario, harm the sustainability of the bitcoin network’s
economy.

The open-source structure of the bitcoin network protocol means that the contributors to the protocol are generally not directly compensated for their
contributions in maintaining and developing the bitcoin network protocol, and a failure to properly monitor and upgrade the protocol could damage the
bitcoin network and adversely affect the Company’s business, financial condition and results of operations.

The bitcoin network operates based on an open-source protocol, not represented by an official organization or authority. Instead, it is maintained
by a group of core contributors, largely on the Bitcoin Core project on GitHub. As an open-source project, bitcoin is not represented by an official
organization or authority. As the bitcoin network protocol is not sold and its use does not generate revenues for contributors, contributors are generally not
directly compensated for maintaining and developing the bitcoin network protocol. Although the Media Lab’s Digital Currency Initiative of the
Massachusetts Institute of Technology funds the current maintainer Wladimir J. van der Laan, among others, this type of financial incentive is not typical.
The lack of guaranteed financial incentive for contributors to maintain or develop the bitcoin network and the lack of guaranteed resources to adequately
address emerging issues with the bitcoin network may reduce incentives to address the issues adequately or in a timely manner.

Changes to a digital asset network which the Company is mining on may adversely affect the Company’s business, financial condition and results
of operations.

If a malicious actor or botnet obtains control in excess of 50% of the processing power active on any digital asset network, including the bitcoin
network, it is possible that such actor or botnet could manipulate the blockchain in a manner that may adversely affect the Company’s business,
financial condition and results of operations.

If a malicious actor or botnet (a volunteer or hacked collection of computers controlled by networked software coordinating the actions of the
computers) obtains a majority of the processing power dedicated to mining on any digital asset network, including the bitcoin network, it may be able to
alter the blockchain by constructing alternate blocks if it is able to solve for such blocks faster than the remainder of the miners on the blockchain can add
valid blocks. In such alternate blocks, the malicious actor or botnet could control, exclude or modify the ordering of transactions, though it could not
generate new digital assets or transactions using such control. Using alternate blocks, the malicious actor could “double-spend” its own digital assets (i.e.,
spend the same digital assets in more than one transaction) and prevent the confirmation of other users’ transactions for so long as it maintains control. To
the extent that such malicious actor or botnet does not yield its majority control of the processing power or the digital asset community does not reject the
fraudulent blocks as malicious, reversing any changes made to the blockchain may not be possible, which may adversely affect the Company’s business,
financial condition and results of operations.

The approach towards and possible crossing of the 50% threshold indicates a greater risk that a single mining pool could exert authority over the
validation of digital asset transactions. To the extent that the digital assets ecosystems do not act to ensure greater decentralization of digital asset mining
processing power, the feasibility of a malicious actor obtaining in excess of 50% of the
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processing power on any digital asset network (e.g., through control of a large mining pool or through hacking such a mining pool) will increase, which
may adversely affect the Company’s business, financial condition and results of operations.

If the award of digital assets for solving blocks and transaction fees for recording transactions are not sufficiently high to cover expenses related to
running data center operations, it may adversely affect the Company’s business, financial condition and results of operations.

Bitcoin miners record transactions when they solve for and add blocks of information to the blockchain. When a miner solves for a block, it creates
such block, which includes data relating to (i) the solution to the block, (ii) a reference to the prior block in the blockchain to which the new block is being
added and (iii) all transactions that have occurred but have not yet been added to the blockchain. The miner becomes aware of outstanding, unrecorded
transactions through data packet transmission and propagation. Typically, bitcoin transactions will be recorded in the next chronological block if the
spending party has an internet connection and at least one minute has passed between the transaction’s data packet transmission and the solution of the next
block. If a transaction is not recorded in the next chronological block, it is usually recorded in the next block thereafter.

As the award of new digital assets for solving blocks declines, and if transaction fees are not sufficiently high, miners may not have an adequate
incentive to continue mining and may cease their mining operations. For example, the current fixed reward on the bitcoin network for solving a new block
is six and a quarter (6.25) bitcoins per block. The reward decreased from twelve and a half (12.5) bitcoins in May 2020. It is estimated that it will halve
again in approximately May 2024. This reduction may result in a reduction in the aggregate hashrate of the bitcoin network as the incentive for miners will
decrease. Moreover, miners ceasing operations would reduce the aggregate hashrate on the bitcoin network, which would adversely affect the confirmation
process for transactions (i.e., temporarily decreasing the speed at which blocks are added to the blockchain until the next scheduled adjustment in difficulty
for block solutions) and make the bitcoin network more vulnerable to a malicious actor obtaining control in excess of 50% of the aggregate hashrate on the
bitcoin network. Periodically, the bitcoin network has adjusted the difficulty for block solutions so that solution speeds remain in the vicinity of the
expected ten-minute confirmation time targeted by the bitcoin network protocol.

The Company believes that from time to time there will be further considerations and adjustments to the bitcoin network and others regarding the
difficulty for block solutions. More significant reductions in aggregate hashrate on digital asset networks could result in material, though temporary, delays
in block solution confirmation time. Any reduction in confidence in the confirmation process or aggregate hashrate of any digital asset network may
negatively impact the value of digital assets, which may adversely affect the Company’s business, financial condition and results of operations.

To the extent that the profit margins of digital asset mining operations are not high, operators of digital asset mining operations are more likely to
immediately sell their digital assets earned by mining in the digital asset exchange market, resulting in a reduction in the price of digital assets that may
adversely affect the Company’s business, financial condition and results of operations.

Over the past ten years, digital asset mining operations have evolved from individual users mining with computer processors, graphics processing
units and first-generation servers. Currently, new processing power brought onto the digital asset networks is predominantly added by incorporated and
unincorporated “professionalized” mining operations. Professionalized mining operations may use proprietary hardware or sophisticated machines. They
require the investment of significant capital for the acquisition of this hardware, the leasing of operating space (often in data centers or warehousing
facilities), incurrence of electricity costs and the employment of technicians to operate the mining farms. As a result, professionalized mining operations are
of a greater scale than prior miners and have more defined, regular expenses and liabilities. These regular expenses and liabilities require professionalized
mining operations to more immediately sell digital assets earned from mining operations on the digital asset exchange market, whereas it is believed that
individual miners in past years were more likely to hold newly mined digital assets for more extended periods. The immediate selling of newly mined
digital assets greatly increases the supply of digital assets on the digital asset exchange market, creating downward pressure on the price of each digital
asset.

The extent to which the value of digital assets mined by a professionalized mining operation exceeds the allocable capital and operating costs
determines the profit margin of such operation. A professionalized mining operation may be more likely to sell a higher percentage of its newly mined
digital assets rapidly if it is operating at a low profit margin and it may partially or completely cease operations if its profit margin is negative. This could
create a network effect that may further reduce the price of digital assets until mining operations with higher operating costs become unprofitable and
remove mining power from the respective digital asset network. The network effect of reduced profit margins resulting in greater sales of newly mined
digital assets could result in a reduction in the price of digital assets that may adversely affect the Company’s business, financial condition and results of
operations.
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To the extent that any miners cease to record transactions in solved blocks, transactions that do not include the payment of a transaction fee will not be
recorded on the blockchain until a block is solved by a miner who does not require the payment of transaction fees, and any widespread delays in the
recording of transactions could result in a loss of confidence in that digital asset network, which may adversely affect the Company’s business,
financial condition and results of operations.

To the extent that any miners cease to record transactions in solved blocks, such transactions will not be recorded on the blockchain. Currently,
there are no known incentives for miners to elect to exclude the recording of transactions in solved blocks. However, to the extent that any such incentives
arise (e.g., a collective movement among miners or one or more mining pools forcing bitcoin users to pay transaction fees as a substitute for or in addition
to the award of new bitcoins upon the solving of a block), actions of miners solving a significant number of blocks could delay the recording and
confirmation of transactions on the blockchain. Any systemic delays in the recording and confirmation of transactions on the blockchain could result in
greater exposure to double-spending transactions, or transactions that consist of bad actors simultaneously sending two or more bitcoin to different
addresses, and a loss of confidence in certain or all digital asset networks, which may adversely affect the Company’s business, financial condition and
results of operations.

Intellectual property rights claims may adversely affect the operation of some or all digital asset networks.

Third parties may assert intellectual property claims relating to the holding and transfer of digital assets and their source code. Regardless of the
merit of any intellectual property or other legal action, any threatened action that reduces confidence in some or all digital asset networks’ long-term
viability or the ability of end-users to hold and transfer digital assets may adversely affect the Company’s business, financial condition and results of
operations. In addition, a meritorious intellectual property claim could prevent the Company and other end-users from accessing some or all digital asset
networks or holding or transferring their digital assets. As a result, an intellectual property claim against the Company or other large digital asset network
participants may adversely affect the Company’s business, financial condition and results of operations.

To the extent that the digital asset exchanges representing a substantial portion of the volume in digital asset trading are involved in fraud or
experience security failures or other operational issues, such digital asset exchanges’ failures may result in a reduction in the price of some or all
digital assets and may adversely affect the Company’s business, financial condition and results of operations.

The digital asset exchanges on which the digital assets trade are new and, in most cases, largely unregulated. Furthermore, many digital asset
exchanges (including several of the most prominent U.S. dollar denominated digital asset exchanges) do not provide the public with significant information
regarding their ownership structure, management teams, corporate practices or regulatory compliance. As a result, the marketplace may lose confidence in,
or may experience problems relating to, digital asset exchanges, including prominent exchanges handling a significant portion of the volume of digital asset
trading. A lack of stability in the digital asset exchange market and the closure or temporary shutdown of digital asset exchanges due to fraud, business
failure, hackers or malware or government-mandated regulation may reduce confidence in the digital asset networks and result in greater volatility in digital
asset values. These potential consequences of a digital asset exchange’s failure may adversely affect the Company’s business, financial condition and
results of operations.

Political or economic crises may motivate large-scale sales of digital assets, which could result in a reduction in some or all digital assets’ values and
adversely affect the Company’s business, financial condition and results of operations.

As an alternative to fiat currencies that are backed by central governments, digital assets such as bitcoins, which are relatively new, are subject to
supply and demand forces based upon the desirability of an alternative, decentralized means of buying and selling goods and services, and it is unclear how
such supply and demand will be impacted by geopolitical events. Nevertheless, political or economic crises, including current or anticipated military
conflicts such as the war between Russia and Ukraine, terrorism, sanctions or other geopolitical events globally, may motivate large-scale acquisitions or
sales of digital assets either globally or locally. Large-scale sales of digital assets would result in a reduction in some or all digital assets’ values and may
adversely affect the Company’s business, financial condition and results of operations.
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The Company’s ability to adopt technology in response to changing security needs or trends poses a challenge to the safekeeping of the Company’s
digital assets.

The history of digital asset exchanges has shown that exchanges and large holders of digital assets must adapt to technological change in order to
secure and safeguard their digital assets. The Company will rely on enterprise cold storage solutions from third parties to safeguard the Company’s digital
assets from theft, loss, destruction or other issues relating to hackers and technological attack. The Company’s digital assets may also be moved to various
exchanges in order to exchange them for fiat currency during which time the Company will be relying on the security of such exchanges to safeguard the
Company’s digital assets.

The Company believes that it may become a more appealing target of security threats as the size of the Company’s bitcoin holdings grow. To the
extent that either custody providers or the Company are unable to identify and mitigate or stop new security threats, the Company’s digital assets may be
subject to theft, loss, destruction or other attack, which may adversely affect the Company’s business, financial condition and results of operations.

Digital asset transactions are irrevocable, and stolen or incorrectly transferred digital assets may be irretrievable and, as a result, any incorrectly
executed digital asset transactions may adversely affect the Company’s business, financial condition and results of operations.

Digital asset transactions are not, from an administrative perspective, reversible without the consent and active participation of the recipient of the
transaction or, in theory, control or consent of a majority of the processing power on the respective digital asset network. Once a transaction has been
verified and recorded in a block that is added to the blockchain, an incorrect transfer of digital assets or a theft of digital assets generally will not be
reversible, and the Company may not be capable of seeking compensation for any such transfer or theft. Although the Company’s transfers of digital assets
will regularly be made to or from various parties, it is possible that, through computer or human error, or through theft or criminal action, the Company’s
digital assets could be transferred in incorrect amounts or to unauthorized third parties. To the extent that the Company is unable to seek a corrective
transaction with such third party or is incapable of identifying the third party which has received the Company’s digital assets through error or theft, the
Company will be unable to revert or otherwise recover incorrectly transferred digital assets. To the extent that the Company is unable to seek redress for
such error or theft, such loss may adversely affect the Company’s business, financial condition and results of operations.

The limited rights of legal recourse against the Company, and the Company’s lack of insurance protection, expose the Company and its stockholders to
the risk of loss of its digital assets for which no person is liable.

The digital assets held by the Company may not be insured. Therefore, a loss may be suffered with respect to the Company’s digital assets which
is not covered by insurance and for which no person is liable in damages, which may adversely affect the Company’s business, financial condition and
results of operations.

The Company may not have adequate sources of recovery if its digital assets are lost, stolen or destroyed.

If the Company’s digital assets are lost, stolen or destroyed under circumstances rendering a party liable to the Company, the responsible party
may not have the financial resources sufficient to satisfy its claim. For example, as to a particular event of loss, the only source of recovery for the Company
might be limited, to the extent identifiable, other responsible third parties (e.g., a thief or terrorist), any of which may not have the financial resources
(including liability insurance coverage) to satisfy a valid claim by the Company.

Digital assets held by the Company are not subject to FDIC or SIPC protections.

The Company does not hold its digital assets with a banking institution or a member of the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation (“FDIC”) or the
Securities Investor Protection Corporation (“SIPC”) and, therefore, its digital assets are not subject to the protections enjoyed by depositors with FDIC or
SIPC member institutions.
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The loss or destruction of a private key required to access a digital asset may be irreversible and, as a result, the Company’s loss of access to its private
keys or its experience of a data loss relating to its digital assets may adversely affect the Company’s business, financial condition and results of
operations.

Digital assets are controllable only by the possessor of both the unique public key and private key relating to the local or online digital wallet in
which the digital assets are held. The Company is required by the operation of digital asset networks to publish the public key relating to a digital wallet in
use when it first verifies a spending transaction from that digital wallet and disseminates such information into the respective network. The Company
safeguards and keeps private the private keys relating to its digital assets by using enterprise cold storage custody solutions from third parties. To the extent
a private key is lost, destroyed or otherwise compromised and no backup of the private key is accessible, the Company will be unable to access the digital
assets held by it and the private key will not be capable of being restored by the respective digital asset network. Any loss of private keys relating to digital
wallets used to store the Company’s digital assets may adversely affect the Company’s business, financial condition and results of operations.

Because many of the Company’s digital assets are held by digital asset exchanges, it faces heightened risks from cybersecurity attacks and financial
stability of digital asset exchanges.

The Company may transfer digital assets from its wallet to digital asset exchanges prior to selling them. Digital assets not held in the Company’s
wallet are subject to the risks encountered by digital asset exchanges including a denial-of-service attack or other malicious hacking, a sale of the digital
asset exchange, loss of the digital assets by the digital asset exchange and other risks similar to those described herein. The Company may not maintain a
custodian agreement with any of the digital asset exchanges that hold the Company’s digital assets. These digital asset exchanges may or may not provide
insurance and may lack the resources to protect against hacking and theft. If this were to occur, the Company’s business, financial condition and results of
operations may be adversely affected.

As the number of digital assets awarded for solving a block in the blockchain decreases, the incentive for miners to continue to contribute processing
power to the respective digital asset network will transition from a set reward to transaction fees.

In order to incentivize miners to continue to contribute processing power to any digital asset network, such network may either formally or
informally transition from a set reward to transaction fees earned upon solving for a block. This transition could be accomplished either by miners
independently electing to record in the blocks they solve only those transactions that include payment of a transaction fee or by the digital asset network
adopting software upgrades that require the payment of a minimum transaction fee for all transactions. If transaction fees paid for digital asset transactions
become too high, the marketplace may be reluctant to accept digital assets as a means of payment and existing users may be motivated to switch from one
digital asset to another digital asset or back to fiat currency. Decreased use and demand for bitcoins may adversely affect the value of the Company’s
bitcoins and may adversely affect the Company’s business, financial condition and results of operations.

The price of bitcoin may be influenced by regulatory, commercial and technical factors that are highly uncertain resulting in the price of bitcoin being
extremely volatile, which may significantly influence the market price of the Company’s common stock.

To the extent investors view the value of the Company’s common stock as linked to the value or change in the value of bitcoin, fluctuations in the
price of bitcoin may significantly influence the market price of the Company’s common stock. In addition, the Company’s business operations are no longer
economical below the bitcoin breakeven point, or the point at which the total cost of mining operations exceeds the total revenues generated.

The price of bitcoin has historically been subject to dramatic fluctuations and is highly volatile. Bitcoin has only recently become accepted as a
means of payment for goods and services and has recently trended toward becoming a more actively traded instrument, however the acceptance and use of
bitcoin remains limited and far from mainstream. Conversely, a significant portion of demand for bitcoin may be generated by speculators and investors
seeking to profit from the short- or long-term holding of bitcoin.

In addition, some blockchain industry participants have reported that a significant percentage of bitcoin trading activity is artificial or non-
economic in nature and may represent attempts to manipulate the price of bitcoin. As a result, trading platforms may seek to inflate demand for bitcoin,
which could increase the volatility of the price of bitcoin and may significantly influence the market price of the Company’s common stock.
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The sale of the Company’s digital assets to pay expenses at a time of low digital asset prices may adversely affect the Company’s business, financial
condition and results of operations.

The Company may sell its digital assets to pay expenses on an as-needed basis, irrespective of then-current prices. Consequently, the Company’s
digital assets may be sold at a time when the prices on the respective digital asset exchange market are low, which may adversely affect the Company’s
business, financial condition and results of operations.

The development and acceptance of competing blockchain platforms or technologies may cause consumers to use alternative distributed ledgers or
other alternatives.

The development and acceptance of competing blockchain platforms or technologies, including competing cryptocurrencies which our miners may
not be able to mine, such as cryptocurrencies being developed by popular social media platforms, online retailers, or government sponsored
cryptocurrencies, may cause consumers to use alternative distributed ledgers or an alternative to distributed ledgers altogether. Our business utilizes
presently existent digital ledgers and blockchains and we could face difficulty adapting to emergent digital ledgers, blockchains, or alternatives thereto.
This may adversely affect us and our exposure to various blockchain technologies and prevent us from realizing the anticipated profits from our
investments. Such circumstances could have a material adverse effect on our business, prospects or operations and potentially the value of any bitcoin or
other cryptocurrencies we mine or otherwise acquire or hold for our own account, which could materially and adversely affect investors’ investments in our
securities.

The decentralized nature of cryptocurrency systems may lead to slow or inadequate responses to crises, which may negatively affect our business.

The decentralized nature of the governance of cryptocurrency systems may lead to ineffective decision making that slows development or prevents
a network from overcoming emergent obstacles. Governance of many cryptocurrency systems is by voluntary consensus and open competition with no
clear leadership structure or authority. To the extent lack of clarity in corporate governance of cryptocurrency systems leads to ineffective decision making
that slows development and growth of such cryptocurrencies, the value of our common stock may be adversely affected.

Risks Relating to Regulatory Matters

We are subject to a highly-evolving regulatory landscape and any adverse changes to, or our failure to comply with, any laws and regulations could
adversely affect our business, reputation, prospects or operations.

Until recently, relatively little regulatory attention has been directed toward bitcoin and the bitcoin network by U.S. federal and state governments,
foreign governments and self-regulatory agencies. We currently only operate in the United States, and do not currently have any plans to expand our
operations beyond the United States. As bitcoin has grown in popularity and in market size, the U.S. regulatory regime – namely the Federal Reserve
Board, U.S. Congress and certain U.S. agencies (e.g., the SEC, the CFTC, FinCEN and the Federal Bureau of Investigation) have begun to examine the
operations of the bitcoin network, bitcoin users and the bitcoin exchange market. The complexity and evolving nature of our business and the significant
uncertainty surrounding the regulation of the cryptocurrency industry requires us to exercise our judgment as to whether certain laws, rules, and regulations
apply to us, and it is possible that governmental bodies and regulators may disagree with our conclusions. To the extent we have not complied with such
laws, rules, and regulations, we could be subject to significant fines, revocation of licenses, limitations on our products and services, reputational harm, and
other regulatory consequences, each of which may be significant and could adversely affect our business, operating results, and financial condition.

Additionally, the recent bankruptcy filings of FTX, the third largest digital asset exchange by volume at the time of its filing, and its affiliated
hedge fund Alameda Research LLC, in addition to other bankruptcy filings of crypto companies throughout calendar year 2022 and the first quarter of
2023, together with the recent closures of Silicon Valley Bank, SBNY and Silvergate Bank, will likely attract heightened regulatory scrutiny from U.S.
regulatory agencies such as the SEC and CFTC. Increasing regulation and regulatory scrutiny may result in new costs for the Company and Company’s
management having to devote increased time and attention to regulatory matters, change aspects of the Company’s business or result in limits on the utility
of bitcoin. In addition, regulatory developments and/or the Company’s business activities may require the Company to comply with certain regulatory
regimes. Increasingly strict legal and regulatory requirements and any regulatory investigations and enforcement may result in changes to our business, as
well as increased costs, and supervision and examination for ourselves and our service providers. Moreover, new laws, regulations, or interpretations may
result in additional litigation, regulatory investigations, and enforcement or other actions. Adverse
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changes to, or our failure to comply with, any laws and regulations may have an adverse effect on our reputation and brand and our business, operating
results, and financial condition.

Additionally, although we are not directly connected to the recent cryptocurrency market events, we may still suffer reputational harm due to our
association with the cryptocurrency industry in light of the recent disruption in the crypto asset markets. Ongoing and future regulation and regulatory
actions could significantly restrict or eliminate the market for or uses of bitcoin and/or may adversely affect the Company’s business, reputation, financial
condition and results of operations.

TeraWulf may be at a higher risk of litigation and other legal proceedings due to heightened regulatory scrutiny of the cryptocurrency industry, which
could ultimately be resolved against TeraWulf, requiring material future cash payments or charges, which could impair TeraWulf’s financial condition
and results of operations.

The size, nature and complexity of the Company’s business could make it susceptible to various claims, both in litigation and binding arbitration
proceedings, legal proceedings, and government investigations, due to the heightened regulatory scrutiny following the recent disruptions in the crypto asset
markets. The Company believes that since cryptocurrency mining, and the digital asset industry generally, is a relatively new business sector, it is more
likely subject to government investigation and regulatory determination, particularly following the recent cryptocurrency market participant bankruptcies
described elsewhere herein. Any claims, regulatory proceedings or litigation that could arise in the course of the Company’s business could have a material
adverse effect on the Company, its business or operations, or the industry as a whole.

The Company may be classified as an inadvertent investment company.

The Company is not engaged in the business of investing, reinvesting or trading in securities and does not hold itself out as being engaged in those
activities. Under the Investment Company Act, however, a company may be deemed an investment company under Section 3(a)(1)(C) if the value of its
investment securities is more than 40% of its total assets (exclusive of government securities and cash items) on a consolidated basis.

The Company will be engaging in digital asset mining, the outputs of which are cryptocurrencies, which may be deemed a security. In the event
that the digital assets held by the Company exceed 40% of its total assets, exclusive of cash, the Company may inadvertently become an investment
company. An inadvertent investment company can avoid being classified as an investment company if it can rely on one of the exclusions under the
Investment Company Act. One such exclusion, namely Rule 3a-2 under the Investment Company Act, allows an inadvertent investment company a grace
period of one year from the earlier of (i) the date on which an issuer owns securities and/or cash having a value exceeding 50% of the issuer’s total assets
on either a consolidated or unconsolidated basis and (ii) the date on which an issuer owns or proposes to acquire investment securities having a value
exceeding 40% of the value of such issuer’s total assets (exclusive of government securities and cash items) on an unconsolidated basis. The Company is
putting in place policies that it expects will work to keep the digital assets held by the Company at less than 40% of its total assets, liquidating its digital
assets or seeking a no-action letter from the SEC if the Company is unable to maintain sufficient total assets or liquidate sufficient digital assets in a timely
manner.

As Rule 3a-2 is available to a company no more than once every three years, and assuming no other exclusions are available to the Company, the
Company would have to keep within the 40% limit for at least three years after it ceases being an inadvertent investment company. This may limit the
Company’s ability to make certain investments or enter into joint ventures that could otherwise have a positive impact on the Company’s earnings. In any
event, the Company does not intend to become an investment company engaged in the business of investing and trading securities.

Classification as an investment company under the Investment Company Act requires registration with the SEC. If an investment company fails to
register, it would have to stop doing almost all business, and its contracts would become voidable. Registration is time consuming and restrictive and would
require a restructuring of the Company’s operations, and the Company would be very constrained in the kind of business it could do as a registered
investment company. Furthermore, the Company would become subject to substantial regulation concerning management, operations, transactions with
affiliated persons and portfolio composition, and would need to file reports under the Investment Company Act regime. The cost of such compliance would
result in the Company incurring substantial additional expenses, and the failure to register if required may adversely affect the Company’s business,
financial condition and results of operations.
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It may be illegal now, or in the future, to acquire, own, hold, sell or use digital assets in one or more countries, and ownership of, holding or trading in
the Company’s securities may also be considered illegal and subject to sanction.

Although digital assets are not currently regulated or are lightly regulated in most countries, including the United States, one or more countries,
such as China and Russia, may take regulatory actions in the future that severely restricts the right to acquire, own, hold, sell or use digital assets or to
exchange digital assets for fiat currency. Such an action may also result in the restriction of ownership, holding or trading in the Company’s securities and
may adversely affect the Company’s business, financial condition and results of operations.

If regulatory changes or interpretations of the Company’s activities require its registration as a money services business under the regulations
promulgated by FinCEN under the authority of the U.S. Bank Secrecy Act of 1970, as amended, the Company may be required to register and comply
with such regulations.

To the extent that the activities of the Company cause it to be deemed a money service business under the regulations promulgated by FinCEN
under the authority of the U.S. Bank Secrecy Act of 1970, as amended, the Company may be required to comply with FinCEN regulations, including those
that would mandate the Company to implement anti-money laundering programs, make certain reports to FinCEN and maintain certain records.

To the extent that the activities of the Company cause it to be deemed a “money transmitter” or equivalent designation under state law of any state 
in which the Company operates, the Company may be required to seek a license or otherwise register with a state regulator and comply with state 
regulations that may include the implementation of anti-money laundering programs, maintenance of certain records and other operational requirements. 
Currently, the New York State Department of Financial Services has finalized its “BitLicense” framework for businesses that conduct “virtual currency 
business activity,” the Conference of State Bank Supervisors has proposed a model form of state level “virtual currency” regulation and additional state 
regulators, including those from the States of California, Idaho, Virginia, Kansas, Texas, South Dakota and Washington, have made public statements 
indicating that virtual currency businesses may be required to seek licenses as money transmitters. In July 2016, the State of North Carolina updated the 
law to define “virtual currency” and the activities that trigger licensure in a business-friendly approach that encourages companies to use virtual currency 
and blockchain technology. Specifically, the North Carolina law does not require miners or software providers to obtain a license for multi-signature 
software, smart contract platforms, smart property, colored coins and non-hosted, non-custodial wallets.  Starting on January 1, 2016, the State of New 
Hampshire requires anyone who exchanges a digital currency for another currency must become a licensed and bonded money transmitter. In numerous 
other states, including the States of Connecticut and New Jersey, legislation is being proposed or has been introduced regarding the treatment of bitcoin and 
other digital assets. The Company will continue to monitor for developments in such legislation, guidance or regulations. 

Such additional federal or state regulatory obligations may cause the Company to incur extraordinary expenses, possibly affecting an investment in
the shares of the Company’s common stock in a material and adverse manner. Furthermore, the Company and its service providers may not be capable of
complying with certain federal or state regulatory obligations applicable to money services business and money transmitters. If the Company is deemed to
be subject to and is determined not to comply with such additional regulatory and registration requirements, the Company may act to dissolve and liquidate
the Company.

Blockchain technology may expose the Company to specially designated nationals or blocked persons or cause it to violate provisions of law.

The Company is subject to the rules enforced by The Office of Financial Assets Control of the U.S. Department of Treasury (“OFAC”), including
regarding sanctions and requirements not to conduct business with persons named on its specially designated nationals list. However, because of the
pseudonymous nature of blockchain transactions, the Company may inadvertently and without its knowledge engage in transactions with persons named on
OFAC’s specially designated nationals list, which may expose the Company to regulatory sanctions and adversely affect the Company’s business, financial
condition and results of operations.



Table of Contents

35

The Company may be required to register and comply with bitcoin regulations and, to the extent that the Company decides to continue operations, the
required registrations and regulatory compliance steps may result in extraordinary expenses to the Company.

Current and future legislation, and other regulatory developments, including interpretations released by a regulatory authority, may impact the
manner in which bitcoins are treated for classification and clearing purposes. In particular, bitcoin derivatives are not excluded from the definition of
“commodity future” by the CFTC. The Company cannot be certain as to how future regulatory developments will impact the treatment of bitcoins under the
law.

Bitcoins have been deemed to fall within the definition of a commodity, and the Company may be required to register and comply with additional
regulation under the Commodity Exchange Act of 1936, as amended, including additional periodic report and disclosure standards and requirements.
Moreover, the Company may be required to register as a commodity pool operator and to register us as a commodity pool with the CFTC through the
National Futures Association. Such additional registrations may result in extraordinary expenses, thereby materially and adversely affecting the Company’s
business, financial condition and results of operations. If the Company determines it will not comply with such additional regulatory and registration
requirements, it may seek to cease certain of its operations. Any such action may adversely affect the Company’s business, financial condition and results
of operations. As of the date of this Annual Report, the Company is not aware of any rules that have been proposed to regulate bitcoins as securities.
However, the Company cannot be certain as to how future regulatory developments will impact the treatment of bitcoins under the law.

If federal or state legislatures or agencies initiate or release tax determinations that change the classification of bitcoins as property for tax purposes (in
the context of when such bitcoins are held as an investment), such determination could have a negative tax consequence on the Company or its
shareholders.

Current guidance from the Internal Revenue Service indicates that digital assets such as bitcoin should be treated and taxed as property and that
transactions involving the payment of bitcoin for goods and services should be treated as barter transactions. While this treatment creates a potential tax
reporting requirement for any circumstance where the ownership of a bitcoin passes from one person to another, usually by means of bitcoin transactions
(including off-blockchain transactions), it would also apply capital gains treatment to those transactions which may adversely affect the Company’s
business, financial condition and results of operations.

Under certain recently proposed legislation, substantial tax compliance burdens may be imposed on the Company relating to the tax reporting of
bitcoin and bitcoin-related transactions.

Legislation recently passed in the Senate would impose substantial tax compliance obligations on the Company relating to the reporting of bitcoin 
and bitcoin-related transactions. Under this legislation, it is possible that the Company would be treated as a digital assets broker and required to deliver 
certain tax forms in connection with the validation of blockchain transactions. Were this legislation to be passed in the House and enacted unchanged, the 
Company could face tax reporting and compliance mandates that it   may not have the information or resources to fully comply with. Although the current 
legislation may not be enacted in its current form, future legislation may impose similar tax compliance responsibilities on the Company, which may be 
expensive and burdensome to comply with, and which could, as a result, adversely impact the Company’s operations. The Company will continue to 
monitor for developments in such legislation, guidance or regulations.

The Company’s bitcoin holdings could subject it to regulatory scrutiny.

Several bitcoin investment vehicles have attempted to list their shares on a U.S. national securities exchange to permit them to function in the 
manner of an exchange-traded fund with continuous share creation and redemption at net asset value. To date the SEC has declined to approve any such 
listing, citing concerns over the surveillance of trading in markets for the underlying bitcoin as well as concerns about fraud and manipulation in bitcoin 
trading markets. Even though the Company does not function in the manner    of an exchange-traded fund and does not offer continuous share creation and 
redemption at net asset value, it is possible that the Company nevertheless could face regulatory scrutiny from the SEC, as a company with securities traded 
on Nasdaq.
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In addition, as digital assets, including bitcoin, have grown in popularity and market size, there has been increasing focus on the extent to which
digital assets can be used to launder the proceeds of illegal activities or fund criminal or terrorist activities or entities subject to sanctions regimes. While the
Company maintains risk-based procedures reasonably designed to promote compliance with applicable anti-money laundering and sanctions laws and
regulations and takes care to only acquire bitcoin through entities subject to anti money laundering regulation and related compliance rules in the United
States, if it is found to have purchased any bitcoin from bad actors that have used bitcoin to launder money or persons subject to sanctions, the Company is
and may continue to be subject to regulatory proceedings and further transactions or dealings in bitcoin may be restricted or prohibited.

Due to the unregulated nature and lack of transparency surrounding the operations of many bitcoin trading venues, they may experience fraud,
security failures or operational problems, which may adversely affect the value of the Company’s bitcoin holdings.

Bitcoin trading venues are relatively new and, in some cases, unregulated. Furthermore, there are many bitcoin trading venues which do not
provide the public with significant information regarding their ownership structure, management teams, corporate practices and regulatory compliance. As
a result, the marketplace may lose confidence in bitcoin trading venues, including prominent exchanges that handle a significant volume of bitcoin trading.

Negative perception, a lack of stability in the broader bitcoin markets and the closure or temporary shutdown of bitcoin trading venues due to
fraud, business failure, hackers or malware or government- mandated regulation may reduce confidence in bitcoin and result in greater volatility in the
prices of bitcoin.

To the extent investors view the Company’s common stock as linked to the value of the Company’s bitcoin holdings, these potential consequences
of a bitcoin trading venue’s failure could have a material adverse effect on the market value of the Company’s common stock.

Risks Related to our Common Stock

If we fail to regain compliance with the continued listing requirements of Nasdaq, our common stock may be delisted and the price of our common
stock and our ability to access the capital markets could be negatively impacted.

On March 17, 2023, we received a deficiency letter from the Listing Qualifications Department of the Nasdaq Stock Market, or Nasdaq, notifying
us that, for the last 30 consecutive business days, the bid price for our common stock had closed below the minimum $1.00 per share requirement for
continued inclusion on the Nasdaq Capital Market, referred to as the minimum bid price rule. In accordance with Nasdaq Listing Rules, we were provided
an initial period of 180 calendar days, or until September 13, 2023, to regain compliance with the minimum bid price rule.

If we do not regain compliance with the minimum bid price rule by the required date and we are not eligible for any additional compliance period
at that time, the Nasdaq Listing Qualifications Department staff will provide us written notification that our common stock may be delisted. At that time,
we may appeal the staff’s delisting determination to a Nasdaq Listing Qualifications Panel. We expect that our common stock would remain listed pending
the panel’s decision. However, there can be no assurance that, even if we appeal the staff’s delisting determination to the Nasdaq Listing Qualifications
Panel, such appeal would be successful.

There are many factors that may adversely affect our minimum bid price, including those described throughout this section titled “Risk Factors.”
Many of these factors are outside of our control. As a result, we may not be able to sustain compliance with the minimum bid price rule in the long term.
Any potential delisting of our common stock from the Nasdaq Capital Market would likely result in decreased liquidity and increased volatility for our
common stock and would adversely affect our ability to raise additional capital or to enter into strategic transactions. Any potential delisting of our
common stock from the Nasdaq Capital Market would also make it more difficult for our stockholders to sell our common stock in the public market.

We do not expect to pay any dividends in the foreseeable future.

In the past, we have not paid dividends on our common stock. We do not currently intend to pay dividends on our common stock and we intend to
retain our future earnings, if any, to fund the development and growth of our business. In addition, the terms of certain existing and any future debt
agreements may preclude us from paying dividends. As a result, capital appreciation, if any, of our common stock may be your sole source of gain for the
foreseeable future.
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The market price of our Common Stock may be volatile as a result of recent geopolitical, economic or industry-wide developments, which could subject
us to securities class action litigation and result in substantial losses for our stockholders.

The market price of our Common Stock could be subject to extreme volatility and fluctuations in response to recent industry-wide developments
beyond our control, such as continued industry-wide fallout from the recent closures of Silicon Valley Bank, SBNY and Silvergate Bank and/or Chapter 11
bankruptcy filings of cryptocurrency exchange FTX (including its affiliated hedge fund Alameda Research LLC), crypto hedge fund Three Arrows and
crypto lenders Celsius, Voyager, BlockFi, and Genesis, as well as the many risk factors listed in this Form 10-K. As mentioned elsewhere herein, we have
no material direct exposure to Silicon Valley Bank or Silvergate Bank, nor do we have any direct exposure to any of the cryptocurrency market participants
that recently filed for Chapter 11 bankruptcy, including Genesis, whose parent company, DCG, also owns Foundry, our mining pool provider. At this time,
the Company is not subject to any material risks arising from its indirect exposure to Genesis. We also have no direct exposure to any of the cryptocurrency
market participants who are known to have experienced excessive redemptions, suspended redemptions or have crypto assets of their customers
unaccounted for, and we do not have any assets, material or otherwise, that may not be recovered due to these bankruptcies or excessive or suspended
redemptions. Nevertheless, the price of our Common Stock may still not be immune to unfavorable investor sentiment resulting from these recent
developments in the broader cryptocurrency industry.

Furthermore, the stock markets have experienced extreme price and volume fluctuations that have affected and continue to affect the market prices
of equity securities of many companies. These fluctuations often have been unrelated or disproportionate to the operating performance of those companies.
These broad market fluctuations as well as general economic, political and market conditions, such as recessions, high inflation, interest rate changes or
international currency fluctuations, may negatively impact the market price of our Common Stock. In addition, such fluctuations could subject us to
securities class action litigation, which could result in substantial costs and divert our management’s attention from other business concerns, which could
potentially harm our business. As a result of this volatility, our stockholders may not be able to sell their shares of Common Stock at or above the price at
which they purchased their shares of Common Stock.

ITEM 1B. Staff
Comments

None.

ITEM 2. Properties

Corporate Headquarters

TeraWulf maintains its principal corporate offices in Easton, Maryland and New York, New York. Beowulf E&D provides TeraWulf with the
office space at these locations in accordance with the terms of the administrative and infrastructure services agreement. In 2022, TeraWulf paid Beowulf
E&D a monthly fee in the amount of approximately $42,000. Starting in 2023, the use of TeraWulf’s corporate offices is covered by the base fee under the
Amendment No. 1 to the administrative and infrastructure services agreement between TeraWulf and Beowulf E&D, effective as of January 1, 2023.
TeraWulf considers its current office space adequate for its current operations.

Lake Mariner Facility

Lake Mariner has entered into the Lake Mariner Facility Lease with Somerset, pursuant to which Lake Mariner leases from Somerset
approximately 79 acres in the Town of Somerset, Niagara County, New York for an initial term of eight years with a five-year extension option. See
“Agreements Relating to TeraWulf’s Business and Operations — Lake Mariner Facility Lease” for additional information regarding the Lake Mariner
Facility Lease.

Nautilus Cryptomine Facility

Nautilus has entered into the Nautilus Cryptomine Facility Ground Lease with Talen Nuclear Development LLC, an affiliate of Talen, pursuant to
which Nautilus leases from Talen Nuclear Development LLC the site of the Nautilus Cryptomine Facility for an initial term of five years with two three-
year extension options and option to extend the term by an interim period of up to six and one half months after the first three-year extension. See “—
Agreements Relating to TeraWulf’s Business and Operations — Talen Joint Venture — Nautilus Cryptomine Facility Ground Lease” for additional
information regarding the Nautilus Cryptomine Facility Ground Lease.
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ITEM 3. Legal
Proceedings

From time to time, TeraWulf may be involved in various legal and administrative proceedings, lawsuits and claims incidental to the conduct of its
business. Some of these proceedings, lawsuits or claims may be material and involve highly complex issues that are subject to substantial uncertainties and
could result in damages, fines, penalties, non-monetary sanctions or relief. TeraWulf recognizes provisions for claims or pending litigation when it
determines that an unfavorable outcome is probable, and the amount of loss can be reasonably estimated. Due to the inherent uncertain nature of litigation,
the ultimate outcome or actual cost of settlement may materially vary from estimates. TeraWulf is not subject to any material pending legal and
administrative proceedings, lawsuits or claims as of the date of this Annual Report. TeraWulf’s business and operations are also subject to extensive
regulation, which may result in regulatory proceedings against TeraWulf.

ITEM 4. Mine Safety
Disclosures

Not applicable.
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PART II

ITEM 5. Market for the Registrant’s Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity
Securities

Market for the Registrant’s Common Equity

Our common stock is listed on The Nasdaq Stock Market LLC under the symbol “WULF.” As of March 30, 2023, there were 68 registered
owners of our common stock.

Dividends

We did not declare or pay any cash dividends on our common stock during 2022. We do not currently intend to pay dividends on our common
stock and we intend to retain our future earnings, if any, to fund the development and growth of our business. In addition, the terms of certain existing and
any future debt agreements may preclude us from paying dividends. As a result, capital appreciation, if any, of our common stock may be your sole source
of gain for the foreseeable future.

Any future determination relating to our dividend policy will be made at the discretion of our board of directors and will depend on then existing
conditions, including our financial condition, results of operations, contractual restrictions, capital requirements, business prospects, and other factors our
board of directors may deem relevant.

Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities

There were no purchases of our common stock by the Company during the twelve months ended December 31, 2022.

Unregistered Sale of Equity Securities

October 2022 Private Placement

On October 6, 2022, the Company entered into (a) subscription agreements (the “October Subscription Agreements”) with certain accredited
investors (the “October Investors”) pursuant to which such October Investors purchased from the Company units (the “October Units”) consisting of: (i)
7,481,747 shares of common stock (the “October Shares”)and (2) warrants (the “October Private Placement Warrants”) exercisable for 7,481,747 shares of
common stock (such shares, the “October Private Placement Warrant Shares”) in a private placement transaction exempt from registration under Section
4(a)(2) and/or Regulation D under the Securities Act and (b) a warrant agreement (the “October Private Placement Warrant Agreement) with the October
Investors. The October Private Placement Warrant Agreement governs the terms and conditions of the October Private Placement Warrants. Upon closing
of the private placement transaction on October 6, 2022, the October Units separated into the October Shares and the October Private Placement Warrants.
On January 30, 2023, certain of the October Investors agreed to amend the terms of their warrants such that their warrants would become exercisable only
after February 23, 2023, the date of approval of the Charter Amendments described elsewhere in this 2022 Form 10-K.

In connection with the signing of the October Subscription Agreements, the Company and the October Investors entered into a Registration Rights
Agreement, dated as of October 6, 2022, pursuant to which the Company agreed to provide customary registration rights to the October Investors.

Lender Warrants

On October 7, 2022, the Company entered into an amendment and restatement of that certain warrant agreement, dated July 1, 2022, by and
among the Company and the holders party thereto (such amended agreement, the “Amended and Restated Warrant Agreement”) pursuant to which the
Company issued to its lenders under the LGSA warrants exercisable for 2,667,678 shares of common stock exercisable at an exercise price equal to $0.01
per share of common stock in a private placement transaction exempt from registration under Section 4(a)(2) and/or Regulation D. The Amended and
Restated Warrant Agreement provided for the immediate exercisability of the lender warrants.
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December Private Placement and January Private Placement

On December 12, 2022, the Company entered into (a) subscription agreements (the “December Subscription Agreements”) with certain accredited
investors (the “December Investors”) pursuant to which the Company issued to certain of the December Investors, 4,375,000 shares of common stock (the
“December Private Placement Warrant Shares”) issuable upon exercise of 5,625,000 warrants (the “December Private Placement Warrants”) exercisable at
an exercise price equal to $0.40 per share of common stock in a private placement transaction exempt from registration under Section 4(a)(2) and/or
Regulation D under the Securities Act and (b) a warrant agreement (the “December Private Placement Warrant Agreement) with such December Investors.
The December Private Placement Warrant Agreement governs the terms and conditions of the December Private Placement Warrants. The December
Private Placement Warrants became exercisable on January 16, 2023 and expired on January 31, 2023.

In connection with the signing of the December Private Placement Warrant Agreement, the Company and certain of the December Investors
entered into a Registration Rights Agreement, dated as of December 12, 2022, pursuant to which the Company agreed to provide customary registration
rights to such December Investors.

On January 30, 2023, the Company entered into additional subscription agreements with the December Investors pursuant to which such
December Investors purchased from the Company shares of the Company’s common stock, at a purchase price of $0.40 per share of common stock (the
“January Common Shares”), in private placement transactions exempt from registration under Section 4(a)(2) and/or Regulation D under the Securities Act
for an aggregate purchase price of $1.75 million (the “January Private Placement”). The January Private Placement effectively replaced 50% of the
unexercised December Private Placement Warrants at the same purchase price of $0.40 per share of common stock. The January Private Placement closed
on March 9, 2023.

Additional 2023 Private Placements Warrants

On January 30, 2023, the Company entered into (a) subscription agreements (the “Warrant Subscription Agreements”) with certain accredited
investors (the “Warrant Investors”) pursuant to which such Warrant Investors purchased from the Company warrants, each exercisable to purchase one
share of the Company’s common stock, at an exercise price of $0.00001 per share of Common Stock (the “Warrants”), in private placement transactions
exempt from registration under Section 4(a)(2) and/or Regulation D of the Securities Act for an aggregate purchase price of $2.5 million, based on a price
per share of common stock of $1.05 for a total of 2,380,952 shares of common stock and (b) warrant agreements (the “Warrant Agreements”) with such
Warrant Investors. The Warrant Agreements govern the terms and conditions of the warrants, which became exercisable beginning on February 24, 2023
and expire on December 31, 2023.

Pursuant to the Warrant Subscription Agreements, the Company agreed to provide customary registration rights to the Warrant Investors with
respect to the common stock issuable upon conversion of the Warrants. The Warrant Subscription Agreements contain customary representations,
warranties and covenants and are subject to customary closing conditions and termination rights.

Convertible Promissory Notes

Amendment to Existing Convertible Promissory Notes

On January 30, 2023, the Company entered into amendments to its previously disclosed convertible promissory notes (the “Existing Convertible
Promissory Notes”), originally issued to certain accredited investors on November 25, 2022 and further amended on December 12, 2022, in privately
negotiated transactions as part of a private placement exempt from registration under Section 4(a)(2) and/or Regulation D under the Securities Act in an
aggregate principal amount of approximately $3.4 million. The Existing Convertible Promissory Notes converted into shares of Common Stock on
February 28, 2023 at a price of $0.40.

Entry into New Convertible Promissory Note

On January 30, 2023, the Company entered into a new convertible promissory note (the “New Convertible Promissory Note”) to an accredited
investor in a privately negotiated transaction as part of a private placement exempt from registration under Section 4(a)(2) and/or Regulation D under the
Securities Act in an aggregate principal amount of $1.25 million. The New Convertible Promissory Note has a maturity date of April 1, 2025 and accrues
annual interest at a rate of 4%. The New Convertible Promissory Note converted into shares of Common Stock on February 28, 2023 at a price of $0.40.
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February Private Placement

On February 1, 2023, the Company entered into additional subscription agreements (the “February Subscription Agreements”), with certain
accredited investors (the “February Common Stock Investors”), pursuant to which such February Common Stock Investors purchased from the Company
shares of the Company’s Common Stock, at a purchase price of $0.68 per share of common stock, in private placement transactions exempt from
registration under Section 4(a)(2) and/or Regulation D under the Securities Act for an aggregate purchase price of $0.94 million (the “February Private
Placement”). The February Private Placement closed on February 2, 2023.

Pursuant to the February Subscription Agreements, the Company agreed to provide customary registration rights to the Common Stock Investors.
The February Subscription Agreements contain customary representations, warranties and covenants and are subject to customary closing conditions and
termination rights.

Additional Lender Warrants

On March 1, 2023, in connection with the execution of the Fifth Amendment to the LGSA, the Company entered into a Warrant Agreement (the
“Fifth Amendment Warrant Agreement”) to issue the following warrants to the lenders: (i) 26,666,669 warrants to purchase an aggregate number of shares
of the Company’s common stock equal to 10.0% of the fully diluted equity of the Company as of the Fifth Amendment Effective Date with an exercise
price of $0.01 per share of the Company’s common stock (the “Lender Penny Warrants”) and (ii) 13,333,333 warrants to purchase an aggregate number of
shares of the Company’s common stock equal to 5.0% of the fully diluted equity of the Company as of the Fifth Amendment Effective Date with an
exercise price of $1.00 per share of the Company’s common stock (the “Lender Dollar Warrants”). Both the Lender Penny Warrants and the Lender Dollar
Warrants are subject to anti-dilution protection for any additional capital raising transaction by the Company of up to $5.0 million following the completion
of the Qualified Equity Capital Raise. The Lender Penny Warrants are exercisable during the period beginning on April 1, 2024 and ending at 5:00 p.m.,
New York City time, on December 31, 2025, and the Lender Dollar Warrants are exercisable during the period beginning on April 1, 2024 and ending at
5:00 p.m., New York City time, on December 31, 2026. Also, on March 1, 2023, the Company entered into a registration rights agreement in respect of the
Lender Penny Warrants and the Lender Dollar Warrants which provides the lenders with customary shelf and piggyback registration rights. The Lender
Penny Warrants and the Lender Dollar Warrants were issued in a private placement transaction exempt from registration under Section 4(a)(2) and/or
Regulation D under the Securities Act.

ITEM 6. [Reserved]

ITEM 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of
Operations

The following Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations should be read in conjunction with a
review of the other Items included in this Annual Report and with the accompanying consolidated financial statements and notes thereto included elsewhere
in this report. All figures presented below represent results from continuing operations, unless otherwise specified. Certain statements contained in this
Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations may be deemed forward-looking statements. See “Forward-
Looking Statements.”

General

TeraWulf is a vertically-integrated owner and operator of environmentally clean bitcoin mining facilities in the United States. Founded and led by
an experienced group of energy & power entrepreneurs, the Company is actively operating and constructing, consistent with its sustainable energy 
mandate, two bitcoin mining facilities, the Lake Mariner Facility and the Nautilus Cryptomine Facility, in the States of New York and Pennsylvania, 
respectively.  TeraWulf will own and operate its bitcoin mining facility sites and expects to consume over 91% zero-carbon energy, with a target of 
achieving 100%.  In connection with the planned buildout, TeraWulf entered into a power purchase agreement at the Nautilus Cryptomine Facility and will 
receive power at approximately 2.0 cents/kWh. Moreover, the Lake Mariner Facility is located a mere 40 miles from the Robert Moses Niagara Power 
Plant, an approximate 2,600MW hydroelectric generating facility, the largest generating facility in New York State, and one of the largest in the country, 
with 24/7 access to low-cost carbon-free electricity. With the Nautilus Cryptomine Facility power purchase agreement, and the strategic location of the Lake 
Mariner Facility addition, TeraWulf expects to achieve an average long-term cost of electricity of approximately 3.5 cents/kWh, competitively positioning 
the Company to be a leading, low-cost and zero-carbon bitcoin mining operator in the United States.
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Lake Mariner Facility

Located at a site adjacent to the decommissioned coal-fired Somerset Generating Station in Barker, New York, the Lake Mariner Facility has 
secured an initial 90 MW of energy to support its bitcoin mining capacity through an agreement with NYPA with the potential to expand into an additional 
410 MW of energy supply. TeraWulf began mining bitcoin at the Lake Mariner Facility in March 2022 with 10 MW of mining capacity located on the 
turbine deck of the former coal-fired power plant and energized its first dedicated mining building (“Building 1”), housing approximately 50 MW of 
mining capacity, during the third quarter of 2022.  During the third quarter of 2022, and in conjunction with Nautilus JV amendment discussed below, the 
Company expanded its self-mining capacity in Building 1 by transferring miners previously purchased for use at the Nautilus facility in order to accelerate 
revenue growth.  Construction is largely complete at the Company’s second dedicated mining building (“Building 2”), which is also scheduled to house 
approximately 50MW of mining capacity and is targeted for completion in the second quarter of 2023.

Nautilus Cryptomine Facility

The Nautilus Cryptomine Facility is a joint venture between TeraWulf and Talen. The Nautilus Cryptomine Facility, located in Salem Township, 
Luzerne County, Pennsylvania, is adjacent to the 2.5 GW nuclear-powered Susquehanna Station, 2.3 GW of which are owned and operated by Talen. The 
Nautilus Cryptomine Facility has secured as its power supply zero-carbon nuclear energy received directly from a substation connected to the Susquehanna 
Station’s electrical generators over a five-year term with two successive three-year renewal options. The Nautilus Cryptomine Facility is located “behind the 
meter” and not connected to the electrical distribution grid, therefore avoiding transmission and distribution charges typically paid by other large power 
consumers. At the time of this Annual Report, the Nautilus Cryptomine Facility has access to up to 300 MW of bitcoin mining capacity from the 
Susquehanna Station and is expected to be the first bitcoin mining facility site that is powered by 100% “behind the meter” zero-carbon nuclear energy.  
TeraWulf began installation of miners at the Nautilus Cryptomine Facility in the fourth quarter of 2022, and began mining bitcoin in the first quarter of 
2023.  In August 2022, the Company and Talen amended their joint venture agreement thereby reducing TeraWulf’s stake in the facility to 25% and right-
sizing TeraWulf’s miners and infrastructure to enable maximum utilization of 50 MW of power at approximately 2.0 cents/kWh for five years.

TeraWulf expects to generate revenues primarily by sustainably mining bitcoin at its bitcoin mining facility sites. Incremental revenues may be 
generated through the hedging and sale of mined bitcoin and the commercial optimization of TeraWulf’s power supply.  The Company will also leverage its 
available digital infrastructure to provide miner hosting services to third parties whereby the Company targets holding an option to purchase the hosted 
miners in the future.  

We believe TeraWulf is an important and low-cost player in the bitcoin network due to our vertical integration, ramp of large-scale operations,
market-leading zero-carbon power supply arrangements and a seasoned, dedicated senior management team.

Recent Developments

February 2023 Equity Offering

On February 6, 2023, TeraWulf completed an underwritten public offering of 36,764,706 shares of common stock (the “Equity Offering”) at a
public offering price of $0.68 per share, with JonesTrading Institutional Services LLC (“JonesTrading”) acting as sole book-running manager (the
“Underwriter”) for the Equity Offering. The Company granted the Underwriter a 30-day over-allotment option to purchase up to an
additional 5,514,705 shares of its common stock. On February 8, 2023, the Underwriter exercised its over-allotment option and purchased an additional
3,000,000 shares of common stock from the Company at the public offering price of $0.68 per share (the “February 8, 2023 Overallotment Exercise”). On
February 28, 2023, the Underwriter further exercised its over-allotment option and purchased an additional 1,000,000 shares of Common Stock from the
Company at the public offering price of $0.68 per share (the “February 28, 2023 Overallotment Exercise” and together with the February 8, 2023
Overallotment Exercise, the “Overallotment Exercise”). The Overallotment Exercise resulted in additional net proceeds to the Company of approximately
$2.56 million, or approximately $26.56 million in aggregate net proceeds from the Offering, after deducting underwriting discounts and commissions and
estimated offering expenses.

Special Meeting of Shareholders

On February 13, 2023, the Company filed a definitive proxy statement to hold a special meeting (the “Special Meeting”) of its shareholders to
amend the Company’s charter to (i) increase the maximum number of authorized shares  of common stock, with the par value of $0.001 per share, from 
200,000,000 to 400,000,000 and the maximum number of authorized shares of preferred stock,
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with the par value of $0.001 per share, from 25,000,000 to 100,000,000 (collectively, the “Share Increase Amendment”) and (ii) remove the restriction on
stockholder action by written consent (the “Written Consent Amendment” and, together with the Share Increase Amendment, the “Charter Amendments”).
The Company’s shareholders of record as of the close of business on January 27, 2023 were entitled to vote their shares at the Special Meeting. On
February 23, 2023, the Charter Amendments were approved by the Company’s shareholders at the Special Meeting.

Voting and Support Agreement

As an inducement for the Exchanging Shareholder (as defined below) to enter into the Exchange Agreement (as defined below), the Company
entered into a Voting and Support Agreement, dated January 30, 2023, with certain of the Company’s shareholders (the “Voting and Support Agreement”).
Pursuant to the Voting and Support Agreement, such shareholders voted in support of the Charter Amendments at the Special Meeting.

The Voting and Support Agreement contains customary representations, warranties, covenants and termination rights.

Exchange Agreement

For the purpose of increasing the number of shares available for issuance under the charter prior to the receipt of shareholder approval of the
Charter Amendments, on January 30, 2023, the Company entered into an exchange agreement (the “Exchange Agreement”) with an entity controlled by
Paul Prager (the “Exchanging Shareholder”). Pursuant to the Exchange Agreement, the Exchanging Shareholder exchanged a total of 12,000,000 shares of
common stock for 12,000,000 new warrants issued by the Company (the “New Exchange Warrants”) in a private exchange exempt from registration under
Section 4(a)(2) and/or Regulation D under the Securities Act. The New Exchange Warrants became immediately exercisable at a strike price of $0.00001
per share on February 24, 2023 and will expire on December 31, 2023. The terms and conditions of the New Exchange Warrants are governed by a certain
Warrant Agreement between the Company and the Exchanging Shareholder. The Exchanging Shareholder is entitled to customary registration rights with
respect to the shares of common stock issuable upon exercise of the New Exchange Warrants.

The Exchange Agreement contains customary representations, warranties, covenants and termination rights.

Entry into Binding Term Sheet for Fifth Amendment to LGSA & Entry into Fifth Amendment to LGSA

On January 27, 2023, the Company entered into a binding term sheet with its lenders (the “Term Sheet”) pursuant to which the parties agreed to 
make certain amendments to the LGSA via a fifth amendment (the “Fifth Amendment”).  The Term Sheet provided for the elimination of mandatory 
amortization of the term loan through April 8, 2024, subject to certain conditions, including the completion of one or more equity capital raises with 
aggregate net proceeds of at least $33.5 million by March 15, 2023 (such aggregate capital raise, the “Qualified Equity Capital Raise”). The Company 
satisfied the Qualified Equity Capital Raise condition on March 9, 2023. The Term Sheet also provided for an excess cash flow sweep in place of scheduled 
principal payments, which will automatically extend to the maturity of the term loan on December 1, 2024 in the event the Company repays at least $40 
million of the term loan by April 1, 2024. The modifications to the term loan’s amortization schedule are also contingent on the Company complying with 
certain corporate governance provisions, and that no default or event of default has occurred or is occurring under the term loan.

On March 1, 2023 (the “Fifth Amendment Effective Date”), the conditions precedent to the effectiveness of the Fifth Amendment were satisfied
and the Company entered into the Fifth Amendment. Also, on March 1, 2023, in connection with the execution of the Fifth Amendment, the Company
entered into a Warrant Agreement (the “Fifth Amendment Warrant Agreement”) to issue the following warrants to the lenders: (i) 26,666,669 warrants to
purchase an aggregate number of shares of the Company’s common stock equal to 10.0% of the fully diluted equity of the Company as of the Fifth
Amendment Effective Date with an exercise price of $0.01 per share of the Company’s common stock (the “Lender Penny Warrants”) and (ii) 13,333,333
warrants to purchase an aggregate number of shares of the Company’s common stock equal to 5.0% of the fully diluted equity of the Company as of the
Fifth Amendment Effective Date with an exercise price of $1.00 per share of the Company’s common stock (the “Lender Dollar Warrants”). Both the
Lender Penny Warrants and the Lender Dollar Warrants are subject to anti-dilution protection for any additional capital raising transaction by the Company
of up to $5.0 million following the completion of the Qualified Equity Capital Raise. The Lender Penny Warrants are exercisable during the period
beginning on April 1, 2024 and ending at 5:00 p.m., New York City time, on December 31, 2025, and the Lender Dollar Warrants are exercisable during
the period beginning on April 1, 2024 and ending at 5:00 p.m., New York City time, on December 31, 2026. Also, on March 1, 2023, the Company entered
into a registration rights agreement in respect of the Lender Penny Warrants and the Lender Dollar Warrants which provides the lenders with customary
shelf and
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piggyback registration rights. The Lender Penny Warrants and the Lender Dollar Warrants were issued in a private placement transaction exempt from
registration under Section 4(a)(2) and/or Regulation D under the Securities Act.

Additional 2023 Private Placements Warrants

On January 30, 2023, the Company entered into (a) subscription agreements (the “Warrant Subscription Agreements”) with certain accredited
investors (the “Warrant Investors”) pursuant to which such Warrant Investors purchased from the Company warrants, each exercisable to purchase one
share of the Company’s common stock, at an exercise price of $0.00001 per share of Common Stock (the “Warrants”), in private placement transactions
exempt from registration under Section 4(a)(2) and/or Regulation D of the Securities Act for an aggregate purchase price of $2.5 million, based on a price
per share of common stock of $1.05 for a total of 2,380,952 shares of Common Stock and (b) warrant agreements (the “Warrant Agreements”) with such
Warrant Investors. The Warrant Agreements govern the terms and conditions of the Warrants, which became exercisable beginning on February 24, 2023
and expire on December 31, 2023.

Pursuant to the Warrant Subscription Agreements, the Company agreed to provide customary registration rights to the Warrant Investors with
respect to the common stock issuable upon conversion of the Warrants. The Warrant Subscription Agreements contain customary representations,
warranties, covenants and termination rights.

February Private Placement

On February 1, 2023, the Company entered into additional subscription agreements (the “February Subscription Agreements”) with certain
accredited investors, investors (the “February Common Stock Investors”) purchased from the Company shares of the Company’s common stock, at a
purchase price of $0.68 per share of common stock, in private placement transactions exempt from registration under Section 4(a)(2) and/or Regulation D
under the Securities Act for an aggregate purchase price of $0.94 million (the “February Private Placement”). The February Private Placement closed on
February 2, 2023.

Pursuant to the February Subscription Agreements, the Company agreed to provide customary registration rights to the Common Stock Investors.
The February Subscription Agreements contain customary representations, warranties, covenants and termination rights.

Convertible Promissory Notes

Amendment to Existing Convertible Promissory Notes

On January 30, 2023, the Company entered into amendments to its previously disclosed convertible promissory notes (the “Existing Convertible
Promissory Notes”), originally issued to certain accredited investors on November 25, 2022 and further amended on December 12, 2022, in privately
negotiated transactions as part of a private placement exempt from registration under Section 4(a)(2) and/or Regulation D under the Securities Act in an
aggregate principal amount of approximately $3.4 million. The Existing Convertible Promissory Notes converted into shares of common stock on February
28, 2023 at a price of $0.40.

Entry into New Convertible Promissory Note

On January 30, 2023, the Company entered into a new convertible promissory note (the “New Convertible Promissory Note”) to an accredited
investor in a privately negotiated transaction as part of a private placement exempt from registration under Section 4(a)(2) and/or Regulation D under the
Securities Act in an aggregate principal amount of $1.25 million. The New Convertible Promissory Note has a maturity date of April 1, 2025 and accrues
annual interest at a rate of 4%. The New Convertible Promissory Note converted into shares of common stock on February 28, 2023 at a price of $0.40.

Registered Direct Offering, December Private Placement and January Private Placement

On December 12, 2022, the Company entered into (a) subscription agreements (the “December Subscription Agreements”) with certain accredited
investors (the “December Investors”) pursuant to which the Company issued (i) to the December Investors, 16,850,000 shares of common stock (the
“Registered Common Stock”) as part of a registered direct offering (the “Registered Direct Offering”), at a purchase price of $.40 per share of Registered
Common Stock, for an aggregate purchase price of $6.74 million before deducting any fees and other expenses and (ii) to certain of the
December Investors, the December Private Placement Warrants exercisable at an exercise price equal to $0.40 per share of common stock for
December Private Placement Warrant Shares in a private
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placement transaction exempt from registration under Section 4(a)(2) and/or Regulation D under the Securities Act and (b) a warrant agreement (the
“December Private Placement Warrant Agreement) with such December Investors. The December Private Placement Warrant Agreement governs the terms
and conditions of the December Private Placement Warrants. The December Private Placement Warrants became exercisable on January 16, 2023 and
expired on January 31, 2023.

In connection with the signing of the December Private Placement Warrant Agreement, the Company and certain of the December Investors
entered into a Registration Rights Agreement, dated as of December 12, 2022, pursuant to which the Company agreed to provide customary registration
rights to such December Investors with respect to the December Private Placement Warrant Shares.

On January 30, 2023, the Company entered into additional subscription agreements with the December Investors pursuant to which such
December Investors purchased from the Company shares of the Company’s common stock, at a purchase price of $0.40 per share of common stock (the
“January Common Shares”), in private placement transactions exempt from registration under Section 4(a)(2) and/or Regulation D under the Securities Act
for an aggregate purchase price of $1.75 million (the “January Private Placement”). The January Private Placement effectively replaced 50% of the
unexercised December Private Placement Warrants at the same purchase price of $0.40 per share of common stock. The January Private Placement closed
on March 9, 2023.

October 2022 Private Placement

On October 6, 2022, the Company entered into (a) subscription agreements (the “October Subscription Agreements”) with certain accredited
investors (the “October Investors”) pursuant to which such October Investors purchased from the Company units (the “October Units”) consisting of: (i)
7,481,747 shares of common stock (the “October Shares”) and (2) warrants (the “October Private Placement Warrants”) exercisable for 7,481,747 shares of
common stock (such shares, the “October Private Placement Warrant Shares”) in a private placement transaction exempt from registration under Section
4(a)(2) and/or Regulation D under the Securities Act and (b) a warrant agreement (the “October Private Placement Warrant Agreement) with the October
Investors. The October Private Placement Warrant Agreement governs the terms and conditions of the October Private Placement Warrants. Upon closing
of the private placement transaction on October 6, 2022, the October Units separated into the October Shares and the October Private Placement Warrants.
On January 30, 2023, certain of the October Investors agreed to amend the terms of their warrants such that their warrants would become exercisable only
after February 23, 2023, the date of approval of the Charter Amendments described elsewhere in this 2022 Form 10-K.

In connection with the signing of the October Subscription Agreements, the Company and the October Investors entered into a Registration Rights
Agreement, dated as of October 6, 2022, pursuant to which the Company agreed to provide customary registration rights to the October Investors.

Other Developments

Amendment and Restatement of Lender Warrant Agreement

On October 7, 2022, the Company entered into an amendment and restatement of that certain warrant agreement, dated July 1, 2022, by and
among the Company and the holders party thereto (such amended agreement, the “Amended and Restated Warrant Agreement”) pursuant to which the
Company issued to its lenders under the LGSA warrants exercisable for 2,667,678 shares of common stock in a private placement transaction exempt from
registration under Section 4(a)(2) and/or Regulation D. The Amended and Restated Warrant Agreement provided for the immediate exercisability of the
lender warrants.

Loss of Controlled Company Status

After giving effect to the issuance of the Registered Common Stock in the December 2022 Registered Direct Offering, Paul Prager, founder and
Chief Executive Officer of the Company, no longer controlled a majority of the Company’s outstanding shares, and certain proxies granted in favor of
Stammtisch Investments LLC, an entity owned and controlled by Mr. Prager, terminated in accordance with their terms. As a result, the Company is no
longer considered a “controlled company” under applicable Nasdaq rules. The Company is currently in compliance with the applicable Nasdaq corporate
governance requirements during the permitted phase-in periods, and expects to be fully in compliance by the requisite deadlines.
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Amendment No. 1 to Administrative and Infrastructure Services Agreement

On March 29, 2023, TeraWulf and Beowulf E&D entered into Amendment No. 1 to the administrative and infrastructure services agreement,
pursuant to which TeraWulf agreed to pay Beowulf E&D, effective as of January 1, 2023, a reduced annual base fee equal to $8.46 million payable in
monthly installments, until all obligations under the Company’s LGSA are either indefeasibly repaid in full or refinanced.

Amendment to Talen Joint Venture

On March 23, 2023, TeraWulf (Thales) entered into a second amended and restated limited liability company agreement (the “Second A&R Talen
Joint Venture Agreement”) with Cumulus Coin. Under the Second A&R Talen Joint Venture Agreement, TeraWulf (Thales) will hold a 25% equity interest
in Nautilus and Cumulus Coin will hold a 75% equity interest in Nautilus, each subject to adjustment based on relative capital contributions. Bitcoin
distributions will be made every two weeks in accordance with each member’s respective hash rate contributions after deducting each member’s share of
power and operational costs and cash reserves, as established by the board of managers, to fund, among other things, one month of estimated power costs
and two months of budgeted expenditures.

Under the Second A&R Talen Joint Venture Agreement, each member will be entitled to make contributions to Nautilus of certain miners up to a 
maximum determined in accordance with each member’s ownership percentage, by delivering or causing to be delivered and installed or deemed installed 
on behalf of Nautilus at the Nautilus Cryptomine facility or at Nautilus’ storage facility, such miners.  Pursuant to the Second A&R Talen Joint Venture 
Agreement, certain MinerVa miners that TeraWulf (Thales) contributed to Nautilus will be removed and provided to TeraWulf (Thales), which TeraWulf 
(Thales) has the right to replace in its discretion.  Likewise, Cumulus Coin may elect to remove certain MinerVa miners that Cumulus Coin contributed to 
Nautilus, which Cumulus Coin has the right to replace in its discretion.

Nautilus will be governed by a board of managers comprised of one manager appointed by TeraWulf (Thales) and four managers appointed by
Cumulus Coin. Under the Second A&R Talen Joint Venture Agreement, the board of managers generally acts upon a majority vote at a duly called meeting
at which the manager appointed by TeraWulf (Thales) is present, except that, for certain specified matters (“Special Consent Matters”), the board of
managers acts upon a unanimous vote, subject to deadlock procedures. Any member owning less than 20% of Nautilus has no right to vote on Special
Consent Matters. Generally, neither TeraWulf (Thales) nor Cumulus Coin may directly transfer any of its interests in Nautilus to any third parties without
the majority consent of the board of managers, except that TeraWulf (Thales) is entitled to transfer its interests in Nautilus if certain conditions are met.

Pursuant to the terms of the Second A&R Talen Joint Venture Agreement, the Nautilus Cryptomine facility will initially require 200 MW of 
electric capacity, and the Cumulus Coin may elect to expand the energy requirement by up to 100 MW, funded solely by the Cumulus Coin, prior to May 
13, 2024, for a total capacity of 300 MW.  Upon such election, Nautilus will call additional capital for expansion and enter into an additional energy supply 
agreement with Cumulus Coin or its affiliate for the additional capacity, subject to any regulatory approvals and third-party consents.

On August 26, 2022, Nautilus and Beowulf E&D entered into an amended and restated facility operations agreement with an early termination 
right for Nautilus, pursuant to which Beowulf E&D provides, or arranges for the provision to Nautilus of, certain infrastructure, construction, operations and 
maintenance and administrative services necessary to build out and operate the Nautilus Cryptomine facility and support Nautilus’s ongoing business at the 
Nautilus Cryptomine facility.  Nautilus terminated the amended and restated facility operations agreement effective December 26, 2022.  On December 26, 
2022, Nautilus and Talen Energy Supply LLC entered into a replacement facility operations agreement pursuant to which Talen Energy Supply LLC 
provides, or arranges for the provision to Nautilus of, certain infrastructure, construction, operations and maintenance and administrative services necessary 
to build out and operate the Nautilus Cryptomine facility and support Nautilus’s ongoing business at the Nautilus Cryptomine Facility.  Also on December 
26, 2022, Beowulf E&D and Nautilus entered into a transition services agreement to facilitate the prompt transition of the services provided by Beowulf 
E&D to Nautilus under the amended and restated facility operations agreement to Talen Energy Supply LLC.  Pursuant to the transition services agreement, 
Beowulf E&D shall provide such transition services to Nautilus until June 30, 2023 in exchange for payment by Nautilus of $339,200 and reimbursement of 
out of pocket expenses.

The Business Combination

TeraWulf completed its business combination with IKONICS on December 13, 2021 (the “Closing Date”) pursuant to which, among other things, 
TeraCub Inc. (“TeraCub,” formerly known as TeraWulf Inc.) would effectively acquire IKONICS and become a publicly traded company on the Nasdaq, 
which was the primary purpose of the business combination.  For financial accounting 
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purposes, the business combination was treated as a reverse merger whereby the accounting acquirer was TeraCub due to TeraCub’s historic shareholders 
having the majority voting control in the Company, the board of directors members being associated with TeraCub and the senior management of TeraCub 
becoming the senior management of TeraWulf.  Pursuant to business combination accounting, the Company applied the acquisition method, which requires 
the assets acquired and liabilities assumed be recorded at fair value, with limited exceptions.  The Company’s consolidated financial statements include the
operating results of IKONICS beginning on the Closing Date.

Under the terms of the Merger Agreement, each share of IKONICS common stock issued and outstanding immediately prior to the Closing Date
was automatically converted into and exchanged for (i) one validly issued, fully paid and nonassessable share of Common Stock of TeraWulf, (ii) one CVR
pursuant to the CVR Agreement, and (iii) the right to receive $5.00 in cash, without interest. TeraCub common stock issued and outstanding immediately
prior to the Closing Date was automatically converted into the right to receive a number of validly issued, fully paid and nonassessable shares of TeraWulf
such that the TeraCub common stockholders prior to conversion would effectively control 98% of the total outstanding shares of TeraWulf immediately
subsequent to the Closing Date.

Pursuant to the CVR Agreement, each shareholder of IKONICS as of immediately prior to the Closing Date, received one CVR for each 
outstanding share of common stock of IKONICS then held.  The holders of the CVRs are entitled to receive 95% of the Net Proceeds (as defined in the 
CVR Agreement), if any, from the sale, transfer, disposition, spin-off, or license of all or any part of the pre-merger business of IKONICS completed within 
18 months following the date of the merger, subject to a reserve of up to 10% of the Gross Proceeds (as defined in the CVR Agreement) from such 
transaction and such other amount to be retained to satisfy Retained Liabilities, as defined. The CVRs do not confer to their holders any voting or equity or 
ownership interest in IKONICS or TeraWulf and are not transferable, except in limited circumstances, and are not listed on any quotation system or traded 
on any securities exchange. The CVR Agreement will terminate after all payment obligations to the holders thereof have been satisfied. Holders of CVRs 
will not be eligible to receive payment for dispositions, if any, of any part of the pre-merger business of IKONICS after the eighteen-month anniversary of 
the Closing Date.  The fair value of the aggregate consideration paid for IKONICS was $66.3 million, which includes (i) cash consideration of $13.7 
million ($10.3 million net of cash acquired), (ii) equity consideration of $40.6 million and (iii) contingent consideration (related to the CVRs) of $12.0 
million.  As of December 31, 2022, the CVR liability included in the Company’s consolidated balance sheet is $10.9 million.  During the year ended 
December 31, 2022, the Company completed sales of all IKONICS net assets held for sale for net proceeds of $13.3 million, of which $7.0 million 
remained in escrow under provisions of an asset purchase agreement as of December 3, 2022.  In February 2023, all escrowed funds were released to the 
Company.  Subsequent to the asset sales, IKONICS’ name was changed to RM 101 Inc. (“RM 101”) and the entity has no remaining operations or 
employees.

Upon the consummation of the business combination, RM 101 common stock ceased trading on the Nasdaq and TeraWulf Common Stock began
trading on the Nasdaq on December 14, 2021 under the ticker symbol “WULF.”

COVID-19

The Company’s results of operations could be adversely affected by general conditions in the economy and in the global financial markets,
including conditions that are outside of the Company's control, such as the outbreak and global spread of the novel coronavirus disease (“COVID-19”). The
COVID-19 pandemic that was declared on March 11, 2020 has caused significant economic dislocation in the United States and globally as governments
across the world, including the United States, introduced measures aimed at preventing the spread of COVID-19. The spread of COVID-19 and the
imposition of related public health measures resulted in increased volatility and uncertainty in the cryptocurrency space.

The Company may experience disruptions to its business operations resulting from COVID-19-related supply interruptions (including miner 
delivery interruptions), quarantines, self-isolations, or other movement and restrictions on the ability of its employees or its counterparties to perform their 
jobs and provide services. The Company may also experience COVID-19-related delays in construction and obtaining necessary equipment in a timely 
fashion. To date, the Company has experienced certain, but minimal, delays due to COVID-19 among its employees, suppliers and contractors.  

Change in Fiscal Year

Upon the closing of its business combination with IKONICS on December 13, 2021, the Company assumed the fiscal year end of December 31.
Previously, the Company’s fiscal year ended on March 31. The historical financial statements for the period
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from February 8, 2021 (date of inception) and for the nine-month period ended December 31, 2021 have been recast to conform with the Company’s
adopted fiscal year.

Restatement of Previously Issued Financial Statements

As part of the Company’s financial statement close process and preparation of its Annual Report on Form 10-K (the “2022 Form 10-K”), the Company
identified errors in its historical interim unaudited consolidated financial statements.  The misstatements relate solely to incorrectly calculating the impact
of noncash activity on purchase and deposits on plant and equipment, resulting in an understatement of net cash used in investing activities and a
corresponding overstatement of net cash used in operating activities as originally included in the respective interim unaudited consolidated statements of
cash flows. The Company determined that its interim unaudited consolidated financial statements for the quarterly periods ended March 31, 2022, June 30,
2022 and September 30, 2022 (the “Relevant Periods”) were materially misstated and needed to be restated. The restatements are set forth in detail in Note
18 to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

Results of Operations

Since the Company’s inception on February 8, 2021, the Company’s primary activities have been focused on capital acquisition, merger 
negotiation and consummation, joint venture negotiation and participation, miner procurement, electricity procurement, construction commencement and 
management, commencement of mining operations, ongoing mining operations, public company readiness and general corporate activities.  The 
Company’s plan of operation for the next twelve months is to continue to increase the mining capacity at its operating mining facilities and complete the 
construction of its other bitcoin mining facilities, both wholly owned and owned through the Nautilus Joint Venture.

Continuing Operations

All items included in loss from continuing operations in the consolidated statements of operations for the year ended December 31, 2022 and the
period February 8, 2021 (date of inception) to December 31, 2021 relate to its wholly-owned operations of its sole business segment, digital currency
mining, due to the Company presenting the RM 101 business as discontinued operations for the year ended December 31, 2022 the period February 8, 2021
(date of inception) to December 31,2021.

Revenue and Cost of Revenue

Revenue increased to $15.0 million during the year ended December 31, 2022, respectively, as compared to $0 during the period February 8, 2021 
(date of inception) to December 31, 2021 due primarily to the commencement of mining activities at the Lake Mariner Facility in March 2022, the 
accelerated ramp of mining operations during the year ended December 31, 2022 and the commencement of miner hosting arrangements at the Lake 
Mariner Facility in May 2022.  During the year ended December 31, 2022, revenue from mining was $10.5 million and revenue from hosting was $4.5 
million.

Cost of revenue increased to $11.1 million during the year ended December 31, 2022, respectively, as compared to $0 during the period February 8, 2021 
(date of inception) to December 31, 2021 due primarily to the commencement of mining activities at the Lake Mariner Facility in March 2022, the 
accelerated ramp of mining operations during the year ended December 31, 2022 and the commencement of miner hosting arrangements at the Lake 
Mariner Facility in May 2022.  Cost of revenues is comprised primarily of power expense and, to a lesser degree, the cost of services provided under our 
miner hosting agreements.  While the cost of power has moderated subsequent to December 31, 2022, certain periods in calendar year 2022 experienced 
elevated power prices in the New York power market, the primary power market for the Lake Mariner Facility.  The Company records payments received 
for demand response programs as a reduction in cost of revenue; the amount of aggregate payments received were not significant during the year ended 
December 31, 2022.  The Company is expanding its enrollment in such available programs.    
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Costs and Expenses

The following table presents operating expenses (in thousands):
Period February
8, 2021 (date of

Year Ended   inception) to
    December 31, December 31, 

2022 2021
Operating expenses  $  2,038  $  104
Operating expenses - related party  1,248  960

$  3,286 $  1,064

Operating expenses (including related party expenses) were $3.3 million and $1.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2022 and the period 
February 8, 2021 (date of inception) to December 31, 2021, respectively, which represents an increase of $2.2 million.  Operating expenses are comprised 
primarily of lease expense, operations labor and various site maintenance costs.  The increase is attributable primarily to the commencement of mining 
activities at the Lake Mariner Facility in March 2022 and the commencement of miner hosting arrangements at the Lake Mariner Facility in May 2022.  
This increase is tempered by the period February 8, 2021 (date of inception) to December 31, 2021 including certain development expenses, including 
services and third-party costs for transmission consulting, engineering consulting, transmission impact study, electricity procurement and site development.  

The following table presents selling, general and administrative expenses (in thousands):

Year Ended

Period February
8, 2021 (date of

inception) to
December 31, December 31, 

2022 2021
Selling, general and administrative expenses  $  22,770  $  23,759
Selling, general and administrative expenses - related party  13,280  18,576

$  36,050 $  42,335

Selling, general and administrative expenses (including related party expenses) were $36.1 million and $42.3 million for the year ended December 
31, 2022 and the period February 8, 2021 (date of inception) to December 31, 2021, respectively, which represents a decrease of $6.3 million.  The decrease 
is primarily a result of the period February 8, 2021 (date of inception) to December 31, 2021 including $27.7 million of incremental expense related to the 
RM 101 business combination, consisting of $15.2 million of financial and legal advisor fees and other merger-related costs and a one-time $12.5 million 
performance expense to be settled in shares of Common Stock included in selling, general and administrative expenses – related party.  The decrease is 
somewhat offset by the year ended December 31, 2022 having increased costs, including insurance, professional fees and payroll, as it was a public 
company with a growing business throughout the year.  Selling, general and administrative expenses are comprised primarily of professional fees, legal 
fees, employee compensation and benefits, insurance and general corporate expenses.  Professional fees for the year ended December 31, 2022 include 
fixed and passthrough expenses under the administrative and infrastructure services agreement amounting to $13.3 million, inclusive of $2.1 million of 
expense to be settled in shares of  Common Stock.  Professional fees for the period February 8, 2021 (date of inception) to December 31, 2021 include fixed 
and passthrough expenses under the administrative and infrastructure services agreement amounting to $18.6 million, inclusive of the aforementioned $12.5 
million of share-based expense.  The Company has undertaken cost reduction initiatives targeted at reducing its overall operating expense that is expected 
to benefit its operating profitability going forward.

  Depreciation for the year ended December 31, 2022 was $6.7 million and for the period February 8, 2021 (date of inception) to December 31, 
2021 was $0.  The increase is due primarily to the Lake Mariner Facility commencing operations in March 2022 and ramping operations through the 
balance of the year ended December 31, 2022.  

Impairment of digital currency for the year ended December 31, 2022 was $1.5 million and for the period February 8, 2021 (date of inception) to 
December 31, 2021 was $0.  Impairment of digital currency represents the decline in bitcoin prices during the Company’s holding period of its bitcoin.  
Bitcoin impairment is not reversed during its holding period but instead a gain, if any, is 
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recognized upon its liquidation.  Realized gain on sale of digital currency, representing such gains on bitcoin liquidation, for the year ended December 31, 
2022 was $0.6 million and for the period February 8, 2021 (date of inception) to December 31, 2021 was $0.

Interest expense for the year ended December 31, 2022 was $24.7 million and for the period February 8, 2021 (date of inception) to December 31, 
2021 was $2.3 million, an increase of $22.4 million.  Interest expense relates primarily to the Company’s term loan financing in the principal amount of 
$146.0 million, which was closed on December 1, 2021 with a principal balance of $123.5 million and was amended in July and October 2022 to include an 
additional aggregate $22.5 million drawn under a delayed draw term loan facility (together, the “Term Loan”).  The Term Loan bears an interest rate of 
11.5%, which interest payments are due quarterly in arrears.  For the year ended December 31, 2022 and for the period February 8, 2021 (date of inception) 
to December 31, 2021, interest expense also includes $9.3 million and $1.0 million, respectively, of amortization of debt issuance costs and debt discount 
related to debt issuance costs, an upfront fee, and the fair value of equity and common stock warrants issued to the Term Loan investors in conjunction with 
the Term Loan.  During the year ended December 31, 2022 and for the period February 8, 2021 (date of inception) to December 31, 2021, the Company 
capitalized $5.3 million and $0.1 million, respectively, of interest costs to property, plant and equipment, net and $4.6 million and $0.1 million, 
respectively, of interest to equity in net assts of investee in the consolidated balance sheet as of December 31, 2022 and 2021.  For the year ended 
December 31, 2022, the Company incurred $3.1 million in interest expense related to amortization of a commitment fee for the delayed draw term loan 
facility comprised primarily of the fair value of common stock warrants issued to the Term Loan lenders.  The delayed draw term loan facility expired on 
December 31, 2022.  Additionally, on June 2, 2022, the Company entered into a convertible promissory note (the “Promissory Note”) with a principal 
balance of $15.0 million.  The Promissory Note bore an interest rate of 4.0%.  Interest payments were due monthly in conjunction with scheduled principal 
payments.  The Promissory Note could have been repaid with the issuance of Common Stock or with cash and, if repaid in cash, together with a cash 
payment premium of between 4% and 12%.  Of the $24.7 million of interest expense reported in the statement of operations for the year ended December 
31, 2022, approximately $1.5 million of the interest relates to the Promissory Note, including $0.4 million of expense related to amortization of debt 
issuance costs and debt discount related to an upfront fee.  The Promissory Note was repaid as of December 31, 2022.

Loss on extinguishment of debt was $2.1 million $0 for the year ended December 31, 2022 and the period February 8, 2021 (date of inception) to 
December 31, 2021, respectively.  The loss on extinguishment of debt for the year ended December 31, 2022 relates to an October 2022 amendment to the 
Promissory Note which is considered an extinguishment of debt under U.S. GAAP due the change in fair value of the embedded conversion feature.  This 
extinguishment loss was primarily related to the change in the fair value of the embedded conversion feature of $1.6 million and the excess of the fair value 
of the amended Promissory Note of $9.4 million over the carrying value of the Promissory Note immediately prior to the modification.    

Income tax benefit was $0.3 million $0.6 million for the year ended December 31, 2022 and the period February 8, 2021 (date of inception) to 
December 31, 2021, respectively.  Based upon the level of historical U.S. losses and future projections over the period in which the net deferred tax assets 
are deductible, at this time, management believes it is more likely than not that the Company will not realize the benefits of the remaining deductible 
temporary differences, and as a result the Company has recorded a valuation allowance of $29.5 million for the total, net deferred tax assets as of 
December 31, 2022.   

Equity in net loss of investee, net of tax

Equity in net loss of investee, net of tax was $15.7 million for the year ended December 31, 2022 and was $1.5 million for the period February 8, 
2021 (date of inception) to December 31, 2021.  For the year ended December 31, 2022, the amount includes an impairment loss of $11.4 million on the 
distribution of miners from Nautilus to the Company whereby the miners were marked to fair value from book value on the date distributed.  The 
impairment loss was the result of decreasing prices for miners between initial purchase and distribution.  In each case, the remaining amounts represent 
TeraWulf’s proportional share of losses of Nautilus, which had not commenced principal operations as of December 31, 2022.

Loss from discontinued operations, net of tax

Loss from discontinued operations, net of tax was $4.9 million for the year ended December 31, 2022 and was $49.1 million, for the period 
February 8, 2021 (date of inception) to December 31, 2021.  In conjunction with the RM 101 business classification as held for sale upon acquisition on 
December 13, 2021, the Company has reported the RM 101 business as discontinued operations in the consolidated financial statements.  For the year 
ended December 31, 2022, the total loss from discontinued operations reported is comprised primarily of an impairment loss on discontinued operations of 
$4.5 million to write down the related carrying amounts of IKONICS to their fair values less estimated cost to sell, offset by a remeasurement gain of $1.1 
million on the CVRs, which represents the contingent consideration purchase price component of the RM 101 acquisition.  For the period February 8, 2021
(date of inception)
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to December 31, 2021, the loss from discontinued operations, net of tax is comprised primarily of a loss on discontinued operations of $48.9 million to 
write down the related carrying amount so RM 101 to their fair values less estimated costs to sell.  All RM 101 net assets held for sale have been sold as of
December 31, 2022.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

As of December 31, 2022, the Company had balances of cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash of $8.3 million, a working capital 
deficiency of $111.9 million, total stockholders’ equity of $117.8 million and an accumulated deficit of $186.5 million.  The Company incurred a net loss 
attributable to common stockholders of $91.6 million for the year ended December 31, 2022, including a net impairment charge (net of a contingent 
consideration remeasurement gain) of $4.9 million included in loss from discontinued operations, net of tax related to the acquired RM 101 business.  The 
Company has commenced mining activities at the Lake Mariner Facility, however not yet to the scale required to support its principal operations. The 
Company has relied primarily on proceeds from its issuances of debt and equity and sale of bitcoin mined to fund its principal operations. The principal 
uses of cash are for deposits on miners, the buildout of mining facilities, debt service, general corporate activities and investments in Nautilus joint venture 
related to the miner deposits, mining facility buildout and general corporate activities.  Cash flow information is as follows (in thousands):

Year Ended

Period
February 8,
2021 (date of
inception) to

December 31, December 31, 
2022 2021     

Cash provided by (used in):     
Operating activities:     

Continuing operations $  (32,262) $  (21,141)
Discontinued operations   (1,804)   (2,958)

Total operating activities   (34,066)   (24,099)
Investing activities   (94,047)   (201,413)
Financing activities   89,981   271,967

Net change in cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash $  (38,132) $  46,455

Cash used in operating activities for continuing operations was $32.3 million and $21.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2022 and the 
period February 8, 2021 (date of inception) to December 3, 2021, respectively.  For the year ended December 31, 2022, cash used in operations results from 
a net loss of $90.8 million less non-cash expenses, net of $35.3 million, adjusted for changes in certain asset and liability balances and increased by 
proceeds from sale of bitcoin of $9.7 million. The non-cash expenses were primarily comprised of (i) $4.9 million of loss from discontinued operations, net 
of tax related to RM 101’s business, the assets of which were substantially sold as of December 31, 2022, (ii) $15.7 million related to the Company’s 
equity in net loss, net of tax of Nautilus, (iii) $11.7 million related to amortization of debt issuance cost and accretion of debt discount, (iv) impairment of 
digital currency and realized gain on sale of digital currency of $0.9 million on a net basis, (v) stock-based compensation of $1.6 million, (vi) depreciation 
of $6.7 million, (vii) amortization of right-of-use asset of $0.3 million, (viii) a loss on nonmonetary miner exchange of $0.8 million, (ix) loss on 
extinguishment of debt of $2.1 million and (x) related party expense to be settled with respect to common stock of $2.1 million.  The changes in certain 
assets and liabilities were primarily comprised of a net increase in current liabilities (which primarily includes accounts payable, other accrued liabilities, 
other amounts due to related parties) of $16.8 million, a net increase in current assets (which primarily includes prepaid expenses, amounts due from related 
parties and other current assets) of $2.8 million, an increase in other assets of $1.0 million and an increase in other liabilities of $0.2 million. 

Cash used in investing activities for continuing operations was $94.0 million and $201.4 for the year ended December 31, 2022 and the period 
February 8, 2021 (date of inception) to December 31, 2021, respectively.  For the year ended December 31, 2022, the Company (i) invested $61.1 million 
in the buildout of mining facilities, (ii) invested $46.20 million (including reimbursable payments made on behalf of the joint venture of joint venture 
partner offset by reimbursement from joint venture or joint venture partner of less than $0.1 million net cash used) in Nautilus related primarily to the joint 
venture’s miner deposits and mining facility buildout and (iii) received net proceeds from the sale of IKONICS’ net assets held for sale of $13.5 million..  
See “Contractual Obligations and Other Commitments” for additional discussion on miner and Nautilus commitments.  

Cash provided by financing activities for continuing operations was $90.0 million and $272.0 for the year ended December 31, 2022 and the 
period February 8, 2021 (date of inception) to December 31, 2021, respectively.  For the year ended December 31, 
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2022, the Company received proceeds from the issuance of Common Stock, net of issuance costs, of $47.3, proceeds from the issuance of warrants of $5.7 
million, proceeds from the issuance of convertible preferred stock of $9.6 million and net proceeds from the issuance and repayment of convertible 
promissory notes of $2.8 million.  In addition, for the year ended December 31, 2022, the Company received proceeds related to an amendment to its long-
term debt of $22.5 million and received proceeds, net of principal payments, of notes payable for insurance premium financing of $2.1 million, net of 
repayments.

Contractual Obligations and Other Commitments

The Company is counterparty to five miner purchase agreements with Bitmain Technologies Limited.  The Company has satisfied all contractual 
financial commitments under these contracts as of December 31, 2022.  

The Company is counterparty to an amended and restated Talen joint venture agreement dated August 27, 2022.  Under this joint venture 
agreement, the Company has invested $116.0 million on a net basis and has right-sized its equity ownership interest to 25% of the joint venture.  The 
Company does not expect any additional material capital contributions to be required. 

Financial Condition

There is limited historical financial information about the Company upon which to base an evaluation of its performance. The Company has
commenced mining activities, however not yet to the scale required to support its principal operations. The Company has relied primarily on proceeds from 
its issuances of debt and equity and sale of bitcoin mined to fund its principal operations.  Until TeraWulf is able to generate positive cash flows from 
operations, TeraWulf expects to fund its business operations and infrastructure buildout through the issuance of debt or equity securities, the sale of mined 
bitcoin or through the provision miner hosting services. 

Prior to December 31, 2022, the Company’s fundraising activities resulted in net cash provided by financing activities of $90.0 million and $272.0
million for the year ended December 31, 2022 and the period February 8, 2021 (date of inception) to December 31, 2021, respectively.  Financing activities 
during the year ended December 31 2022 include the following:  

ATM Offering. On February 11, 2022, in order to facilitate additional capital acquisition, the Company entered into an At Market Issuance Sales 
Agreement (the “Sales Agreement”) with B. Riley Securities, Inc. and D.A. Davidson & Co. (each, individually, an “Agent” and, collectively, the 
“Agents”), pursuant to which the Company may offer and sell, from time to time, through or to the agents, acting as agent or principal, shares of the 
Company’s Common Stock, par value $0.001 per share, having an aggregate offering price of up to $200.0 million (the “Shares”). The Company is not 
obligated to sell any Shares under the Sales Agreement.  In April 2022, the Company entered into a replacement sales agreement (the “April ATM Sales 
Agreement”) with Cantor Fitzgerald & Co., B. Riley Securities, Inc. and D.A. Davidson & Co. (together the “April ATM Agents”), pursuant to which the 
Company may offer and sell, from time to time, through or to the April ATM Agents, shares of the Company’s Common Stock, par value $0.001 per share, 
having an aggregate offering price of up to $200.0 million.  The April ATM Sales Agreement replaced the Sales Agreement.  The Company is not obligated 
to sell any shares under the April ATM Sales Agreement.  Subject to the terms and conditions of the April ATM Sales Agreement, the Agents will use 
commercially reasonable efforts, consistent with its normal trading and sales practices, to sell Shares from time to time based upon the Company’s 
instructions, including any price, time or size limits or other customary parameters or conditions specified by the Company. The Company will pay the 
Agents a commission equal to 3.0% of the gross sales price from each sale of Shares and provide the Agents with customary indemnification and 
contribution rights. The April ATM Sales Agreement may be terminated by the Agents or the Company at any time upon five (5) days’ notice to the other 
party. The issuance and sale of the April Shares by the Company under the April ATM Sales Agreement are made pursuant to the prospectus and 
prospectus supplement forming a part of the Company’s shelf registration statement on Form S-3 (Registration Statement No. 333-262226), which was 
declared effective on February 4, 2022 (“the 2022 Registration Statement”), including a final prospectus supplement dated April 26, 2022. The 2022 
Registration Statement provides that the Company may offer and sell from time to time shares of its Common Stock, shares of its preferred stock, debt 
securities, depositary shares, warrants, rights, purchase contracts or units, or any combination thereof, in one or more offerings in amounts, at prices and on 
terms that it determines at the time of the offering, with an aggregate initial offering price of up to $500.0 million (or its equivalent in foreign currencies, 
currency units or composite currencies).  As of March 30, 2023, the Company sold 2,910,909 shares of Common Stock for net proceeds of approximately 
$9.7 million under the ATM Offering.

Common Stock and Common Stock Warrants.  At various times through the year ended December 31, 2022, the Company concluded private
placements and offerings pursuant to underwriting agreements, to offer Common Stock or units consisting of Common Stock and Common Stock warrants
to investors, including members of Company management.  Certain Common Stock warrants were also exercised.  In the aggregate for these transactions,
the Company issues 33,938,500 shares of Common Stock for net proceeds of $53.0 million.
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Convertible Preferred Stock.  In March 2022, TeraWulf entered into Series A Convertible Preferred Stock Subscription Agreements (the 
“Subscription Agreements”) with certain accredited and institutional investors (collectively, the “Holders”).  Pursuant to the Subscription Agreements, the 
Company sold 9,566 shares (of 10,000 shares authorized) of Series A Convertible Preferred Stock, par value $0.001 per share (the “Convertible Preferred 
Stock”) to the Purchasers for an aggregate purchase price of $9.6 million.  The Subscription Agreements contain customary representations, warranties, 
covenants and agreements of the Company.  The offer and sale of the Convertible Preferred Stock were made pursuant to the prospectus and prospectus
supplement forming a part of the 2022 Registration Statement.  Holders of the Convertible Preferred Stock will accumulate cumulative dividends at an
annual rate of 10.0% on the stated amount per share plus the amount of any accrued and unpaid dividends on such share, accumulating on a daily basis and
payable quarterly on March 31st, June 30th, September 30th and December 31st, respectively, in each year and commencing June 30, 2022.  Commencing 
June 30, 2022, unpaid dividends will be accreted to, and increase, the liquidation preference of the Convertible Preferred Stock.  The initial liquidation 
preference is $1,000 per share.  The Conversion Price is determined by dividing $1,000 by the Conversion Rate, as defined, which is initially 100 shares of 
Common Stock per $1,000 liquidation preference of Convertible Preferred Stock.  Cumulative dividends of $0.8 million were accumulated and accreted to 
liquidation preference as of December 31, 2022.  As of December 31, 2022, the aggregate liquidation preference of the Convertible Preferred Stock was 
approximately $10.3 million.  

Long-term Debt Amendments.  In July 2022, the Company entered into an amendment to is Loan, Guaranty and Security Agreement (the 
“LGSA”).  This amendment provides for an additional $50.0 million term loan facility (the “New Term Facility”). The New Term Facility has a maturity 
date of December 1, 2024, consistent with the existing term loans under the LGSA. The interest rate with respect to the New Term Facility is consistent 
with the existing term loans under the LGSA, but is subject to increase upon the occurrence of certain conditions.  Pursuant to the New Term Facility, funds 
can be drawn in three tranches. The $15.0 million first tranche was drawn at closing in July 2022, and the subsequent tranches of up to $35 million may be 
drawn at Company’s option, subject to certain conditions, including the raising of matching junior capital, as defined. The amortization with respect to the 
first tranche of the New Term Facility is consistent with existing term loans under the LGSA. The loans under the subsequent tranches of the New Term 
Facility are repayable in quarterly installments on (i) April 5, 2024 and July 8, 2024, equal to 12.50% of the original principal amount advanced under such 
tranches under the LGSA and (ii) October 7, 2024, equal to 37.5% of the original principal amount advanced under such tranches of the LGSA.  The New 
Term Facility required the Company to extend the initial term of the Ground Lease from five years to eight years.  In connection with the New Term 
Facility, the Company issued warrants to the lenders under the New Term Facility to purchase 5,787,732 shares of Common Stock at $0.01 per share, an 
aggregate number of shares of the Company’s Common Stock equal to 5.0% of the fully diluted equity of the Company.  If the Company draws subsequent 
tranches, it is required to issue warrants to the lenders to purchase  shares of the Company’s Common Stock equal to dilution of 3.75% and 4.25% of the 
then fully diluted equity of the Company, respectively. A certain portion of the Warrants issued under the Warrant Agreement were subject to cancellation, 
upon the occurrence of certain conditions.;  however, the time period for potential warrant cancellation has expired and no warrants were cancelled.  In 
October 2022, the Company entered into a third amendment (the “Third Amendment”) to the LGSA.  The Third Amendment divides the initial funding of 
up to $15,000,000 of the delayed draw term loan commitment under the LGSA into two tranches of up to $7,500,000 each. The first tranche of $7,500,000 
was borrowed upon the effectiveness of the Third Amendment on October 7, 2022.  In connection with the Third Amendment described above, the 
Company entered into an amendment and restatement of the warrant agreement related to the New Term Facility. The amended and restated warrant 
agreement provides that holders party thereto are entitled to additional warrants to purchase an aggregate number of shares of Common Stock equal to an 
incremental 3.75%, to be divided into two separate increments of 1.875% each, of the fully diluted equity of the Company, determined on the date of the 
funding of the two separate sub-tranches of $7,500,000 each pursuant to the Third Amendment.  On October 7, 2022. the Company issued warrants to 
purchase 2,667,678 shares of Common Stock at $0.01 per share.  

Convertible Promissory Notes.  In November 2022, the Company issued convertible promissory notes (the “Convertible Notes”) in an aggregate 
principal amount of approximately $3.4 million to certain accredited investors, including to members of Company management in the amount of $1.7 
million.  The Convertible Notes were issued in privately negotiated transactions as part of a private placement exempt from registration under the Securities 
Act of 1933, as amended.  The Convertible Notes, which contain usual and customary antidilution provisions, have a maturity date of April 1, 2025 and 
accrue annual interest at a rate of 4%, which increases to 15% upon the occurrence of an event of default, as defined. The Convertible Notes are 
automatically convertible into shares of equity securities of the Company upon the closing of a Qualified Financing, as defined in the Convertible Notes as 
the issuance and sale of equity securities with an aggregate gross sales price of not less than $5.0 million, with certain sales of equity securities excluded, at 
a conversion price equal to the price per share paid by the investors purchasing such equity securities in such Qualified Financing.  On December 12, 2022, 
the Company entered into a private placement which met the definition of a Qualified Financing and contemporaneously amended the Convertible Notes to 
(a) change the conversion date to March 1, 2023 and (b) allow for the conversion price to be reduced if an additional Qualified Financing were to occur prior 
to the conversion date at a price lower than the then existing Convertible Note conversion price.  As of December 31, 2022, the conversion price was $0.40 
per share of Common Stock. 
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SEPA. On June 2, 2022, in order to facilitate additional capital acquisition, the Company entered into the Standby Equity Purchase Agreement  
(“SEPA”) with YA II PN, Ltd. (“Yorkville”). Pursuant to the SEPA, the Company shall have the right, but not the obligation, to sell to Yorkville up to
$50.0 million of its shares of Common Stock, at the Company’s request any time during the commitment period commencing on June 2, 2022 and
terminating on the earliest of (i) the first day of the month following the 36-month anniversary of the SEPA and (ii) the date on which Yorkville shall have 
made payment of any advances requested pursuant to the SEPA for shares of the Common Stock equal to the commitment amount of $50.0 million.   In 
addition to the Company’s right to request Advances, subject to certain conditions precedent, the Company had the option to, but was not obligated to, 
effect a pre-advance loan with a principal amount of $15.0 million through the issuance and sale to Yorkville of a convertible promissory note (the 
“Promissory Note”).  The Company elected to issue and sell the Promissory Note to Yorkville on June 2, 2022.  As of December 31, 2022, the Company 
sold 91,405 shares of Common Stock for net proceeds of $250,000.  The Company fully repaid the Promissory Note, substantially in cash, and the SEPA 
has been cancelled as of December 31, 2022.

The Company has invested $61.1 million and $109.1 million in the buildout of mining facilities for the year ended December 31, 2022 and the
period February 8, 2021 (date of inception) to December 31, 2021, respectively, and $46.2 million and $82.1 million in the Nautilus joint venture for the 
year ended December 31, 2022 and the period February 8, 2021 (date of inception) to December 31, 2021, respectively.  The Lake Mariner facility 
commenced operations in March 2022 and the Nautilus Cryptomine Facility commenced operations in February 2023.  These facilities are expected to reach 
an aggregate 160 MW of net bitcoin mining capacity with a capacity to support 50,000 miners and over 5.5 EH/s of computational power by early in the 
second quarter of 2023.

Subsequent to December 31, 2022, the Company accomplished several notable steps toward achieving near term positive cash flows from 
operations, namely:  (1) the Company amended its long-term debt agreement to, among other changes, remove the fixed principal amortization through 
April 7, 2024 and, potentially, beyond, (2) through the issuance of Common Stock, Common Stock warrants and convertible promissory notes, the 
Company received net proceeds of $34.3 million, which along with cash flow from operations, is expected to be sufficient to satisfy the Company’s final 
capital expenditure requirements, other obligations and operating expenses in the months prior to achieving a free cash flow positive enterprise (3) mining 
activities have commenced at the Nautilus Facility and the Company deems that it has funded all known and expected capital commitments, (4) the 
Company received materially all contracted miners from the miner suppliers and has no remaining outstanding financial commitments under the miner 
purchase agreements, (5) the received miners are sufficient to fully utilize mining capacity both in service and under construction at the Lake Mariner 
Facility and the Nautilus Cryptomine Facility and (6) the remaining construction activities at the Lake Mariner Facility and the Nautilus Cryptomine 
Facility are currently ongoing and expected to be complete in the second quarter of 2023.  The Company has determined that it is probable that these 
actions will allow the Company to generate positive cash flows from operations and be able to realize its assets and discharge its liabilities and 
commitments in the normal course of business and, therefore, there is no longer substantial doubt about the Company’s ability to continue as a going 
concern through at least the next twelve months. The consolidated financial statements do not include any adjustments that might result from TeraWulf’s 
possible inability to continue as a going concern.

However, the ability to raise funds , if required, through the sale of equity, debt financings, or the sale of bitcoin to expand and maintain our
operations is subject to many risks and uncertainties and, even if we were successful, future equity issuances or convertible debt or preferred stock offerings
could result in dilution to our existing stockholders and any future debt or debt securities may contain covenants that limit our operations or ability to enter
into certain transactions. Our ability to realize revenue through bitcoin mining and successfully convert bitcoin into cash or fund overhead with bitcoin is
subject to a number of risks, including regulatory, financial and business risks, many of which are beyond our control. Additionally, bitcoin has experienced
significant historical volatility in its market price and, as such, future prices cannot be predicted. See the discussion of risks affecting the Company’s
business under Part I, Item 1A. “Risk Factors” of this Annual Report.

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

The above discussion and analysis of the Company’s financial condition and results of operations are based upon its consolidated financial
statements, which have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. The preparation of the
Company’s consolidated financial statements requires the application of accounting policies and the use of estimates. The accounting policies most
important to the preparation of the consolidated financial statements and estimates that require management’s most difficult, subjective or complex
judgments are described below.

See Note 2 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements included in Item 8 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K for a summary of the
Company’s significant accounting policies.
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Variable Interest Entities

Variable interest entities (“VIE”) are legal entities in which equity investors do not have (i) sufficient equity at risk for the legal entity to finance
its activities without additional subordinated financial support, or (ii) as a group, the power, through voting or similar rights, to direct the activities of the
legal entity that most significantly impact the entity’s economic performance, or (iii) the obligation to absorb the expected losses of the legal entity or the
right to receive expected residual returns of the legal entity. The Company would consolidate any VIE in which it has a controlling financial interest
through being deemed to be the primary beneficiary of the VIE. The primary beneficiary of a VIE has both of the following characteristics: (1) the power to
direct the activities of the VIE that most significantly impact its economic performance; and (2) the obligation to absorb losses of the VIE that could
potentially be significant to the VIE or the right to receive benefits from the VIE that could be significant to the VIE. If both characteristics are met, the
Company considers itself to be the primary beneficiary and therefore will consolidate that VIE into its consolidated financial statements.

The Company determines whether it is the primary beneficiary of a VIE upon initial involvement with a VIE and reassesses whether it is the
primary beneficiary of a VIE on an ongoing basis. The determination of whether an entity is a VIE and whether the Company is the primary beneficiary of
a VIE is based upon facts and circumstances for the VIE and requires significant judgments such as whether the entity is a VIE, whether the Company’s
interest in a VIE is a variable interest, the determination of the activities that most significantly impact the economic performance of the entity, whether the
Company controls those activities, and whether the Company has the obligation to absorb losses of the VIE or the right to receive benefits from the VIE
that could be significant to the VIE.

In 2021, the Company entered into a joint venture, Nautilus Cryptomine LLC (“Nautilus”), with an unrelated co-venturer to develop, construct and
operate a bitcoin mining facility in Pennsylvania. Due to the initial nature of the joint venture and the continued commitment for additional financing, the
Company determined Nautilus is a VIE. While the Company has the ability to exercise significant influence over Nautilus, the Company has determined
that it does not have the power to direct the activities that most significantly impact the economic performance of Nautilus. Initially, the power to direct the
activities of Nautilus that most significantly impact Nautilus’ economic performance were shared equally by both parties within the joint venture due to the
requirement for both equity holders to approve many of the key operating decisions and when not equally shared, were predominantly under the control of
the co-venturer, including through the co-venturer’s majority representation on the board of managers. As such, the Company has determined that it is not
the primary beneficiary of Nautilus and, therefore, has accounted for this entity under the equity method of accounting. Risks associated with the
Company’s involvement with Nautilus include a commitment to potentially fund additional equity investments.  During the year ended December 31, 0222,
the Company reduced its ownership interest in Nautilus to 25.2%.

Mining Pool

The Company has entered into an arrangement with a cryptocurrency mining pool (the Foundry USA Pool) to provide computing power to the 
mining pool in exchange for consideration. The arrangement is terminable at any time without substantial penalty by either party and the contract term is 
deemed to be 24 hours.  The Company’s enforceable right to compensation only begins when and continues while the Company provides computing power 
to its customer, the mining pool operator. The mining pool applies the Full Pay Per Share (“FPPS”) model. Under the FPPS model, in exchange for 
providing computing power to the pool, the Company is entitled to pay-per-share base amount and transaction fee reward compensation, calculated on a 
daily basis, at an amount that approximates the total bitcoin that could have been mined and transaction fees that could have been awarded using the 
Company’s computing power, based upon the then current blockchain difficulty. Under this model, the Company is entitled to compensation regardless of 
whether the pool operator successfully records a block to the bitcoin blockchain.  

Providing computing power to a mining pool for cryptocurrency transaction verification services is an output of the Company’s ordinary activities. 
The provision of such computing power is the sole performance obligation. The transaction consideration the Company receives, if any, is non-cash 
consideration and is all variable.  Because cryptocurrency is considered non-cash consideration, fair value of the cryptocurrency award received is 
determined using the quoted price of the related cryptocurrency in the Company’s principal market at the time of contract inception, which is deemed daily.  
Revenue is recognized when it is probable that a significant reversal in the amount of cumulative revenue recognized will not occur.  After every 24-hour 
contract term, the mining pool transfers the cryptocurrency consideration to our designated cryptocurrency wallet.

There is no significant financing component in these transactions. There may be, however, consideration payable to the customer in the form of a
pool operator fee; this fee, if any, is deducted from the proceeds the Company receives and is recorded as contra-revenue, as it does not represent a payment
for a distinct good or service.
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Data Center Hosting

The Company’s current hosting contracts are service contracts with a single performance obligation. The service the Company provides primarily 
includes hosting the customers’ miners in a physically secure data center with electrical power, internet connectivity, ambient air cooling and available 
maintenance resources.  Hosting revenue is recognized over time as the customer simultaneously receives and consumes the benefits of the Company’s 
performance. The Company recognizes hosting revenue to the extent that a significant reversal of such revenue will not occur. Data center hosting 
customers are invoiced and payments are due on a monthly basis.  While the majority of consideration is paid in cash, certain consideration is payable in 
cryptocurrency.  Because cryptocurrency is considered non-cash consideration, fair value of the cryptocurrency award received is determined using the 
quoted price of the related cryptocurrency in the Company’s principal market at the time of contract inception.  The Company has one data center hosting 
contract with a customer, which expires in December 2023, for which the quoted price of bitcoin in the Company’s principal market at the time of contract 
inception was approximately $38,000.  The Company recorded miner hosting revenue of $4.6 million and $0 during the year ended December 31, 2022 and 
the period February 8, 2021 (date of inception) to December 31, 2021, respectively.

Cryptocurrencies

Cryptocurrencies, including bitcoin, are included in current assets in the consolidated balance sheets due to the Company’s ability to sell it in a
highly liquid marketplace and its intent to liquidate its cryptocurrencies to support operations when needed. Cryptocurrencies earned by the Company
through the provision of computing power to a mining pool and hosting activities are accounted for in connection with the Company’s revenue recognition
policy disclosed above.

Cryptocurrencies are accounted for as intangible assets with indefinite useful lives. An intangible asset with an indefinite useful life is not 
amortized but assessed for impairment on a continuous basis through the entirety of its holding period.  Impairment exists when the carrying amount 
exceeds its fair value, which is measured using the quoted price of the cryptocurrency at the time its fair value is being measured, which is based on the 
intraday low quoted price of the cryptocurrency reported in the Company’s principal market. To the extent an impairment loss is recognized, the loss 
establishes the new cost basis of the asset. Subsequent reversal of impairment losses is not permitted.

Sales of cryptocurrencies by the Company and cryptocurrencies awarded to the Company, including as compensation for data center hosting 
services, are included within cash flows from operating activities on the consolidated statements of cash flows.  The Company will account for its gains or 
losses in accordance with the first in first out (“FIFO”) method of accounting.  

Issuance of Debt with Common Stock or Warrants;  Debt Modification

On December 1, 2021, TeraCub entered into a the LGSA, which consists of a $123.5 million term loan facility. In connection with the LGSA, the
Company issued to the holders of the Term Loan 839,398 shares of Common Stock, which is a quantity of Common Stock representing 1.5% of the
outstanding shares of the publicly registered shares of TeraWulf subsequent to the Closing. The allocation of proceeds between the debt instrument and any
other components included in the debt issuance, including Common Stock, is generally based on the relative fair value allocation method. In applying the
relative fair value allocation method, the determination of the fair value of the Common Stock issued and the fair value of the Term Loan independent of the
Common Stock issued requires significant judgment. As a measure of sensitivity, a 10% change in the estimated fair value of the Term Loan component
would result in a $1.9 million change in the fair value allocated to each of the Term Loan and equity components.

In July 2022, the Company entered into the First Amendment to the LGSA, which included an additional borrowing of $15.0 million and the 
issuance of warrants to purchase 3,472,640 shares of Common Stock at $0.01 per share.  The accounting for debt modifications is complex and requires 
significant judgment.  Potential accounting outcomes include troubled debt restructuring accounting, extinguishment accounting or modification 
accounting, each with different implications for the consolidated financial statements.  The Company has determined that modification accounting is 
applicable.  Additionally, debt modification accounting requires the determination of the fair value of the warrants issued, which requires significant 
judgment.  As a measure of sensitivity, a 10% change in the estimated fair value of the warrants would result in a $0.3 million change in the recorded value 
of the borrowing under the First Amendment.

In October 2022, the Company entered into the Third Amendment to the LGSA, which included an additional borrowing of $7.5 million and the 
issuance of warrants to purchase 2,667,678 shares of Common Stock at $0.01 per share.  The accounting for debt modifications is complex and requires 
significant judgment.  Potential accounting outcomes include troubled debt restructuring 
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accounting, extinguishment accounting or modification accounting, each with different implications for the consolidated financial statements.  The 
Company has determined that modification accounting is applicable.  Additionally, debt modification accounting requires the determination of the fair 
value of the warrants issued, which requires significant judgment.  As a measure of sensitivity, a 10% change in the estimated fair value of the warrants 
would result in a $0.2 million change in the recorded value of the borrowing under the Third Amendment.    

Convertible Instruments

The Company accounts for its issuance of convertible debt and convertible equity instruments in accordance with applicable U.S. GAAP.  In
connection with that accounting, the Company assesses the various terms and features of the agreement in accordance with Financial Accounting Standards
Board (“FASB”) Accounting Standards Codification (“ASC”) No. 480 “Distinguishing Liabilities from Equity” (“ASC 480”) and ASC 815 “Derivatives
and Hedging Activities” (“ASC 815”).   ASC 480 requires liability accounting for certain financial instruments, including shares that embody an
unconditional obligation to transfer a variable number of shares, provided that the monetary value of the obligation is based solely or predominantly on one
of the following three characteristics:  (1) a fixed monetary amount known at inception, (2) variations in something other than the fair value of the issuer’s
equity shares or (3) variations in the fair value of the issuer’s equity shares, but the monetary value to the counterparty moves in the opposite direction as the
value of the issuer’s shares.  In accordance with ASC 815, the Company assesses the various terms and features of the agreement to determine whether or
not they contain embedded derivative instruments that are required under ASC 815 to be accounted for separately from the host contract and recorded on
the balance sheet at fair value. The fair value of derivative liabilities, if any, is required to be revalued at each reporting date, with corresponding changes in
fair value recorded in current period operating results.

Income Taxes

The Company accounts for income taxes pursuant to the provision of Accounting Standards Codification (“ASC”) 740-10, “Accounting for Income
Taxes” which requires, among other things, an asset and liability approach to calculating deferred income taxes. The asset and liability approach requires 
the recognition of deferred tax assets and liabilities for the expected future tax consequences of temporary differences between the carrying amounts and 
the tax bases of assets and liabilities. A valuation allowance is provided to offset any net deferred tax assets for which management believes it is more 
likely than not that the net deferred tax asset will not be realized. The Company follows the provision of the ASC 740-10 related to Accounting for 
Uncertain Income Tax Positions. When tax returns are filed, it is more likely than not that some positions taken would be sustained upon examination by the 
taxing authorities, while others are subject to uncertainty about the merits of the position taken or the amount of the position that would be ultimately 
sustained. In accordance with the guidance of ASC 740-10, the benefit of a tax position is recognized in the financial statements in the period during which, 
based on all available evidence, management believes it is more likely that not that the position will be sustained upon examination, including the 
resolution of appeals or litigation processes, if any. Tax positions taken are not offset or aggregated with other positions.  The tax benefits recognized in the 
consolidated financial statements from such positions are then measured based on the largest benefit that has a greater than 50% likelihood of being 
realized upon settlement with the applicable taxing authority. The portion of the benefits associated with the tax positions taken that exceeds the amount 
measured as described above should be reflected as a liability for uncertain tax benefits in the Company’s balance sheets along with any associated interest 
and penalties that would be payable to the taxing authorities upon examination.  The most critical estimate for income taxes is the determination of whether 
to record a valuation allowance for any net deferred tax asset, including net loss carryforwards, whereby management must estimate whether it is more 
likely than not that the deferred tax asset would be realized.

ITEM 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market
Risk

As a smaller reporting company, we are not required to provide this information.

ITEM 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary
Data

The financial statements and schedules listed in Item 15(a)(1) are included in this Report beginning on page 58.
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

To the Stockholders and the Board of Directors of TeraWulf Inc. and Subsidiaries

Opinion on the Financial Statements
We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of TeraWulf Inc. and its subsidiaries (the Company) as of December 31, 2022 and 2021,
the related consolidated statements of operations, redeemable convertible preferred stock and stockholders’ equity, and cash flows for the year ended
December 31, 2022 and for the period from February 8, 2021 (date of inception) to December 31, 2021, and the related notes to the consolidated financial
statements (collectively, the financial statements). In our opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the
Company as of December 31, 2022 and 2021, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for the year ended December 31, 2022 and for the period
from February 8, 2021 (date of inception) to December 31, 2021, in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of
America.
 
Basis for Opinion
These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company’s financial
statements based on our audits. We are a public accounting firm registered with the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States)
(PCAOB) and are required to be independent with respect to the Company in accordance with U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and
regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.
 
We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement, whether due to error or fraud. The Company is not required to have, nor
were we engaged to perform, an audit of its internal control over financial reporting. As part of our audits we are required to obtain an understanding of
internal control over financial reporting but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over
financial reporting. Accordingly, we express no such opinion.

Our audits included performing procedures to assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to error or fraud, and
performing procedures that respond to those risks. Such procedures included examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in
the financial statements. Our audits also included evaluating the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as
evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

Critical Audit Matter
The critical audit matter communicated below is a matter arising from the current period audit of the financial statements that was communicated or
required to be communicated to the audit committee and that: (1) relates to accounts or disclosures that are material to the financial statements and (2)
involved our especially challenging, subjective or complex judgments. The communication of critical audit matters does not alter in any way our opinion on
the financial statements, taken as a whole, and we are not, by communicating the critical audit matter below, providing separate opinions on the critical audit
matter or on the accounts or disclosures to which it relates.

Revenue recognition from mining pool
As discussed in Note 2 to the consolidated financial statements, providing computing power to a mining pool for cryptocurrency transaction verification
services is a performance obligation. The transaction price is measured at the fair value of the noncash consideration using the quoted price of the awarded
cryptocurrency in the Company’s principal market at contract inception. We identified the determination of contract inception as a critical audit matter due
to the nature and extent of audit effort required to evaluate management’s determination of each contractual period. The nature and extent of audit effort
required to address the matter included significant involvement of more experienced engagement team members and discussions and consultations with
professionals with specialized skills and knowledge related to the matter.

Our audit procedures related to the determination of contract inception included the following, among others:
● We assessed the mining pool’s payout methodology and the provisions of the service agreement between the Company and the mining pool

operator.
● We evaluated the Company’s performance obligation and 24-hour contractual period with respect to its agreement with the mining pool operator.  
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● We compared all noncash consideration recognized as revenue to independently obtained pricing data as of the time of inception of each contract.
● We utilized professionals with specialized skills and knowledge in digital assets and revenue recognition in assisting with the determination of the

contract inception period.

/s/ RSM US LLP

We have served as the Company's auditor since 2021.

Minneapolis, Minnesota
March 31, 2023
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TERAWULF INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
AS OF DECEMBER 31, 2022 AND 2021
(In thousands, except number of shares, per share amounts and par value)

    December 31, 2022     December 31, 2021
ASSETS       
CURRENT ASSETS:       

Cash and cash equivalents $ 1,279 $ 43,448
Restricted cash  7,044 3,007
Digital currency, net 183 —
Prepaid expenses  5,095 1,494
Amounts due from related parties — 647
Other current assets  543 108
Current assets held for sale  — 19,348

Total current assets  14,144 68,052
Equity in net assets of investee  98,741 104,280
Property, plant and equipment, net  191,521 91,446
Right-of-use asset  11,944 1,024
Other assets  1,337 109
TOTAL ASSETS $ 317,687 $ 264,911

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY       
CURRENT LIABILITIES:       

Accounts payable $ 21,862 $ 11,791
Accrued construction liabilities  2,903 3,892
Other accrued liabilities  14,963 3,771
Share based liabilities due to related party  14,583 12,500
Other amounts due to related parties  3,295 60
Contingent value rights  10,900 12,000
Current portion of operating lease liability  42 88
Insurance premium financing payable 2,117 —
Convertible promissory notes 3,416 —
Current portion of long-term debt 51,938 —
Current liabilities held for sale  — 1,755

Total current liabilities  126,019  45,857
Operating lease liability, net of current portion  947 992
Deferred tax liabilities, net — 256
Long-term debt  72,967 94,627

TOTAL LIABILITIES  199,933  141,732

Commitments and Contingencies (See Note 12)       

STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY:       
Preferred stock, $0.001 par value, 25,000,000 authorized at December 31, 2022 and 2021; 9,566 and 0 shares
issued and outstanding at December 31, 2022 and 2021, respectively; aggregate liquidation preference of
$10,349 and $0 at December 31, 2022 and 2021  9,273 —
Common stock, $0.001 par value, 200,000,000 authorized at December 31, 2022 and 2021;  145,492,971 and
99,976,253 issued and outstanding at December 31, 2022 and 2021, respectively  145 100
Additional paid-in capital  294,810 218,762
Accumulated deficit  (186,474) (95,683)

Total stockholders' equity  117,754  123,179
TOTAL LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY $ 317,687 $ 264,911

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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TERAWULF INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2022 AND THE PERIOD
FEBRUARY 8, 2021 (DATE OF INCEPTION) TO DECEMBER 31, 2021
(In thousands, except number of shares and loss per common share)

Period February 8,
2021 (date of

Year Ended       inception) to
December 31, 2022 December 31, 2021

Revenue $ 15,033 $ —
Cost of revenue (exclusive of depreciation shown below) 11,083  —
Gross profit 3,950  —

Cost of operations:      
Operating expenses 2,038 104
Operating expenses - related party 1,248 960
Selling, general and administrative expenses 22,770 23,759
Selling, general and administrative expenses - related party 13,280 18,576
Depreciation 6,667 —
Realized gain on sale of digital currency (569) —
Impairment of digital currency 1,457 —
Loss on nonmonetary miner exchange 804 —

Total cost of operations 47,695  43,399

Operating loss (43,745) (43,399)
Interest expense (24,679) (2,255)
Loss on extinguishment of debt (2,054) —
Loss before income tax and equity in net loss of investee (70,478) (45,654)
Income tax benefit 256 615
Equity in net loss of investee, net of tax (15,712) (1,538)
Loss from continuing operations (85,934) (46,577)
Loss from discontinued operations, net of tax (4,857) (49,106)
Net loss (90,791) (95,683)
Preferred stock dividends (783) —
Net loss attributable to common stockholders $ (91,574) $ (95,683)

Loss per common share:       
Continuing operations $ (0.78) $ (0.55)
Discontinued operations  (0.04) (0.58)
Basic and diluted $ (0.82) $ (1.13)

Weighted average common shares outstanding:       
Basic and diluted  110,638,792 85,200,032

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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TERAWULF INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF REDEEMABLE CONVERTIBLE PREFERRED STOCK
AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2022 AND THE PERIOD
FEBRUARY 8, 2021 (DATE OF INCEPTION) TO DECEMBER 31, 2021
(In thousands, except number of shares)

Redeemable Convertible     
    Preferred Stock (1)   Preferred Stock Common Stock     Additional     Accumulated       
    Number     Amount     Number Amount Number     Amount     Paid-in Capital     Deficit     Total

Balances as of February 8, 2021  — $ —  — $ — — $ — $ — $ — $ —
Issuance of Series A Preferred Stock, net
of issuance costs  2,000,000 — — — — — — —  —
Common stock issuance in conjunction
with debt offering, net of issuance costs  — — — — 839,398 1 24,638 —  24,639
Issuance of common stock, net of
issuance costs  — — — — 52,261,932 52 104,266 —  104,318
Series A Preferred Stock converted to
common stock  (2,000,000) — — — 1,739,311 2 49,313 —  49,315
Reverse merger exchange ratio share
adjustment  — — — — 43,136,087 43 (43) —  —
Common stock issued for acquisition of
IKONICS Corporation  — — — — 1,999,525 2 40,588 —  40,590
Net loss  — — — — — — — (95,683)  (95,683)

Balances as of December 31, 2021  — — — — 99,976,253 100 218,762 (95,683) 123,179
Issuance of Series A Convertible
Preferred Stock, net of issuance costs — — 9,566 9,273 — — — — 9,273
Warrant issuances in conjunction with
debt offerings — — — — — — 8,315 — 8,315
Warrant issuances in conjunction with
equity offerings — — — — — — 5,700 — 5,700
Stock-based compensation expense — — — — — — 1,568 — 1,568
Warrant exercise — — — — 5,714,823 6 52 — 58
Modifications to embedded conversion
feature of convertible promissory notes — — — — — — — 1,592 — 1,592
Issuance of common stock, net of
issuance costs — — — — 39,801,895 39 58,821 — 58,860
Net loss — — — — — — — (90,791) (90,791)

Balances as of December 31, 2022 — $ —  9,566 $ 9,273 145,492,971 $ 145 $ 294,810 $ (186,474) $ 117,754

(2) (1) The redeemable convertible preferred stock was presented in the mezzanine section of the consolidated balance sheets while outstanding.

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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TERAWULF INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2022 AND THE PERIOD
FEBRUARY 8, 2021 (DATE OF INCEPTION) TO DECEMBER 31, 2021
(In thousands)

Year Ended
Period February 8, 2021

(date of inception) to
    December 31, December 31,     

2022 2021
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES:     

Net loss $ (90,791) $ (95,683)
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash used in operating activities:   
Amortization of debt issuance costs, commitment fees and accretion of debt discount  11,676 921  
Related party expense to be settled with respect to common stock 2,083 12,500
Common stock issued for interest expense 82 —
Stock-based compensation expense 1,568 —
Depreciation 6,667 —
Amortization of right-of-use asset 303 52
Increase in digital currency from mining (10,810) —
Impairment of digital currency 1,457 —
Realized gain on sale of digital currency (569) —
Proceeds from sale of digital currency 9,739 —
Loss on nonmonetary miner exchange 804 —
Loss on extinguishment of debt 2,054 —
Deferred income tax benefit (256) (615)
Equity in net loss of investee, net of tax  15,712 1,538  
Loss from discontinued operations, net of tax  4,857 49,106  
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:   

Increase in prepaid expenses  (3,601) (1,489)  
Decrease (increase) in amounts due from related parties 815 (647)
Increase in other current assets  (46) (113)  
Increase in other assets  (994) (109)  
Increase in accounts payable  10,197 9,729  
Increase in other accrued liabilities  5,916 3,605  
Increase in other amounts due to related parties  700 60  
Increase in operating lease liability  175 4  

Net cash used in operating activities from continuing operations  (32,262)  (21,141)  
Net cash used in operating activities from discontinued operations  (1,804) (2,958)  
Net cash used in operating activities  (34,066)  (24,099)  

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES:        
Acquisition of a business, net of cash acquired — (10,280)
Investments in joint venture, including direct payments made on behalf of joint venture  (46,172) (93,911)  
Reimbursable payments for deposits on plant and equipment made on behalf of a joint venture or joint venture partner  (11,741) (56,057)  
Reimbursement of payments for deposits on plant and equipment made on behalf of a joint venture or joint venture partner  11,716 56,057  
Reimbursement from joint venture partner for deposits on plant and equipment contributed to the joint venture — 11,850
Purchase of and deposits on plant and equipment  (61,116) (109,072)  
Proceeds from sale of net assets held for sale 13,266 —

Net cash used in investing activities  (94,047)  (201,413)  

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES:        
Proceeds from issuance of long-term debt, net of issuance costs paid of $38 and $0 22,462 118,276
Proceeds from insurance premium financing 7,041 —
Principal payments on insurance premium financing (4,924) —
Proceeds from issuance of promissory notes to stockholders 3,416 25,000
Repayment of promissory notes to stockholders — (25,000)
Proceeds from issuance of common stock, net of issuance costs paid of $142 and $0  47,326 104,376  
Proceeds from warrant issuances in conjunction with equity offerings 5,700 —
Proceeds from issuance of preferred stock  9,566 49,315  
Proceeds from issuance of convertible promissory note 14,700 —
Principal payments on convertible promissory note (15,306) —

Net cash provided by financing activities  89,981  271,967  

Net change in cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash  (38,132)  46,455  
Cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash at beginning of period  46,455 —  
Cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash at end of period $ 8,323 $ 46,455

Cash paid during the period for:       
Interest $ 13,989 $ 252
Income taxes $ — $ —

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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NOTE 1 – ORGANIZATION

Organization

On December 13, 2021 (the “Closing Date”), TeraWulf Inc. (formerly known as Telluride Holdco, Inc.), a Delaware corporation, completed the previously
announced strategic business combination (the “Merger”) pursuant to the agreement and plan of merger, dated as of June 24, 2021 (as amended,
supplemented or otherwise modified prior to the Closing Date, the “Merger Agreement”), by and among TeraWulf Inc., IKONICS Corporation, a
Minnesota corporation (“IKONICS”), TeraCub Inc. (formerly known as TeraWulf Inc.), a Delaware corporation that was formed on February 8, 2021
(“TeraCub”) and certain holding companies and subsidiaries created to effect the merger. In connection with the consummation of the mergers, Telluride
Holdco, Inc. was renamed TeraWulf Inc., and TeraWulf Inc. was renamed TeraCub Inc. TeraWulf Inc. and its subsidiaries are referred to in these
consolidated financial statements as “TeraWulf” or the “Company.”

TeraWulf’s planned principal operations consist of operating, developing and constructing bitcoin mining facilities in the United States that are fueled by
clean, low cost and reliable power sources. The Company operates a portfolio of bitcoin mining facilities, either wholly-owned or through joint ventures,
that each deploy a series of powerful computers that solve complex cryptographic algorithms, which computing power is provided to a mining pool
operator to mine bitcoin and validate transactions on the bitcoin network. TeraWulf’s revenue is substantially derived from pay-per-share base amounts and 
transaction fee rewards earned in bitcoin from the mining pool as compensation for providing the computing power.  The Company also leverages its 
available digital infrastructure to provide miner hosting services to third parties whereby the Company holds an option to purchase the hosted miners in the 
future.  While the Company may choose to mine other cryptocurrencies in the future, it has no plans to do so currently.  

TeraWulf’s two bitcoin mining facilities are in New York (the “Lake Mariner Facility”) and Pennsylvania (the “Nautilus Cryptomine Facility”).  Mining 
operations commenced at the Lake Mariner Facility in March 2022 and the Company has energized building one and substantially completed the 
construction of building two as of December 31, 2022.  The Nautilus Cryptomine Facility is being developed and constructed through a joint venture (see 
Note 11) and remained under construction as of December 31, 2022, with mining operations commencing in February 2023. The Lake Mariner Facility is 
wholly-owned. In May 2021, TeraWulf created three wholly-owned subsidiaries to facilitate ownership of bitcoin mining facilities or joint venture interests
related thereto. Lake Mariner Data LLC and Kyalami Data LLC are subsidiaries involved in operating, constructing or developing wholly-owned bitcoin
mining facilities in New York. As of the date these consolidated financial statements were available to be issued, Kayalami Data LLC was inactive.
TeraWulf (Thales) LLC (“Thales”) is a subsidiary holding interests in a joint venture involved in constructing bitcoin mining facilities in Pennsylvania (see
Note 11).

IKONICS’ traditional business was the development and manufacturing of high-quality photochemical imaging systems for sale primarily to a wide range 
of printers and decorators of surfaces. Customers’ applications were primarily screen printing and abrasive etching. TeraWulf initially classified the 
IKONICS business as held for sale and discontinued operations in these consolidated financial statements.  During the year ended December 31, 2022, the 
Company completed sales of substantially all of IKONICS’ historical net assets (see Note 4).  Subsequent to the asset sales, IKONICS’ name was changed 
to RM 101 Inc. (“RM 101”).

Risks and Uncertainties

Liquidity and Financial Condition

The Company incurred a net loss attributable to common stockholders of $91.6 million, including a net impairment charge (net of a contingent
consideration remeasurement gain) of $4.9 million included in loss from discontinued operations, net of tax related to the acquired RM 101 business (see
Notes 3 and 4), and negative cash flows from continuing operations of $32.3 million for the year ended December 31, 2022. As of December 31, 2022, the
Company had balances of cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash of $8.3 million, a working capital deficiency of $111.9 million, total stockholders’
equity of $117.8 million and an accumulated deficit of $186.5 million. The Company has commenced mining activities at the Lake Mariner Facility,
however not yet to the scale required to support its principal operations. The Company has relied primarily on proceeds from its issuances of debt and
equity and sale of bitcoin mined to fund its principal operations.
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In accordance with development of its bitcoin mining facilities, during the year ended December 31, 2022, the Company invested approximately $61.1 
million for purchases of and deposits on plant and equipment, including deposits on miners under miner purchase agreements (see Note 12).  Also, during 
the year ended December 31, 2022, the Company invested $46.2 million, net in its joint venture (see Note 11).  As of December 31, 2022, the Company 
required additional capital in order to fund construction completion of the Lake Mariner Facility.  Until TeraWulf is able to generate positive cash flows 
from operations, TeraWulf expects to fund its business operations and infrastructure buildout through the issuance of debt or equity securities, sales of 
mined bitcoin or through the provision of miner hosting services.  

During the year ended December 31, 2022, the Company entered into an At Market Issuance Sales Agreement for sale of shares of Common Stock having
an aggregate offering price of up to $200.0 million (the “ATM Offering”).  The issuance of Common Stock under this agreement will be made pursuant to 
the Company’s effective registration statement on Form S-3 (Registration statement No. 333-262226).  During the year ended December 31, 2022, the 
Company issued Common Stock, including under the ATM Offering, for net cash proceeds of $47.3 million, Common Stock warrants for net cash proceeds
of $5.7 million, preferred stock for net cash proceeds of $9.6 million, convertible promissory notes, net of cash payments, for net cash proceeds of $2.8
million and long-term debt for net cash proceeds of $22.5 million.

Subsequent to December 31, 2022, the Company accomplished several notable steps toward achieving near term positive cash flows from operations, 
namely:  (1) the Company amended its long-term debt agreement (see Notes 9 and 18) to, among other changes, remove the fixed principal amortization 
through April 7, 2024 and, potentially, beyond, (2) through the issuance of Common Stock, Common Stock warrants and convertible promissory notes (see 
Note 19), the Company received net proceeds of $34.3 million, which along with cash flow from operations, is expected to be sufficient to satisfy the
Company’s final capital expenditure requirements, other obligations and operating expenses in the months prior to achieving a free cash flow positive
enterprise (3) mining activities have commenced at the Nautilus Facility and the Company deems that it has funded all known and expected capital 
commitments, (4) the Company received materially all contracted miners from the miner suppliers and has no remaining outstanding financial 
commitments under the miner purchase agreements (see Notes 11 and 12), (5) the received miners are sufficient to fully utilize mining capacity both in 
service and under construction at the Lake Mariner Facility and the Nautilus Facility and (6) the remaining construction activities at the Lake Mariner 
Facility and the Nautilus Facility are currently ongoing and expected to be complete in the second quarter of 2023.  The Company has determined that it is 
probable that these actions will allow the Company to generate positive cash flows from operations and be able to realize its assets and discharge its 
liabilities and commitments in the normal course of business and, therefore, there is no longer substantial doubt about the Company’s ability to continue as a 
going concern through at least the next twelve months. The consolidated financial statements do not include any adjustments that might result from 
TeraWulf’s possible inability to continue as a going concern.

COVID-19

The Company’s results of operations could be adversely affected by general conditions in the economy and in the global financial markets, including
conditions that are outside of the Company’s control, such as the outbreak and global spread of the novel coronavirus disease (“COVID-19”). The COVID-
19 pandemic that was declared on March 11, 2020 has caused significant economic dislocation in the United States and globally as governments across the
world, including the United States, introduced measures aimed at preventing the spread of COVID-19. The spread of COVID-19 and the imposition of
related public health measures have resulted in, and are expected to continue to result in, increased volatility and uncertainty in the cryptocurrency space.
Any severe or prolonged economic downturn, as result of the COVID-19 pandemic or otherwise, could result in a variety of risks to the business and
management cannot anticipate all the ways in which the current economic climate and financial market conditions could adversely impact its business.
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The Company may experience disruptions to its business operations resulting from supply interruptions (including miner delivery interruptions),
quarantines, self-isolations, or other movement and restrictions on the ability of its employees or its counterparties to perform their jobs and provide
services. The Company may also experience delays in construction and obtaining necessary equipment in a timely fashion. If the Company is unable to
effectively set up and service its miners, its ability to mine bitcoin will be adversely affected. The future impact of the COVID-19 pandemic is still highly
uncertain and there is no assurance that the COVID-19 pandemic or any other pandemic, or other unfavorable global economic, business or political
conditions, will not materially and adversely affect the Company’s business, prospects, financial condition, and operating results.

NOTE 2 – SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Basis of Presentation and Principles of Consolidation

The accompanying consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States 
of America (“U.S. GAAP”).  All intercompany balances and transactions have been eliminated.  Certain prior period amounts have been 
reclassified to conform with current period presentation. 

Upon completion of the Merger, the Company assumed the fiscal year end of December 31. Prior to the Merger, the TeraCub fiscal year ended on
March 31.  The historical financial statements for the period from February 8, 2021 (date of inception) to March 31, 2021 and for the nine month period 
ended December 31, 2021 have been recast to conform with the Company’s adopted fiscal year.

The Merger was accounted for as a reverse merger whereby the accounting acquirer was TeraCub due to TeraCub’s historic shareholders having the 
majority voting control in the Company, the board of directors members being associated with TeraCub and the senior management of TeraCub becoming 
the senior management of the Company. Therefore, the historical information included in these consolidated financial statements is that of TeraCub. The 
operations of RM 101 are included in these consolidated financial statements commencing with the consummation of the Merger. Upon acquisition, the RM 
101 business met the assets held for sale and discontinued operations criteria and is reflected as discontinued operations held for sale in the consolidated 
financial statements.  See Notes 3 and 4 for additional information.

Prior Interim Period Restatement

During the preparation of the consolidated financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2022, an error was identified in the Company’s preparation 
of the historical unaudited interim consolidated statements of cash flows for each of the first three quarters of  2022.  In accordance with Staff Accounting 
Bulletin No. 99, “Materiality,” the Company determined that these unaudited interim consolidated financial statements were materially misstated and 
should be restated.  The misstatements relate solely to incorrectly calculating the impact of noncash activity on purchase and deposits on plant and 
equipment, resulting in an understatement of net cash used in investing activities and a corresponding overstatement of net cash used in operating activities 
as originally included in the respective interim unaudited consolidated statements of cash flows.  The unaudited interim consolidated balance sheets, 
unaudited interim consolidated statements of operations and unaudited interim consolidated statements of stockholders' equity during each of the first three 
quarters of 2022 were not impacted and do not require restatement.  The restated unaudited interim consolidated statements of cash flows information is 
included in Note 18.

Variable Interest Entities

Variable interest entities (“VIE”) are legal entities in which equity investors do not have (i) sufficient equity at risk for the legal entity to finance its
activities without additional subordinated financial support, or (ii) as a group, the power, through voting or similar rights, to direct the activities of the legal
entity that most significantly impact the entity’s economic performance, or (iii) the obligation to absorb the expected losses of the legal entity or the right to
receive expected residual returns of the legal entity. The Company would consolidate any VIE in which it has a controlling financial interest through being
deemed to be the primary beneficiary of the VIE. The primary beneficiary of a VIE has both of the following characteristics: (1) the power to direct the
activities of the VIE that most significantly impact its economic performance; and (2) the obligation to absorb losses of the VIE that could potentially be
significant to the VIE or the right to receive benefits from the VIE that could be significant to the VIE. If both characteristics are met, the
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Company considers itself to be the primary beneficiary and therefore will consolidate that VIE into its consolidated financial statements.

The Company determines whether it is the primary beneficiary of a VIE upon initial involvement with a VIE and reassesses whether it is the primary
beneficiary of a VIE on an ongoing basis. The determination of whether an entity is a VIE and whether the Company is the primary beneficiary of a VIE is
based upon facts and circumstances for the VIE and requires significant judgments such as whether the entity is a VIE, whether the Company’s interest in a
VIE is a variable interest, the determination of the activities that most significantly impact the economic performance of the entity, whether the Company
controls those activities, and whether the Company has the obligation to absorb losses of the VIE or the right to receive benefits from the VIE that could be
significant to the VIE.

In 2021, the Company entered into a joint venture, Nautilus Cryptomine LLC (“Nautilus”), with an unrelated co-venturer to develop, construct and operate
a bitcoin mining facility in Pennsylvania. Due to the initial nature of the joint venture and the continued commitment for additional financing, the Company
determined Nautilus is a VIE. While the Company has the ability to exercise significant influence over Nautilus, the Company has determined that it does
not have the power to direct the activities that most significantly impact the economic performance of Nautilus. Initially, the power to direct the activities
of Nautilus that most significantly impact Nautilus’ economic performance were shared equally by both parties within the joint venture due to the
requirement for both equity holders to approve many of the key operating decisions and when not equally shared, were predominantly under the control of
the co-venturer, including through the co-venturer’s majority representation on the board of managers. As such, the Company has determined that it is not
the primary beneficiary of Nautilus and, therefore, has accounted for this entity under the equity method of accounting. Risks associated with the
Company’s involvement with Nautilus include a commitment to potentially fund additional equity investments. See Note 11 for additional information,
including a decrease in the Company’s ownership interest in Nautilus during the year ended December 31, 2022.

Equity Method of Accounting

Investee companies that are not consolidated, but over which the Company exercises significant influence, are accounted for under the equity method of
accounting. Whether or not the Company exercises significant influence with respect to an investee depends on an evaluation of several factors including,
among others, representation on the investee company’s board of directors and ownership level, which is generally a 20% to 50% interest in the voting
securities of the investee company. Under the equity method of accounting, an investee company’s accounts are not reflected within the Company’s
consolidated balance sheets and statements of operations; however, the Company’s share of the earnings or losses of the investee company is reflected in
the caption “Equity in net loss of investee, net of tax” in the consolidated statements of operations. The Company’s carrying value in an equity method
investee company is reflected in the caption “Equity in net assets of investee ” in the Company’s consolidated balance sheets.

Interest related to construction of assets at equity method investee companies is capitalized when the financial statement effect of capitalization is material,
construction of the asset at the equity method investee has begun, the equity method investee has not commenced its principal operations and interest is
being incurred. Interest capitalization ends at the earlier of the asset being substantially complete and ready for its intended use, the equity method investee
commences principal operations or when interest costs are no longer being incurred.

When the Company’s carrying value in an equity method investee company is reduced to zero, no further losses are recorded in the Company’s
consolidated financial statements unless the Company has guaranteed obligations of the investee company or has committed additional funding. When the
investee company subsequently reports income, the Company will not record its share of such income until it equals the amount of its share of losses not
previously recognized.

The Company’s investment in companies that are accounted for under the equity method of accounting consists of a 25.2% interest in Nautilus. See Note 11
for additional information.
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Business Combinations

The Company includes the results of operations of the businesses that it acquires as of the acquisition date. The Company allocates the purchase price of the
acquisitions to the assets acquired and liabilities assumed based on their estimated fair values. The excess of the purchase price over the fair values of
identifiable assets and liabilities is recorded as goodwill. Contingent consideration is included within the purchase price and is recognized at its fair value
on the acquisition date. A liability resulting from contingent consideration is remeasured to fair value as of each reporting date until the contingency is
resolved, and subsequent changes in fair value are recognized in earnings. Contingent consideration is recorded in current liabilities in the Company’s
consolidated balance sheets.

While the Company uses its best estimates and assumptions to accurately apply preliminary values to assets acquired and liabilities assumed at the
acquisition date as well as contingent consideration, where applicable, these estimates are inherently uncertain and subject to refinement. As a result, during
the measurement period, which may be up to one year from the acquisition date, the Company records adjustments to the assets acquired and liabilities
assumed with the corresponding offset to goodwill. Upon the conclusion of the measurement period or final determination of the values of the assets
acquired or liabilities assumed, whichever comes first, any subsequent adjustments are recorded in the consolidated statements of operations. Accounting
for business combinations requires management to make significant estimates and assumptions, especially at the acquisition date, including estimates for
intangible assets, contractual obligations assumed, pre-acquisition contingencies, and contingent consideration, where applicable. Although the Company
believes the assumptions and estimates it has made have been reasonable and appropriate, they are based in part on historical experience and information
obtained from management of the acquired companies and are inherently uncertain. Critical estimates in valuing certain of the intangible assets acquired
include; future expected cash flows, estimated market royalty rates, customer attrition rates, cost of developed technology and discount rates. Unanticipated
events and circumstances may occur that may affect the accuracy or validity of such assumptions, estimates, or actual results.

Acquisition-related expenses are recognized separately from the business combination and are expensed as incurred.

Use of Estimates in the Financial Statements

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with U.S. GAAP requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported 
amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosures of contingent liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and 
expenses during the reporting period. Estimates are used for (but are not limited to) such items as the fair values of assets acquired and liabilities assumed in 
business combinations, the fair value of contingent consideration issued in a business combination, the establishment of useful lives for property, plant and 
equipment and intangible assets, the impairment of goodwill and held for sale assets, the fair value of equity securities or warrants to purchase common 
stock issued as a component of a debt or equity offering, the fair value of changes to the conversion terms of embedded conversion features, the fair value of 
stock-based compensation, the fair value of assets received in nonmonetary transactions, the establishment of right-of-use assets and lease liabilities that 
arise from leasing arrangements, the timing of commencement of capitalization for plant and equipment, impairment of indefinite-lived intangible assets, 
impairment of long-lived assets, recoverability of deferred tax assets and the recording of various accruals.  These estimates are made after considering past 
and current events and assumptions about future events. Actual results could differ from those estimates.

Supplemental Cash Flow Information

The following table shows supplemental cash flow information (in thousands):
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Year Ended
Period February 8, 2021

(date of inception) to
    December 31, December 31,     

2022 2021
Supplemental disclosure of non-cash activities:     
Right-of-use asset obtained in exchange for lease obligation $ 11,223 $ 1,076
Contribution of plant and equipment or deposits on plant and equipment to joint venture $ 11,267 $ 11,850
Common stock issued for business acquisition $ — $ 40,590
Contingent value rights issued for business acquisition $ — $ 12,000
Common stock issued in conjunction with debt offering representing debt issuance costs $ — $ 25,727
Deferred financing costs in accounts payable or other accrued liabilities $ 249 $ —
Common stock issuance costs in accounts payable $ 131 $ —
Preferred stock issuance costs in other accrued liabilities or accounts payable $ 293 $ —
Purchases of and deposits on plant and equipment in accounts payable, accrued construction
liabilities, other accrued liabilities and long-term debt $ 8,451 $ 6,074
Investment in joint venture in other accrued liabilities, other amounts due to related parties and
long-term debt $ 5,203 $ 57
Series A Preferred Stock converted to common stock $ — $ 49,315
Reverse merger exchange ration share adjustment $ — $ 43
Convertible promissory note deferred issuance costs in accounts payable $ 104 $ —
Common stock issued pursuant to operating lease amendment $ 11,489 $ —
Common stock issued for payment on convertible promissory note $ 168 $ —
Common stock warrants issued for long-term debt commitment fee $ 1,967 $ —
Common stock warrants issued for discount on long-term debt $ 6,348 $ —
Decrease to investment in joint venture and increase in plant and equipment for distribution or
transfer of nonmonetary assets $ 51,978 $ —
Change in fair value of embedded conversion feature of convertible promissory note in
additional paid-in capital $ 1,591 $ —

Cash and Cash Equivalents

Highly liquid instruments with an original maturity of three months or less are classified as cash equivalents. The Company maintains cash and cash
equivalent balances primarily at three financial institutions that are insured by the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation (“FDIC”). The Company’s
accounts at these institutions are insured, up to $250,000, by the FDIC. As of December 31, 2022, the Company’s bank balances exceeded the FDIC
insurance limit in an amount of approximately $600,000. To reduce its risk associated with the failure of such financial institutions, the Company evaluates
at least annually the rating of the financial institutions in which it holds deposits. As of December  31, 2022 and December 31, 2021, the Company had cash
and cash equivalents of $1.3 million and $43.4 million, respectively.  See Note 19 for additional information regarding the Company’s banking 
counterparties.

Restricted Cash

The Company considers cash and marketable securities to be restricted when withdrawal or general use is legally restricted. The Company reports restricted 
cash in the consolidated balance sheets and determines current or non-current classification based on the expected duration of the restriction. The restricted 
cash included in the consolidated balance sheet as of December 31, 2022 is restricted as to use primarily due to being held in escrow in accordance with an 
asset purchase agreement governing the sale of certain RM 101 assets (see Note 4).  The restricted cash included in the consolidated balance sheet as of 
December 31, 2021 is restricted as to use due to being held as a construction escrow by a third party escrow agent.  As of December 31, 2022, the 
Company’s bank balances of restricted cash exceeded the FDIC insurance limit in an amount of approximately $6.8 million.
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The following table provides a reconciliation of cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash reported within the consolidated balance sheets that total to
the amounts shown in the consolidated statements of cash flows (in thousands):

December 31, 2022     December 31, 2021
Cash and cash equivalents     $ 1,279     $ 43,448
Restricted cash  7,044  3,007
Cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash $ 8,323 $ 46,455

Segment Reporting

Operating segments are defined as components of an enterprise about which separate financial information is available that is evaluated regularly by the 
chief operating decision maker, or decision–making group, in deciding how to allocate resources and in assessing performance. Our chief operating 
decision–making group (“CODM”) is composed of the chief executive officer, chief operating officer and chief strategy officer.  Currently, the Company 
solely operates in the Digital Currency Mining segment. The Company’s mining operations are located in the United States, and the Company has 
employees only in the United States and views its mining operations as one operating segment as the CODM reviews financial information on a 
consolidated basis in making decisions regarding resource allocations and assessing performance.  Prior to the sale of substantially all of RM 101’s assets, 
through its ownership of RM 101, the Company operated in the Imaging Technology segment.  TeraWulf classified the RM 101 segment as held for sale 
and discontinued operations in these consolidated financial statements (see Note 4).

Property, Plant and Equipment

Property, plant and equipment are recorded at cost, net of accumulated depreciation. Depreciation is computed using the straight-line method over the
estimated useful lives of the assets (generally 5 years for computer equipment and 4 years for mining equipment). Leasehold improvements and electrical
equipment are depreciated over the shorter of their estimated useful lives or the lease term. Property, plant and equipment includes deposits, amounting to
approximately $57.6 million and $70.6 million as of December 31, 2022 and 2021, respectively, on purchases of such assets, including miners, which
would be included in property, plant and equipment upon receipt.

Interest related to construction of assets is capitalized when the financial statement effect of capitalization is material, construction of the asset has begun,
and interest is being incurred. Interest capitalization ends at the earlier of the asset being substantially complete and ready for its intended use or when
interest costs are no longer being incurred.

Impairment of Long-lived Assets

The Company reviews its long-lived assets, including property, plant and equipment, for impairment when indicators of impairment are present and the
undiscounted cash flows estimated to be generated by those assets are less than the assets’ carrying amounts. Any impairment loss recorded is measured as
the amount by which the carrying value of the assets exceeds the fair value of the assets. During the year ended December 31, 2022 and for the period
February 8, 2021 (date of inception) to December 31, 2021, the Company has determined that no impairment of long-lived assets exists.
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Goodwill and Indefinite-lived Intangible Assets

The Company evaluates goodwill and indefinite-lived intangible assets for impairment annually or more frequently when an event occurs or circumstances 
change that indicate the carrying value may not be recoverable. The Company may elect to utilize a qualitative assessment to evaluate whether it is more 
likely than not that the fair value of a reporting unit or indefinite-lived intangible asset is less than its carrying value and if so, it performs a quantitative test. 
The Company estimates the fair value of the reporting units using discounted cash flows. The Company’s analyses require significant assumptions and 
judgments, including assumptions about future economic conditions, revenue growth, and operating margins, among other factors. Events or changes in 
circumstances considered in the qualitative analysis, many of which are subjective in nature, include: a significant negative trend in the Company’s industry 
or overall economic trends, a significant change in how the Company uses the acquired assets, a significant change in business strategy, a significant 
decrease in the market value of the asset, and a significant change in regulations or in the industry that could affect the value of the asset. The Company 
compares the carrying value of each reporting unit and indefinite-lived intangible asset to its estimated fair value and if the fair value is determined to be 
less than the carrying value, the Company would recognize an impairment loss for the difference.  The Company recorded goodwill of $48.3 million related
to the RM 101 business acquisition. In conjunction with classifying RM 101 as held for sale upon acquisition, the Company determined that the goodwill
associated with the RM 101 business was impaired and recorded an impairment of goodwill charge in the amount of $48.3 million in loss from discontinued
operations, net of tax in the consolidated statement of operations for the period February 8, 2021 (date of inception) to December 31, 2021.

Leases

The Company determines if an arrangement is a lease at inception and, if so, classifies the lease as an operating or finance lease. Operating leases are
included in right-of-use (“ROU”) asset, current portion of operating lease liability, and operating lease liability, net of current portion in the consolidated
balance sheets. Finance leases would be included in property, plant and equipment, current portion of finance lease liabilities, and finance lease liabilities,
net of current portion in the consolidated balance sheets. The Company does not recognize a ROU asset or lease liability for short-term leases having initial
terms of 12 months or less and instead recognizes rent expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term. In an arrangement that is determined to be a
lease, the Company includes both the lease and nonlease components as a single component and accounts for it as a lease when the Company would
otherwise recognize the cost associated with both the lease and nonlease components in a similar fashion.

ROU assets represent the Company’s right to use an underlying asset for the lease term and lease liabilities represent the Company’s obligation to make
lease payments arising from the lease. Lease ROU assets and liabilities are recognized at commencement date, and subsequently remeasured upon changes
to the underlying lease arrangement, based on the present value of lease payments over the lease term. If the lease does not provide an implicit rate or if the
implicit rate is not determinable, the Company generally uses an estimate of its incremental borrowing rate based on the estimated rate of interest for
collateralized borrowing over a similar term of the lease payments at the commencement date. The ROU asset also includes any lease prepayments made
and excludes lease incentives. The Company’s lease terms may include options to extend or terminate the lease when it is reasonably certain that the
Company will exercise that option.

Costs associated with operating lease ROU assets are recognized on a straight-line basis within operating expenses or selling, general and administrative, as 
appropriate, over the term of the lease.  Variable lease costs are recognized as incurred and primarily consist of common area maintenance charges not 
included in the measurement of right-of-use assets and operating lease liabilities.  Finance ROU lease assets are amortized within operating expenses or 
selling, general and administrative expenses, as appropriate, on a straight-line basis over the shorter of the estimated useful lives of the assets or, in the 
instance where title does not transfer at the end of the lease term, the lease term. The interest component of a finance lease is included in interest expense 
and recognized using the effective interest method over the lease term.

As of December 31, 2022 and 2021, the Company is not a counterparty to any finance leases.
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Stock Issuance Costs

Stock issuance costs are recorded as a reduction to issuance proceeds. Stock issuance costs incurred prior to the closing of the related issuances, including
under shelf registration statements, are recorded in other assets in the consolidated balance sheets if the closing of the related issuance is deemed probable.

Debt Issuance Costs and Debt Discount

Debt issuance costs and debt discount are recorded as a direct reduction of the carrying amount of the debt and are amortized to interest expense using the 
effective interest method over the contractual term of the debt. Debt issuance costs include incremental third-party costs directly related to debt issuance 
such as attorney and financial advisor fees. Debt discount includes upfront fees and proceeds allocated to other components included in the debt issuance.  
The allocation of proceeds between the debt instrument and any other components included in the debt issuance, including common stock or warrants to 
purchase common stock, is generally based on the relative fair value allocation method.  All warrants granted by the Company as a component of debt 
transactions are classified as equity in the consolidated balance sheets as of December 31, 2022 and 2021.

Debt Modification 

The Company evaluates amendments to its debt instruments in accordance with applicable U.S. GAAP.  This evaluation includes comparing (1) if 
applicable, the change in fair value of an embedded conversion option to that of the carrying amount of the debt immediately prior to amendment and (2) 
the net present value of future cash flows of the amended debt to that of the original debt to determine, in each case, if a change greater than 10 percent 
occurred.  In instances where the net present value of future cash flows or the fair value of an embedded conversion option, if any, changed more than 10 
percent, the Company applies extinguishment accounting.  In instances where the net present value of future cash flows and the fair value of an embedded 
conversion option, if any, changed less than 10 percent, the Company accounts for the amendment to the debt as a debt modification.  For debt that has 
been amended more than once in a twelve-month period, the debt terms that existed just prior to the earliest amendment occurring in the prior twelve 
months are applied to the 10% test, provided modification accounting was previously applied.  Gains and losses on debt amendments that are considered 
extinguishments are recognized in current earnings. Debt amendments that are considered debt modifications are accounted for prospectively through yield 
adjustments, based on the revised terms. Legal fees and other costs incurred with third parties that are directly related to debt modifications are expensed as 
incurred and generally are included in interest expense in the consolidated statements of operations.  Amounts paid by the Company to the lenders, 
including upfront fees and the fair value of warrants issued, are included in future cash flows for accounting treatment determination and, if debt 
modification is applicable, are also included in the determination of yield adjustment.

Convertible Instruments

The Company accounts for its issuance of convertible debt and convertible equity instruments in accordance with applicable U.S. GAAP.  In connection
with that accounting, the Company assesses the various terms and features of the agreement in accordance with Financial Accounting Standards Board
(“FASB”) Accounting Standards Codification (“ASC”) No. 480 “Distinguishing Liabilities from Equity” (“ASC 480”) and ASC 815 “Derivatives and
Hedging Activities” (“ASC 815”).   ASC 480 requires liability accounting for certain financial instruments, including shares that embody an unconditional
obligation to transfer a variable number of shares, provided that the monetary value of the obligation is based solely or predominantly on one of the
following three characteristics:  (1) a fixed monetary amount known at inception, (2) variations in something other than the fair value of the issuer’s equity
shares or (3) variations in the fair value of the issuer’s equity shares, but the monetary value to the counterparty moves in the opposite direction as the value
of the issuer’s shares.  In accordance with ASC 815, the Company assesses the various terms and features of the agreement to determine whether or not
they contain embedded derivative instruments that are required under ASC 815 to be accounted for separately from the host contract and recorded on the
balance sheet at fair value. The fair value of derivative liabilities, if any, is required to be revalued at each reporting date, with corresponding changes in fair
value recorded in current period operating results.

Warrants

The Company applies ASC 480 and ASC 815 to assist in the determination of whether warrants issued for the purchase of Common Stock should be
classified as liabilities or equity. Warrants that are determined to require liability classification are measured at fair
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value upon issuance and are subsequently remeasured to their then fair value at each subsequent reporting period with changes in fair value recorded in
current earnings. Warrants that are determined to require equity classification are measured at fair value upon issuance and are not subsequently remeasured
unless they are required to be reclassified.  All warrants granted by the Company to date are classified as equity

Nonmonetary Transactions

The Company accounts for goods and services exchanged in nonmonetary transactions at fair value unless the underlying exchange transaction lacks
commercial substance or the fair value of the assets received or relinquished is not reasonably determinable, in which case the nonmonetary exchange
would be measured based on the recorded amount of the nonmonetary asset relinquished.

Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations Classification

The Company classifies a business as held for sale in the period in which management commits to a plan to sell the business, the business is available for
immediate sale in its present condition, an active program to complete the plan to sell the business is initiated, the sale of the business within one year is
probable and the business is being marketed at a reasonable price in relation to its fair value.

Newly acquired businesses that meet the held-for-sale classification criteria upon acquisition are reported as discontinued operations. Upon a business’
classification as held for sale, net assets are measured for impairment. Goodwill impairment is measured in accordance with the method described in the
accounting policy entitled “Goodwill and Indefinite-lived Intangible Assets.” An impairment loss is recorded for long-lived assets held for sale when the
carrying amount of the asset exceeds its fair value less cost to sell. Other assets and liabilities are generally measured for impairment by comparing their
carrying values to their respective fair values. A long-lived asset is not depreciated or amortized while it is classified as held for sale.

Income Taxes

The Company accounts for income taxes pursuant to the provision of ASC 740-10, “Accounting for Income Taxes” which requires, among other things, an
asset and liability approach to calculating deferred income taxes. The asset and liability approach requires the recognition of deferred tax assets and
liabilities for the expected future tax consequences of temporary differences between the carrying amounts and the tax bases of assets and liabilities. A
valuation allowance is provided to offset any net deferred tax assets for which management believes it is more likely than not that the net deferred tax asset
will not be realized. The Company follows the provision of the ASC 740-10 related to Accounting for Uncertain Income Tax Positions. When tax returns
are filed, it is more likely than not that some positions taken would be sustained upon examination by the taxing authorities, while others are subject to
uncertainty about the merits of the position taken or the amount of the position that would be ultimately sustained. In accordance with the guidance of ASC
740-10, the benefit of a tax position is recognized in the financial statements in the period during which, based on all available evidence, management
believes it is more likely than not that the position will be sustained upon examination, including the resolution of appeals or litigation processes, if any.
Tax positions taken are not offset or aggregated with other positions. The tax benefits recognized in the consolidated financial statements from such
positions are then measured based on the largest benefit that has a greater than 50% likelihood of being realized upon settlement with the applicable taxing
authority. The portion of the benefits associated with the tax positions taken that exceeds the amount measured as described above should be reflected as a
liability for uncertain tax benefits in the accompanying balance sheets along with any associated interest and penalties that would be payable to the taxing
authorities upon examination.

The Company’s policy is to recognize interest and penalties that would be assessed in relation to the settlement value of unrecognized tax benefits as a
component of income tax expense. The Company did not accrue either interest or penalties for the year ended December 31, 2022 or the period from
February 8, 2021 (date of inception) to December 31, 2021.

Revenue Recognition

The Company recognizes revenue under the FASB ASC 606 “Revenue from Contracts with Customers” (“ASC 606”).  The core principle of the revenue 
standard is that a company should recognize revenue to depict the transfer of promised goods or services to 



Table of Contents

TERAWULF INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

75

customers in an amount that reflects the consideration to which the Company expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods or services. The following 
five steps are applied to achieve that core principle:

● Step 1: Identify the contract with the customer

● Step 2: Identify the performance obligations in the contract

● Step 3: Determine the transaction price

● Step 4: Allocate the transaction price to the performance obligations in the contract

● Step 5: Recognize revenue when the Company satisfies a performance obligation

In order to identify the performance obligations in a contract with a customer, a company must assess the promised goods or services in the contract and
identify each promised good or service that is distinct. A performance obligation meets ASC 606’s definition of a “distinct” good or service (or bundle of
goods or services) if both of the following criteria are met: the customer can benefit from the good or service either on its own or together with other
resources that are readily available to the customer (i.e., the good or service is capable of being distinct), and the entity’s promise to transfer the good or
service to the customer is separately identifiable from other promises in the contract (i.e., the promise to transfer the good or service is distinct within the
context of the contract).

If a good or service is not distinct, the good or service is combined with other promised goods or services until a bundle of goods or services is identified
that is distinct.

The transaction price is the amount of consideration to which an entity expects to be entitled in exchange for transferring promised goods or services to a
customer. The consideration promised in a contract with a customer may include fixed amounts, variable amounts, or both. When determining the
transaction price, an entity must consider the effects of all of the following:

● Variable consideration

● Constraining estimates of variable consideration

● The existence of a significant financing component in the contract

● Noncash consideration

● Consideration payable to a customer

Variable consideration is included in the transaction price only to the extent that it is probable that a significant reversal in the amount of cumulative
revenue recognized will not occur when the uncertainty associated with the variable consideration is subsequently resolved. The transaction price is
allocated to each performance obligation on a relative standalone selling price basis. The transaction price allocated to each performance obligation is
recognized when that performance obligation is satisfied, at a point in time or over time as appropriate.
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Mining Pool

The Company has entered into an arrangement with a cryptocurrency mining pool (the Foundry USA Pool) to provide computing power to the mining pool 
in exchange for consideration. The arrangement is terminable at any time without substantial penalty by either party and the contract term is deemed to be 
24 hours.  The Company’s enforceable right to compensation only begins when and continues while the Company provides computing power to its 
customer, the mining pool operator. The mining pool applies the Full Pay Per Share (“FPPS”) model. Under the FPPS model, in exchange for providing 
computing power to the pool, the Company is entitled to pay-per-share base amount and transaction fee reward compensation, calculated on a daily basis, at 
an amount that approximates the total bitcoin that could have been mined and transaction fees that could have been awarded using the Company’s 
computing power, based upon the then current blockchain difficulty. Under this model, the Company is entitled to compensation regardless of whether the 
pool operator successfully records a block to the bitcoin blockchain.  

Providing computing power to a mining pool for cryptocurrency transaction verification services is an output of the Company’s ordinary activities. The 
provision of such computing power is the sole performance obligation. The transaction consideration the Company receives, if any, is non-cash 
consideration and is all variable.  Because cryptocurrency is considered non-cash consideration, fair value of the cryptocurrency award received is 
determined using the quoted price of the related cryptocurrency in the Company’s principal market at the time of contract inception, which is deemed daily.  
Revenue is recognized when it is probable that a significant reversal in the amount of cumulative revenue recognized will not occur.  After every 24-hour 
contract term, the mining pool transfers the cryptocurrency consideration to our designated cryptocurrency wallet.

There is no significant financing component in these transactions. There may be, however, consideration payable to the customer in the form of a pool
operator fee; this fee, if any, is deducted from the proceeds the Company receives and is recorded as contra-revenue, as it does not represent a payment for a
distinct good or service.

Data Center Hosting

The Company’s current hosting contracts are service contracts with a single performance obligation. The service the Company provides primarily includes 
hosting the customers’ miners in a physically secure data center with electrical power, internet connectivity, ambient air cooling and available maintenance 
resources.  Hosting revenue is recognized over time as the customer simultaneously receives and consumes the benefits of the Company’s performance. The 
Company recognizes hosting revenue to the extent that a significant reversal of such revenue will not occur. Data center hosting customers are invoiced and 
payments are due on a monthly basis.  While the majority of consideration is paid in cash, certain consideration is payable in cryptocurrency.  Because 
cryptocurrency is considered non-cash consideration, fair value of the cryptocurrency award received is determined using the quoted price of the related 
cryptocurrency in the Company’s principal market at the time of contract inception.  The Company has one data center hosting contract with a customer,
which expires in December 2023, for which the quoted price of bitcoin in the Company’s principal market at the time of contract inception was
approximately $38,000.  The Company recorded miner hosting revenue of $4.6 million and $0 during the year ended December 31, 2022 and the period
February 8, 2021 (date of inception) to December 31, 2021, respectively.

Cryptocurrencies

Cryptocurrencies, including bitcoin, are included in current assets in the consolidated balance sheets due to the Company’s ability to
sell it in a highly liquid marketplace and its intent to liquidate its cryptocurrencies to support operations when needed. Cryptocurrencies earned by the
Company through the provision of computing power to a mining pool and hosting activities are accounted for in connection with the Company’s revenue
recognition policy disclosed above.

Cryptocurrencies are accounted for as intangible assets with indefinite useful lives. An intangible asset with an indefinite useful life is not amortized but 
assessed for impairment on a continuous basis through the entirety of its holding period.  Impairment exists when the carrying amount exceeds its fair 
value, which is measured using the quoted price of the cryptocurrency at the time its fair value is being measured, which is based on the intraday low 
quoted price of the cryptocurrency reported in the Company’s principal market. To the extent an impairment loss is recognized, the loss establishes the new 
cost basis of the asset. Subsequent reversal of impairment losses is not permitted.
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Sales of cryptocurrencies by the Company and cryptocurrencies awarded to the Company, including as compensation for data center hosting services, are 
included within cash flows from operating activities on the consolidated statements of cash flows.  The Company will account for its gains or losses in 
accordance with the first in first out (“FIFO”) method of accounting.  The following table presents digital currency activity (in thousands)

Year Ended
Period February 8, 2021

(date of inception) to
December 31, December 31, 

2022 2021
Beginning balance $ — $ —
Bitcoin received from mining pool and hosting services  10,810 —
Impairment  (1,457)  —
Disposition (9,170) —
Ending balance $ 183 $ —

Cost of Revenue

Cost of revenue for mining pool revenue is comprised primarily of direct costs of electricity, but excludes depreciation which is separately stated.  Cost of
revenue for data center hosting is comprised primarily of direct costs of electricity, labor and internet provision.

Stock-based Compensation

The Company periodically issues restricted stock units to employees and non-employees in non-capital raising transactions for services.  In accordance with 
the authoritative guidance for share-based payments FASB ASC 718 “Compensation – Stock Compensation,” the Company measures stock-
based compensation cost at the grant date, based on the estimated fair value of the award. For restricted stock units, the fair value is determined by the 
Company’s stock price on the date of grant.  The Company has not issued stock options.  Expense for restricted stock units and stock options is recognized 
on a straight-line basis over the employee’s or non-employee’s requisite service period. The Company accounts for forfeitures as they occur. The Company 
recognizes excess tax benefits or deficiencies on vesting or settlement of awards as discrete items within income tax benefit or provision within net income 
(loss) and the related cash flows are classified within operating activities.

Power Curtailment Credits

Payments received for participation in demand response programs are recorded as a reduction in cost of revenue in the consolidated statements of 
operations.   The Company recorded power curtailment credits of approximately $0.1 million and $0 during the year ended December 31, 2022 and the
period February 8, 2021 (date of inception) to December 31, 2021, respectively.

Loss per Share

The Company computes earnings (loss) per share using the two-class method required for participating securities. The two-class method requires income
available to common stockholders for the period to be allocated between common stock and participating securities based upon their respective rights to
receive dividends as if all income for the period had been distributed.

Basic loss per share of common stock is computed by dividing the Company’s net loss attributed to common stockholders (adjusted for preferred stock 
dividends declared or accumulated) by the weighted average number of shares of common stock outstanding during the period. Convertible preferred stock, 
which are participating securities because they share in a pro rata basis any dividends declared on common stock but because they do not have the 
obligation to share in the loss of the Company, are excluded from the calculation of basic net loss per share.  Diluted loss per share reflects the effect on 
weighted average shares outstanding of the number of additional shares outstanding if potentially dilutive instruments, if any, were converted into common 
stock using the treasury stock method or as-converted method as appropriate. The computation of diluted loss per share does not include dilutive 
instruments in the 
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weighted average shares outstanding, as they would be anti-dilutive. The Company’s dilutive instruments or participating securities as of December 31, 
2022 include convertible preferred stock, convertible promissory notes, common stock warrants and restricted stock units issued for services.  The 
Company had no dilutive instruments or participating securities as of December 31, 2021.  If the entire liquidation preference of the Convertible Preferred
Stock (as defined in Note 14) was converted at its conversion price as of December 31, 2022, the Company would issue approximately 1.0 million shares
of Common Stock. If the Convertible Notes (as defined in Note 10) were converted at the then effective conversion price as of December 31, 2022, the
Company would issue approximately 8.6 million shares of Common Stock. As of December 31, 2022, Common Stock warrants outstanding were
18,972,334 with a weighted average strike price of $0.95 and total restricted stock units outstanding were 2,013,832.

Concentrations

The Company or its joint venture have contracted with two suppliers for the provision of bitcoin miners and one mining pool operator. The Company does 
not believe that these counterparties represent a significant performance risk.  Revenue from one data center hosting customer represents 20.8% of 
consolidated revenue.  The Company expects to operate bitcoin mining facilities. While the Company may choose to mine other cryptocurrencies in the 
future, it has no plans to do so currently. If the market value of bitcoin declines significantly, the consolidated financial condition and results of operations 
of the Company may be adversely affected.

Recent Accounting Standards

In May 2021, the FASB issued Accounting Standards Update  (“ASU”) 2021-04, Earnings Per Share (Topic 260), Debt-Modifications and
Extinguishments (Subtopic 470-50), Compensation-Stock Compensation (Topic 718), and Derivatives and Hedging-Contracts in Entity’s Own Equity
(Subtopic 815-40), (“ASU 2021-04”). This ASU reduces diversity in an issuer’s accounting for modifications or exchanges of freestanding equity-classified
written call options (for example, warrants) that remain equity classified after modification or exchange. This ASU provides guidance for a modification or
an exchange of a freestanding equity-classified written call option that is not within the scope of another Topic. It specifically addresses: (1) how an entity
should treat a modification of the terms or conditions or an exchange of a freestanding equity-classified written call option that remains equity classified
after modification or exchange; (2) how an entity should measure the effect of a modification or an exchange of a freestanding equity-classified written call
option that remains equity classified after modification or exchange; and (3) how an entity should recognize the effect of a modification or an exchange of a
freestanding equity-classified written call option that remains equity classified after modification or exchange. This ASU was effective for all entities for
fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2021. An entity should apply the amendments prospectively to modifications or exchanges occurring on or after 
the effective date of the amendments.  The adoption of ASU 2021-04 on January 1, 2022 did not have a material impact on the Company’s consolidated 
financial statements or disclosures.

In June 2022, the FASB issued ASU 2022-03, “Fair Value Measurement of Equity Securities Subject to Contractual Sale Restrictions” (“ASU 2022-03”).
 ASU 2022-03 was issued to (1) to clarify the guidance in Topic 820, Fair Value Measurement, when measuring the fair value of an equity security subject
to contractual restrictions that prohibit the sale of an equity security, (2) to amend a related illustrative example and (3) to introduce new disclosure
requirements for equity securities subject to contractual sale restrictions that are measured at fair value in accordance with Topic 820. The amendments in
this update are effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2023, including interim periods within those fiscal years. Early adoption is permitted.
The Company is evaluating the impact of the accounting and disclosure requirements of ASU 2022-03 on the Company’s consolidated financial statements
and disclosures.

NOTE 3 – BUSINESS COMBINATION

On June 25, 2021, TeraCub entered into the Merger Agreement with RM 101 (formerly known as IKONICS Corporation), a public company registered on 
the National Association of Securities Dealers Automated Quotations (“Nasdaq”), pursuant to which, among other things, TeraCub would effectively 
acquire RM 101 and become a publicly traded company on the Nasdaq, which was the primary purpose of the business combination.  The closing date of 
the acquisition was December 13, 2021.
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Under the terms of the Merger Agreement, each share of RM 101 common stock issued and outstanding immediately prior to the transaction close, as
defined (the “Closing”), was automatically converted into and exchanged for (i) one validly issued, fully paid and nonassessable share of Common Stock of
the surviving public company, TeraWulf, (ii) one contractual contingent value right (“CVR”) to a Contingent Value Rights Agreement (“CVR Agreement”
as discussed below) and (iii) the right to receive $5.00 in cash, without interest.  

Pursuant to the CVR Agreement, each shareholder of RM 101 as of immediately prior to the Closing, received one non-transferable CVR for each
outstanding share of common stock of RM 101 then held. The holders of the CVRs are entitled to receive 95% of the Net Proceeds (as defined in the CVR 
Agreement), if any, from the sale, transfer, disposition, spin-off, or license of all or any part of the pre-merger business of RM 101.  Payments under the 
CVR Agreement are calculated quarterly and are subject to a reserve of up to 10% of the Gross Proceeds (as defined in the CVR Agreement) from such
transaction or more under certain conditions. The CVRs do not confer to the holders thereof any voting or equity or ownership interest in TeraWulf. The
CVRs are not transferable, except in limited circumstances, and will not be listed on any quotation system or traded on any securities exchange. The CVR
Agreement will terminate after all payment obligations to the holders thereof have been satisfied. Holders of CVRs will not be eligible to receive payment
for dispositions, if any, of any part of the pre-merger business of RM 101 after the eighteen-month anniversary of the Closing.

On April 15, 2022, a Definitive Agreement was signed whereby RM 101 agreed to sell a certain property, including a warehouse, to a third party for $7.0 
million.  The Definitive Agreement includes certain indemnifications which are subject to an $850,000 limitation and which expire in August 2023.  No 
indemnification claims have been made as of the date these financial statements were available to be issued.  In July 2022, the transaction price was 
adjusted to $6.7 million and the transaction close occurred in August 2022 with net sale proceeds of $6.2 million.   

In April 2022, the Company became aware of certain potential environmental remediation that may be required on a property of RM 101.  The site was 
enrolled in the Voluntary Investigation and Cleanup program with the Minnesota Pollution Control Agency (“MPCA”).  In June 2022, the MPCA issued a 
No Action Determination for Soil letter regarding soil findings related to arsenic, lead, mercury and polynuclear aromatic hydrocarbons identified in the 
soil samples.  In December 2022, the MPCA issued a Technical Assistance Letter: Completion of Soil Vapor Assessment advising of successful 
completion of the soil vapor investigation.  The Company was not required to undertake any related remediation activities.

On August 5, 2022, an Asset Purchase Agreement (the “APA”) was signed whereby RM 101 agreed to sell (i) certain property, including a warehouse and
a building which houses manufacturing, operations and administration, (ii) substantially all of its working capital and (iii) its historical business to a third
party for $6.5 million plus or minus the amount of actual net working capital as compared to a target net working capital.  The APA was structured as an 
asset sale and includes a net working capital true up provision.  The APA included certain indemnifications which were subject to a $650,000 limitation and 
a related escrow of that amount upon consummation of the transaction.  Substantially all of the remaining purchase price was placed into escrow upon 
consummation of the transaction pending the completion of remaining aforementioned environmental testing and remediation resulting therefrom, if any.  
The environmental escrow would be released upon completion of any remediation work required and a receipt of a No Action Determination from the 
MPCA.  The transaction close occurred in August 2022 with net sale proceeds of approximately $7.0 million, net of the final working capital adjustment, 
which is included in restricted cash in the consolidated balance sheet as of December 31, 2022.  In February 2023, all escrowed funds were released to the 
Company.

Consideration Transferred

The following table summarizes the fair value of the aggregate consideration paid for RM 101 (in thousands):

Cash consideration     $ 13,712
Equity instruments: 1,999,525 shares of TeraWulf Inc.  40,590
Contingent consideration: Contingent Value Rights  12,000

$ 66,302
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As of December 31, 2022, the amount recognized for the CVR contingent consideration was remeasured to a fair value of $10.9 million.  The $1.1 million 
gain on remeasurement is included in loss from discontinued operations, net of tax in the consolidated statement of operations for the year ended December 
31, 2022.  

The Company’s consolidated financial statements include the operating results of RM 101 beginning on December 13, 2021, the date of the acquisition. An
operating loss of $6.0 million and $49.1 million related to the RM 101’s business has been reflected in loss from discontinued operations, net of tax in the
Company’s consolidated statements of operations for the year ended December 31, 2022 and the period February 8, 2021 (date of inception) to December
31, 2021, respectively.

NOTE 4 – ASSETS HELD FOR SALE AND DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS

Upon acquisition, the RM 101 business met the assets held-for-sale and discontinued operations criteria and is reflected as discontinued operations held for
sale in these consolidated financial statements. The Company determined that the RM 101 business qualified as assets held for sale as management
committed to a plan to sell the business, the business was in readily sellable form and it was deemed probable that the business would be sold in a twelve-
month period. The structure of the business combination, through the CVR Agreement, contemplated the sale of the RM 101 legacy business whereby the
Company would become solely a bitcoin mining focused entity. The Merger Agreement required RM 101, after the Closing, to use its reasonable best
efforts to consummate a sale of its legacy business as soon as reasonably practicable. The CVR Agreement provides that 95% of the net proceeds of the
disposition, as defined, of the RM 101 business accrue to the historical stockholders of RM 101 if the disposition is consummated within eighteen months 
from the Closing.  As of December 31, 2022, all assets previously held for sale had been sold.  In accordance with the CVR Agreement, on March 1, 2023, 
the Company made an initial distribution of $3.8 million of proceeds to the CVR holders.

The assets and liabilities of RM 101, if any, are presented separately in current assets held for sale and current liabilities held for sale, respectively, in the
consolidated balance sheets at December 31, 2022 and 2021, and consist of the following (in thousands):

December 31, 2022     December 31, 2021
Trade receivables $ —     $ 1,327
Inventories  —  3,737
Prepaid expenses and other current assets  —  944
Property, plant and equipment  —  10,036
Intangible assets  —  3,304

Current assets held for sale $ — $ 19,348

Accounts payable $ — $ 1,207
Accrued compensation  —  439
Other accrued liabilities  —  109

Current liabilities held for sale $ — $ 1,755

During the year ended December 31, 2022, the Company determined that change in circumstance indicated that the then carrying amount of the RM 101’s
long-lived assets may not have been recoverable and recognized an impairment loss in loss on discontinued operations, net of tax of $4.5 million to write
down the related carrying amounts to their fair values less estimated cost to sell. The loss
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from discontinued operations, net of tax presented in the consolidated statement of operations for the year ended December 31, 2022 and the period
February 8, 2021 (date of inception) to December 31, 2021 consists of the following (in thousands):

Period February
8, 2021 (date of

Year Ended       inception) to
December 31, December 31, 

2022     2021
Net sales $ 10,843 $ 676
Cost of goods sold  8,129  487
Gross profit  2,714  189
Selling, general and administrative expenses  3,451  388
Research and development expenses  437  20
Impairment on remeasurement or classification as held for sale  4,541  48,887
Loss on sale of net assets held for sale 239 —
Loss from discontinued operations before other income (5,954)  (49,106)
Interest expense (12) —
Other income 23 —
Loss from discontinued operations before income tax  (5,943) (49,106)
Income tax expense  (14)  —
Loss from discontinued operations, net of tax $ (5,957) $ (49,106)

Loss from discontinued operations, net of tax in the consolidated statement of operations for the year ended December 31, 2022 also includes the $1.1
million gain on CVR remeasurement.  Total cash flows used in operating activities from discontinued operations was $1.8 million and $3.0 million in the
consolidated statements of cash flows for the year ended December 31, 2022 and the period February 8, 2021 (date of inception) to December 31, 2021,
respectively.

NOTE 5 – FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS

Fair value is an exit price, representing the amount that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between
market participants. As such, fair value is a market-based measurement that should be determined based on assumptions that market participants would use
in pricing an asset or liability. As a basis for considering such assumptions, a three-level fair value hierarchy prioritizing the inputs to valuation techniques
is used to measure fair value. The levels are as follows: (Level 1) observable inputs such as quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities;
(Level 2) observable inputs for similar assets or liabilities in active markets; quoted prices for identical or similar assets or liabilities in markets that are not
active; or inputs other than quoted prices that are observable either directly or indirectly from market data; and (Level 3) unobservable inputs in which
there is little or no market data, which require the Company to develop its own assumptions. This hierarchy requires the Company to use observable market
data, when available, and to minimize the use of unobservable inputs when determining fair value.

The following table illustrates the financial instruments measured at fair value on a non-recurring basis segregated by hierarchy fair value levels as of
December 31, 2022 (in thousands):

Significant Significant 
Quoted Prices Other Other 

 in Active Observable  Unobservable
Markets Inputs  Inputs Remeasurement

    Carrying Value      (Level 1)     (Level 2)      (Level 3)     Gain     Impairment
Contingent consideration liability - Contingent Value
Rights (1) $ 10,900 $ — $ 10,900 $ — $ 1,100 $ —

$ 10,900 $ — $ 10,900 $ — $ 1,100 $ —
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(1) During the year ended December 31, 2022, the Company changed the valuation approach from the use of other unobservable inputs to other 
observable inputs based on information obtained through the active marketing and sale of the underlying assets.  

The following table illustrates the financial instruments measured at fair value on a non-recurring basis segregated by hierarchy fair value levels as of
December 31, 2021 (in thousands):

Significant Significant 
Quoted Prices Other Other 

 in Active Observable  Unobservable
Markets Inputs  Inputs 

    Carrying Value      (Level 1)     (Level 2)      (Level 3)     Impairment
Contingent consideration liability - Contingent Value Rights
(1) $ 12,000 $ — $ — $ 12,000 $ —

$ 12,000 $ — $ — $ 12,000 $ —

Goodwill $ — $ — $ — $ — $ 48,338
Long-lived assets held for sale - intangible assets (2) 3,304 — — 3,304 136

$ 3,304 $ — $ — $ 3,304 $ 48,474

(1) At December 31, 2021, the significant unobservable inputs used to estimate fair value include (1) a business enterprise value of $15.9 million, (2) an
implied probability of sale of 90% and (3) estimated transaction and other deductible costs of $1.6 million. The significant unobservable inputs used
in applying the income approach include a discount rate of 11.5% and a long-term growth rate of 2.5%.

(2) At December 31, 2021, the significant unobservable inputs used to estimate fair value include an attrition rate of 4% to 10% (with a weighted
average of 8%) and a discount rate of 27% for customer relationships, twelve months’ time to recreate for developed technology and a royalty rate
of 0.5% and a discount rate of 27% for trade names.   

The Company has determined the long-term debt fair value as of December 31, 2022 is approximately $124.1 million (see Note 9).  The Company has 
determined the Convertible Notes (as defined in note 10) fair value as of December 31, 2022 approximates its book value due to the short duration between 
the issuance of the convertible promissory notes and December 31, 2022.  The carrying values of cash and cash equivalents, restricted cash, prepaid
expenses, amounts due from related parties, other current assets, accounts payable, accrued construction liabilities, other accrued liabilities and other
amounts due to related parties are considered to be representative of their respective fair values principally due to their short-term maturities. There were no
additional material non-recurring fair value measurements as of December 31, 2022 and 2021, except for the calculation of fair value of Common Stock
warrants issued in connection with an amendment to the Company’s long-term debt agreement (see Note 9) or in connection with the issuance of Common
Stock (see Note 15), the change in fair value of embedded derivatives in certain of the Company’s convertible promissory notes (see Note 14), the
calculation of fair value of nonmonetary assets distributed from the Company’s joint venture (see Note 11), the calculation of the allocation of the RM 101
purchase price to the fair values of the assets acquired and liabilities assumed and the impairment loss upon RM 101’s classification as held for sale.

The Company utilized a Black-Scholes option pricing model and the application of a discount for lack of marketability (“DLOM”) to value its Common
Stock warrants issued in connection with the New Term Facility (as defined in Note 9). The estimated fair value of the warrants is determined using Level 3 
inputs. Inherent in the model and fair value estimate are assumptions related to expected share-price volatility, expected life, risk-free interest rate, dividend 
yield and DLOM. The Company estimates volatility based on public company peer group volatility over the contractual term of the warrants. The risk-free 
interest rate is based on the U.S. Treasury rate on the grant date for a maturity similar to the expected life of the warrants, which is assumed to be equivalent 
to their contractual term. The dividend rate is based on the historical rate, which the Company anticipates remaining at zero.  The Company applied a 
DLOM of 20%.   
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NOTE 6 — PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Property, plant and equipment, net consists of the following (in thousands):

    December 31, 2022     December 31, 2021
Miners $ 71,114 $ —
Construction in process 32,360 20,867
Leasehold improvements 29,880 —
Equipment  7,208  19
Deposits on miners  57,626  70,560

 198,188  91,446
Less: accumulated depreciation  (6,667)  —

$ 191,521 $ 91,446

The Company capitalizes a portion of the interest on funds borrowed to finance its capital expenditures. Capitalized interest is recorded as part of an asset’s
cost and is depreciated over the asset’s useful life. Capitalized interest costs were $5.3 million and $94,000 for the year ended December 31, 2022 and the
period February 8, 2021 (date of inception) to December 31, 2021, respectively.

Depreciation expense was $6.7 million and $0 for the year ended December 31, 2022 and the period February 8, 2021 (date of inception) to December 31,
2021, respectively.

NOTE 7 — LEASES

Effective in May 2021, the Company entered into a ground lease (the “Ground Lease”) related to its planned bitcoin mining facility in New York with a 
counterparty which is a related party due to control by a member of Company management. The Ground Lease includes fixed payments and contingent 
payments, including an annual escalation based on the change in the Consumer Price Index as well as the Company’s proportionate share of the landlord’s 
cost to own, operate and maintain the premises.  The Ground Lease originally had an initial term of five years commencing in May 2021 and a renewal term
of five years at the option of the Company, subject to the Company not then being in default, as defined.  In July 2022, the Ground Lease was amended to 
increase the initial term of the lease to eight years and to amend certain other non-financial sections to adjust environmental obligations, site access rights 
and leasehold mortgage rights.  In September 2022, the compensation due to the landlord for entering into the lease amendment was finalized with a 
compensatory amount of $12.0 million, issuable in shares of Common Stock determined using a trailing volume weighted average price.  In September 
2022, the Company issued 8,510,638 shares in satisfaction of this obligation.  The Common Stock issued had a fair value of $11.5 million at the date of 
issuance.  The Ground Lease, which is classified as an operating lease, has been remeasured as of the date of the amendment, resulting in an increase of
$11.2 million to both right-of-use asset and operating lease liability in the consolidated balance sheets.  The Ground Lease remains classified as an operating 
lease based on the remeasurement analysis that utilized a discount rate of 12.6%, which is an estimate of the Company’s incremental borrowing rate based 
on the estimated rate of interest for collateralized borrowing over a similar term of the lease payments at the remeasurement date.  Upon expiration of the 
lease, the buildings and improvements on the premises will revert to the landlord in good order.  Payments under the lease commenced in 2021. For the year 
ended December 31, 2022, the Company recorded operating lease expense of $932,000, including contingent expense of $298,000, in operating expenses –
related party in the consolidated statement of operations and made cash lease payments of $222,000 in addition to the issuance of the aforementioned 
Common Stock.  For the period February 8, 2021 (date of inception) to December 31, 2021, the Company recorded operating lease expense of $107,000 in
operating expenses – related party in the consolidated statement of operations and made no cash lease payments.  The remaining lease term based on the 
terms of the amended Ground Lease as of December 31, 2022 is 11.4 years.
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The following is a maturity analysis of the annual undiscounted cash flows of the estimated operating lease liabilities as of December 31, 2022 (in
thousands):

Year ending December 31:       
2023 $ 163
2024  163
2025  163
2026  163
2027  163

Thereafter  1,044
$ 1,859

A reconciliation of the undiscounted cash flows to the operating lease liabilities recognized in the consolidated balance sheet as of December 31, 2022
follows (in thousands):

Undiscounted cash flows of the operating lease     $ 1,859
Unamortized discount  870
Total operating lease liability  989
Current portion of operating lease liability  42
Operating lease liability, net of current portion $ 947

During the year ended December 31, 2022, the Company entered into a short term lease arrangement for digital currency mining equipment. The term of the
operating lease was two months and concluded in May 2022.  There were no variable charges under this arrangement.  For the year ended December 31,
2022, lease expense related to this arrangement of $1.3 million was recorded in operating expenses in the consolidated statement of operations.  The
Company periodically enters into short term lease arrangements for operating equipment and recorded $398,000 under these short term lease arrangements
in operating expenses in the consolidated statement of operations for the year ended December 31, 2022.

NOTE 8 – INCOME TAXES

The components of net loss before income tax for continuing operations (comprised of the total of loss before income tax and equity in net loss of investee
and equity in net loss of investee, net of tax) for the year ended December 31, 2022 and the period February 8, 2021 (date of inception) to December 31,
2021 are as follows (in thousands):

Period February
8, 2021 (date of

Year Ended   inception) to
December 31, December 31, 

    2022     2021
Domestic  $ (86,190) $ (47,192)
Foreign  —  —
Total  $ (86,190) $ (47,192)

The Company’s income tax benefit for continuing operations for the year ended December 31, 2022 and the period February 8, 2021 (date of inception) to
December 31, 2021 are as follows (in thousands):
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Period February
8, 2021 (date of

Year Ended   inception) to
December 31, December 31, 

    2022     2021
Current:       

Federal  $ —  $ —
State  —  —
Foreign — —

Total current income tax (benefit) expense  —  —

Deferred:       
Federal  (256) (615)
State  —  —
Foreign 0 0

Total deferred income tax benefit  (256) (615)
Income tax benefit  $ (256) $ (615)

A reconciliation between income tax benefit and the expected tax benefit at the statutory rate for the year ended December 31, 2022 and the period
February 8, 2021 (date of inception) to December 31, 2021 are as follows:

Period February 8,
2021 (date of

Year Ended   inception) to
December 31, December 31, 

2022 2021
Federal statutory rate 21.0 %  21.0 %  
State rate, net of federal benefit 3.0 %  — %  
Non-deductible equity financing costs — %  (2.7)%  
Change in valuation allowance (24.6)%  (17.0)%  
Other items 0.9 %  — %  
Effective tax rate 0.3 %  1.3 %  

The significant components of the Company’s deferred tax liabilities, net consist of the following at December 31, 2022 and 2021 (in thousands):

    December 31, 2022     December 31, 2021
Deferred tax assets:

Net operating loss  $ 21,599  $ 6,678
Share based liabilities  3,811  2,630
Accruals and reserves  1,632  470
Tax credit carryforwards  —  278
Property, plant and equipment 458 —
Operating lease liability 259 227
Investment in joint venture 1,520 —
Stock compensation  410  —

Gross deferred tax assets  29,689  10,283
Valuation allowance  (29,464) (8,295)
Deferred tax assets, net  225  1,988

Deferred tax liabilities:       
Property, plant and equipment  — (899)
Intangible assets  — (723)
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Inventory  — (407)
Right-of-use asset  (225) (215)

Gross deferred tax liabilities (225) (2,244)
Deferred tax liabilities, net  $ —  $ (256)

ASC 740 requires a valuation allowance to reduce the deferred tax assets reported if, based on the weight of available evidence, it is more likely than not 
that some or a portion or all the deferred tax assets will not be realized.  Based upon the level of historical U.S. losses and future projections over the period 
in which the net deferred tax assets are deductible, at this time, management believes it is more likely than not that the Company will not realize the 
benefits of the remaining deductible temporary differences, and as a result the Company has recorded a valuation allowance for the total, net deferred tax 
assets.   The increase in the December 31, 2022 valuation allowance of $21.2 million is primarily attributable to the current year net loss.

As of December 31, 2022 and, 2021, for federal income tax purposes the Company had total net operating loss carryforwards of approximately $96.3
million and $31.5 million, respectively. As of December 31, 2022, the net operating losses will have an indefinite carryforward as a result of the Tax Cuts 
and Jobs Act, but may be limited in utilization to 80% of taxable income.  For state income tax purposes, as of December 31, 2022 and 2021 the Company 
had state net operating loss carryforwards of approximately $22.1 million and $0.7 million, respectively, which begin to expire in 2039.

As of December 31, 2022 and 2021, the Company has available federal research development tax credit carryforwards of approximately $0 and
approximately $100,000, respectively. As of December 31, 2022 and  2021, the Company has available state research development tax credit carryforwards 
of approximately $0 and approximately $100,000, respectively.

Under the provisions of the Internal Revenue Code, the net operating loss and tax credit carryforwards are subject to review and possible adjustment by the 
Internal Revenue Service and state tax authorities. The Company has not completed a formal study to conclude whether an annual limitation may exist.  Net 
operating loss and tax credit carryforwards may become subject to an annual limitation in the event of certain cumulative changes in the ownership interest 
of significant shareholders over a three-year period in excess of 50%, as defined under Sections 382 and 383 of the Internal Revenue Code, respectively, as 
well as similar state provisions. This could limit the amount of tax attributes that can be utilized annually to offset future taxable income or tax liabilities. 
The amount of the annual limitation is determined based on the value of the Company immediately prior to the ownership change. Subsequent ownership 
changes may further affect the limitation in future years. 

The Company follows the provisions of ASC 740-10, Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes, which specifies how tax benefits for uncertain tax
positions are to be recognized, measured, and recorded in consolidated financial statements; requires certain disclosures of uncertain tax matters; specifies
how reserves for uncertain tax positions should be classified on the consolidated balance sheet; and provides transition and interim period guidance, among
other provisions. At December 31, 2022 and 2021, the Company has not recorded any long-term liabilities for uncertain tax positions. The Company’s
policy is to recognize interest and penalties accrued on any uncertain tax positions as a component of income tax expense, if any, in its consolidated
statements of operations. For the year ended December 31, 2022 and the period February 8, 2021 (date of inception) to December 31, 2021, no estimated
interest or penalties were recognized on uncertain tax positions.

The Company files income tax returns in the U.S. federal tax jurisdiction and various state jurisdictions. Since the Company is in a loss carryforward
position, the Company is generally subject to examination by the U.S. federal, state and local income tax authorities for all years in which a loss
carryforward is available. The statute of limitations for assessment by federal and state tax jurisdictions in which the Company has business operations is
open for the tax year ended December 31, 2022. The tax years subject to examination vary by jurisdiction.

NOTE 9 – DEBT

Promissory Notes

Between October 4, 2021 and November 19, 2021, the Company obtained loans (each, a “Loan”) from its three largest stockholders in an aggregate
principal amount of $25.0 million, each evidenced by a promissory note, certain of which were amended and restated
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subsequent to issuance. Interest on the unpaid principal balance of each Loan accrued at a rate of 8% per annum and was paid in kind and added to the
principal balance of such Loan on a monthly basis. The outstanding principal amount of each Loan, together with all accrued and unpaid interest thereon,
was due and payable in full on the earliest to occur of: (i) the issuance of equity securities by the Company or any of its subsidiaries under any offering in
an amount greater than $50.0 million; and (ii) the first anniversary of the issuance date of such Loan. The Company could have prepaid the outstanding
principal balance of the Loans, in whole or in part, without penalty or premium at any time prior to the applicable maturity date. In December 2021, the
Loans were repaid in full.

Long-Term Debt

Long-term debt consists of the following as of December 31, 2022 and 2021 (in thousands):

December 31, 2022     December 31, 2021
Term loan $ 146,000     $ 123,500
Debt issuance costs and debt discount  (21,095)  (28,873)

 124,905  94,627
Less long-term debt due within one year  51,938  —
Total long-term debt, net of portion due within one year $ 72,967 $ 94,627

On December 1, 2021, TeraCub entered into a Loan, Guaranty and Security Agreement with Wilmington Trust, National Association as administrative
agent (the “LGSA”). The LGSA consists of a $123.5 million term loan facility (the “Term Loan”). On December 14, 2021, TeraWulf executed a joinder
agreement whereby it effectively became the successor borrower to TeraCub and assumed all obligations under the LGSA. Prior to an amendment to the
LGSA in March 2023 (see Note 19), the Company was required to pay the outstanding principal balance of the Term Loan in quarterly installments,
commencing in April 2023, equal to 12.5% of the original principal amount of the Term Loan. The maturity date of the Term Loan is December 1, 2024.
The Term Loan bears an interest rate of 11.5% and an upfront fee of 1%, an amount of approximately $1.2 million. Upon the occurrence and during the
continuance of an event of default, as defined, the applicable interest rate will be 13.5%. Interest payments are due quarterly in arrears. The Company has
the option to prepay all or any portion of the Term Loan in increments of at least $5.0 million subject to certain prepayment fees, including:  (1) if paid 
prior to the first anniversary of the LGSA, a make whole amount based on the present value of the unpaid interest that would have been paid on the prepaid 
principal amount over the first year of the Term Loan, (2) if paid subsequent to the first anniversary of the LGSA but prior to the second anniversary of the 
LGSA, an amount of 3% of the prepaid principal and (3) if paid subsequent to the second anniversary of the LGSA but prior to the maturity date of the
LGSA, an amount of 2% of the prepaid principal. Certain events, as described in the LGSA, require mandatory prepayment. The Term Loan is guaranteed
by TeraWulf Inc. and TeraCub and its subsidiaries, as defined, and is collateralized by substantially all of the properties, rights and assets of TeraWulf Inc.
and TeraCub and its subsidiaries (except RM 101), as defined. One Term Loan investor, NovaWulf Digital Master Fund, L.P., with a principal balance of
$15.0 million, is a related party due to cumulative voting control by members of Company management and a member of the Company’s board of 
directors.  In July 2022, NovaWulf Digital Master Fund, L.P. transferred a principal balance of $13.0 million of the Term Loan to NovaWulf Digital Private
Fund LLC.

In connection with the LGSA, the Company issued to the holders of the Term Loans 839,398 shares of Common Stock (the “Term Loan Equity”), which is
a quantity of Common Stock which represented 1.5% of the outstanding shares of the publicly registered shares of TeraWulf subsequent to the Closing. In
connection with the issuance of the Term Loans, the Company incurred aggregate issuance costs of approximately $4.0 million, in addition to the $1.2
million upfront fee. The aggregate issuance costs and the upfront fee were allocated to the Term Loan Equity and the Term Loan based on the relative fair
value method in the amounts of $1.1 million and $4.1 million, respectively. For the Term Loan, this $4.1 million was included in debt discount along with
the fair value of the Term Loan Equity, an amount of $25.7 million. The total of these items, an amount of $29.8 million, represents debt issuance costs and
debt discount and was deducted from the Term Loan proceeds and was being accreted into the long-term debt balance over the three-year term of the debt at
an effective interest rate of 12.9%, which was in addition to the stated interest rate.

In July 2022, the Company entered into an amendment to the LGSA.  This amendment provides for an additional $50.0 million term loan facility (the “New
Term Facility”). The New Term Facility has a maturity date of December 1, 2024, consistent with the existing term loans under the LGSA. The interest rate
with respect to the New Term Facility is consistent with the existing term loans under the LGSA, but the interest rate under the amended LGSA may be
increased, if applicable, to the cash interest rate on any junior capital
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raised plus 8.5%, if higher.  No interest rate adjustment has been made under this provision.  Pursuant to the New Term Facility, funds can be drawn in
three tranches. The $15.0 million first tranche (the "First Amendment Term Loan") was drawn at closing in July 2022, and the subsequent tranches of up to
$35 million (the “Delayed Draw Term Loan Commitment”) may be drawn at Company’s option prior to December 31, 2022, subject to certain conditions,
including the raising of matching junior capital, as defined. One First Amendment Term Loan investor, NovaWulf Digital Master Fund, L.P., with a
principal balance of $1.8 million, is a related party due to cumulative voting control by members of Company management and a member of the 
Company’s board of directors.  In July 2022, NovaWulf Digital Master Fund, L.P. transferred its principal balance of $1.8 million of the First Amendment 
Term Loan to NovaWulf Digital Private Fund LLC.  The amortization with respect to the first tranche of the New Term Facility is consistent with existing 
term loans under the LGSA. The loans under the subsequent tranches of the New Term Facility are repayable in quarterly installments on (i) April 5, 2024 
and July 8, 2024, equal to 12.50% of the original principal amount advanced under such tranches under the LGSA and (ii) October 7, 2024, equal to 37.5% 
of the original principal amount advanced under such tranches of the LGSA.  The New Term Facility required the Company to extend the initial term of the 
Ground Lease from five years to eight years.  The prepayment provisions remain unchanged for the Term Loan.  If the New Term Facility is repaid within
121 days of July 1, 2022, then a 3% prepayment penalty is due.  A prepayment thereafter results in no prepayment penalty.  

In connection with the New Term Facility, the Company paid an upfront fee of $125,000 and issued warrants to the lenders under the New Term Facility to
purchase 5,787,732 shares of Common Stock at $0.01 per share, an aggregate number of shares of the Company’s Common Stock equal to 5.0%
(comprised of 2% related to the Delayed Draw Term Loan Commitment and 3% related to the First Amendment Term Loan) of the then fully diluted equity 
of the Company.  In connection with the issuance of the New Term Facility, the Company also incurred aggregate issuance costs of approximately $1.5 
million, in addition to the aforementioned upfront fee.  If the Company draws subsequent tranches, it is required to issue warrants to the lenders to purchase 
shares of the Company’s Common Stock equal to dilution of 3.75% upon the issuance of a second tranche in the amount of $15.0 million and 4.25% upon
issuance of a third tranche in the amount of $20.0 million, in each case as a percentage of the then fully diluted equity of the Company, respectively. A 
certain portion of the warrants issued under the warrant agreement were originally subject to cancellation, upon the occurrence of certain conditions.  As of 
December 31, 2022, these warrants were no longer subject to cancellation and no cancellations occurred.  The warrants were subject to certain vesting 
restrictions, which expired on September 30, 2022 or October 30, 2022.  

The Company determined that debt modification accounting applies in connection with the New Term Facility.  Third party and upfront fees have been 
allocated pro rata between the First Amendment Term Loan and the Delayed Draw Term Loan Commitment.  Third-party fees of $445,000 related to the 
First Amendment Term loan have been expensed to interest expense in the consolidated statement of operations for the year ended December 31, 2022.  
Fees paid to lenders and the allocated value of the Common Stock warrants, an aggregate $3.5 million, related to the First Amendment Term Loan have
been included with the unamortized discount on the Term Loan and are being amortized as an adjustment of interest expense over the remaining term of the
modified LGSA at an effective rate of 13.1%.  

Fees paid and the fair value of the common stock warrants related to the Delayed Draw Term Loan Commitment, an aggregate $3.4 million, were 
capitalized to other assets (the “Commitment Fee Asset”) and were being amortized on a straight-line basis over the commitment period, which expired 
December 31, 2022.  If a tranche of the Delayed Draw Term Loan Commitment was drawn, the then related carrying value of the Commitment Fee Asset 
was derecognized and a discount on debt was recorded and amortized over the term of the commitment drawn.  For the year ended December 31, 2022, the 
Company amortized $3.1 million of the capitalized debt issuance costs and debt discount to interest expense in the consolidated statement of operations.

In October 2022, the Company entered into a third amendment (the “Third Amendment”) to the LGSA.  The Third Amendment divides the initial funding 
of up to $15.0 million of the Delayed Draw Term Loan Commitment under the LGSA into two tranches of up to $7.5 million each. The first tranche of $7.5 
million was borrowed upon the effectiveness of the Third Amendment on October 7, 2022.  In connection with the Third Amendment, the Company entered 
into an amendment and restatement of the warrant agreement related to the New Term Facility. The amended and restated warrant agreement provides that 
holders thereto are entitled to additional warrants to purchase an aggregate number of shares of Common Stock equal to an incremental 3.75%, to be
divided into two separate increments of 1.875% each, of the fully diluted equity of the Company, determined on the date of the funding of the two separate
sub-tranches of $7.5 million each pursuant to the Third Amendment.  One investor, NovaWulf Digital Private Fund LLC, with a principal balance of $0.9
million of the $7.5 million borrowing, is a related party due to cumulative voting control by members of Company management and a member of the 
Company’s board of directors.  In connection with the $7.5 million tranche borrowed upon
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effectiveness of the Third Amendment, the Company issued warrants to purchase 2,667,678  shares of Common Stock at $0.01 per share.  The fair value of 
the Common Stock warrants and the related proportional carrying value of the Commitment Fee Asset, an aggregate $2.9 million, related to Third
Amendment have been included with the unamortized discount on the $7.5 million draw and are being amortized as an adjustment of interest expense over
the remaining term of the LGSA at an effective rate of 25.1%.

The LGSA, as amended, requires the Company to maintain or meet certain affirmative, negative and reporting covenants. The affirmative covenants
include, among other things, a requirement for the Company to maintain insurance coverage, maintain mining equipment and comply in all material
respects with the Company’s Nautilus joint venture agreement (see Note 11), each as defined. The negative covenants restrict or limit the Company’s ability
to, among other things, incur debt, create liens, divest or acquire assets, make restricted payments and permit the Company’s interest in the Nautilus joint
venture to be reduced below 25%, each as defined. The LGSA also contains usual and customary events of default. If an event of default occurs and is
continuing, the then outstanding obligations under the LGSA may become immediately due and payable.

For the aggregate LGSA long-term debt for the year ended December 31, 2022, the Company amortized $14.2 million of the capitalized debt issuance
costs and debt discount to (1) interest expense of $9.3 million in the consolidated statement of operations, (2) capitalized interest in property, plant and
equipment, net of $2.6 million in the consolidated balance sheet and (3) capitalized interest in equity in net assets of investee of $2.3 million in the
consolidated balance sheet. Capitalized debt issuance costs and debt discount of $21.1 million and $28.9 million are recorded as a reduction of long-term 
debt as of December 31, 2022 and 2021, respectively, in the consolidated balance sheets.  

Principal maturities of outstanding long-term debt as of December 31, 2022 are as follows (in thousands):

Year ending December 31:       
2023 $ 51,938
2024  94,062

Total principal maturities $ 146,000

NOTE 10 – STANDBY EQUITY PURCHASE AGREEMENT AND CONVERTIBLE PROMISSORY NOTES

Standby Equity Purchase Agreement

On June 2, 2022, the Company entered into a Standby Equity Purchase Agreement (“SEPA”) with YA II PN, Ltd. (“Yorkville”). Pursuant to the SEPA, the
Company had the right, but not the obligation, to sell to Yorkville up to $50,000,000 of its shares of Common Stock, at the Company’s request any time
during the commitment period commencing on June 2, 2022 and terminating on the earliest of (i) the first day of the month following the 36-
month anniversary of the SEPA and (ii) the date on which Yorkville shall have made payment of any advances requested pursuant to the SEPA for shares of
the Common Stock equal to the commitment amount of $50,000,000. Each sale the Company requested under the SEPA (an “Advance”) may have been for
a number of shares of Common Stock with an aggregate value of the greater of (1) an amount equal to 30% of the daily value traded, as defined, of
Common Stock on the trading day prior to the delivery of the Advance notice or (2) $5,000,000. The Common Stock would have been purchased at 97.0%
of the Market Price, (as defined below) and would have been subject to certain limitations, including that Yorkville could not purchase any Common Stock
that would result in it owning more than 4.99% of the Company’s outstanding Common Stock at the time of an Advance (the "Ownership Limitation") or
an aggregate of 19.99% of the Company's outstanding Common Stock as of the date of the SEPA (the "Exchange Cap"). The Exchange Cap would no
longer have applied under certain circumstances, including to any sales of common stock under the SEPA that equal or exceeds $3.04 per share of
Common Stock. “Market Price” was defined in the SEPA as the average of the daily volume weighted average price, as defined, during each of
the three consecutive trading days commencing on the trading day following the Company’s submission of an Advance notice to Yorkville.  The SEPA 
contained customary registration rights, representations, warranties, conditions and indemnification obligations by each party.  Certain conditions precedent 
would have been required to have been satisfied in order for the Company to deliver a notice of Advance.  These conditions included, but are not limited to, 
the existence of an effective registrations statement pursuant to which Yorkville is permitted to utilize the prospectus thereunder to resell all of the Common 
Stock issuable pursuant to the Notice.  The issuance and sale of the Common Stock by the Company under the SEPA would have been made pursuant to the 
prospectus and prospectus supplement forming a part of the Company’s shelf registration statement on Form S-3 (Registration Statement No. 333-
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262226), which was declared effective on February 4, 2022 (“the 2022 Registration Statement”), including a final prospectus supplement dated June 10, 
2022.  

In addition to the Company’s right to request Advances, subject to certain conditions precedent, the Company had the option to, but was not obligated to,
effect a pre-advance loan with a principal amount of $15.0 million through the issuance and sale to Yorkville of a convertible promissory note (the 
“Promissory Note”).  The Company elected to issue and sell the Promissory Note to Yorkville on June 2, 2022.

Subject to the terms of the SEPA, the Company had the right to terminate the SEPA at any time, at no cost or penalty, upon five trading days’ prior written 
notice so long as there are no outstanding Advances, no outstanding balance on the Promissory Note and no other amounts owed to Yorkville. No 
termination of the SEPA affects the indemnification provisions contained within the SEPA, which provisions survived a termination.  The SEPA was 
terminated on December 20, 2022.  No Advances occurred while the SEPA was outstanding.

Yorkville Convertible Promissory Note

On June 2, 2022, the Company issued the Promissory Note to Yorkville, which was issued with a 2% original issue discount, for proceeds of $14.7 million.  
The maturity date of the $15.0 Promissory Note was originally November 25, 2022 and the Company was required to pay the outstanding principal balance
in five monthly $3.0 million payments commencing July 27, 2022.  Upon reasonable advance notice, the Company had the right to defer 50% of a monthly
payment amount due on two such monthly payments to later dates to be mutually agreed by the Company and Yorkville.  In July 2022, $1.5 million of the
$3.0 million July monthly payment amount was deferred until the October 2022 monthly payment due date.  In August 2022, $1.5 million of the $3.0 
million August monthly payment amount was deferred until the November 2022 monthly payment due date.  The Promissory Note bore an interest rate of
4.0%. Upon the occurrence of an event of default, as defined, the applicable interest rate would have been 15% until the Promissory Note was paid in full.  
Interest payments were due monthly in conjunction with scheduled principal payments.  The Promissory Note may have been repaid with the proceeds of an 
Advance or repaid in cash and, if repaid in cash, together with a cash payment premium originally of 6%, provided that if the Company’s Common Stock
market price, as defined, was less than $2.25 per share, the cash payment premium would have been 4%. If the Promissory Note was outstanding, the 
proceeds of an Advance would have been applied to the outstanding amounts due, first to outstanding interest.  Under the Promissory Note, Yorkville 
originally had the right to convert any portion of the Promissory Note (a “Yorkville Conversion”), including accrued and unpaid interest into shares of 
Common Stock at a conversion price of $3.75 per share of Common Stock (the “Conversion Price”).  The Conversion Price would have been adjusted for 
certain dilutive events or fundamental Company transactions and events, including, but not limited to, mergers, consolidations, a change of control, sale of 
substantially all the assets of the Company and transactions where holders of the Common Stock are entitled to receive securities or other assets with 
respect to or in exchange for shares of Common Stock.  In certain of these events, upon a Yorkville Conversion, Yorkville would have been entitled to 
receive such benefits as if it were a Common Share holder at the time of the underlying event. Upon any Yorkville Conversion, the Company was required 
to deliver in a timely manner, as defined, the Common Shares issuable per the conversion.  If the Company did not deliver the Common Shares in a timely 
manner, as defined, Yorkville may have purchased such Common Shares (in an open market transaction or otherwise) and may have sought a cash-based 
or cash and stock-based remedy from the Company.

The Company had the right to redeem early a portion or all amounts outstanding under the Promissory Note provided that (1) if the market price, as defined,
of the Company’s Common Stock was less than or equal to the Conversion Price, the Company would have provided five trading days notice or (2) if the
market price, as defined, of the Company’s Common Stock was greater than the Conversion Price, (i) the Company would have provided fifteen trading 
days notice and (ii) the Company may only have exercised its early redemption right if Yorkville was able to exercise its rights under the SEPA. Upon 
receipt of a redemption notice, Yorkville would first have the right to exercise its conversion rights prior to the effectiveness of a Company redemption.  
The specified redemption amount would have been reduced by any Yorkville Conversion amount.

The Company shall maintain the effectiveness of a registration statement pursuant to which Yorkville is permitted to utilize the prospectus thereunder to 
resell all of the Common Stock issuable pursuant to the conversion of the Promissory Note.  The issuance and sale of the Common Stock by the Company 
under the Promissory Note, including shares issued upon a Yorkville Conversion, are made pursuant to the prospectus and prospectus supplement forming a 
part of the 2022 Registration Statement, including a final prospectus supplement dated June 10, 2022.  The aggregate debt discount and debt issuance costs 
recorded for the Promissory Note 
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was $404,000, comprised of the original issue discount of $300,000 and other debt issuance expenses of $104,000, and was originally being accreted into
the Promissory Note balance over the six-month term of the Promissory Note at an effective interest rate of 7.5%, which was in addition to the stated
interest rate.

In October 2022, the Company entered into an amended and restated convertible promissory note (the “A&R Promissory Note”) to Yorkville which, among
other things, (a) granted Yorkville, but not the Company, the right to extend the maturity date of the Promissory Note from November 25, 2022 to
December 23, 2022 upon advance notice to the Company, (b) changed the then-existing repayment schedule such that all outstanding principal amounts
would be due November 25, 2022, (c) changed the cash payment premium to 12% and (d) changed the conversion price from $3.75 to $1.26 per share of 
Common Stock.  The Company determined that extinguishment of debt accounting applied because the change in the fair value of the embedded conversion 
feature was greater than 10% of the carrying value of the Promissory Note immediately prior to the modification.  The Company recorded a loss on debt 
extinguishment of $2.1 million, which is included in loss on extinguishment of debt in the consolidated statement of operations for the year ended 
December 31, 2022.  This extinguishment loss was primarily related to the change in the fair value of the embedded conversion feature of $1.6 million and
the excess of the fair value of the A&R Promissory Note of $9.4 million over the carrying value of the Promissory Note immediately prior to the 
modification.  

In November 2022, the Company entered into a second amended and restated convertible promissory note (the “Second A&R Promissory Note”) to
Yorkville which, among other things, (a) changed the principal repayment provisions such that $1.3 million was due by November 25, 2022, $1.7 million
was due by November 29, 2022 and the balance of $6.0 million was due by December 23, 2022 and (b) changed the conversion price per share of Common
Stock from $1.26 to, if lower, a variable rate based on 88% of the lowest volume weighted average price during the three trading days prior to the 
conversion date.  The new variable conversion price would have been effective for conversions commencing December 16, 2022 and also included certain 
volume restrictions.  The Company determined that debt modification accounting applied.  The $20,000 change in the fair value of the embedded
conversion feature was accounted for as a debt discount and amortized as an adjustment of interest expense over the remaining term of the Second A&R
Promissory Note at an effective rate of 3.1%.  The Second A&R Promissory Note was paid in full on December 13, 2022.

In aggregate for the Second A&R Promissory Note and its predecessors for the year ended December 31, 2022, the Company amortized $396,000 of the
capitalized debt issuance costs and debt discount and expensed $1.1 million of contractual interest to interest expense in the consolidated statement of
operations. For the year ended December 31, 2022, the Company paid cash principal payments of $15.3 million and made Common Stock principal
reductions of $168,000.

Convertible Promissory Notes

In November 2022, the Company issued convertible promissory notes (the “Convertible Notes”) in an aggregate principal amount of approximately $3.4
million to certain accredited investors, including to members of Company management in the amount of $1.7 million.  The Convertible Notes were issued
in privately negotiated transactions as part of a private placement exempt from registration under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended.  The Convertible
Notes, which contain usual and customary antidilution provisions, have a maturity date of April 1, 2025 and accrue annual interest at a rate of 4%, which
increases to 15% upon the occurrence of an event of default, as defined. The Convertible Notes are automatically convertible into shares of equity securities
of the Company upon the closing of a Qualified Financing, as defined in the Convertible Notes as the issuance and sale of equity securities with an
aggregate gross sales price of not less than $5.0 million, with certain sales of equity securities excluded, at a conversion price equal to the price per share
paid by the investors purchasing such equity securities in such Qualified Financing.  The Convertible Notes embodied an unconditional obligation to settle
a fixed monetary amount with, upon a Qualified Financing, with a variable number of shares and was initially considered potentially share settled debt.  On
December 12, 2022, the Company entered into a private placement (see Note 15) which met the definition of a Qualified Financing and contemporaneously
amended the Convertible Notes to (a) change the conversion date to March 1, 2023 and (b) allow for the conversion price to be reduced if an additional
Qualified Financing were to occur prior to the conversion date at a price lower than the then existing Convertible Note conversion price.  The Company
determined that debt modification accounting applies in connection with the December 12, 2022 amendment to the Convertible Notes.  There was no
change to the effective interest rate as the result of this amendment.  As of December 31, 2022, the conversion price was $0.40 per share of Common Stock.
 If the Convertible Notes were converted at the conversion price as of December 31, 2022, the Company would issue approximately 8.5 million shares of
Common Stock. The Convertible Notes are included in convertible promissory notes in the consolidated balance sheet as of December 31, 2022.  During
the year ended December 31, 2022, the Company expensed $13,000 of
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contractual interest to interest expense in the consolidated statement of operations. On January 30, 2023, the Convertible Notes were amended to change the
conversion date to the third business day following the Shareholder Approval Date (as defined in Note 19).  In March 2022, the Convertible Notes and
accrued but unpaid interest were converted into 8,628,024 shares of Common Stock.

NOTE 11 – JOINT VENTURE

On May 13, 2021, the Company and a subsidiary of Talen Energy Corporation (“Talen”) (each a “Member” and collectively the “Members”) entered into a
joint venture, Nautilus Cryptomine LLC (“Nautilus”), to develop, construct and operate up to 300 MW of zero-carbon bitcoin mining in Pennsylvania (the
“Joint Venture”). In connection with the Joint Venture, Nautilus simultaneously entered into (i) a ground lease (the “Nautilus Ground Lease”), which
includes an electricity supply component, with a related party of Talen, (ii) a Facility Operations Agreement (the “FOA”) with a related party of the
Company and (3) a Corporate Services Agreement (the “CSA”) with a related party of Talen. Each Member originally held a 50% interest in the Joint
Venture. Pursuant to the terms of the Joint Venture agreement, TeraWulf would contribute $156.0 million both in cash and in-kind and Talen would
contribute $156.0 million both in cash and in-kind to Nautilus by March 2022, unless otherwise determined in accordance with the Joint Venture
agreement. The Company capitalizes a portion of the interest on funds borrowed to finance its investments in Nautilus prior to Nautilus commencing its
principal operations. Capitalized interest costs were $4.6 million and $75,000 for the year ended December 31, 2022 and the period February 8, 2021 (date
of inception) to December 31, 2021, respectively.

On August 27, 2022, the Members entered into an amended and restated Joint Venture agreement (“the “A&R Agreement”) whereby, among other 
changes, the unit ownership will be determined by infrastructure contributions while distributions of mined bitcoin will be determined by each Member’s 
respective hashrate contributions.  Members are allowed to make contributions of miners up to the effective electrical capacity of their owned infrastructure 
percentage.  Each party retains access to 50% of the electricity supply outlined in the Nautilus Ground Lease.  Additionally, the Company’s scheduled 
capital contributions were amended such that the Company would retain a 33% ownership interest in the Joint Venture if such capital contributions were 
funded.  With the change in ownership percentage, governance rights were amended to provide for greater Talen board participation, among other changes.  
The A&R Agreement amended the capital contribution schedule so that the Company’s scheduled infrastructure-related capital contributions were $17.1
million. The Company targeted a 25% ownership interest in Nautilus and therefore made $7.3 million of the scheduled $17.1 million capital contributions.  
The Company is not obligated to fund the balance of the $17.1 million scheduled infrastructure-related capital contributions.  Accordingly, the Company’s 
ownership interest in the Joint Venture is 25.2% as of December 31, 2022.

On March 19, 2021, TeraCub executed an agreement for the purchase of bitcoin miners from MinerVA Semiconductor Corp. (“MinerVa”) for a total of
30,000 MV7 miners, with originally scheduled monthly deliveries of miners each between November 2021 and January 2022, for an aggregate price of
$118.5 million (the “MinerVA Purchase Agreement”). Pursuant to the MinerVA Purchase Agreement, the Company paid an initial deposit of $23.7 
million.  Concurrently with the execution of the Joint Venture agreement, TeraWulf assigned the MinerVA Purchase Agreement to Nautilus.  During the 
period February 8, 2021 (date of inception) to December 31, 2021, the Company paid MinerVA $16.8 million and was reimbursed by Talen for 50% of that
amount and also reimbursed by Talen an additional amount of $11.9 million related to 50% of the initial deposit paid. The balance of payments under the 
MinerVA Purchase Agreement were originally scheduled to be paid as follows:  (i) 30% of the total price six months before the shipping date of each batch
of bitcoin miners; (ii) 30% of the total price three months before the shipping date of each batch of bitcoin miners; and (iii) the remaining 20% of the total
price one month before the shipping date of each batch of bitcoin miners. Production delays at MinerVA’s factory impacted the initial pricing and delivery
schedule. Accordingly, Nautilus and MinerVA have deemed all payments made to date to apply to the initial 9,000 miners shipped or to be shipped. As of
the date at which these financial statements were available to be issued, Nautilus had not amended the MinerVA Purchase Agreement.

On June 15, 2021, Nautilus entered into two Non-fixed Price Sales and Purchase Agreements for the purchase of bitcoin miners from Bitmain Technologies
Limited (“Bitmain”) for a total of 30,000 S19j Pro miners, with originally scheduled monthly deliveries of 5,000 miners each between January 2022 and
March 2022 under one agreement (the “Q1 2022 Bitmain Agreement’) and 5,000 miners each between April 2022 and June 2022 under a second agreement
(the “Q2 2022 Bitmain Agreement” and, together, the “Bitmain Purchase Agreements”). During the year ended December 31, 2022, the Company paid
Bitmain $22.8 million and was reimbursed by Talen for 50% of that amount.  In 2021, the Company paid Bitmain approximately $124.6 million under the
Bitmain Purchase Agreements. On a net basis, the Company funded approximately $76.9 million as Talen reimbursed the Company in 2021
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approximately $47.7 million in accordance with the Joint Venture agreement.  As of December 31, 2022, the Q1 2022 Bitmain Agreement has concluded 
with all parties performing under the contract.  In September 2022, the Q2 2022 Bitmain Agreement was cancelled whereby each Member received a $31.2 
million credit with Bitmain to use at the respective Member’s discretion (the “Bitmain Credit”).  See Note 12. The Company recorded a distribution from 
the Joint Venture whereby equity in net assets of investee was reduced and property, plant and equipment, net was correspondingly increased by the $31.2
million distributed credit in the consolidated balance sheet as of December 31, 2022.

In December 2022, the Company entered into a Payment Netting Agreement with Nautilus, Talen and the related party FOA and CSA agreement 
counterparties whereby certain amounts were owed by Nautilus to each of the FOA and CSA counterparties, including for the termination of the FOA 
agreement  These amounts were offset to arrive at a net result whereby the Company owed the related party FOA counterparty (see Note 17) approximately
$2.2 million.  This amount is recorded in equity in net assets of investee in the consolidated balance sheet as of December 31, 2022. 

The Company’s direct payments to MinerVA and Bitmain, among others, on behalf of Nautilus for the year ended December 31, 2022, are included in
investments in joint venture related to direct payments made on behalf of joint venture in the consolidated statement of cash flows. A reconciliation of
amounts included within this footnote to captions in the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year ended December 31, 2022 follows (in thousands):

Payment of TeraWulf 50% share of Bitmain deposits $ (11,402)
Investments in joint venture related to direct payments made on behalf of joint venture (11,402)
Direct investments in joint venture (34,796)
Investments in joint venture, including direct payments made on behalf of joint venture $ (46,198)

Payment of Talen 50% share of Bitmain deposits $ (11,402)
Other reimbursable payments (339)
Reimbursable payments for deposits on plant and equipment made on behalf of joint venture or a joint venture partner $ (11,741)

Talen reimbursement of 50% share of Bitmain deposits $ 11,402
Other reimbursable payments 314
Reimbursement of payments for deposits on plant and equipment made on behalf of joint venture or a joint venture partner $ 11,716

Nautilus is a VIE accounted for using the equity method of accounting. The table below summarizes the Company’s interest in Nautilus and the Company’s
maximum exposure to loss as a result of its involvement with the VIE as of December 31, 2022 (in thousands, except for percentages):

                        Commitment to     
Company’s Future Company’s 

Net loss Variable Additional Maximum
% Initial Additional Inception Interest in Contributions Exposure to Loss

Entity Ownership  Investment Investment, Net to Date Entity (1) in Entity (2)
Nautilus  25.2 %  $ 18,000 $ 97,991 $ 17,250 $ 98,741 $ — $ 98,741

(1) The Members may mutually agree on changes to the Pennsylvania bitcoin mining facility, which could increase the amount of contributions the 
Company is required to provide.  The Members may seek alternate financing for the Pennsylvania bitcoin mining facility, which could reduce the amount 
of investments each Member may be required to provide.

(2) The maximum exposure at December 31, 2022 is determined by adding the Company’s variable interest in the entity and any explicit or implicit
arrangements that could require the Company to provide additional financial support. The amount represents the contractually required capital
contributions of the Company which are required for the initial phase of the Pennsylvania bitcoin mining facility buildout.
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Due to the change in Member ownership percentage and governance rights under the A&R Agreement, Talen determined it controlled the Joint Venture 
from an accounting perspective and thereby was required to fair value the identifiable assets and liabilities of the Joint Venture for its internal accounting 
purposes.  Under the CSA, Talen is responsible for maintaining the books and records of the Joint Venture and elected to push down the fair value 
adjustments to Nautilus’ books and records.  The Company accounts for the Joint Venture as an equity method investment and the change in ownership 
percentage does not impact the Company’s method of accounting or basis.  Therefore, there is a basis difference between the books and records of Nautilus 
and the Company’s accounting basis in the Joint Venture.  The condensed results of operations for the year ended December 31, 2022 and the period
February 8, 2021 (date of inception) to December 31, 2021 and the condensed financial position as of December 31, 2022 and 2021 of Nautilus are
summarized below (in thousands): 

Year Ended
Period February 8, 2021

(date of inception) to
December 31, 2022 (1) December 31, 2021

Condensed statement of operations information:    
Revenue $ 19 $ —
Operating expense 10,823  3,076
Net loss $ (10,804) $ (3,076)

    December 31, 2022 (1)     December 31, 2021
Condensed balance sheet information:       

Current assets $ 28,982 $ 4,960
Noncurrent assets  153,676  214,803
Total assets $ 182,658 $ 219,763

Current liabilities $ 11,984 $ 11,317
Equity  170,674  208,446
Total liabilities and equity $ 182,658 $ 219,763

(1) The condensed statement of operations information for the year ended December 31, 2022 and the condensed balance sheet information as of December
31, 2022 reflect the impact of the Talen-estimated fair value measurements of Nautilus which, resulting from the application of ASC 805 “Business
Combinations,” have been pushed down to the books and records of Nautilus by Talen, as discussed above.  The Company’s basis in the assets and 
liabilities of Nautilus continue to be recorded at historical value on the accompanying consolidated balance sheets.

In March 2022, the Company entered into an exchange agreement with Nautilus and the Nautilus co-venturer whereby the Company purchased 2,469 of 
Nautilus’ Bitmain S19j Pro miners (the “Nautilus Miners”) to be received under the Bitmain Purchase Agreements in exchange for an option to either (1) 
deliver miners that are not less favorable in all material respects to those of the Nautilus Miners (the “Exchange Miners”) by July 1, 2022 or (2) incur a pro 
forma adjustment to Nautilus’ distributions such that the Nautilus co-venturer is made whole as though the miners had not been transferred to the Company.  
If the Exchange Miners were not delivered by September 30, 2022, the Nautilus co-venturer would have been entitled to elect to distribute in-kind a number 
of miners then in possession of Nautilus comparable to the then-undelivered Exchange Miners.  During the three months ended June 30, 2022, the Nautilus 
Miners were received and recorded at fair value to property, plant and equipment, net in the amount of $16.0 million with a corresponding recognition of an 
exchange miner liability of the same amount.  The A&R Agreement removed the Company’s obligation to deliver the Exchange Miners to the Joint 
Venture.  Accordingly, the Company derecognized the miner exchange liability and recorded a $16.8 million reduction in equity in net assets of investee in
the consolidated balance sheet as of December 31, 2022 and recorded a loss on nonmonetary miner exchange of $804,000 in the consolidated statement of
operations for the year ended December 31, 2022.

In September 2022, the Company, as allowed under the A&R Agreement and because its Lake Mariner Facility was operational, transferred 2,500 Bitmain
S19j Pro miners from Nautilus to its Lake Mariner Facility.  Accordingly, the Company recorded the miners at an estimated fair value of $ 4.8 million,
determined based on a contemporaneous observed market price for identical assets, in property, plant and equipment, net and the Company reduced the
equity in net assets of investee balance by $16.3 million, the book value of the
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miners in Nautilus’ books and records, in the consolidated balance sheet as of December 31, 2022 and recorded a loss of $11.5 million.  This loss is
recorded as a component of equity in net loss of investee, net of tax in the consolidated statement of operations for the year ended December 31, 2022.

NOTE 12 – COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

Litigation

The Company is not a party to any material legal proceedings and is not aware of any pending or threatened claims. From time to time, the Company may
be subject to various legal proceedings, regulatory inquiries and claims that arise in the ordinary course of its business activities.

Bitmain Miner Purchase Agreements

On December 7, 2021, the Company entered into a Non-fixed Price Sales and Purchase Agreement with Bitmain for the purchase of 3,000 S19XP miners,
with originally scheduled monthly deliveries of 500 miners each between July 2022 and December 2022 (the “Second Bitmain Purchase Agreement”) for a
total purchase price of $32.6 million. The Second Bitmain Purchase Agreement included liquidated damage provisions that may be applied if payments are
not made within sixty days of a payment due date, if not otherwise mutually extended.  No liquidated damages were applied during the duration of the 
agreement.  For a batch of miners comprising a monthly shipment, if timely payments were made on installments then due, the Company held an option to 
partially or wholly cancel that batch of miners and the remaining balance on that batch would have been refunded no later than two years after such 
cancellation. The Company is responsible for all logistics costs related to transportation for the delivery of miners.  Pursuant to the Second Bitmain 
Purchase Agreement, the Company paid $2.0 million during the year ended December 31, 2022 and paid an initial deposit of approximately $11.4 million 
in 2021. In September 2022, the Company cancelled the September and October 2022 batches and payments previously made for these monthly batches 
were applied to other payment obligations under the contract.  Additionally, certain amounts from the Bitmain Credit have been applied to the Second 
Bitmain Purchase Agreement.  Subsequently, the Company cancelled the November and December 2022 batches and payments previously made and credits 
previously applied to this agreement became available as account credits for use in new purchasing arrangements with Bitmain.  The Company considers 
the Second Bitmain Purchase Agreement to be concluded as no further Bitmain miner deliveries or Company payments are due as of December 31, 2022.

On December 15, 2021, the Company entered into a Non-fixed Price Sales and Purchase Agreement with Bitmain for the purchase of 15,000 S19XP
miners, with originally scheduled monthly deliveries of 2,500 miners each between July 2022 and December 2022 (the “Third Bitmain Purchase
Agreement”) for a total purchase price of $169.1 million. The Third Bitmain Purchase Agreement included liquidated damage provisions that may be
applied if payments are not made within sixty days of a payment due date, if not otherwise mutually extended.  No liquidated damages were applied during 
the duration of the agreement.  For a batch of miners comprising a monthly shipment, if timely payments were made on installments then due, the Company 
held an option to partially or wholly cancel that batch of miners and the remaining balance on that batch would have been refunded no later than two years 
after such cancellation.  The Company is responsible for all logistics costs related to transportation for the delivery of miners.  Pursuant to the Third Bitmain 
Purchase Agreement, the Company paid $10.2 million during the year ended December 31, 2022 and paid an initial deposit of approximately $59.2 million 
in 2021. In September 2022, the Company cancelled the September and October 2022 batches and payments previously made for these monthly batches 
were applied to other payment obligations under the contract.  Additionally, certain amounts from the Bitmain Credit have been applied to the Third 
Bitmain Purchase Agreement.   Subsequently, the Company cancelled the November and December 2022 batches and payments previously made and 
credits previously applied to this agreement became available as account credits for use in new purchasing arrangements with Bitmain. The Company 
considers the Third Bitmain Purchase Agreement to be concluded as no further Bitmain miner deliveries or Company payments are due as of December 31, 
2022..  

In September 2022, the Company entered into two Future Sales and Purchase Agreements with Bitmain for the aggregate purchase of 3,400 S19XP miners
and 2,700 S19 Pro miners, with originally scheduled monthly deliveries between October 2022 and January 2023 (the “September 2022 Bitmain Purchase
Agreements”) for a total purchase price of $23.7 million.  The purchase price will be satisfied through application of the balance of the Bitmain Credit.
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In November 2022, the Company entered into two Future Sales and Purchase Agreements with Bitmain for the aggregate purchase of 3,600 S19XP miners
and 2,750 S19 Pro miners, with originally scheduled monthly deliveries between November 2022 and February 2023 (the “November 2022 Bitmain
Purchase Agreements”) for a total purchase price of $24.9 million.  The purchase price will be satisfied through application of the available account credits.

In December 2022, the Company entered into a Future Sales and Purchase Agreement with Bitmain for the aggregate purchase of 14,000 S19 Pro miners,
with originally scheduled monthly deliveries commencing December 2022 (the “December 2022 Bitmain Purchase Agreement”) for a total purchase price
of $22.4 million.  The purchase price will be satisfied through application of the available account credits.

Other Commitments

In February 2022, the Company entered into an agreement with the Power Authority of the State of New York (“NYPA”) for the purchase of up to 90 MW
of electric power over a term of ten years.  This agreement includes certain Company site investment commitments including employment targets and 
capital investment targets.  The allocation of 90 MW may be reduced by NYPA based on the Company’s actual electricity usage, as defined and
periodically measured, if lower than the allocation or if the site investment commitments are not met.

NOTE 13 –  DEFINED CONTRIBUTION PLAN

The TeraWulf Inc. 401(k) Plan is a safe harbor defined contribution plan which qualified under section401(k) of the Internal Revenue Code. A
participant’s right to claim a distribution of his or her account balance is dependent on the plan, Employee Retirement and Income Security Act guidelines
and Internal Revenue Service regulations. All active participants are fully vested in all contributions to the 401(k) plan. During the year ended
December 31, 2022 and the period February 8, 2021 (date of inception) to December 31, 2021, the Company expensed approximately $103,000 and
$55,000, respectively, for Company matching contributions.

NOTE 14 –  CONVERTIBLE PREFERRED STOCK

TeraCub Redeemable Convertible Preferred Stock

In April 2021, TeraCub commenced a private placement offering of 2,000,000 shares of Series A Preferred Stock, at an original issuance price per share of
$25.00, to certain individuals and accredited investors, for an aggregate amount of $50.0 million (the “Series A Private Placement”). On June 15, 2021, the
Series A Private Placement concluded and was fully funded.

On December 2, 2021, TeraCub’s Certificate of Incorporation was amended to provide that if the Closing under the Merger Agreement were to occur, the
conversion ratio that shall apply to the conversion of shares of preferred stock immediately prior to the effective time of the Closing shall be equal to
0.8696560 shares of TeraCub common stock for each share of preferred stock. On December 13, 2021, the Closing was effected and TeraCub converted the
2,000,000 shares of preferred stock into 1,739,311 shares of common stock.  No dividends were declared for the period February 8, 2021 (date of inception)
to December 31, 2021.

TeraWulf Convertible Preferred Stock

In March 2022, TeraWulf entered into Series A Convertible Preferred Stock Subscription Agreements (the “Subscription Agreements”) with certain 
accredited and institutional investors (collectively, the “Holders”).  Pursuant to the Subscription Agreements, the Company sold 9,566 shares (of 10,000
shares authorized) of Series A Convertible Preferred Stock, par value $0.001 per share (the “Convertible Preferred Stock”) to the Purchasers for an
aggregate purchase price of $9.6 million.  The Subscription Agreements contain customary representations, warranties, covenants and agreements of the 
Company.  The offer and sale of the Convertible Preferred Stock were made pursuant to the prospectus and prospectus supplement forming a part of the
2022 Registration Statement.  
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Holders of the Convertible Preferred Stock will accumulate cumulative dividends at an annual rate of 10.0% on the stated amount per share plus the
amount of any accrued and unpaid dividends on such share, accumulating on a daily basis and payable quarterly on March 31st, June 30th, September
30th and December 31st, respectively, in each year and commencing June 30, 2022.  Commencing June 30, 2022, unpaid dividends will be accreted to the 
liquidation preference.  The initial liquidation preference is $1,000 per share.  Holders of the Convertible Preferred Stock will also be entitled to such 
dividends paid to holders of the Company’s Common Stock, if applicable, as if such holders of the Convertible Preferred Stock had converted their 
Preferred Shares into Common Stock (without regard to any limitations on conversions) and had held such shares of the Company’s Common Stock on the 
record date for such dividends and distributions.  If applicable, such payments will be made concurrently with the dividend or distribution to the holders of 
the Company’s Common Stock.  Upon liquidation, the Convertible Preferred Stock will rank senior to the Company’s Common Stock, and will have the 
right to be paid, out of the assets of the Company legally available for distribution to its stockholders, an amount equal to the Liquidation Preference (as 
defined in the Company’s Series A Convertible Preferred Certificate of Designations) per share of the Convertible Preferred Stock.  Holders of Convertible 
Preferred Stock will not generally have the right to vote at any meeting of stockholders, except for certain protective voting rights, as defined.  The 
Convertible Preferred Stock does not have a maturity date.

The Holders of the Convertible Preferred Stock will have a right to effect an optional conversion of all or any whole number of shares of the Convertible 
Preferred Stock at any time and from time to time.  The Company will have a right to effect a mandatory conversion of the Convertible Preferred Stock 
after the third anniversary of the issuance date if the Last Reported Sale Price (as defined in the Company’s Series A Convertible Preferred Certificate of 
Designations) per share of Common Stock exceeds 130% of the Conversion Price, as defined, on each of at least five (5) trading days (whether or not
consecutive) during the fifteen consecutive trading days ending on, and including, the trading day immediately before the mandatory conversion notice date 
for such mandatory conversion.  The number of shares of Common Stock issuable upon conversion will be equal to the liquidation preference, including 
accumulated and unpaid dividends, divided by the Conversion Price, as defined.  The Conversion Price is determined by dividing $1,000 by the Conversion
Rate, as defined, which is initially 100 shares of Common Stock per $1,000 liquidation preference of Convertible Preferred Stock.  The Conversion Rate 
will be adjusted for certain customary events, including (but not limited to) stock dividends, stock splits or combinations, tender offers or exchange offers 
and, additionally, for Fundamental Changes, as defined, to include (but are not limited to) a change in control of the Company, disposition of substantially 
all assets of the Company, the Company’s Common Stock holders approve a plan of liquidation or dissolution or the Company’s Common Stock cease to 
be listed on the Nasdaq Capital Market.  A Fundamental Change will adjust the Conversion Rate based on the date of the Fundamental Change and the 
Stock Price, as defined, on such date.  The Conversion rate will not exceed 125 shares of Common Stock per $1,000 liquidation preference of Convertible 
Preferred Stock.  If any Convertible Preferred Stock is to be converted pursuant to a Holder’s optional conversion, the Company will have the option to 
settle such conversion in cash, as defined.

No dividends were paid during the year ended December 31, 2022.  Cumulative dividends of $783,000 were accumulated and accreted to liquidation 
preference as of December 31, 2022.  As of December 31, 2022, the aggregate liquidation preference of the Convertible Preferred Stock was 
approximately $10.3 million.  If the entire liquidation preference of the Convertible Preferred Stock was converted at the Conversion Price, the Company 
would issue approximately 1.0 million shares of Common Stock.

NOTE 15 – COMMON STOCK

TeraWulf

TeraWulf Certificate of Incorporation as of December 31, 2022 (see Note 19) provides for authorized shares of 225,000,000, divided into (a) 200,000,000
shares of Common Stock, with par value of $0.001 per share and (b) 25,000,000 shares of Preferred Stock, with par value of $0.001 per share. Each holder
of a share of Common Stock shall be entitled to one vote of each common share held. Each holder of a share of Preferred Stock shall not be entitled to any
voting powers, except as provided in an applicable Certificate of Designations. The board of directors may authorize one or more series of Preferred Stock
and may fix the number of shares in such series and the designation, powers, preferences, rights, qualifications, limitations and restrictions in respect of the
shares of such series. One series of preferred stock, the Convertible Preferred Stock, was authorized as of December 31, 2022.

In February 2022, the Company entered into the At Market Issuance Sales Agreement (the “ATM Sales Agreement”) with B. Riley Securities, Inc. and
D.A. Davidson & Co. (collectively, the “Agents”), pursuant to which the Company may offer and sell, from time
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to time, through or to the Agents, acting as agent or principal, shares of the Company’s Common Stock, par value $0.001 per share, having an aggregate
offering price of up to $200.0 million (the “Shares”). Under the Sales Agreement, the Agents are entitled to 3% of gross proceeds from sales of Common 
Stock under the ATM Sales Agreement.  The Company is not obligated to sell any Shares under the ATM Sales Agreement.  Subject to the terms and 
conditions of the ATM Sales Agreement, the Agents will use commercially reasonable efforts, consistent with their normal trading and sales practices, to 
sell Shares from time to time based upon the Company’s instructions, including any price, time or size limits or other customary parameters or conditions 
specified by the Company.  The issuance and sale of the Shares by the Company under the ATM Sales Agreement are made pursuant to the prospectus and 
prospectus supplement forming a part of the 2022 Registration Statement, including a final prospectus supplement dated February 11, 2022. 

In March 2022, the Company concluded a private placement of 271,447 of unregistered Common Stock for proceeds of $2.1 million to an entity controlled
by a member of Company management (the “Subscriber”).  The Subscriber shall be entitled to customary registration rights as may be reasonably agreed
between the Subscriber and the Company.  

In April 2022, the Company entered into an underwriting agreement (the “Underwriting Agreement”) with Cantor Fitzgerald & Co., as underwriter (the
“Underwriter”), pursuant to which the Company issued and sold to the Underwriter an aggregate of 2,985,966 shares of the Company’s Common Stock,
par value $0.001 per share (the “April Shares”), for gross proceeds of approximately $20.6 million, before deducting underwriting discounts and
commissions and offering expenses payable by the Company. The issuance and sale of the April Shares by the Company under the Underwriting
Agreement are made pursuant to the prospectus and prospectus supplement forming a part of the 2022 Registration Statement, including a final prospectus
supplement dated April 11, 2022.

In April 2022, the Company concluded a private placement of 634,517 of unregistered Common Stock for proceeds of $5.0 million to an entity controlled 
by a member of Company management and to certain other significant stockholders.   

In April 2022, the Company entered into a replacement sales agreement (the “April ATM Sales Agreement”) with Cantor Fitzgerald & Co., B. Riley
Securities, Inc. and D.A. Davidson & Co. (together the “April ATM Agents”), pursuant to which the Company may offer and sell, from time to time,
through or to the April ATM Agents, shares of the Company’s Common Stock, par value $0.001 per share, having an aggregate offering price of up to
$200.0 million.  The April ATM Sales Agreement replaced the ATM Sales Agreement.  The Company is not obligated to sell any shares under the April 
ATM Sales Agreement.  The Company will pay the April ATM Agents a commission equal to 3.0% of the gross sales price from each sale of shares.  The 
issuance and sale of the April Shares by the Company under the April ATM Sales Agreement are made pursuant to the prospectus and prospectus 
supplement forming a part of the 2022 Registration Statement, including a final prospectus supplement dated April 26, 2022.  During the year ended
December 31, 2022, under the ATM Sales Agreement and the April ATM Sales Agreement, the Company sold 1,809,893 shares of Common Stock for net
proceeds of $2.7 million and 2,910,909 shares of Common Stock for net proceeds of $9.7 million, respectively.

In October 2022, the Company entered into unit subscription agreements with certain accredited investors in privately negotiated transactions (collectively,
the “October Purchasers”) as part of a private placement (the “October Private Placement”) exempt from registration under the Securities Act of 1933, as 
amended.  Pursuant to the Unit Subscription Agreements, the Company sold 7,481,747 units, each consisting of one share of the Common Stock and one
warrant (the “October Warrants”), exercisable at a price of $1.93 per Common Share, to the October Purchasers for an aggregate purchase price of
approximately $9.4 million based on an offering price equal to the trailing 10-day volume weighted price of $1.26 for each Common Share plus one
warrant. Approximately $3.5 million of the aggregate purchase price related to investments by entities controlled by members of Company management.  In 
connection with the Unit Subscription Agreements, the Company and the October Purchasers entered into a Registration Rights Agreement, pursuant to 
which the Company agreed to provide customary shelf and piggyback registration rights to the October Purchasers with respect to the shares of Common 
Stock underlying the October Warrants. The Company allocated the proceeds between the Common Stock and the October Warrants based on the relative 
fair values of the financial instruments, with $5.1 million allocated to the Common Stock and $4.3 million allocated to the October Warrants.  On January 
30, 2023, certain of these investors agreed to amend the terms of their October Warrants such that their warrants would become exercisable only after the 
Shareholder Approval Date (as defined in Note 19).
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In December 2022, the Company entered into subscription agreements or unit subscription agreements with certain accredited and institutional investors in
privately negotiated transactions (the “December Purchasers”) as part of a private placement (the “December Private Placement”) exempt from registration
under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended.  Pursuant to these agreements, the Company issued for an aggregate purchase price of $6.74 million (i)
16,850,000 shares of Common Stock at a purchase price of $0.40 per share of Common Stock and (ii) 11,250,000 warrants (the “December Warrants”)
exercisable for 8,750,000 shares of Common Stock, at an exercise price equal to $0.40 per share of Common Stock. The December Warrants become 
exercisable on January 16, 2023 and expire on January 31, 2023. In connection with the issuance of the December Warrants, the Company and the 
December Purchasers entered into a Registration Rights Agreement, pursuant to which the Company agreed to provide customary shelf and piggyback 
registration rights to the December Purchasers with respect to the shares of Common Stock underlying the December Warrants.  The Company allocated 
the proceeds between the Common Stock and the December Warrants based on the relative fair values of the financial instruments, with $5.4 million
allocated to the Common Stock and $1.3 million allocated to the December Warrants.  In January 2023, 50% of the December Warrants were exercised for
proceeds of $1.8 million while the remaining 50% of the December Warrants expired.  On January 30, 2023, the Company entered into additional 
subscription agreements with certain December Purchasers pursuant to which such December Purchasers purchased from the Company shares of Common 
Stock, at a purchase price of $0.40 per share of Common Stock, in private placement transactions exempt from registration under Section 4(a)(2)
and/or Regulation D under the Securities Act for an aggregate purchase price of $1.75 million (the “January Private Placement”). The January Private
Placement effectively replaces 50% of the unexercised December Warrants at the same purchase price of $0.40 per share of Common Stock. The closing of
the January Private Placement was subject to certain conditions, including the completion of a $30 million equity capital raise by the Company, which may 
be unilaterally waived by the December Purchasers, and the receipt of shareholder approval of an increase to issued and unauthorized shares of Common 
Stock (see Note 19).  Pursuant to these Common Stock subscription agreements, the Company agreed to provide customary registration rights to the certain 
December Purchasers. These Common Stock subscription agreements contain customary representations, warranties, covenants and are subject to 
customary closing conditions and termination rights.

During the year ended December 31, 2022, 5,714,823 warrants were exercised for issuance of the same number of shares of Common Stock for aggregate
proceeds to the Company of $58,000.

No dividends were declared during the year ended December 31, 2022 or the period February 8, 2021 (date of inception) to December 31, 2021.

TeraCub

Per the TeraCub Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation dated December 13, 2021, the total number of shares of all classes of stock authorized
to be issued is 1,000 shares, all of which will be common stock with the par value of $0.001 per share. Prior to that date, TeraCub’s authorized capital stock
consisted of 100,000,000 shares of common stock, par value $0.001 per share, and 20,000,000 shares of preferred stock, par value $0.001 per share, with
2,000,000 shares of such authorized Preferred Stock designated as Series A Preferred Stock. Upon establishment of the Company, 44,000,000 shares of
common stock were issued to the Company’s founders.

In March 2021, TeraCub completed a private offering of 6,000,000 shares of common stock at a price per share of $5.00 to certain individuals, for an
aggregate gross amount of $30.0 million (the “Common Stock Private Placement”), representing approximately 12% of the outstanding shares of the 
TeraCub’s common stock subsequent to such issuance of shares. The applicable stockholders agreement provided for certain limitations on share transfer 
rights, for registration of shares in connection with an initial public offering, for execution of a lock-up agreement upon an initial public offering, for certain 
tag-along and drag-along rights and for certain preemptive rights upon future issuance of shares by TeraCub. The voting rights of common stockholders and 
certain board of director features including the number of directors, board composition and replacement of directors under certain conditions were 
circumscribed by certain stockholders which are controlled by certain members of the Company’s board of directors.  Proceeds of the Common Stock 
Private Placement were used primarily to fund the purchase of bitcoin mining equipment.

In December 2021, TeraCub completed a private offering of 2,261,932 shares of common stock at a price per share of $33.82 to certain institutional and
individual investors, for gross proceeds of approximately $76.5 million (the “December Private Placement”). Additionally, in connection with the Term
Loan offering, TeraCub issued 839,398 shares of common stock.
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On December 13, 2021, the Closing was effected and the then outstanding 54,840,641 shares of TeraCub common stock converted into 97,976,728 of 
shares of Common Stock of TeraWulf, resulting in a total of  99,976,253 shares of Common Stock of the then publicly registered TeraWulf outstanding as
of that date.

No dividends were declared for the period from February 8, 2021 (date of inception) to December 31, 2021.

NOTE 16 – STOCK BASED COMPENSATION

On May 13, 2021, the Company made effective the 2021 Omnibus Incentive Plan (the “Plan”) for purpose of attracting and retaining employees,
consultants and directors of the Company and its affiliates by providing each the opportunity to acquire an equity interest in the Company or other incentive
compensation in order to align the interests of such individuals with those of the Company’s stockholders. The Plan provides for a maximum number of
shares to be issued, limitations of shares to be delivered for incentive stock options and a maximum compensation amount for any non-employee member
of the board of directors, among other provisions. The form of grants under the Plan includes stock options, stock appreciation rights, restricted stock and
restricted stock units (“RSUs”). No grants have been made under the Plan for the period February 8, 2021 (date of inception) to December 31, 2021.

For the year ended December 31, 2022, stock-based compensation expense was $1.6 million.  The following table summarizes the activities for unvested 
Company RSUs granted to employees and Board of Directors members during the year ended December 31, 2022:

    Unvested Restricted Stock Units         

Number of
Shares

Weighted-Average
Grant-Date Fair

Value
Unvested as of December 31, 2021  —  -   

Granted 1,931,187 2.87
Vested — -
Forfeited/canceled — -

Unvested as of December 31, 2022 1,931,187 2.87

The requisite service period for grants is generally between one and three years.  As of December 31, 2022, there was $4.0 million of unrecognized
compensation cost related to unvested employee and Board of Directors members RSUs.  The amount is expected to be recognized over a weighted average
period of 1.2 years.  During the year ended December 31, 2022, two RSU grants, with an initial fair value of $190,000 were made to consultants.  Including
cancelations, unrecognized compensation of $98,000 on the consultant grants remains outstanding as of December 31, 2022.
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NOTE 17 – RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

On April 27, 2021, the Company entered into an Administrative and Infrastructure Services Agreement (the “Services Agreement”) with Beowulf
Electricity & Data Inc. (“Beowulf E&D”), a related party due to control by a member of Company management. Under the Services Agreement, Beowulf
E&D will provide, or cause its affiliates to provide, to TeraWulf certain services necessary to build out and operate certain bitcoin mining facilities
anticipated to be developed by the Company and support the Company’s ongoing business, including, among others, services related to construction,
technical and engineering, operations and maintenance, procurement, information technology, finance and accounting, human resources, legal, risk
management and external affairs consultation. The Services Agreement has an initial term of five years and provides for certain fixed, passthrough and
incentive payments to Beowulf E&D, including issuing to certain designated employees of Beowulf E&D awards with respect to shares of TeraWulf
Common Stock upon the consummation of an initial public offering of TeraWulf or the consummation of a merger following which TeraWulf is listed on a
nationally recognized securities exchange and, thereafter, upon achievement of certain milestones regarding bitcoin mining capacity deployed at the bitcoin
mining facilities. For the base fee, the Company has agreed to pay Beowulf E&D in monthly installments an annual fee for the first year in the amount of
$7.0 million and, thereafter, an annual fee equal to the greater of $10.0 million or $0.0037 per kilowatt hour of electric load utilized by the bitcoin mining
facilities. The Services Agreement also provides for reimbursement of cost and expenses incurred in connection with providing the services. For the year
ended December 31, 2022, the Company paid Beowulf E&D $16.9 million under the Services Agreement. Selling, general and administrative expenses–
related party and operating expenses – related party in the consolidated statement of operations includes $12.6 million and $459,000, respectively, for the
year ended December 31, 2022 related to the base fee and reimbursement of costs and expenses. As of December 31, 2022, $833,000 is included in prepaid
expenses, $3.0 million, including $2.2 million related to the Payment Netting Agreement, is included in amounts due to related parties and $5.9 million is 
included in property, plant and equipment, net in the consolidated balance sheet.  As of December 31, 2021, $583,000 is included in prepaid expenses,
$647,000 is included in amounts due from related parties and $1.9 million is included in property, plant and equipment, net in the consolidated balance
sheet.

The Services Agreement provides for performance related milestones and related incentive compensation. In connection with the listing of its Common
Stock on a nationally recognized stock exchange in December 2021, pursuant to the Services Agreement, the Company agreed to issue awards valued at
$12.5 million with respect to shares of its Common Stock to certain designated employees of Beowulf E&D in accordance with TeraWulf’s then effective
Plan. However, no awards have been issued as of the date these consolidated financial statements were available for issuance. Once the mining facilities
have utilized 100MW of cryptocurrency mining load in the aggregate, and for every incremental 100 MW of cryptocurrency mining load deployed by the
mining facilities in the aggregate thereafter, TeraWulf agreed to issue additional awards of shares of TeraWulf Common Stock each in the amount of $2.5 
million to certain designated employees of Beowulf E&D in accordance with TeraWulf’s then effective Plan.  As of December 31, 2022, the Company 
considers it probable that the performance milestone of 100MW of mining load deployed by the mining facilities will be met.  Accordingly, the Company 
has recognized $2.1 million in expense during the year ended December 31, 2022.  As of December 31, 2022 and 2021, $14.6 million and $12.5 million, 
respectively, are included in share-based liabilities due to related party in the consolidated balance sheets.  Performance milestone expense of $2.1 million
and $12.5 million is included in selling, general and administrative expenses – related party in the consolidated statements of operation for the year ended
December 31, 2022 and the period February 8, 2021 (date of inception) to December 31, 2021, respectively.

In April 2021, the Company reimbursed Heorot Power Holdings LLC, a related party due to control by a member of Company management, $1.6 million
related to (i) the development of bitcoin mining facilities including services and third-party costs for transmission consulting, engineering consulting,
transmission system impact study costs, electricity procurement and site development costs, (ii) joint venture investigation and negotiation and (iii) certain
Company organizational and legal costs. During the period February 8, 2021 (date of inception) to December 31, 2021, $697,000 was included in selling,
general and administrative expense – related party in the consolidated statements of operations and $853,000 was included in operating expenses – related
party in the consolidated statements of operations.

In June 2021, the Company paid a related party due to control by a member of Company management $632,000 for the purchase of certain electrical
infrastructure and equipment for its planned bitcoin mining facility in New York. The certain electrical infrastructure and equipment is included in property,
plant and equipment, net in the consolidated balance sheet as of December 31, 2021.



Table of Contents

TERAWULF INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

102

NOTE 18 – UNAUDITED QUARTERLY FINANCIAL DATA

As discussed in Note 2, the Company determined that its unaudited interim consolidated financial statements for the  year-to-date period ended March 31, 
2022, June 30, 2022 and September 30, 2022 were materially misstated and should be restated .  The table below sets forth the restatements of the impacted 
line items of each respective unaudited interim consolidated statement of cash flows. The error had no impact on the Company’s unaudited interim 
consolidated balance sheets, unaudited interim consolidated statements of operations and unaudited interim consolidated statements of changes in 
stockholders’ equity for these periods.

Three Months Ended March 31, 2022 (unaudited)
Restatement

As Reported Adjustment As Restated
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES:
Decrease in amounts due from related parties $ 647 $ 168 $ 815
Decrease in accounts payable $ (6,066) $ 2,088 $ (3,978)
Decrease in accrued construction liabilities $ (3,870) $ 3,870 $ -
Increase in other accrued liabilities $ 4,155 $ 601 $ 4,756
Increase in other amounts due to related parties $ 1,246 $ (470) $ 776
Net cash used in operating activities from continuing operations $ (21,459) $ 6,257 $ (15,202)
Net cash used in operating activities $ (21,509) $ 6,257 $ (15,252)

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES:
Purchase of and deposits on plant and equipment $ (21,488) $ (6,257) $ (27,745)
Net cash used in investing activities $ (40,560) $ (6,257) $ (46,817)

Six Months Ended June 30, 2022 (unaudited)
Restatement

As Reported Adjustment As Restated
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES:
Decrease in amounts due from related parties $ 647 $ 168 $ 815
Decrease in accounts payable $ (2,486) $ 2,088 $ (398)

Decrease in accrued construction liabilities
$ (3,892) $ 3,892 $ -

Increase in other accrued liabilities $ 1,162 $ 714 $ 1,876
Increase in other amounts due to related parties $ 982 $ (631) $ 351
Net cash used in operating activities from continuing operations $ (29,721) $ 6,231 $ (23,490)
Net cash used in operating activities $ (29,766) $ 6,231 $ (23,535)

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES:
Purchase of and deposits on plant and equipment $ (39,238) $ (6,231) $ (45,469)
Net cash used in investing activities $ (75,687) $ (6,231) $ (81,918)

Nine Months Ended September 30, 2022 (unaudited)
Restatement

As Reported Adjustment As Restated
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES:
Decrease in amounts due from related parties $ 647 $ 168 $ 815
Increase in accounts payable $ 3,575 $ 2,088 $ 5,663
Decrease in accrued construction liabilities $ (3,892) $ 3,892 $ -
Increase in other accrued liabilities $ 4,522 $ (1,985) $ 2,537
Increase in other amounts due to related parties $ 2,417 $ (765) $ 1,652
Net cash used in operating activities from continuing operations $ (31,704) $ 3,398 $ (28,306)
Net cash used in operating activities $ (33,007) $ 3,398 $ (29,609)
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NOTE 19 – SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

On February 23, 2023 (the “Shareholder Approval Date”), the Company held a Special Meeting of Stockholders. Two proposals were approved.  The 
results of the matters submitted to a stockholder vote at the Special Meeting were as follows:  (1) the Company's stockholders adopted a charter amendment 
to increase the number of authorized shares of the Company’s common stock, par value $0.001 per share, from 200 million to 400 million and increase the
number of the Company’s preferred stock, par value $0.001 per share, from 25 million to 100 million and (2) the Company’s stockholders adopted a charter
amendment to remove the restriction on stockholder action by written consent.

On January 27, 2023, the Company entered into a binding term sheet with the LGSA lenders (the “Term Sheet”) pursuant to which the parties agreed, 
subject to certain conditions, to make certain amendments to LGSA regarding amortization of LGSA principal and amending certain governance rights.  On 
March 1, 2023, the Company entered into the Fifth Amendment.  The Fifth Amendment eliminates mandatory amortization of the term loans under the 
LGSA through April 8, 2024, as long as the Company received aggregate net proceeds of at least $33.5 million from the issuance of equity or equity-linked 
securities by March 15, 2023 (such condition, the “Amortization Relief Condition”).  The Company satisfied the Amortization Relief Condition on March 
9, 2023.  Additionally, the Fifth Amendment provides for an excess cash flow sweep, as defined, in place of scheduled principal payments, which will
automatically extend to the maturity of the Term Loans on December 1, 2024 in the event the Company repays at least $40.0 million of the Term Loan by 
April 1, 2024. Concurrent with the execution of the Fifth Amendment, the Lenders appointed a non-voting observer to the Company’s board of directors 
(the “Board”). The Lenders also have the right to appoint a member of the Company’s Board (the “Lender Designee”), as long as such Lender Designee is 
reasonably acceptable to the Company. Additionally, pursuant to the Fifth Amendment, the Company established a strategic review committee which will 
consider and monitor the strategic direction and opportunities available to the Company and make related recommendations to the Company’s Board and 
management.  As a condition of the Fifth Amendment becoming effective, the Company entered into a warrant agreement (the “Warrant Agreement”) to 
issue the following warrants to the lenders: (i) 26,666,669 warrants to purchase an aggregate number of shares of the Company’s common stock equal to
10.0% of the fully diluted equity of the Company as of the Fifth Amendment effective date with an exercise price of $0.01 per share Common Stock (the
“Penny Warrants”) and (ii) 13,333,333 warrants to purchase an aggregate number of shares of the Company’s common stock equal to 5.0% of the fully
diluted equity of the Company as of the Fifth Amendment effective date with an exercise price of $1.00 per share of the Company’s common stock (the 
“Dollar Warrants”). The Penny Warrants are exercisable during the period beginning on April 1, 2024 and ending on December 31, 2025, and the Dollar 
Warrants are exercisable during the period beginning on April 1, 2024 and ending on December 31, 2026.  Both the Penny Warrants and the Dollar
Warrants are subject to anti-dilution protection for any additional capital raising transaction by the Company of up to $5.0 million subsequent to the $33.5 
million aggregate net proceeds associated with the Amortization Relief Condition.  In connection with the issuance of the warrants pursuant to the Warrant 
Agreement, the Company entered into a registration rights agreement, dated as of March 1, 2023, pursuant to which the Company has agreed to provide 
customary shelf and piggyback registration rights to the LGSA lenders with respect to the common stock issuable upon exercise of the warrants described 
above.

On January 30, 2023, the Company entered into (a) subscription agreements (the “Warrant Subscription Agreements”) with certain accredited investor
entities controlled by members of Company management (the “Warrant Investors”) pursuant to which such Warrant Investors purchased from the
Company 2,380,952 warrants, each exercisable to purchase one share of the Company’s Common Stock at an exercise price of $0.00001 per share of
Common Stock (the “January 2023 Warrants”), in private placement transactions exempt from registration under Section 4(a)(2) and/or Regulation D under
the Securities Act for an aggregate purchase price of $2.5 million, based on a price per share of Common Stock of $1.05 for a total of 2,380,952 shares of 
Common Stock and (b) warrant agreements (the “Warrant Agreements”) with such Warrant Investors. The Warrant Agreements govern the terms and 
conditions of the January 2023 Warrants, which are exercisable beginning on the first business day following the date on which shareholder approval of an 
increase in the Company’s authorized Common Stock is obtained (the “Shareholder Approval Date”) and expire on December 31, 2023.  In connection 
with the issuance of the January 2023 Warrants, the Company entered into a registration rights agreement, dated as of March 1, 2023, pursuant to which the 
Company has agreed to provide customary shelf and piggyback registration rights to the warrant holders with respect to the common stock issuable upon 
exercise of the January 2023 Warrants.
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On January 30, 2023, the Company entered into a new convertible promissory note (the “New Convertible Promissory Note”) to an accredited investor in a
privately negotiated transaction as part of a private placement exempt from registration under Section 4(a)(2) and/or Regulation D under the Securities
Act in an aggregate principal amount of $1.25 million. The New Convertible Promissory Note has a maturity date of April 1, 2025 and accrues annual
interest at a rate of 4%. The New Convertible Promissory Note is automatically convertible into Common Stock on the third business day following the
Shareholder Approval Date (the “Conversion Date”) at a conversion price equal to the lowest price per share paid by investors purchasing equity securities
in any sale of equity securities by the Company between the November 25, 2022 and the Conversion Date with an aggregate gross sales price of not less
than $5 million, subject to certain exclusions set forth in the New Convertible Promissory Note.  In March 2022, the New Convertible Promissory Notes 
and accrued but unpaid interest were converted into 3,134,932 shares of Common Stock.

On January 30, 2023, the Company entered into an exchange agreement (the “Exchange Agreement”) with an entity controlled by a member of 
management (the “Exchanging Shareholder”).  Pursuant to the Exchange Agreement, the Exchanging Shareholder exchanged a total of 12,000,000 shares of
Common stock for 12,000,000 new warrants issued by the Company (the “New Exchange Warrants”) in a private exchange exempt from registration under
Section 4(a)(2) and/or Regulation D under the Securities Act. The New Exchange Warrants will be immediately exercisable at a strike price of $0.00001 per
share after the Shareholder Approval Date and will expire on December 31, 2023. The Exchanging Shareholder will be entitled to customary registration
rights with respect to the shares of common stock issuable upon exercise of the New Exchange Warrants. The Exchange Agreement contains customary
representations, warranties, covenants and is subject to customary closing conditions and termination rights.

In February 2023, the Company commenced an underwritten public offering of 36,764,706 shares of Common Stock at $0.68 per share  (the “Offering”). 
JonesTrading Institutional Services LLC, as representative of the several underwriters (the “Underwriters”) and pursuant to an underwriting agreement (the 
“Underwriting Agreement”), acted as book-running manager for the Offering. The Underwriting Agreement includes customary representations, warranties 
and covenants by the Company and customary conditions to closing, obligations of the parties and termination provisions. Additionally, under the terms of 
the Underwriting Agreement, the Company agreed to indemnify the Underwriters against certain liabilities, including liabilities under the Securities Act of 
1933, or to contribute to payments the Underwriters may be required to make in respect of these liabilities.  Pursuant to the Underwriting Agreement, the
Company granted the Underwriters a 30-day over-allotment option to purchase up to an additional 5,514,705 shares of its Common Stock, of which the
Underwriters elected to purchase 4,000,000 of the over-allotment prior to the close of the Offering.  The Offering closed on March 1, 2023 and the 
Company issued 40,764,706 shares of Common Stock and received net proceeds under the Offering of $26.6 million.  The Common Stock will be issued
pursuant to the Company’s effective Registration Statement on Form S-3 (File No. 333-262226), previously declared effective by the Securities and
Exchange Commission (“SEC”) on February 4, 2022, and the preliminary prospectus supplement relating to this offering, filed on February 1, 2023.

In February 2023, the Company entered into subscription agreements with certain accredited investors (the “February Common Stock Investors”), pursuant
to which the February Common Stock Investors purchased 1,386,467 shares of Common Stock at a purchase price of $0.68 per share for net proceeds to the
Company of $886,000.  The private placement transaction is exempt from registration under Section 4(a)(2) and/or Regulation D under the Securities Act.  

On March 12, 2023, Signature Bank (“SBNY”) was closed by its state chartering authority, the New York State Department of Financial Services. On the
same date the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation (“FDIC”) was appointed as receiver and transferred all customer deposits and substantially all of the
assets of SBNY to Signature Bridge Bank, N.A., a full-service bank that is being operated by the FDIC. The FDIC, the U.S. Treasury, and the Federal 
Reserve jointly announced that all depositors of SBNY would be made whole, regardless of deposit insurance limits.  The Company automatically became 
a customer of Signature Bridge Bank, N.A. as part of this action. Normal banking activities resumed on Monday, March 13, 2023.  On March 29, 2023, the 
Company was advised by the FDIC that the Company’s bank accounts would be closed on April 5, 2023 and any remaining funds as of that date would be 
distributed to the Company by check.  As of March 30, 2023, the Company held approximately $0.9 million in the former SBNY accounts and intends to
transfer all then remaining funds out of Signature Bridge Bank, N.A. by April 5, 2023.

On March 17, 2023, the “Company” received a letter from the Listing Qualifications Department (the “Staff”) of The Nasdaq Stock Market LLC 
(“Nasdaq”) notifying the Company that, based upon the closing bid price of the Company’s Common Stock for the last 30 consecutive business days, the 
Common Stock did not meet the minimum bid price of $1.00 per share required by Nasdaq Listing Rule 5550(a)(2), initiating an automatic 180 calendar-
day grace period for the Company to regain compliance.  The notice has no immediate effect on the listing or trading of the Company’s Common Stock, and 
the Common Stock will continue to trade on the 
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Nasdaq Capital Market under the symbol “WULF.”  In accordance with Nasdaq Listing Rule 5810(c)(3)(A), the Company has a period of 180 calendar 
days from the date of the notification, or until September 13, 2023, to regain compliance with the minimum bid price requirement. The Company will 
regain compliance with the minimum bid price requirement if at any time before September 13, 2023, the bid price for the Company’s Common Stock 
closes at or above $1.00 per share for a minimum of 10 consecutive business days.  If the Company does not regain compliance within the allotted 
compliance period, including any extensions that may be granted by Nasdaq, Nasdaq will provide notice that the Common Stock will be subject to delisting 
from the Nasdaq Capital Market. At such time, the Company may appeal the delisting determination to a hearings panel.  The Company intends to continue 
to monitor the bid price levels for the Common Stock and will consider appropriate alternatives to achieve compliance within the initial 180 calendar-day 
compliance period. There can be no assurance, however, that the Company will be able to do so.

On March 23, 2023, the Company entered into a second amended and restated limited liability company agreement for Nautilus
(“the “Second A&R Nautilus Agreement”).  Under the Second A&R Nautilus Agreement, the Company will hold a 25% equity interest in Nautilus and
Talen will hold a 75% equity interest in Nautilus, each subject to adjustment based on relative capital contributions.  Bitcoin distributions will be made 
every two weeks in accordance with each Member’s respective hash rate contributions after deducting each Member’s share of power and operational costs
and cash reserves, as established by the board of managers, to fund, among other things, one month of estimated power costs and two months of budgeted 
expenditures.  Nautilus will be governed by a board of managers comprised of one manager appointed by TeraWulf Member and four managers appointed 
by Cumulus Member. Generally, neither TeraWulf Member nor Cumulus Member may directly transfer any of its interests in Nautilus to any third parties 
without the majority consent of the board of managers, except that TeraWulf Member is entitled to transfer its interests in Nautilus if certain conditions are 
met.  Pursuant to the terms of the Second A&R Nautilus Agreement, the Nautilus Cryptomine facility will initially require 200 MW of electric capacity, and
the Talen Member may elect to expand the energy requirement by up to 100 MW, funded solely by the Talen Member, prior to May 13, 2024, for a total
capacity of 300 MW. Upon such election, Nautilus will call additional capital for expansion and enter into an additional energy supply agreement with
Talen Member or its affiliate for the additional capacity, subject to any regulatory approvals and third-party consents.

On March 29, 2023, TeraWulf and Beowulf E&D entered into an Amendment No. 1 to the administrative and infrastructure services agreement, pursuant to
which TeraWulf agreed to pay Beowulf E&D, effective as of January 1, 2023, a reduced annual base fee equal to $8.46 million payable in monthly
installments, until all obligations under the Company’s Loan, Guaranty and Security Agreement dated as of December 1, 2021, as amended and restated
from time to time, are either indefeasibly repaid in full or refinanced.
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ITEM 9. Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial
Disclosure

None.

ITEM 9A. Controls and
Procedures

 Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

Disclosure controls are procedures that are designed with the objective of ensuring that information required to be disclosed in our reports filed under
the Exchange Act, is recorded, processed, summarized, and reported within the time period specified in the SEC’s rules and forms. Disclosure controls are
also designed with the objective of ensuring that such information is accumulated and communicated to our management, including the chief executive
officer and chief financial officer, as appropriate to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure. In connection with this 2022 Form 10-K, our
management evaluated, with the participation of our current chief executive officer and chief financial officer (our “Certifying Officers”), the effectiveness
of our disclosure controls and procedures as of December 31, 2022, pursuant to Rule 13a-15(b) under the Exchange Act. Based upon that evaluation and in
light of the material weakness in our internal control over financial reporting as described below, our Certifying Officers concluded that our disclosure
controls and procedures were not effective as of December 31, 2022.

We do not expect that our disclosure controls and procedures will prevent all errors and all instances of fraud. Disclosure controls and procedures, no
matter how well conceived and operated, can provide only reasonable, not absolute, assurance that the objectives of the disclosure controls and procedures
are met. Further, the design of disclosure controls and procedures must reflect the fact that there are resource constraints, and the benefits must be
considered relative to their costs. Because of the inherent limitations in all disclosure controls and procedures, no evaluation of disclosure controls and
procedures can provide absolute assurance that we have detected all our control deficiencies and instances of fraud, if any. The design of disclosure controls
and procedures also is based partly on certain assumptions about the likelihood of future events, and there can be no assurance that any design will succeed
in achieving its stated goals under all potential future conditions.

Management’s Annual Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting

Management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting and for the assessment of the
effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting. The internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable
assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with GAAP. Our
internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that (i) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail,
accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of our assets; (ii) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to
permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with GAAP, and that receipts and our expenditures are being made only in accordance with
authorizations of management and our directors and (iii) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized
acquisition, use, or disposition of our assets that could have a material effect on the consolidated financial statements.

Management assessed the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2022. In making the assessment of the
effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting, management has utilized the criteria established in Internal Control - Integrated Framework
issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission, (2013 framework) (“COSO”). Based on our evaluation under the
COSO criteria, our management concluded that our internal control over financial reporting was not effective as of December 31, 2022 to provide
reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external reporting purposes in accordance
with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles.

As part of the Company’s financial statement close process and preparation of the 2022 Form 10-K, the Company identified errors in its historical
interim unaudited financial statements.  The misstatements relate solely to incorrectly calculating the impact of noncash activity on purchase and deposits
on plant and equipment, resulting in an understatement of net cash used in investing activities and a corresponding overstatement of net cash used in
operating activities as originally included in the respective unaudited consolidated statements of cash flows. The Company determined that its interim
unaudited consolidated financial statements for the quarterly periods ended March 31, 2022, June 30, 2022 and September 30, 2022
were materially misstated and needed to be restated. The restatements are presented in Note 18 to the consolidated financial statements.
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As a result of the misstatements, management and the Company’s audit committee have determined that a material weakness in our internal control
over financial reporting existed as of December 31, 2022. The material weakness relates to the inadequate design and operation of management’s review
controls over identification of noncash activity on purchase and deposits on plant and equipment in the preparation in its consolidated statements of cash
flows.

Restatement of Previously Issued Financial Statements

As part of the Company’s financial statement close process and preparation of the 2022 Form 10-K, the Company identified errors in its historical
interim unaudited financial statements.  The misstatements relate solely to incorrectly calculating the impact of noncash activity on purchase and deposits
on plant and equipment, resulting in an understatement of net cash used in investing activities and a corresponding overstatement of net cash used in
operating activities as originally included in the respective unaudited consolidated statements of cash flows. The Company determined that its interim
unaudited consolidated financial statements for the quarterly periods ended March 31, 2022, June 30, 2022 and September 30, 2022
were materially misstated and needed to be restated. The restatements are presented in Note 18 to the consolidated financial statements.

Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting

To remediate this material weakness, we have added procedures to our review controls related to the accounting for identification of noncash activity
on purchase and deposits on plant and equipment to ensure that our consolidated financial statements are prepared in accordance with U.S. GAAP.  The
material weakness will not be considered remediated until management designs and implements effective controls that operate for a sufficient period of
time and management has concluded, through testing, that these controls are effective.

Other as described above, there were no changes in our internal controls over financial reporting that occurred during the fiscal quarter ended
December 31, 2022, that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal controls over financial reporting. The elements
of our remediation plan can only be accomplished over time, and we can offer no assurance that these initiatives will ultimately have the intended effects.

ITEM 9B. Other
Information

Non-Reliance on Previously Issued Financial Statements or a Related Audit Report or Completed Interim Review.

As part of the Company’s financial statement close process and preparation of the 2022 Form 10-K, the Company identified errors in its historical
interim unaudited consolidated financial statements.  The misstatements relate solely to incorrectly calculating the impact of noncash activity on purchase
and deposits on plant and equipment, resulting in an understatement of net cash used in investing activities and a corresponding overstatement of net cash
used in operating activities as originally included in the respective unaudited consolidated statements of cash flows. The Company determined that its
interim unaudited consolidated financial statements for the quarterly periods ended March 31, 2022, June 30, 2022 and September 30, 2022
were materially misstated and needed to be restated.

On March 29, 2023, the Audit Committee of the Company’s Board of Directors, based on the recommendation of management of the Company and
after consultation with RSM US LLP, the Company’s independent registered public accounting firm, concluded that the Company’s previously issued
interim unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements for the first three quarters of 2022 (collectively, the “Relevant Periods”), as well as the
associated earnings press releases, were materially misstated and therefore the financial statements should be restated and the financial statements and
earnings press releases should no longer be relied upon.

The Company will correct for such misstatements by restating its financial information as of and for the Relevant Periods in the 2022 Form 10-K.

Additionally, the Company has determined that a material weakness existed in its internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2022.
The material weakness relates to the inadequate design and operation of management’s review controls over identification of noncash activity on purchase
and deposits on plant and equipment in the preparation of the Company’s consolidated statements of cash flows.
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As a result, the Company’s Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer have concluded that the Company’s disclosure controls and procedures
were not effective as of December 31, 2022.

The Company’s management and the Audit Committee have discussed the matters disclosed above with the Company’s independent registered
public accounting firm, RSM US LLP.

Amendment No. 1 to Administrative and Infrastructure Services Agreement

On March 29, 2023, TeraWulf and Beowulf E&D entered into Amendment No. 1 to the administrative and infrastructure services agreement,
pursuant to which TeraWulf agreed to pay Beowulf E&D, effective as of January 1, 2023, a reduced annual base fee equal to $8.46 million payable in
monthly installments, until all obligations under the LGSA, are either indefeasibly repaid in full or refinanced.

ITEM 9C. Disclosure Regarding Foreign Jurisdictions that Prevent
Inspections.

Not applicable.
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PART III

ITEM 10. Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate
Governance

Our board of directors has adopted a code of ethics policy that applies to all of our directors, officers, and employees, including our chief
executive officer, chief financial officer, and all of the finance team. The full text of our code of ethics policy can be found on the governance page within
the investors section of our website at www.terawulf.com. We intend to disclose any changes in or waivers from the codes of ethics by posting such
information on our corporate website or by filing a Current Report on Form 8-K.

Information relating to this item will be included in the proxy statement for our 2023 annual stockholders’ meeting and is incorporated by
reference in this Annual Report on Form 10-K. Certain information concerning our executive officers is included in Item 1 of Part I of this Annual Report
on Form 10-K and is hereby incorporated by reference.

ITEM 11. Executive
Compensation

Information relating to this item will be included in the proxy statement for our 2023 annual stockholders’ meeting and is hereby incorporated by
reference in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

ITEM 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder
Matters

Information relating to this item will be included in the proxy statement for our 2023 annual stockholders’ meeting and is hereby incorporated by
reference in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

ITEM 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, and Director
Independence

Information relating to this item will be included in the proxy statement for our 2023 annual stockholders’ meeting and is hereby incorporated by
reference in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

ITEM 14. Principal Accounting Fees and
Services

Information relating to this item will be included in the proxy statement for our 2023 annual stockholders’ meeting and is hereby incorporated by
reference in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.
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PART IV

ITEM 15. Exhibits, Financial Statement
Schedules

(a) Exhibits and Financial Statement
Schedules

(1) Our Consolidated Financial Statements and Notes thereto are included in Item 8 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K. See “Financial
Statements and Supplementary Data—TeraWulf Inc.—Index” for more detail.

(2) All financial schedules have been omitted either because they are not applicable or because the required information is provided in our
Consolidated Financial Statements and Notes thereto, included in Item 8 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

(3) Index to
Exhibits

Exhibit Number     Description
(2.1) Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated as of June 24, 2021, by and among TeraWulf Inc. (formerly known as Telluride Holdco, Inc.),

IKONICS Corporation, Telluride Merger Sub I, Inc., Telluride Merger Sub II, Inc. and TeraCub Inc. (formerly known as TeraWulf Inc.)
(incorporated by reference to Appendix A of TeraWulf Inc.’s Amendment No. 6 to the Registration Statement on Form S-4 (file no. 333-
258335) filed with the SEC on November 10, 2021).

(2.2) Amendment to the Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated as of August 5, 2021, by and among TeraWulf Inc. (formerly known as
Telluride Holdco, Inc.), IKONICS Corporation, Telluride Merger Sub I, Inc., Telluride Merger Sub II, Inc. and TeraCub Inc. (formerly
known as TeraWulf Inc.) (incorporated by reference to Appendix A of TeraWulf Inc.’s Amendment No. 6 to the Registration Statement
on Form S-4 (file no. 333-258335) filed with the SEC on November 10, 2021).

(2.3) Amendment No. 2 to the Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated as of September 17, 2021, by and among TeraWulf Inc. (formerly known
as Telluride Holdco, Inc.), IKONICS Corporation, Telluride Merger Sub I, Inc., Telluride Merger Sub II, Inc. and TeraCub Inc. (formerly
known as TeraWulf Inc.) (incorporated by reference to Appendix A of TeraWulf Inc.’s Amendment No. 6 to the Registration Statement
on Form S-4 (file no. 333-258335) filed with the SEC on November 10, 2021).

(2.4) Amendment No. 3 to the Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated as of December 2, 2021, by and among TeraWulf Inc. (formerly known as
Telluride Holdco, Inc.), IKONICS Corporation, Telluride Merger Sub I, Inc., Telluride Merger Sub II, Inc. and TeraCub Inc. (formerly
known as TeraWulf Inc.) (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 2.1 of TeraWulf Inc.’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on
December 3, 2021).

(2.5) Amendment No. 4 to the Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated as of December 8, 2021, by and among TeraWulf Inc. (formerly known as
Telluride Holdco, Inc.), IKONICS Corporation, Telluride Merger Sub I, Inc., Telluride Merger Sub II, Inc. and TeraCub Inc. (formerly
known as TeraWulf Inc.) (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 2.1 of TeraWulf Inc.’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on
December 9, 2021).

(3.1) Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of TeraWulf Inc., dated as of December 13, 2021 (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 3.1 of Form 8-K12B filed with the SEC on December 13, 2021).

(3.2) Certificate of Amendment of Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of TeraWulf Inc., dated as of February 23, 2023
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.3 of TeraWulf Inc.’s Amendment No. 3 to the Registration Statement on Form S-3 filed with the
SEC on March 10, 2023).

(3.3) Certificate of Amendment of Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of TeraWulf Inc., dated as of February 23, 2023  
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.4 of TeraWulf Inc.’s Amendment No. 3 to the Registration Statement on Form S-3 (file no. 333-
268563) filed with the SEC on March 10, 2023).

(3.4) Amended and Restated Bylaws of TeraWulf Inc., effective as of December 13, 2021 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.2 of
TeraWulf Inc.’s Amendment No. 1 to the Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on December 13, 2021).

https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1083301/000110465921125074/tm2123603-11_s4a.htm#tAPPEA
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1083301/000110465921125074/tm2123603-11_s4a.htm#tAPPAA
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1083301/000110465921125074/tm2123603-11_s4a.htm#tAMN2
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1083301/000143774921027874/ex_313148.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1083301/000143774921028196/ex_314867.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1083301/000095014221003986/eh210209806_ex0301.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1083301/000155837023003501/tmb-20230310xex3d3.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1083301/000155837023003501/tmb-20230310xex3d4.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1083301/000095014221003986/eh210209806_ex0302.htm
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Exhibit Number     Description
(3.5) TeraWulf Inc. Series A Convertible Preferred Certificate of Designations (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 of  TeraWulf Inc.’s 

Amendment No. 1 to the Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on March 17, 2022).

4.1 Description of Securities.

(4.2) Warrant Agreement, dated as of July 1, 2022, by and among TeraWulf Inc. and certain persons listed therein (incorporated by reference
to Exhibit 4.1 of TeraWulf Inc.’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on July 1, 2022).

(4.3) Registration Rights Agreement, dated as of July 1, 2022, by and among TeraWulf Inc. and certain persons listed therein (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 4.2 of TeraWulf Inc.’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on July 1, 2022).

(4.4) Amended and Restated Warrant Agreement, dated as of October 7, 2022, by and among TeraWulf Inc. and certain persons listed therein
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 of TeraWulf Inc.’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on October 12, 2022).

(4.5) Warrant Agreement, dated as of March 1, 2023, by and among TeraWulf Inc. and certain persons listed therein (incorporated by reference
to Exhibit 4.2 of TeraWulf Inc.’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on March 3, 2023).

(4.6) Registration Rights Agreement, dated as of March 1, 2023, by and among TeraWulf Inc. and certain persons listed therein (incorporated
by reference to Exhibit 4.2 of TeraWulf Inc.’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on March 3, 2023).

(10.1) Employment Letter Agreement, dated November 4, 2021, by and between TeraWulf Inc. and Paul B. Prager (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.9 of TeraWulf Inc.’s Amendment No. 6 to the Registration Statement on Form S-4 (file no. 333-258335) filed with the SEC on
November 10, 2021).

(10.2) Employment Letter Agreement, dated November 4, 2021, by and between TeraWulf Inc. and Kenneth J. Deane (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.10 of TeraWulf Inc.’s Amendment No. 6 to the Registration Statement on Form S-4 (file no. 333-258335) filed
with the SEC on November 10, 2021).

(10.3) Employment Letter Agreement, dated November 4, 2021, by and between TeraWulf Inc. and Nazar M. Khan (incorporated by reference
to Exhibit 10.11 of TeraWulf Inc.’s Amendment No. 6 to the Registration Statement on Form S-4 (file no. 333-258335) filed with the
SEC on November 10, 2021).

(10.4) Employment Letter Agreement, dated November 4, 2021, by and between TeraWulf Inc. and Kerri M. Langlais (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.12 of TeraWulf Inc.’s Amendment No. 6 to the Registration Statement on Form S-4 (file no. 333-258335) filed
with the SEC on November 10, 2021).

(10.5) Restrictive Covenant Agreement, dated as of November 4, 2021, by and between TeraWulf Inc. and Paul B. Prager (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.13 of TeraWulf Inc.’s Amendment No. 6 to the Registration Statement on Form S-4 (file no. 333-258335) filed
with the SEC on November 10, 2021).

(10.6) Restrictive Covenant Agreement, dated as of November 4, 2021, by and between TeraWulf Inc. and Kenneth J. Deane (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.14 of TeraWulf Inc.’s Amendment No. 6 to the Registration Statement on Form S-4 (file no. 333-258335) filed
with the SEC on November 10, 2021).

(10.7) Restrictive Covenant Agreement, dated as of November 4, 2021, by and between TeraWulf Inc. and Nazar M. Khan (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.15 of TeraWulf Inc.’s Amendment No. 6 to the Registration Statement on Form S-4 (file no. 333-258335) filed
with the SEC on November 10, 2021).

(10.8) Restrictive Covenant Agreement, dated as of November 4, 2021, by and between TeraWulf Inc. and Kerri M. Langlais (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.16 of TeraWulf Inc.’s Amendment No. 6 to the Registration Statement on Form S-4 (file no. 333-258335) filed
with the SEC on November 10, 2021).

https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1083301/000110465922034680/tm222878d10_ex3-1.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1083301/000110465922076754/tm2220243d1_ex4-1.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1083301/000110465922076754/tm2220243d1_ex4-2.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1083301/000108330122000045/wulf-20221006xex4d1.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1083301/000110465923028517/tm238231d2_ex4-1.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1083301/000110465923028517/tm238231d2_ex4-2.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1083301/000110465921136822/tm2123603d22_ex10-9.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1083301/000110465921136822/tm2123603d22_ex10-10.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1083301/000110465921136822/tm2123603d22_ex10-11.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1083301/000110465921136822/tm2123603d22_ex10-12.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1083301/000110465921136822/tm2123603d22_ex10-13.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1083301/000110465921136822/tm2123603d22_ex10-14.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1083301/000110465921136822/tm2123603d22_ex10-15.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1083301/000110465921136822/tm2123603d22_ex10-16.htm
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Exhibit Number     Description
(10.9)* TeraWulf 2021 Omnibus Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.9 of TeraWulf Inc.’s Amendment No. 6 to the

Registration Statement on Form S-4 (file no. 333-258335) filed with the SEC on November 10, 2021).

(10.10)* Form of TeraWulf Inc. 2021 Omnibus Incentive Plan Performance-Based Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.19 of TeraWulf Inc.’s Amendment No. 6 to the Registration Statement on Form S-4 (file no. 333-258335) filed
with the SEC on November 10, 2021).

(10.11) Voting and Support Agreement, dated as of June 24, 2021, by and among TeraWulf Inc. and each of the directors and executive officers
of IKONICS Corporation parties thereto (incorporated by reference herein to Exhibit 10.1 to the Current Report on Form 8-K filed by
IKONICS Corporation on June 25, 2021).

(10.12) Form of Voting and Support Agreements by and among IKONICS Corporation and certain holders of TeraWulf Inc. common stock
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 of TeraWulf Inc.’s Amendment No. 6 to the Registration Statement on Form S-4 (file no. 333-
258335) filed with the SEC on November 10, 2021).

(10.13) Form of Contingent Value Rights Agreement, by and among IKONICS Corporation, Telluride Holdco, Inc., the Rights Agent named
therein, and the initial CVR Holders’ Representative named therein ((incorporated by reference as Appendix E of TeraWulf Inc.’s
Amendment No. 6 to the Registration Statement on Form S-4 (file no. 333-258335) filed with the SEC on November 10, 2021).

(10.14) Administrative and Infrastructure Services Agreement, dated as of April 27, 2021, by and between TeraWulf Inc. and Beowulf Electricity
& Data Inc (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 of TeraWulf Inc.’s Amendment No. 6 to the Registration Statement on Form S-4
(file no. 333-258335) filed with the SEC on November 10, 2021).

10.15 Amendment No. 1 to Administrative and Infrastructure Services Agreement, dated as of March 23, 2021, by and between TeraWulf Inc.
and Beowulf Electricity & Data Inc.

(10.16) Non-Fixed Price Sales and Purchase Agreement, dated as of June 15, 2021, by and between Bitmain Technologies Limited and Nautilus
Cryptomine LLC (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.5 of TeraWulf Inc.’s Amendment No. 6 to the Registration Statement on Form
S-4 (file no. 333-258335) filed with the SEC on November 10, 2021).

(10.17) Non-Fixed Price Sales and Purchase Agreement, dated as of June 15, 2021, by and between Bitmain Technologies Limited and Nautilus
Cryptomine LLC (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.6 of TeraWulf Inc.’s Amendment No. 6 to the Registration Statement on Form
S-4 (file no. 333-258335) filed with the SEC on November 10, 2021).

(10.18) Equipment Purchase Agreement, dated as of March 19, 2021, by and between Minerva Semiconductor Corp. and TeraWulf Inc.
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.7 of TeraWulf Inc.’s Amendment No. 6 to the Registration Statement on Form S-4 (file no. 333-
258335) filed with the SEC on November 10, 2021).

(10.19) Assignment and Assumption Agreement, dated as of May 13, 2021, by and between TeraWulf Inc. and Nautilus Cryptomine LLC
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.8 of TeraWulf Inc.’s Amendment No. 6 to the Registration Statement on Form S-4 (file no. 333-
258335) filed with the SEC on November 10, 2021).

(10.20) Form of Registration Rights Agreement, by and among Telluride Holdco Inc. and TeraWulf Inc. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit
10.10 of TeraWulf Inc.’s Amendment No. 6 to the Registration Statement on Form S-4 (file no. 333-258335) filed with the SEC on
November 10, 2021).

(10.21) At Market Issuance Sales Agreement, dated as of February 11, 2022, by and between TeraWulf Inc. and B. Riley Securities, Inc. and
D.A. Davidson & Co (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 1.1 of TeraWulf Inc.’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on
February 11, 2022).

(10.22) Non-Fixed Price Sales and Purchase Agreement, dated as of December 7, 2021, by and between Bitmain Technologies Limited and Lake
Mariner Data LLC (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.22 of TeraWulf Inc.’s Annual Report on Form 10-K filed with the SEC on
March 31, 2022).

(10.23) Non-Fixed Price Sales and Purchase Agreement, dated as of December 15, 2021, by and between Bitmain Technologies Limited and
Lake Mariner Data LLC (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.23 of TeraWulf Inc.’s Annual Report on Form 10-K filed with the SEC
on March 31, 2022).

https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1083301/000110465921098354/tm2123603d2_ex10-9.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1083301/000110465921136822/tm2123603d22_ex10-19.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1083301/000143774921015599/ex_259671.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1083301/000110465921098354/tm2123603d2_ex10-2.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1083301/000110465921125074/tm2123603-11_s4a.htm#tAPPE
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1083301/000110465921098354/tm2123603d2_ex10-4.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1083301/000110465921098354/tm2123603d2_ex10-5.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1083301/000110465921098354/tm2123603d2_ex10-6.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1083301/000110465921098354/tm2123603d2_ex10-7.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1083301/000110465921098354/tm2123603d2_ex10-8.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1083301/000110465921133386/tm2123603d19_ex10-10.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1083301/000110465922020650/tm222878d7_ex1-1.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1083301/000110465922041168/wulf-20211231xex10d22.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1083301/000110465922041168/wulf-20211231xex10d23.htm
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Exhibit Number     Description

(10.24) Loan, Guaranty and Security Agreement, dated as of December 1, 2021, by and among Wilmington Trust, National Association, a
national banking association, in its capacity as administrative agent and collateral agent, the Lenders party thereto from time to time, the
Guarantors and TeraWulf Inc., a Delaware Corporation (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.24 of TeraWulf Inc.’s Annual Report on
Form 10-K filed with the SEC on March 31, 2022).

(10.25) Employment Letter Agreement, dated as of May 16, 2022, by and between TeraWulf Inc. and Patrick M. Fleury (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.2 of Form 10-Q filed with the SEC on May 16, 2022).

(10.26) Restrictive Covenant Agreement, dated as of May 16, 2022, by and between TeraWulf Inc. and Patrick M. Fleury (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.3 of Form 10-Q filed with the SEC on May 16, 2022).

(10.27) Inducement Award Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement, dated as of May 16, 2022, by and between TeraWulf Inc. and Patrick M.
Fleury (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 of Form 10-Q filed with the SEC on May 16, 2022).

(10.28) Amendment, dated as of May 16, 2022, to that certain Employment Letter Agreement, dated November 4, 2021, by and between
TeraWulf Inc. and Kenneth J. Deane (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.5 of Form 10-Q filed with the SEC on May 16, 2022).

(10.29) Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement, dated as of May 16, 2022, by and between TeraWulf Inc. and Kenneth J. Deane (incorporated
by reference to Exhibit 10.6 of Form 10-Q filed with the SEC on May 16, 2022).

(10.30) Standby Equity Purchase Agreement, dated as of June 2, 2022, by and between TeraWulf Inc. and YA II PN, LTD. (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 1.1 of TeraWulf Inc.’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on June 8, 2022).

(10.31) First Amendment to Loan, Guaranty and Security Agreement, dated as of July 1, 2022, by and among TeraWulf Inc., certain subsidiaries
party thereto, the lenders from time to time party thereto and Wilmington Trust, National Association (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 1.1 of TeraWulf Inc.’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on July 1, 2022).

(10.32) Second Amendment to Loan, Guaranty and Security Agreement, dated as of August 26, 2022, by and among TeraWulf Inc., certain
subsidiaries party thereto, the lenders from time to time party thereto and Wilmington Trust, National Association (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 1.1 of TeraWulf Inc.’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on August 29, 2022).

(10.33) Third Amendment to Loan, Guaranty and Security Agreement, dated as of October 7, 2022, by and among TeraWulf Inc., certain
subsidiaries party thereto, the lenders from time to time party thereto and Wilmington Trust, National Association (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 1.1 of TeraWulf Inc.’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on October 12, 2022).

(10.34)† Fifth Amendment to Loan, Guaranty and Security Agreement, dated as of March 1, 2023, by and among TeraWulf Inc. certain
subsidiaries thereto, the lenders from time to time party thereto and Wilmington Trust, National Association (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 1.1 of TeraWulf Inc.’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on March 3, 2023).†

(10.35) Foundry USA Pool Service Agreement, dated as of August 27, 2020 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Form 8-K filed with
the SEC on February 1, 2023).

(10.36)† Digital Asset Custodial Agreement, by and between NYDIG Trust Company LLC and Lake Mariner Data LLC, dated as of March 10,
2022 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 of TeraWulf Inc.’s Current Report on Form S-3/A (file no. 333-268563) filed with the
SEC on March 10, 2023).†

(10.37) Foundry USA Pool Service Agreement, dated as of August 27, 2020 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of TeraWulf Inc.’s
Current Report on Form S-3/A (file no. 333-268563) filed with the SEC on March 10, 2023).

https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1083301/000110465922041168/wulf-20211231xex10d24.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1083301/000155837022008985/wulf-20220331xex10d2.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1083301/000155837022008985/wulf-20220331xex10d3.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1083301/000155837022008985/wulf-20220331xex10d4.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1083301/000155837022008985/wulf-20220331xex10d5.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1083301/000155837022008985/wulf-20220331xex10d6.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1083301/000108330122000006/wulf-20220602xex1d1.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1083301/000110465922076754/tm2220243d1_ex1-1.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1083301/000108330122000029/wulf-20220829xex1d1.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1083301/000108330122000045/wulf-20221006xex1d1.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1083301/000110465923028517/tm238231d2_ex1-1.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1083301/000110465923009266/tm234968d1_ex10-1.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1083301/000155837023003501/tmb-20230310xex10d2.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1083301/000110465923009266/tm234968d1_ex10-1.htm
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(10.38) Underwriting Agreement, dated as of April 11, 2022, by and between TeraWulf Inc. and Cantor Fitzgerald & Co. (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 1.1 of TeraWulf Inc.’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on April 11, 2022).

(10.39) Sales Agreement, dated as of April 26, 2022, by and among TeraWulf Inc. and Cantor Fitzgerald & Co, B. Riley Securities, Inc. and D.A.
Davidson & Co. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 1.1 of TeraWulf Inc.’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on April
26, 2022).

(10.40)† Digital Asset Execution Agreement, by and between NYDIG Execution LLC and Lake Mariner Data LLC, dated as of September 16,
2022 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 of TeraWulf Inc.’s Current Report on Form S-3/A (file no. 333-268563) filed with the
SEC on March 10, 2023)†.

(10.41)† Amended and Restated Limited Liability Company Agreement of Nautilus Cryptomine LLC, effective as of August 27, 2022
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 of TeraWulf Inc.’s Current Report on Form S-3/A (file no. 333-268563) filed with the SEC on
March 10, 2023)†.

21.1 List of subsidiaries.  

23.1 Consent of RSM US LLP, registered public accounting firm of TeraWulf Inc.

31.1 Certification of the Principal Executive Officer required by Rule 13a-14(a) and Rule 15d-14(a) under the Securities Exchange Act of
1934, as amended, as adopted pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes Oxley Act of 2002.

31.2 Certification of the Principal Financial Officer required by Rule 13a-14(a) and Rule 15d-14(a) under the Securities Exchange Act of
1934, as amended, as adopted pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes Oxley Act of 2002.

32.1 Certification of the Principal Executive Officer required by 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes
Oxley Act of 2002.

32.2 Certification of the Principal Financial Officer required by 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes
Oxley Act of 2002.

101 Consolidated financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2022 formatted in Inline Extensible Business Reporting Language
(iXBRL); (i) Consolidated Balance Sheet as of December 31, 2022, (ii) Consolidated Statement of Operations for the Year Ended
December 31, 2022, (iii) Consolidated Statement of Stockholders’ Equity for the Year Ended December 31, 2022, (iv) Consolidated
Statement of Cash Flows for the Year Ended December 31, 2022, and (v) Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

104 Cover Page Interactive Data File (formatted as inline XBRL and contained in Exhibit 101)

( ) Exhibits previously filed in the Company’s periodic filings as specifically
noted.

* Executive compensation plans and
arrangements.

† Certain portions of this exhibit have been redacted pursuant to Item 601(b)(2)(ii) and Item 601(b)(10)(iv) of Regulation S-K, as applicable.  The 
Company agrees to furnish supplementally an unredacted copy of the exhibit to the Commission upon its request. 

ITEM 16. Form 10-K
Summary

Not applicable.

https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1083301/000110465922046041/tm2212158d4_ex1-1.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1083301/000110465922049861/tm2213079d1_ex1-1.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1083301/000155837023003501/tmb-20230310xex10d3.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1083301/000155837023003501/tmb-20230310xex10d4.htm
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities and Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be
signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

TERAWULF INC.
(Registrant)

March 31, 2023 By: /s/ Paul B. Prager
(Date) Paul B. Prager

(Chief Executive Officer and Chairman)
(Principal Executive Officer)

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the following persons on behalf of the registrant
and in the capacities and on the dates indicated.

/s/ Paul B. Prager     Chief Executive Officer and Chair of the Board of Directors (Principal
Executive Officer and Director)

 
Paul B. Prager

/s/ Patrick A. Fleury Chief Financial Officer (Principal Financial Officer)Patrick A. Fleury

/s/ Kenneth J. Deane Chief Accounting Officer and Treasurer (Principal Accounting Officer)Kenneth J. Deane

/s/ Nazar M. Khan Chief Operating Officer, Chief Technology Officer and Executive
DirectorNazar M. Khan

/s/ Kerri M. Langlais Chief Strategy Officer and Executive DirectorKerri M. Langlais

/s/ Michael C. Bucella DirectorMichael C. Bucella

/s/ Walter E. Carter DirectorWalter E. Carter

/s/ Catherine J. Motz DirectorCatherine J. Motz

/s/ Jason G. New DirectorJason G. New

/s/ Steven T. Pincus DirectorSteven T. Pincus

/s/ Lisa A. Prager DirectorLisa A. Prager



Exhibit 4.1

DESCRIPTION OF THE REGISTRANT’S SECURITIES
REGISTERED PURSUANT TO SECTION 12 OF THE

SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

As of December 31, 2022, TeraWulf Inc. (“us”, “our”, “we”, “TeraWulf”, or the “Company”) has one class of securities registered under Section 12(b) of
the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, (the “Exchange Act”): our common stock, par value $0.001 per share (“Common Stock”).

Common Stock

Shares Outstanding. We are authorized to issue up to 400,000,000 shares of Common Stock.

Dividends. Subject to prior dividend rights of the holders of any preferred shares, holders of our Common Stock are entitled to receive dividends
when, as and if declared by our board of directors out of funds legally available for that purpose. Delaware law allows a corporation to pay dividends only
out of surplus, as determined under Delaware law.

Voting Rights. Except as otherwise required by law or as otherwise provided in any certificate of designation for any series of preferred stock, the
holders of our Common Stock possess all voting power for the election of directors and all other matters requiring stockholder action and will at all times
vote together as one class on all matters submitted to a vote of our stockholders. Holders of our Common Stock are entitled to one vote per share on matters
to be voted on by stockholders.

Other Rights. In the event of any liquidation, dissolution or winding up of our company, after the satisfaction in full of the liquidation preferences
of holders of any preferred shares, holders of our Common Stock are entitled to ratable distribution of the remaining assets available for distribution to
stockholders.

Fully Paid. The issued and outstanding shares of our Common Stock are fully paid and non-assessable. This means the full purchase price for the
outstanding shares of our Common Stock has been paid and the holders of such shares will not be assessed any additional amounts for such shares. Any
additional shares of Common Stock that we may issue in the future will also be fully paid and non-assessable.

Listing. TeraWulf’s common stock is listed on the Nasdaq Capital Market under the trading symbol “WULF”.

Transfer and Registration of Common Stock.  The transfer agent and registrar for our common stock is Equiniti Trust Company, d/b/a “EQ by
Equiniti,”. Its address is 1110 Centre Pointe Curve Suite 101, Mendota Heights, MN 55120.



Exhibit 10.15

Executive Copy

AMENDMENT NO. 1 TO

ADMINISTRATIVE AND INFRASTRUCTURE SERVICES AGREEMENT

THIS AMENDMENT NO. 1 TO ADMINISTRATIVE AND INFRASTRUCTURE SERVICES AGREEMENT (this
“Amendment”) dated as of March 29, 2023, is entered into by and between Terawulf Inc., a Delaware corporation
(“Terawulf”), and Beowulf Electricity & Data Inc., a Delaware corporation (“Beowulf E&D”; TeraWulf and Beowulf E&D
each a “Party” and collectively, the “Parties”).

RECITALS

A. Terawulf is a U.S.-based Bitcoin mining company engaged in the design, development and operation of large-
scale Bitcoin mining centers;

B. On April 27, 2021, Terawulf and Beowulf E&D enter into an Administrative and Infrastructure Services
Agreement (the “Original Agreement”), pursuant to which Beowulf E&D has been providing, or has caused its Affiliates to
provide infrastructure, construction, operations and maintenance and administrative services to Terawulf, including but not
limited to those described on Exhibit A thereto; and

C. The Parties wish to amend the Original Agreement subject to the terms and conditions of this Amendment.

AGREEMENT

NOW THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual agreements and covenants hereinafter set forth, Terawulf and
Beowulf E&D hereby agree as follows:

1. Effective Date; Defined Terms.

The Parties expressly agree that this Amendment shall be effective as of January 1, 2023 (the “Effective
Date”). Capitalized terms used but not otherwise defined in this Amendment shall have the meanings given such terms in the
Original Agreement.

2. Amendment and Restatement of Section 4a.

The Parties hereby expressly agree to delete clause a. of Section 4 of the Original Agreement in its
entirety and to replace it with the following:

a. “Base Fee.

(1) Terawulf shall pay to Beowulf E&D as compensation to Beowulf E&D for performance
of the Services hereunder an annual fee (the “Base Fee”) payable in monthly installments (the “Monthly Fee”) as follows:

(a) Until the earliest of (i) the termination of all commitments under the Loan
Agreement, (ii) the indefeasible repayment in full in cash of all obligations under the Loan Agreement, and (iii) a refinancing
of all obligations under the Loan Agreement (such earliest event, the “Loan Discharge”), the Base Fee shall be Eight Million
Four Hundred Sixty-One Thousand One Hundred Dollars ($8,461,100),
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which shall be paid in monthly installments of $705,091.67 in advance beginning on the Effective Date. For purposes hereof,
the “Loan Agreement” shall mean that certain Loan, Guaranty and Security Agreement dated as of December 1, 2021 (as
amended by the First Amendment to Loan, Guaranty and Security Agreement dated as of July 1, 2022, the Second
Amendment to Loan, Guaranty and Security Agreement, Consent and Amendment to First Amendment dated as of August 26,
2022, the Third Amendment to Loan, Guaranty and Security Agreement dated as of October 7, 2022, the Fourth Amendment
to Loan, Guaranty and Security Agreement dated as of January 6, 2023, the Fifth Amendment to Loan, Guaranty and Security
Agreement, dated as of March 1, 2023, and as further amended, restated, amended and restated, supplemented or otherwise
modified from time to time.

(b) Following the Loan Discharge, the Monthly Fee for each following year of the
Initial Term or any Renewal Term shall be equal to the greater of (i) $833,333.33 or (ii) $0.0037 per kwH of electrical load
utilized by the Facilities (the “Services Price”), which shall be calculated by multiplying the Services Price by the aggregate
electrical load utilized by the Facilities, in each case payable in advance.

(c) Terawulf will pay to Beowulf E&D the Monthly Fee in advance beginning on the
Effective Date with respect to the first calendar month and thereafter at least five (5) Business Days before the beginning of
each calendar month occurring during the Term; provided that the Monthly Fee for any partial month shall be prorated to
account for the percentage of the month during which Services hereunder are commenced or in which they are completed.

(2) Terawulf and Beowulf E&D will meet annually to discuss any good faith modification of
the Base Fee to reflect changes in the service requirements of Terawulf; provided, however, that nothing contained herein shall
be deemed to require either Party to agree to any such revisions.

(3) Beginning with Contract Year 2024, the Monthly Fee or the Services Price, as
applicable, shall be adjusted annually to reflect changes in the CPI Index, provided that no negative adjustments shall be
effected. Adjustments in the CPI Index shall be made by dividing the CPI Index for January of the then current Contract Year
by the CPI Index for the January of the immediately preceding Contract Year. “CPI Index” means a factor representing the 
change in the Consumer Price Index, All Urban Consumers for All Items (1982-84=100) in effect as of January 1 of each 
Contract Year, as published by the United States Department of Labor, Bureau of Labor Statistics. If the CPI Index is hereafter 
published by a United States government entity other than the United States Department of Labor, Bureau of Labor Statistics, 
the CPI Index as used herein shall be deemed to be such replacement index.  “Contract Year” means with respect to (i) the
calendar year 2023, the time period beginning on the Effective Date and ending December 31, 2023; (ii) each calendar year
following December 31, 2023, the time period commencing on January 1 and ending on December 31 of each calendar year;
and (iii) any calendar year during which this Agreement is terminated prior to December 31 of such calendar year, the period
commencing on January 1 of such year and ending upon the date of termination of this Agreement.”

3. No Other Changes.

Except as expressly set forth in this Amendment, the Original Agreement shall remain in full force and
effect.

4. Miscellaneous.

a. Further Assurances. The Parties hereto shall execute, acknowledge and deliver or caused to be
executed, acknowledged and delivered such instruments and take such other action as may be
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reasonably necessary or advisable to carry out their respective obligations hereunder and the intent of this instrument or any
other instrument delivered in connection herewith.

b. Notices. Any notice required or permitted to be delivered hereunder shall be deemed to be
delivered when deposited in the mail, postage prepaid, registered or certified mail, or sent via email, provided, however, that a
follow-up hard copy is either hand delivered or couriered, return receipt requested, or by telecopier or courier, addressed to the
Parties at the following addresses:

If to Terawulf:

TeraWulf Inc.
9 Federal Street (HQ)
Easton, MD 21601
Attn: General Counsel’s Office
Email: legal@terawulf.com  

with a copy to:

Paul, Weiss, Rifkind, Wharton & Garrison
LLP
1285 Avenue of the Americas
New York, NY 10019-6064
Attn: Brian Hermann

David Huntington
Email: bhermann@paulweiss.com;
dhuntington@paulweiss.com

If to Beowulf E&D:

Beowulf Electricity & Data Inc.
5 Federal Street
Easton, MD  21601
Attention: Daniel Stewart
Email: stewart@beowulfenergy.com

With a copy to:

Beowulf Electricity & Data Inc.
5 Federal Street
Easton, MD 21601
Attn: General Counsel’s Office
Email: legal@beowulfenergy.com

c. Counterparts. This Amendment may be executed in two or more counterparts, each of which 
shall be deemed an original, but all of which together shall constitute one and the same instrument.  Signatures transmitted by 
facsimile or email transmission shall be effective for all purposes.

d. Headings. Titles and headings of the paragraphs and subparagraphs of this Amendment are for
convenience of reference only and do not form a part of this Amendment, and shall not in any way affect the interpretation of
this Amendment.
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e. Assignments. This Amendment shall be binding upon and shall inure to the benefit of the Parties 
hereto and their respective successors and permitted assigns. Neither party may assign its rights or obligations hereunder 
(except for assignment to an Affiliate of the assigning party) without the prior written consent of the other party, which 
consent shall not be unreasonably withheld or delayed.  No assignment shall relieve the assigning party of any of its 
obligations hereunder.

f. Subcontractors. Beowulf E&D’s Services may be performed by Beowulf E&D acting in its own
name, or by Beowulf E&D subcontracting portions of such Services to persons or entities who have a contractor arrangement
with Beowulf E&D, whether directly or by assignment, or with any subcontractors or vendors of Beowulf E&D of any tier, for
the performance of any work with respect to the Facility (“Subcontractors”) or other suppliers.

(1) For its Services, Beowulf E&D shall assume the responsibility for negotiating with, and
performance by, its Subcontractors.

(2) Beowulf E&D shall have authority and control over the Subcontractors’ work, including
overtime and, any special methods required, in the judgment of Beowulf E&D, to complete the Subcontractors’ work in a
correct and timely manner.

(3) All subcontracts shall be consistent with the terms and conditions of this Amendment.

Subcontractors are not intended to be, shall not be deemed to be, and are not third-party beneficiaries of this
Amendment.

g. Severability; Waivers.  If any term or provision of this Amendment or the performance thereof 
shall to any extent be invalid or unenforceable, such invalidity or unenforceability shall not affect or render invalid or 
unenforceable any other provision of this Amendment, and this Amendment shall be valid and enforced to the fullest extent 
permitted by law.  The waiver by a Party of any breach of any provision of this Amendment shall not operate or be construed 
as a waiver of any subsequent breach. The failure of a Party to require strict performance of any provision of this Amendment 
shall not affect such Party’s right to full performance thereof at any time thereafter.

h. No Third-Party Beneficiaries.  This Amendment is for the sole benefit of the Parties hereto and 
their respective successors and permitted assigns and nothing herein, express or implied, is intended to or shall confer upon 
any other Person any legal or equitable right, benefit or remedy of any nature whatsoever, under or by reason of this 
Amendment.

i. Amendment.  No modification or amendment of this Amendment shall be valid unless in writing 
and executed by the Parties hereto.

j. Governing Law.  This Amendment shall be governed by, and construed, interpreted and applied 
in accordance with, the laws of the State of New York, without regard to the conflict of laws provisions thereof that would 
apply the laws of a jurisdiction other than the State of New York.

k. Entire Agreement.  This Amendment sets forth the entire agreement and understanding between 
the Parties hereto with respect to the subject matter hereof and supersede and replace all prior written agreements and 
negotiations and oral understandings, if any, with respect thereto.
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l. No Partnership.  It is not the intention of the Parties hereto to create, nor shall this Amendment 
be construed as creating, a partnership, joint venture, or render the Parties liable as partners, co-venturers or principals.

[Remainder of page intentionally left blank.]



IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Parties have caused this Amendment to be signed by their respective duly authorized
officers as of the date first above written.

TERAWULF INC.

By: /s/ Patrick Fleury
Name: Patrick Fleury
Title: Chief Financial Officer

BEOWULF ELECTRICITY & DATA INC.

By: /s/ Daniel Stewart
Name: Daniel Stewart
Title: Treasurer



Exhibit 21.1

TERAWULF INC.

List of Subsidiaries

As of December 31, 2022 Jurisdiction of
Incorporation or
Organization

Percentage of
Voting Securities
Held by
Immediate
Parent

TeraWulf Inc. Delaware
           TeraCub Inc. Delaware 100%

TeraLease LLC Delaware 100%
TeraWulf Ploughwind LLC Delaware 100%

Kyalami Data LLC Delaware 100%
TeraWulf (Thales) LLC       Delaware 100%

Nautilus Cryptomine LLC Delaware 25%
TeraWulf Brookings LLC Delaware 100%

Lake Mariner Data LLC Delaware 100%
          RM 101 Inc. (formerly 
          known as IKONICS
          Corporation)

Delaware 100%



Exhibit 23.1

Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

We consent to the incorporation by reference in the Registration Statements (Nos. 333-262226, 333-266271, and 333-268563) on Form S-3
and in the Registration Statement (No. 333-264996) on Form S-8 of TeraWulf Inc. of our reports dated March 31, 2023, relating to the
consolidated financial statements of Terawulf Inc., appearing in this Annual Report on Form 10-K of TeraWulf Inc. for the year ended
December 31, 2022.

/s/ RSM US LLP

Minneapolis, Minnesota
March 31, 2023



Exhibit 31.1

TERAWULF INC.

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

I, Paul B. Prager, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K of TeraWulf
Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this
report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in
Securities Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) for the registrant and have:

a. Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by
others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

b. Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

c. Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most
recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably
likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to
the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

a. All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

b. Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal
control over financial reporting.

March 31, 2023 /s/ Paul B. Prager
 Paul B. Prager
 Chief Executive Officer
 TeraWulf Inc.



Exhibit 31.2

TERAWULF INC.

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER

I, Patrick A. Fleury, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K of TeraWulf
Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this
report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in
Securities Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) for the registrant and have:

a. Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by
others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

b. Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

c. Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most
recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably
likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to
the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

a. All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

b. Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal
control over financial reporting.

March 31, 2023 /s/ Patrick A. Fleury
 Patrick A. Fleury
 Chief Financial Officer
 TeraWulf Inc.



Exhibit 32.1

TERWULF INC.

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,

 AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Annual Report of TeraWulf Inc. (the “Company”) on Form 10-K for the annual period ended December 31, 2022 as filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), I, Paul B. Prager, Chief Executive Officer of the Company, certify, pursuant to
18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that:

· The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934;
and

· The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the
Company.

March 31, 2023 /s/ Paul B. Prager
 Paul B. Prager
 Chief Executive Officer
 TeraWulf Inc.

The foregoing certification is being furnished as an exhibit to the Report pursuant to Item 601(b)(32) of Regulation S-K and Section 1350 of Title 18 of the
United States Code and, accordingly, is not being filed with the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission as part of the Report and is not to be
incorporated by reference into any filing of the Company under the Securities Act of 1933 or the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (whether made before or
after the date of the Report, irrespective of any general incorporation language contained in such filing).



Exhibit 32.2

TERAWULF INC.

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,

 AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Annual Report of TeraWulf Inc. (the “Company”) on Form 10-K for the annual period ended December 31, 2022 as filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), I, Patrick A. Fleury, Chief Financial Officer of the Company, certify, pursuant to
18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that:

· The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934;
and

· The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the
Company.

March 31, 2023 /s/ Patrick A. Fleury
 Patrick A. Fleury
 Chief Financial Officer
 TeraWulf Inc.

The foregoing certification is being furnished as an exhibit to the Report pursuant to Item 601(b)(32) of Regulation S-K and Section 1350 of Title 18 of the
United States Code and, accordingly, is not being filed with the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission as part of the Report and is not to be
incorporated by reference into any filing of the Company under the Securities Act of 1933 or the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (whether made before or
after the date of the Report, irrespective of any general incorporation language contained in such filing).


